Graduate Texts in Mathematics

Serge Lang Algebraic Number Theory

Second Edition



Graduate Texts in Mathematics 110

Editorial Board S. Axler F.W. Gehring K.A. Ribet

Springer Science+Business Media, LLC

Linear Algebra, Third Edition 1987, ISBN 96412-6

Undergraduate Algebra, Second Edition 1990, ISBN 97279-X

Complex Analysis, Fourth Edition 1999, ISBN 98592-1

Real and Functional Analysis, Third Edition 1993, ISBN 94001-4

Introduction to Algebraic and Abelian Functions, Second Edition 1982, ISBN 90710-6

Cyclotomic Fields I and II 1990, ISBN 96671-4

OTHER BOOKS BY LANG PUBLISHED BY SPRINGER-VERLAG

Introduction to Arakelov Theory • Riemann-Roch Algebra (with William Fulton) • Complex Multiplication • Introduction to Modular Forms • Modular Units (with Daniel Kubert) • Fundamentals of Diophantine Geometry • Introduction to Complex Hyperbolic Spaces • Elliptic Functions • Number Theory III • Algebraic Number Theory • $SL_2(R)$ • Abelian Varieties • Differential and Riemannian Manifolds • Undergraduate Analysis • Elliptic Curves: Diophantine Analysis • Introduction to Linear Algebra • Calculus of Several Variables • First Course in Calculus • Basic Mathematics • Geometry: A High School Course (with Gene Murrow) • Math! Encounters with High School Students • The Beauty of Doing Mathematics • THE FILE

Serge Lang

Algebraic Number Theory

Second Edition



Serge Lang Department of Mathematics Yale University New Haven, CT 06520 USA

Editorial Board

S. Axler Mathematics Department San Francisco State University San Francisco, CA 94132 USA F.W. Gehring Mathematics Department East Hall University of Michigan Ann Arbor, MI 48109 USA K.A. Ribet Mathematics Department University of California at Berkeley Berkeley, CA 94720-3840 USA

Mathematics Subject Classifications (1991): 11Rxx, 11Sxx, 11Txx

With 7 Illustrations

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Lang, Serge, 1927–
Algebraic number theory / Serge Lang. — 2nd ed.
p. cm. — (Graduate texts in mathematics; 110)
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 978-1-4612-6922-9 ISBN 978-1-4612-0853-2 (eBook)
DOI 10.1007/978-1-4612-0853-2
Algebraic number theory. I. Title. II. Series.
QA247.L29 1994
512'.74—dc20 93-50625

Originally published in 1970 \odot by Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc., Reading, Massachusetts.

© 1994, 1986 by Springer Science+Business Media New York Originally published by Springer-Verlag New York, Inc. in 1986 Softcover reprint of the hardcover 2nd edition 1986

All rights reserved. This work may not be translated or copied in whole or in part without the written permission of the publisher Springer Science+Business Media, LLC.

except for brief excerpts in connection with reviews or

scholarly analysis. Use in connection with any form of information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed is forbidden.

The use of general descriptive names, trade names, trademarks, etc., in this publication, even if the former are not especially identified, is not to be taken as a sign that such names, as understood by the Trade Marks and Merchandise Marks Act, may accordingly be used freely by anyone.

9 8 7 6 5 4 3 (Corrected third printing)

ISBN 978-1-4612-6922-9

Foreword

The present book gives an exposition of the classical basic algebraic and analytic number theory and supersedes my *Algebraic Numbers*, including much more material, e.g. the class field theory on which I make further comments at the appropriate place later.

For different points of view, the reader is encouraged to read the collection of papers from the Brighton Symposium (edited by Cassels-Frohlich), the Artin-Tate notes on class field theory, Weil's book on *Basic Number Theory*, Borevich-Shafarevich's *Number Theory*, and also older books like those of Weber, Hasse, Hecke, and Hilbert's *Zahlbericht*. It seems that over the years, everything that has been done has proved useful, theoretically or as examples, for the further development of the theory. Old, and seemingly isolated special cases have continuously acquired renewed significance, often after half a century or more.

The point of view taken here is principally global, and we deal with local fields only incidentally. For a more complete treatment of these, cf. Serre's book *Corps Locaux*. There is much to be said for a direct global approach to number fields. Stylistically, I have intermingled the ideal and idelic approaches without prejudice for either. I also include two proofs of the functional equation for the zeta function, to acquaint the reader with different techniques (in some sense equivalent, but in another sense, suggestive of very different moods). Even though a reader will prefer some techniques over alternative ones, it is important at least that he should be aware of all the possibilities.

New York June 1970

SERGE LANG

Preface for the Second Edition

The principal change in this new edition is a complete rewriting of Chapter XVII on the Explicit Formulas. Otherwise, I have made a few additions, and a number of corrections. The need for them was pointed out to me by several people, but I am especially indebted to Keith Conrad for the list he provided for me as a result of a very careful reading of the book.

New Haven, 1994

SERGE LANG

Prerequisites

Chapters I through VII are self-contained, assuming only elementary algebra, say at the level of Galois theory.

Some of the chapters on analytic number theory assume some analysis. Chapter XIV assumes Fourier analysis on locally compact groups. Chapters XV through XVII assume only standard analytical facts (we even prove some of them), except for one allusion to the Plancherel formula in Chapter XVII.

In the course of the Brauer-Siegel theorem, we use the conductordiscriminant formula, for which we refer to Artin-Tate where a detailed proof is given. At that point, the use of this theorem is highly technical, and is due to the fact that one does not know that the zeros of the zeta function don't occur in a small interval to the left of 1. If one knew this, the proof would become only a page long, and the *L*-series would not be needed at all. We give Siegel's original proof for that in Chapter XIII.

My Algebra gives more than enough background for the present book. In fact, Algebra already contains a good part of the theory of integral extensions, and valuation theory, redone here in Chapters I and II. Furthermore, Algebra also contains whatever will be needed of group representation theory, used in a couple of isolated instances for applications of the class field theory, or to the Brauer-Siegel theorem.

The word **ring** will always mean commutative ring without zero divisors and with unit element (unless otherwise specified).

If K is a field, then K^* denotes its multiplicative group, and \overline{K} its algebraic closure. Occasionally, a bar is also used to denote reduction modulo a prime ideal.

We use the *o* and *O* notation. If *f*, *g* are two functions of a real variable, and *g* is always ≥ 0 , we write f = O(g) if there exists a constant C > 0such that $|f(x)| \leq Cg(x)$ for all sufficiently large *x*. We write f = o(g) if $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x)/g(x) = 0$. We write $f \sim g$ if $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x)/g(x) = 1$.

Contents

Part One General Basic Theory

CHAPTER I

Algebraic Integers

1.	Localization .																	3
2.	Integral closure																	4
3.	Prime ideals .																	8
4.	Chinese remainde	er t	heor	em														11
5.	Galois extensions																	12
6.	Dedekind rings		•															18
7.	Discrete valuatio	n r	ings															22
8.	Explicit factoriza	tio	n of	a r	rin	ne									-		•	27
9.	Projective modul	es (over	De	del	 cinc	ł rii	าตร	·	•	•	•	•	•	·	·	•	20
	= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	00	0101		uci			-BD		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	29

CHAPTER II

Completions

1.	Definitions and completions											_		31
2.	Polynomials in complete fields				_						-	•	•	41
3.	Some filtrations			-			•	•	•	·	•	•	•	41
4	Unremified extensions	·	·	·	·	·	•	·	·	·	•	•	·	45
т. г	The sector of th	·	·	•	·	·	·	•	·	•	•	•	•	48
Ъ.	Tamely ramified extensions		•											51

CHAPTER III

The Different and Discriminant

1.	Complementary modules .														57
0											•	•	•	•	01
Z.	The different and ramification	n	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•		•	62
3.	The discriminant		•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•		64

CONTENTS

CHAPTER IV

Cyclotomic Fields

1.	Roots of unity							•				71
2.	Quadratic fields											76
3.	Gauss sums .											82
4.	Relations in ideal	cla	sses	5	•	•						96

CHAPTER V

Parallelotopes

1.	The product formula									99
2.	Lattice points in paralle	lot	ope	s						110
3.	A volume computation									116
4.	Minkowski's constant									119

CHAPTER VI

The Ideal Function

1.	Generalized ideal classes										123
2.	Lattice points in homogene	ousl	y exp	and	ing	dor	nair	ıs			128
3.	The number of ideals in a g	giver	ı clas	s.							129

CHAPTER VII

Ideles and Adeles

1.	Restricted	dire	ct	pro	duc	\mathbf{ts}	•				•	•				•	•	•		137
2.	Adeles .					•										•	•	•		139
3.	Ideles .		•												•					140
4.	Generalize	d ide	eal	clas	ss g	rou	ps;	rela	tio	ns v	vith	ide	ele (clas	ses			•	•	145
5.	Embedding	g of	k_v^*	in t	the	idel	e c	lass	es											151
6.	Galois oper	ratic	on d	on i	dele	es a	nd	idel	e cl	asse	es	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	152

CHAPTER VIII

Elementary Properties of the Zeta Function and L-series

1.	Lemmas on Dirichlet series	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	155
2.	Zeta function of a number field					•	•		•	•		•	159
3.	The L-series									•			162
4.	Density of primes in arithmetic pr	ogre	essio	ons									166
5.	Faltings' finiteness theorem .	•		•		•	•	•			•	•	170

CONTENTS

Part Two Class Field Theory

CHAPTER IX

Norm Index Computations

1.	Algebraic preliminaries		•	•	•			•				179
2.	Exponential and logarithm functions											185
3.	The local norm index											187
4.	A theorem on units											190
5.	The global cyclic norm index											193
6.	Applications	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	195

CHAPTER X

The Artin Symbol, Reciprocity Law, and Class Field Theory

1.	Formalism of	the	e Ai	rtin	syı	nbc	bl								197
2.	Existence of a	ı co	ndu	icto	or fo	or tl	he /	Arti	n sy	ymb	ool				200
3.	Class fields														206

CHAPTER XI

The Existence Theorem and Local Class Field Theory

1.	Reduction to Kummer extensions												213
2.	Proof of the existence theorem .												215
3.	The complete splitting theorem												217
4.	Local class field theory and the ra	mifi	cati	on	the	ore	m			•	•	•	210
5.	The Hilbert class field and the pri	ncir	al i	dea	l th	eor	em	•	•	•	•	·	222
6.	Infinite divisibility of the universa	lnc	orms	3			•	•	·	•	·	·	221
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			-	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	440

CHAPTER XII

L-series Again

1.	The proper abelian L-series													229
2	Artin (non-abelian) Leseries											•	•	000
<u>.</u> .	The one (non abenan) E-series	•	•	•	•	·	·	٠	·	•	•	•	•	232
3.	Induced characters and L-serie	es c	onti	ribu	tio	ns								236

Part Three Analytic Theory

CHAPTER XIII

Functional Equation of the Zeta Function, Hecke's Proof

1.	The Poisson summation formula							245
2.	A special computation							250
3.	Functional equation							253
4.	Application to the Brauer-Siegel t	heor	em					260
5.	Applications to the ideal function							262
	Appendix: Other applications		•	•	•			273

CHAPTER XIV

Functional Equation, Tate's Thesis

1.	Local additive duality .											276
2.	Local multiplicative theory											278
3.	Local functional equation											280
4.	Local computations											282
5.	Restricted direct products											287
6.	Global additive duality and	Ri	ema	ann-	Ro	ch t	thec	ren	ı			289
7.	Global functional equation											292
8.	Global computations .											297

CHAPTER XV

Density of Primes and Tauberian Theorem

1.	The Dirichlet integral	•		•				•	•	303
2.	Ikehara's Tauberian theorem						•			304
3.	Tauberian theorem for Dirichle	t se	eries	5	•				•	310
4.	Non-vanishing of the <i>L</i> -series									312
5.	Densities								•	315

CHAPTER XVI

The Brauer-Siegel Theorem

1.	An upper estimate for the residue								•	•		322
2.	A lower bound for the residue .							•				323
3.	Comparison of residues in normal	exte	ensi	ons								325
4.	End of the proofs											327
	Appendix: Brauer's lemma			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	328

CONTENTS

CHAPTER XVII

Explicit Formulas

1.	Weierstrass fa	icto	oriza	atio	n of	i the	L	-seri	ies		•	•				•	•	•	331
2.	An estimate f	or	ξ' ξ	•			•				•	•	•		•	•	•	•	333
3.	The Weil for	nul	a				•		•			•	•		•	•	•	•	337
4.	The basic sur	n a	nd 1	the	firs	t pa	rt o	of it	s ev	valu	iati	on				•	•	•	344
5.	Evaluation of	f th	e su	ım:	Sec	cond	pa	ırt	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	348
Bit	oliography		•					•	•		•	•		•		•	•		353
Ind	lex												•				•		355

PART ONE BASIC THEORY

CHAPTER I Algebraic Integers

This chapter describes the basic aspects of the ring of algebraic integers in a number field (always assumed to be of finite degree over the rational numbers \mathbf{Q}). This includes the general prime ideal structure.

Some proofs are given in a more general context, but only when they could not be made shorter by specializing the hypothesis to the concrete situation we have in mind. It is not our intention to write a treatise on commutative algebra.

§1. Localization

Let A be a ring. By a **multiplicative subset** of A we mean a subset containing 1 and such that, whenever two elements x, y lie in the subset, then so does the product xy. We shall also assume throughout that 0 does not lie in the subset.

Let K be the quotient field of A, and let S be a multiplicative subset of A. By $S^{-1}A$ we shall denote the set of quotients x/s with x in A and s in S. It is a ring, and A has a canonical inclusion in $S^{-1}A$.

If M is an A-module contained in some field L (containing K), then $S^{-1}M$ denotes the set of elements v/s with $v \in M$ and $s \in S$. Then $S^{-1}M$ is an $S^{-1}A$ -module in the obvious way. We shall sometimes consider the case when M is a ring containing A as subring.

Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime ideal of A (by definition, $\mathfrak{p} \neq A$). Then the complement of \mathfrak{p} in A, denoted by $A - \mathfrak{p}$, is a multiplicative subset $S = S_{\mathfrak{p}}$ of A, and we shall denote $S^{-1}A$ by $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

A local ring is a ring which has a unique maximal ideal. If \mathfrak{o} is such a ring, and \mathfrak{m} its maximal ideal, then any element x of \mathfrak{o} not lying in \mathfrak{m} must be a unit, because otherwise, the principal ideal $x\mathfrak{o}$ would be contained in a maximal ideal unequal to \mathfrak{m} . Thus \mathfrak{m} is the set of non-units of \mathfrak{o} .

The ring $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ defined above is a local ring. As can be verified at once, its maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ consists of the quotients x/s, with x in \mathfrak{p} and s in A but not in \mathfrak{p} .

We observe that $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}} \cap A = \mathfrak{p}$. The inclusion \supset is clear. Conversely, if an element y = x/s lies in $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}} \cap A$ with $x \in \mathfrak{p}$ and $s \in S$, then $x = sy \in \mathfrak{p}$ and $s \notin \mathfrak{p}$. Hence $y \in \mathfrak{p}$.

Let A be a ring and S a multiplicative subset. Let \mathfrak{a}' be an ideal of $S^{-1}A$. Then

$$\mathfrak{a}' = S^{-1}(\mathfrak{a}' \cap A).$$

The inclusion \supset is clear. Conversely, let $x \in \mathfrak{a}'$. Write x = a/s with some $a \in A$ and $s \in S$. Then $sx \in \mathfrak{a}' \cap A$, whence $x \in S^{-1}(\mathfrak{a}' \cap A)$.

Under multiplication by S^{-1} , the multiplicative system of ideals of A is mapped homomorphically onto the multiplicative system of ideals of $S^{-1}A$. This is another way of stating what we have just proved. If a is an ideal of A and $S^{-1}a$ is the unit ideal, then it is clear that $a \cap S$ is not empty, or as we shall also say, a meets S.

§2. Integral closure

Let A be a ring and x an element of some field L containing A. We shall say that x is **integral** over A if either one of the following conditions is satisfied.

INT 1. There exists a finitely generated non-zero A-module $M \subset L$ such that $xM \subset M$.

INT 2. The element x satisfies an equation

$$x^n + a_{n-1}x^{n-1} + \cdots + a_0 = 0$$

with coefficients $a_i \in A$, and an integer $n \ge 1$. (Such an equation will be called an integral equation.)

The two conditions are actually equivalent. Indeed, assume **INT 2.** The module M generated by 1, x, \ldots, x^{n-1} is mapped into itself by the element x. Conversely, assume there exists $M = \langle v_1, \ldots, v_n \rangle$ such that $xM \subset M$, and $M \neq 0$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} xv_1 &= a_{11}v_1 + \dots + a_{1n}v_n \\ \vdots \\ xv_n &= a_{n1}v_1 + \dots + a_{nn}v_n \end{aligned}$$

with coefficients a_{ij} in A. Transposing xv_1, \ldots, xv_n to the right-hand side

of these equations, we conclude that the determinant

$$\begin{vmatrix} x - a_{11} & & -a_{ij} \\ x - a_{22} & & \\ -a_{ij} & & \ddots \\ & & & x - a_{nn} \end{vmatrix}$$

is equal to 0. In this way we get an integral equation for x over A.

Proposition 1. Let A be a ring, K its quotient field, and x algebraic over K. Then there exists an element $c \neq 0$ of A such that cx is integral over A.

Proof. There exists an equation

$$a_nx^n+\cdots+a_0=0$$

with $a_i \in A$ and $a_n \neq 0$. Multiply it by a_n^{n-1} . Then

$$(a_nx)^n + \cdots + a_0a_n^{n-1} = 0$$

is an integral equation for $a_n x$ over A.

Let B be a ring containing A. We shall say that B is integral over A if every element of B is integral over A.

Proposition 2. If B is integral over A and finitely generated as an A-algebra, then B is a finitely generated A-module.

Proof. We may prove this by induction on the number of ring generators, and thus we may assume that B = A[x] for some element x integral over A. But we have already seen that our assertion is true in that case.

Proposition 3. Let $A \subset B \subset C$ be three rings. If B is integral over A and C is integral over B, then C is integral over A.

Proof. Let $x \in C$. Then x satisfies an integral equation

$$x^{n} + b_{n-1}x^{n-1} + \cdots + b_{0} = 0$$

with $b_i \in B$. Let $B_1 = A[b_0, \ldots, b_{n-1}]$. Then B_1 is a finitely generated A-module by Proposition 2, and $B_1[x]$ is a finitely generated B_1 -module, whence a finitely generated A-module. Since multiplication by x maps $B_1[x]$ into itself, it follows that x is integral over A.

Proposition 4. Let $A \subset B$ be two rings, and B integral over A. Let σ be a homomorphism of B. Then $\sigma(B)$ is integral over $\sigma(A)$.

Proof. Apply σ to an integral equation satisfied by any element x of B. It will be an integral equation for $\sigma(x)$ over $\sigma(A)$.

The above proposition is used frequently when σ is an isomorphism and is particularly useful in Galois theory.

Proposition 5. Let A be a ring contained in a field L. Let B be the set of elements of L which are integral over A. Then B is a ring, called the **integral closure** of A in L.

Proof. Let x, y lie in B, and let M, N be two finitely generated A-modules such that $xM \subset M$ and $yN \subset N$. Then MN is finitely generated, and is mapped into itself by multiplication with $x \pm y$ and xy.

Corollary. Let A be a ring, K its quotient field, and L a finite separable extension of K. Let x be an element of L which is integral over A. Then the norm and trace of x from L to K are integral over A, and so are the coefficients of the irreducible polynomial satisfied by x over K.

Proof. For each isomorphism σ of L over K, σx is integral over A. Since the norm is the product of σx over all such σ , and the trace is the sum of σx over all such σ , it follows that they are integral over A. Similarly, the coefficients of the irreducible polynomial are obtained from the elementary symmetric functions of the σx , and are therefore integral over A.

A ring A is said to be integrally closed in a field L if every element of L which is integral over A in fact lies in A. It is said to be integrally closed if it is integrally closed in its quotient field.

Proposition 6. Let A be a Noetherian ring, integrally closed. Let L be a finite separable extension of its quotient field K. Then the integral closure of A in L is finitely generated over A.

Proof. It will suffice to show that the integral closure of A is contained in a finitely generated A-module, because A is assumed to be Noetherian.

Let w_1, \ldots, w_n be a linear basis of L over K. After multiplying each w_i by a suitable element of A, we may assume without loss of generality that the w_i are integral over A (Proposition 1). The trace Tr from L to K is a K-linear map of L into K, and is non-degenerate (i.e. there exists an element $x \in L$ such that $\operatorname{Tr}(x) \neq 0$). If α is a non-zero element of L, then the function $\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha x)$ on L is an element of the dual space of L (as K-vector space), and induces a homomorphism of L into its dual space. Since the kernel is trivial, it follows that L is isomorphic to its dual under the bilinear form

$$(x, y) \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(xy).$$

Let w'_1, \ldots, w'_n be the dual basis of w_1, \ldots, w_n , so that

$$\mathrm{Tr}(w_i'w_j)=\delta_{ij}.$$

Let $c \neq 0$ be an element of A such that cw'_i is integral over A. Let z be in L, integral over A. Then zcw'_i is integral over A, and so is $Tr(czw'_i)$ for each *i*. If we write

$$z = b_1 w_1 + \dots + b_n w_n$$

with coefficients $b_i \in K$, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}(czw'_i) = cb_i,$$

and $cb_i \in A$ because A is integrally closed. Hence z is contained in

 $Ac^{-1}w_1 + \cdots + Ac^{-1}w_n.$

Since z was selected arbitrarily in the integral closure of A in L, it follows that this integral closure is contained in a finitely generated A-module, and our proof is finished.

Proposition 7. If A is a unique factorization domain, then A is integrally closed.

Proof. Suppose that there exists a quotient a/b with $a, b \in A$ which is integral over A, and a prime element p in A which divides b but not a. We have, for some integer $n \geq 1$,

$$(a/b)^n + a_{n-1}(a/b)^{n-1} + \cdots + a_0 = 0,$$

whence

$$a^n + a_{n-1}ba^{n-1} + \cdots + a_0b^n = 0.$$

Since p divides b, it must divide a^n , and hence must divide a, contradiction.

Theorem 1. Let A be a principal ideal ring, and L a finite separable extension of its quotient field, of degree n. Let B be the integral closure of A in L. Then B is a free module of rank n over A.

Proof. As a module over A, the integral closure is torsion-free, and by the general theory of principal ideal rings, any torsion-free finitely generated module is in fact a free module. It is obvious that the rank is equal to the degree [L:K].

Theorem 1 is applied to the ring of ordinary integers Z. A finite extension of the rational numbers Q is called a **number field**. The integral closure of Z in a number field K is called the ring of **algebraic integers** of that field, and is denoted by \mathfrak{o}_K .

[I, §2]

ALGEBRAIC INTEGERS

Proposition 8. Let A be a subring of a ring B, integral over A. Let S be a multiplicative subset of A. Then $S^{-1}B$ is integral over $S^{-1}A$. If A is integrally closed, then $S^{-1}A$ is integrally closed.

Proof. If $x \in B$ and $s \in S$, and if M is a finitely generated A-module such that $xM \subset M$, then $S^{-1}M$ is a finitely generated $S^{-1}A$ -module which is mapped into itself by $s^{-1}x$, so that $s^{-1}x$ is integral over $S^{-1}A$. As to the second assertion, let x be integral over $S^{-1}A$, with x in the quotient field of A. We have an equation

$$x^{n} + \frac{b_{n-1}}{s_{n-1}} x^{n-1} + \dots + \frac{b_{0}}{s_{0}} = 0,$$

 $b_i \in A$ and $s_i \in S$. Thus there exists an element $s \in S$ such that sx is integral over A, hence lies in A. This proves that x lies in $S^{-1}A$.

Corollary. If B is the integral closure of A in some field extension L of the quotient field of A, then $S^{-1}B$ is the integral closure of $S^{-1}A$ in L.

§3. Prime ideals

Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime ideal of a ring A and let $S = A - \mathfrak{p}$. If B is a ring containing A, we denote by $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ the ring $S^{-1}B$.

Let B be a ring containing a ring A. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime ideal of A and \mathfrak{P} be a prime ideal of B. We say that \mathfrak{P} lies above \mathfrak{p} if $\mathfrak{P} \cap A = \mathfrak{p}$ and we then write $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$. If that is the case, then the injection

$$A \rightarrow B$$

induces an injection of the factor rings

$$A/\mathfrak{p} \to B/\mathfrak{P},$$

and in fact we have a commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} B \to B/\mathfrak{P} \\ \uparrow \qquad \uparrow \\ A \to A/\mathfrak{p} \end{array}$$

the horizontal arrows being the canonical homomorphisms, and the vertical arrows being inclusions.

If B is integral over A, then B/\mathfrak{P} is integral over A/\mathfrak{p} (by Proposition 4).

Nakayama's Lemma. Let A be a ring, a an ideal contained in all maximal ideals of A, and M a finitely generated A-module. If aM = M, then M = 0.

PRIME IDEALS

Proof. Induction on the number of generators of M. Say M is generated by w_1, \ldots, w_m . There exists an expression

$$w_1 = a_1 w_1 + \cdots + a_m w_m$$

with $a_i \in \mathfrak{a}$. Hence

$$(1-a_1)w_1 = a_2w_2 + \cdots + a_mw_m.$$

If $1 - a_1$ is not a unit in A, then it is contained in a maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} . Since $a_1 \in \mathfrak{p}$ by hypothesis, we have a contradiction. Hence $1 - a_1$ is a unit, and dividing by it shows that M can be generated by m - 1 elements, thereby concluding the proof.

Proposition 9. Let A be a ring, \mathfrak{p} a prime ideal, and B a ring containing A and integral over A. Then $\mathfrak{p}B \neq B$, and there exists a prime ideal \mathfrak{P} of B lying above \mathfrak{p} .

Proof. We know that $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is integral over $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and that $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a local ring with maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Since we obviously have

$$\mathfrak{p}B_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathfrak{p}A_{\mathfrak{p}}B = \mathfrak{p}A_{\mathfrak{p}}B_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}B_{\mathfrak{p}},$$

it will suffice to prove our first assertion when A is a local ring. In that case, if $\mathfrak{p}B = B$, then 1 has an expression as a finite linear combination of elements of B with coefficients in \mathfrak{p} ,

$$1 = a_1b_1 + \cdots + a_nb_n$$

with $a_i \in \mathfrak{p}$ and $b_i \in B$. Let $B_0 = A[b_1, \ldots, b_n]$. Then $\mathfrak{p}B_0 = B_0$ and B_0 is a finite A-module by Proposition 2. Hence $B_0 = 0$, contradiction.

To prove our second assertion, we go back to the original notation, and note the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{l} B \to B_{\mathfrak{p}} \\ \uparrow \quad \uparrow \\ A \to A_{\mathfrak{p}} \end{array} \quad (all arrows inclusions). \end{array}$$

We have just proved that $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}B_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq B_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Hence $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is contained in a maximal ideal \mathfrak{M} of $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and $\mathfrak{M} \cap A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ therefore contains $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Since $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is maximal, it follows that

$$\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}=\mathfrak{M}\cap A_{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Let $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{M} \cap B$. Then \mathfrak{P} is a prime ideal of B, and taking intersections

[I, §3]

 $\mathfrak{P} \cap A = \mathfrak{p},$

as was to be shown.

Remark. Let B be integral over A, and let \mathfrak{b} be an ideal of B, $\mathfrak{b} \neq 0$. Then $\mathfrak{b} \cap A \neq 0$.

To prove this, let $b \in \mathfrak{b}$, $b \neq 0$. Then b satisfies an equation

$$b^n + a_{n-1}b^{n-1} + \cdots + a_0 = 0$$

with $a_i \in A$, and $a_0 \neq 0$. But a_0 lies in $\mathfrak{b} \cap A$.

Proposition 10. Let A be a subring of B, and assume B integral over A. Let \mathfrak{P} be a prime ideal of B lying over a prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of A. Then \mathfrak{P} is maximal if and only if \mathfrak{p} is maximal.

Proof. Assume \mathfrak{p} maximal in A. Then A/\mathfrak{p} is a field. We are reduced to proving that a ring which is integral over a field is a field. If k is a field and x is integral over k, then it is standard from elementary field theory that the ring k[x] is itself a field, so x is invertible in the ring. Conversely, assume that \mathfrak{P} is maximal in B. Then B/\mathfrak{P} is a field, which is integral over the ring A/\mathfrak{p} . If A/\mathfrak{p} is not a field, it has a non-zero maximal ideal m. By Proposition 9, there exists a maximal ideal \mathfrak{M} of B/\mathfrak{P} lying above m, contradiction.

When an extension is given explicitly by a generating element, then we can describe the primes lying above a given prime more explicitly.

Let A be integrally closed in its quotient field K, and let E be a finite extension of K. Let B be the integral closure of A in E. Assume that $B = A[\alpha]$ for some element α , and let f(X) be the irreducible polynomial of α over K. Let \mathfrak{p} be a maximal ideal of A. We have a canonical homomorphism

$$A \to A/\mathfrak{p} = \overline{A},$$

which extends to the polynomial ring, namely

$$g(X) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i X^i \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{m} \overline{c}_i X^i = \overline{g}(X),$$

where \overline{c} denotes the residue class mod \mathfrak{p} of an element $c \in A$.

We contend that there is a natural bijection between the prime ideals \mathfrak{P} of B lying above \mathfrak{p} and the irreducible factors $\overline{P}(X)$ of $\overline{f}(X)$ (having leading

[I, §3]

coefficient 1). This bijection is such that a prime \mathfrak{P} of B lying above \mathfrak{p} corresponds to \overline{P} if and only if \mathfrak{P} is the kernel of the homomorphism

$$A[\alpha] \to \overline{A}[\bar{\alpha}]$$

where $\bar{\alpha}$ is a root of \overline{P} .

To see this, let \mathfrak{P} lie above \mathfrak{p} . Then the canonical homomorphism $B \to B/\mathfrak{P}$ sends α on a root of \overline{f} which is conjugate to a root of some irreducible factor of \overline{f} . Furthermore two roots of \overline{f} are conjugate over \overline{A} if and only if they are roots of the same irreducible factor of \overline{f} . Finally, let z be a root of \overline{P} in some algebraic closure of \overline{A} . The map

 $g(\alpha) \mapsto \overline{g}(z)$

for $g(X) \in A[X]$ is a well-defined map, because if $g(\alpha) = 0$ then

$$g(X) = f(X)h(X)$$

for some $h(X) \in A[X]$, whence $\overline{g}(z) = 0$ also. Being well-defined, our map is obviously a homomorphism, and since z is a root of an irreducible polynomial over \overline{A} , it follows that its kernel is a prime ideal in B, thus proving our contention.

Remark 1. As usual, the assumption that \mathfrak{p} is maximal can be weakened to \mathfrak{p} prime by localizing.

Remark 2. In dealing with extensions of number fields, the assumption $B = A[\alpha]$ is not always satisfied, but it is true that $B_{\mathfrak{p}} = A_{\mathfrak{p}}[\alpha]$ for all but a finite number of \mathfrak{p} , so that the previous discussion holds almost always locally. Cf. Proposition 16 of Chapter III, §3.

§4. Chinese remainder theorem

Chinese Remainder Theorem. Let A be a ring, and $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_n$ ideals such that $\mathfrak{a}_i + \mathfrak{a}_j = A$ for all $i \neq j$. Given elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in A$, there exists $x \in A$ such that $x \equiv x_i \pmod{\mathfrak{a}_i}$ for all i.

Proof. If n = 2, we have an expression

$$1 = a_1 + a_2$$

for some elements $a_i \in a_i$, and we let $x = x_2a_1 + x_1a_2$.

For each *i* we can find elements $a_i \in \mathfrak{a}_1$ and $b_i \in \mathfrak{a}_i$ such that

$$a_i + b_i = 1, \qquad i \ge 2.$$

$$\mathfrak{a}_1 + \prod_{i=2}^n \mathfrak{a}_i = A$$

By the theorem for n = 2, we can find an element $y_1 \in A$ such that

$$y_1 \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{a}_1}$$
$$y_1 \equiv 0 \pmod{\prod_{i=2}^n \mathfrak{a}_i}$$

We find similarly elements y_2, \ldots, y_n such that

$$y_j \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{a}_j}; \quad y_j \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{a}_i}, \quad i \neq j.$$

Then $x = x_1y_1 + \cdots + x_ny_n$ satisfies our requirements.

In the same vein as above, we observe that if a_1, \ldots, a_n are ideals of a ring A such that

$$\mathfrak{a}_1 + \cdots + \mathfrak{a}_n = A$$
,

and if ν_1, \ldots, ν_n are positive integers, then

 $\mathfrak{a}_1^{\nu_1}+\cdots+\mathfrak{a}_n^{\nu_n}=A.$

The proof is trivial, and is left as an exercise.

§5. Galois extensions

Proposition 11. Let A be a ring, integrally closed in its quotient field K. Let L be a finite Galois extension of K with group G. Let \mathfrak{p} be a maximal ideal of A, and let \mathfrak{P} , \mathfrak{Q} be prime ideals of the integral closure of A in L lying above \mathfrak{p} . Then there exists $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma \mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{Q}$.

Proof. Suppose that $\mathfrak{P} \neq \sigma \mathfrak{Q}$ for any $\sigma \in G$. There exists an element $x \in B$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} x &\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{P}} \\ x &\equiv 1 \pmod{\sigma \mathfrak{Q}}, \qquad \text{all } \sigma \in G \end{aligned}$$

(use the Chinese remainder theorem). The norm

$$N_K^L(x) = \prod_{\sigma \in G} \sigma x$$

lies in $B \cap K = A$ (because A is integrally closed), and lies in $\mathfrak{P} \cap A = \mathfrak{p}$.

But $x \notin \sigma \mathfrak{Q}$ for all $\sigma \in G$, so that $\sigma x \notin \mathfrak{Q}$ for all $\sigma \in G$. This contradicts the fact that the norm of x lies in $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{Q} \cap A$.

If one localizes, one can eliminate the hypothesis that \mathfrak{p} is maximal; just assume that \mathfrak{p} is prime.

Corollary. Let A be a ring, integrally closed in its quotient field K. Let E be a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in E. Let \mathfrak{p} be a maximal ideal of A. Then there exists only a finite number of prime ideals of B lying above \mathfrak{p} .

Proof. Let L be the smallest Galois extension of K containing E. If $\mathfrak{Q}_1, \mathfrak{Q}_2$ are two distinct prime ideals of B lying above \mathfrak{p} , and $\mathfrak{P}_1, \mathfrak{P}_2$ are two prime ideals of the integral closure of A in L lying above \mathfrak{Q}_1 and \mathfrak{Q}_2 respectively, then $\mathfrak{P}_1 \neq \mathfrak{P}_2$. This argument reduces our assertion to the case that E is Galois over K, and it then becomes an immediate consequence of the proposition.

Let A be integrally closed in its quotient field K, and let B be its integral closure in a finite Galois extension L, with group G. Then $\sigma B = B$ for every $\sigma \in G$. Let \mathfrak{p} be a maximal ideal of A, and \mathfrak{P} a maximal ideal of B lying above \mathfrak{p} . We denote by $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ the subgroup of G consisting of those automorphisms such that $\sigma \mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}$. Then $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ operates in a natural way on the residue class field B/\mathfrak{P} , and leaves A/\mathfrak{p} fixed. To each $\sigma \in G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ we can associate an automorphism $\bar{\sigma}$ of B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} , and the map given by

 $\sigma \mapsto \bar{\sigma}$

induces a homomorphism of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ into the group of automorphisms of B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} .

The group $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ will be called the **decomposition group** of \mathfrak{P} . Its fixed field will be denoted by L^d , and will be called the **decomposition field** of \mathfrak{P} . Let B^d be the integral closure of A in L^d , and let $\mathfrak{Q} = \mathfrak{P} \cap B^d$. By Proposition 11, we know that \mathfrak{P} is the only prime of B lying above \mathfrak{Q} .

Let $G = \bigcup \sigma_j G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ be a coset decomposition of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ in G. Then the prime ideals $\sigma_j \mathfrak{P}$ are precisely the distinct primes of B lying above \mathfrak{p} . Indeed, for two elements $\sigma, \tau \in G$ we have $\sigma \mathfrak{P} = \tau \mathfrak{P}$ if and only if $\tau^{-1}\sigma \mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}$, i.e. $\tau^{-1}\sigma$ lies in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Thus τ, σ lie in the same coset mod $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$.

It is then immediately clear that the decomposition group of a prime $\sigma \mathfrak{P}$ is $\sigma G_{\mathfrak{P}} \sigma^{-1}$.

Proposition 12. The field L^d is the smallest subfield E of L containing K such that \mathfrak{P} is the only prime of B lying above $\mathfrak{P} \cap E$ (which is prime in $B \cap E$).

[I, §5]

Proof. Let E be as above, and let H be the Galois group of L over E. Let $q = \mathfrak{P} \cap E$. By Proposition 11, all primes of B lying above q are conjugate by elements of H. Since there is only one prime, namely \mathfrak{P} , it means that H leaves \mathfrak{P} invariant. Hence $H \subset G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ and $E \supset L^d$. We have already observed that L^d has the required property.

Proposition 13. Notation being as above, we have $A/\mathfrak{p} = B^d/\mathfrak{Q}$ (under the canonical injection $A/\mathfrak{p} \to B^d/\mathfrak{Q}$).

Proof. If σ is an element of G, not in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$, then $\sigma \mathfrak{P} \neq \mathfrak{P}$ and $\sigma^{-1}\mathfrak{P} \neq \mathfrak{P}$. Let

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\sigma}=\sigma^{-1}\mathfrak{P}\cap B^d.$$

Then $\mathfrak{O}_{\sigma} \neq \mathfrak{O}$. Let x be an element of B^d . There exists an element y of B^d such that

$$y \equiv x \pmod{\mathfrak{L}}$$
$$y \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{L}_v}$$

for each σ in G, but not in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Hence in particular,

$$y \equiv x \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}$$
$$y \equiv 1 \pmod{\sigma^{-1}\mathfrak{P}}$$

for each σ not in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. This second congruence yields

$$\sigma y \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}$$

for all $\sigma \notin G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. The norm of y from L^d to K is a product of y and other factors σy with $\sigma \notin G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Thus we obtain

$$N_K^{L^d}(y) \equiv x \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}.$$

But the norm lies in K, and even in A, since it is a product of elements integral over A. This last congruence holds mod \mathfrak{Q} , since both x and the norm lie in B^d . This is precisely the meaning of the assertion in our proposition.

If x is an element of B, we shall denote by \bar{x} its image under the homomorphism $B \to B/\mathfrak{P}$. Then $\bar{\sigma}$ is the automorphism of B/\mathfrak{P} satisfying the relation

$$\overline{\sigma}\overline{x} = \overline{\sigma}\overline{x}.$$

If f(X) is a polynomial with coefficients in B, we denote by $\overline{f}(X)$ its natural image under the above homomorphism. Thus, if

$$f(X) = b_n X^n + \cdots + b_0.$$

then

$$\overline{f}(X) = \overline{b}_n X^n + \dots + \overline{b}_0.$$

Proposition 14. Let A be integrally closed in its quotient field K, and let B be its integral closure in a finite Galois extension L of K, with group G. Let \mathfrak{p} be a maximal ideal of A, and \mathfrak{P} a maximal ideal of B lying above \mathfrak{p} . Then B/\mathfrak{P} is a normal extension of A/\mathfrak{p} , and the map $\sigma \mapsto \overline{\sigma}$ induces a homomorphism of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ onto the Galois group of B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} .

Proof. Let $\overline{B} = B/\mathfrak{P}$ and $\overline{A} = A/\mathfrak{p}$. Any element of \overline{B} can be written as \overline{x} for some $x \in B$. Let \overline{x} generate a separable subextension of \overline{B} over \overline{A} , and let f be the irreducible polynomial for x over K. The coefficients of flie in A because x is integral over A, and all the roots of f are integral over A. Thus

$$f(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} (X - x_i)$$

splits into linear factors in B. Since

$$\overline{f}(X) = \prod (X - \overline{x}_i)$$

and all the \overline{x}_i lie in \overline{B} , it follows that \overline{f} splits into linear factors in \overline{B} . We observe that f(x) = 0 implies $\overline{f}(\overline{x}) = 0$. Hence \overline{B} is normal over \overline{A} , and

$$[A(\overline{x}):A] \leq [K(x):K] \leq [L:K].$$

This implies that the maximal separable subextension of \overline{A} in \overline{B} is of finite degree over \overline{A} (using the primitive element theorem of elementary field theory). This degree is in fact bounded by [L:K].

There remains to prove that the map $\sigma \mapsto \overline{\sigma}$ gives a surjective homomorphism of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ onto the Galois group of \overline{B} over \overline{A} . To do this, we shall give an argument which reduces our problem to the case when \mathfrak{P} is the only prime ideal of B lying above \mathfrak{p} . Indeed, by Proposition 13, the residue class fields of the ground ring and the ring B^d in the decomposition field are the same. This means that to prove our surjectivity, we may take L^d as ground field. This is the desired reduction, and we can assume $K = L^d$, $G = G_{\mathfrak{P}}$.

This being the case, take a generator of the maximal separable subextension of \overline{B} over \overline{A} , and let it be \overline{x} , for some element x in B. Let f be the irreducible polynomial of x over K. Any automorphism of \overline{B} is determined by its effect on \overline{x} , and maps \overline{x} on some root of \overline{f} . Suppose that $x = x_1$. Given any root x_i of f, there exists an element σ of $G = G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ such that $\sigma x = x_i$. Hence $\overline{\sigma x} = \overline{x}_i$. Hence the automorphism of \overline{B} over \overline{A} induced by elements of G operate transitively on the roots of \overline{f} . Hence they give us all automorphisms of the residue class field, as was to be shown.

Corollary 1. Let A be a ring integrally closed in its quotient field K. Let L be a finite Galois extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in L. Let \mathfrak{p} be a maximal ideal of A. Let $\varphi: A \to A/\mathfrak{p}$ be the canonical homomorphism, and let ψ_1, ψ_2 be two homomorphisms of B extending φ in a given algebraic closure of A/\mathfrak{p} . Then there exists an automorphism σ of L over K such that

$$\psi_1=\psi_2\circ\sigma.$$

Proof. The kernels of ψ_1, ψ_2 are prime ideals of B which are conjugate by Proposition 11. Hence there exists an element τ of the Galois group Gsuch that $\psi_1, \psi_2 \circ \tau$ have the same kernel. Without loss of generality, we may therefore assume that ψ_1, ψ_2 have the same kernel \mathfrak{P} . Hence there exists an automorphism ω of $\psi_1(B)$ onto $\psi_2(B)$ such that $\omega \circ \psi_1 = \psi_2$. There exists an element σ of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ such that $\omega \circ \psi_1 = \psi_1 \circ \sigma$, by the preceding proposition. This proves what we wanted.

Remark. In all the above propositions, we could assume \mathfrak{p} prime instead of maximal. In that case, one has to localize at \mathfrak{p} to be able to apply our proofs. In the application to number fields, this is unnecessary, since every prime is maximal.

In the above discussions, the kernel of the map

$$G_{\mathfrak{P}} \to \overline{G}_{\mathfrak{P}}$$

is called the **inertia group** $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ of \mathfrak{P} . It consists of those automorphisms of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ which induce the trivial automorphism on the residue class field. Its fixed field is called the **inertia field**, and is denoted by L^t .

Corollary 2. Let the assumptions be as in Corollary 1, and assume that \mathfrak{P} is the only prime of B lying above \mathfrak{p} . Let f(X) be a polynomial in A[X] with leading coefficient 1. Assume that f is irreducible in K[X], and has a root α in B. Then the reduced polynomial \overline{f} is a power of an irreducible polynomial in $\overline{A}[X]$.

Proof. By Corollary 1, we know that any two roots of \overline{f} are conjugate under some isomorphism of \overline{B} over \overline{A} , and hence that \overline{f} cannot split into relative prime polynomials. Therefore, \overline{f} is a power of an irreducible polynomial.

Let k be a number field and E a finite extension of degree N. A non-zero prime ideal of the ring of algebraic integers o_k will usually be called a **prime** of k. We say that such a prime \mathfrak{p} splits completely in E if there are

exactly N different primes of E lying above \mathfrak{p} . If K/k is Galois, then \mathfrak{p} splits completely in K if and only if $G_{\mathfrak{P}} = 1$ because G permutes the primes $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ transitively.

When K/k is abelian, then we have the following characterization of the fixed field of the decomposition group.

Corollary 3. Let K/k be abelian with group G. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of k, let \mathfrak{P} be a prime of K lying above \mathfrak{p} and let $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ be its decomposition group. Let E be the fixed field of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Then E is the maximal subfield of K containing k in which \mathfrak{p} splits completely

Proof. Let

$$G = \bigcup_{i=1}^r \sigma_i G_{\mathfrak{P}}$$

be a coset decomposition. Let $q = \mathfrak{P} \cap E$. Since a Galois group permutes the primes lying above a given prime transitively, we know that \mathfrak{P} is the only prime of K lying above q. For each i, the prime $\sigma_i\mathfrak{P}$ is the only prime lying above $\sigma_i \mathfrak{q}$, and since $\sigma_1\mathfrak{P}, \ldots, \sigma_r\mathfrak{P}$ are distinct, it follows that the primes $\sigma_1 \mathfrak{q}, \ldots, \sigma_r \mathfrak{q}$ are distinct. Since G is abelian, the primes $\sigma_i \mathfrak{q}$ are primes of E, and [E:k] = r, so that \mathfrak{p} splits completely in E. Conversely, let F be an intermediate field between k and K in which \mathfrak{p} splits completely, and let H be the Galois group of K/F. If $\sigma \in G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ and $\mathfrak{P} \cap F = \mathfrak{P}_F$, then σ leaves \mathfrak{P}_F fixed. However, the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P}_F over \mathfrak{p} must be trivial since \mathfrak{p} splits completely in F. Hence the restriction of σ to F is the identity, and therefore $G_{\mathfrak{P}} \subset H$. This proves that $F \subset E$, and concludes the proof of our corollary.

Let k be a number field and let K be a Galois extension with group G Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of \mathfrak{o}_k and \mathfrak{P} a prime of \mathfrak{o}_K lying above \mathfrak{p} . The residue class field $\mathfrak{o}_k/\mathfrak{p}$ is finite, and we shall denote the number of its elements by Np. It is a power of the prime number p lying in \mathfrak{p} . By the theory of finite fields, there exists a unique automorphism of $\mathfrak{o}_K/\mathfrak{P}$ over $\mathfrak{o}_k/\mathfrak{p}$ which generates the Galois group of the residue class field extension and has the effect

$$x \mapsto x^{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}$$

In terms of congruences, we can write this automorphism $\bar{\sigma}$ as

$$\sigma \alpha \equiv \alpha^{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}} \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}, \qquad \alpha \in \mathfrak{g}_{K}.$$

By what we have just seen, there exists a coset $\sigma T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ of $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ which induces $\bar{\sigma}$ on the residue class field extension. Any element of this coset will be called a **Frobenius automorphism** of \mathfrak{P} , and will be denoted by $(\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$. If the inertia group $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is trivial, then $(\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$ is uniquely determined as an element of the decomposition group $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$.

17

If \mathfrak{Q} is another prime lying above \mathfrak{p} , and $\eta \in G$ is such that $\eta \mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{Q}$, then the decomposition group of \mathfrak{Q} is given by

$$G_{\mathfrak{Q}} = G_{\eta\mathfrak{P}} = \eta G_{\mathfrak{P}} \eta^{-1},$$

and similarly for the inertia group, and a Frobenius automorphism.

$$(\eta \mathfrak{P}, K/k) = \eta(\mathfrak{P}, K/k)\eta^{-1}.$$

This is immediately verified from the definitions. Furthermore, if $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is trivial, we see that $(\mathfrak{P}, K/k) = 1$ if and only if \mathfrak{p} splits completely, meaning that $G_{\mathfrak{P}} = 1$.

If K/k is abelian, and if the inertia group $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is trivial for one of the $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{P}$ (and hence for all $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{P}$), it follows that to each \mathfrak{P} in k we are able to associate a uniquely determined element of G, lying in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ (the same for all $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{P}$), which we denote by

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}=(\mathfrak{p},K/k),$$

and call the Artin automorphism of p in G. It is characterized by the congruence

$$\sigma \alpha \equiv \alpha^{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}} \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}, \qquad \alpha \in \mathfrak{o}_K.$$

We shall study this automorphism at length in the class field theory.

§6. Dedekind rings

Let \mathfrak{o} be a ring and K its quotient field. A fractional ideal of \mathfrak{o} in K is an \mathfrak{o} -module \mathfrak{a} contained in K such that there exists an element $c \neq 0$ in \mathfrak{o} for which $c\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{o}$. If \mathfrak{o} is Noetherian, it follows that $c\mathfrak{a}$, and hence \mathfrak{a} , is finitely generated.

Theorem 2. Let \mathfrak{o} be a ring which is Noetherian, integrally closed, and such that every non-zero prime ideal is maximal. Then every ideal of \mathfrak{o} can be uniquely factored into prime ideals, and the non-zero fractional ideals form a group under multiplication.

Proof. We shall first prove the second assertion, following Van der Waerden.

(i) Let $a \neq 0$ be an ideal in \mathfrak{o} . Then there exists a product of prime ideals $\mathfrak{p}_1\mathfrak{p}_2\cdots\mathfrak{p}_r \subset \mathfrak{a}$.

Suppose the assertion false. Since \mathfrak{o} is Noetherian, there exists an ideal $\mathfrak{a} \neq 0$ and maximal with respect to the stated property. This ideal cannot be prime. Hence there exist b_1 , $b_2 \in \mathfrak{o}$ such that $b_1b_2 \in \mathfrak{a}$ but neither b_1 nor b_2 lies in \mathfrak{a} . Let $\mathfrak{a}_1 = (\mathfrak{a}, b_1)$ and $\mathfrak{a}_2 = (\mathfrak{a}, b_2)$. Then $\mathfrak{a}_1\mathfrak{a}_2 \subset \mathfrak{a}$,

and $a_1 \neq a$, $a_2 \neq a$. Since a was maximal with respect to the stated property, we can find products of prime ideals contained in a_1 and a_2 . Taking the product of these gives a contradiction.

(ii) Every maximal ideal p is invertible.

Let \mathfrak{p}^{-1} be the set of elements $x \in K$ such that $x\mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{o}$. Then $\mathfrak{p}^{-1} \supset \mathfrak{o}$. We contend that $\mathfrak{p}^{-1} \neq \mathfrak{o}$. Let $a \in \mathfrak{p}$, $a \neq 0$. Choose r minimal such that there exists a product

$$\mathfrak{p}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{p}_r \subset (a) \subset \mathfrak{p}.$$

Then one of the \mathfrak{p}_i , say \mathfrak{p}_1 , is contained in \mathfrak{p} , and hence equal to \mathfrak{p} , since every prime is maximal. Furthermore,

$$\mathfrak{p}_2\cdots\mathfrak{p}_r\not\subset(a)$$

and hence there exists an element $b \in \mathfrak{p}_2 \cdots \mathfrak{p}_r$ such that $b \notin (a)$. But $b\mathfrak{p} \subset (a)$ and hence $ba^{-1}\mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{o}$, so that $ba^{-1} \in \mathfrak{p}^{-1}$. But $b \notin a\mathfrak{o}$ and hence $ba^{-1} \notin \mathfrak{o}$, thereby proving our contention.

We obtain $\mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{o}$. Since \mathfrak{p} is maximal, either $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{p}^{-1}$ or $\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} = \mathfrak{o}$. But $\mathfrak{p}^{-1}\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{p}$ would mean that \mathfrak{p}^{-1} leaves a finitely generated \mathfrak{o} -module invariant, and hence is integral over \mathfrak{o} . This is impossible, since \mathfrak{o} is integrally closed. Hence $\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} = \mathfrak{o}$.

(iii) Every non-zero ideal is invertible, by a fractional ideal.

Suppose this is not true. There exists a maximal non-invertible ideal \mathfrak{a} . We have just seen that a cannot be a maximal ideal. Hence $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{p}$ for some maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} , and $\mathfrak{a} \neq \mathfrak{p}$. We get

$$\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{a}^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{o}.$$

Since a is finitely generated, we cannot have $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} = \mathfrak{a}$ (because \mathfrak{p}^{-1} is not integral over \mathfrak{o}). Hence $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{p}^{-1}$ is larger than \mathfrak{a} , hence has an inverse, which, multiplied by \mathfrak{p} , obviously gives an inverse for \mathfrak{a} , contradiction.

(iv) Let \mathfrak{a} be an ideal $\neq 0$, and \mathfrak{c} a fractional ideal such that $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{o}$. Then $\mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$ (the set of elements $x \in K$ such that $x\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{o}$).

It is clear that $c \subset a^{-1}$. Conversely, if $xa \subset o$, then $xac \subset c$ and hence $x \in c$, because ac = o.

We finally conclude that every fractional ideal $\neq 0$ is invertible. Indeed, if a is a fractional ideal $\neq 0$, then there exists an element $c \in \mathfrak{o}$ such that $c\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{o}$, and $c\mathfrak{a}$ is invertible. If $c\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{o}$, then $c\mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}$. This proves that the non-zero fractional ideals form a group.

From this, we shall prove unique factorization.

[I, §6]

ALGEBRAIC INTEGERS

First, we note that every non-zero ideal \mathfrak{a} is equal to a product of prime ideals. Indeed, if this is false, there is a maximal ideal \mathfrak{a} which is not such a product, and a cannot be prime. Thus $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{p}$ and $\mathfrak{a} \neq \mathfrak{p}$ for some prime \mathfrak{p} . Then $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{o}$ and $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{p}^{-1} \neq \mathfrak{a}$ but contains \mathfrak{a} . Hence $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{p}^{-1}$ has a factorization, which, when multiplied by \mathfrak{p} gives a factorization of \mathfrak{a} .

Given two fractional ideals \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} we say that $\mathfrak{a}|\mathfrak{b}$ if and only if there exists an ideal \mathfrak{c} such that $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{b}$. This amounts to saying that $\mathfrak{a} \supset \mathfrak{b}$, because in that case, we take $\mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{b}$.

From the definition of a prime ideal, we see that whenever \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} are two ideals and $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}$ then $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{a}$ or $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{b}$. (Namely, $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{p}$ implies $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{p}$ or $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{p}$.) Given two factorizations

$$\mathfrak{p}_1\mathfrak{p}_2\cdots\mathfrak{p}_r=\mathfrak{q}_1\mathfrak{q}_2\cdots\mathfrak{q}_s$$

into prime ideals, we conclude that \mathfrak{p}_1 divides the product on the right, hence divides some \mathfrak{q}_i , hence is equal to some \mathfrak{q}_i . Multiplying by \mathfrak{p}_1^{-1} both sides of the equality, we proceed by induction to prove that r = s and that the factors on both sides are equal, up to a permutation.

If a is a fractional ideal $\neq 0$, and $c \in \mathfrak{o}$ is such that $c \neq 0$ and $ca \subset \mathfrak{o}$, then $(c) = \mathfrak{p}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{p}_r$ and $ca = \mathfrak{q}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{q}_s$. Hence a has the factorization

$$\mathfrak{a} = \frac{\mathfrak{q}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{q}_s}{\mathfrak{p}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{p}_r}$$

(writing $1/\mathfrak{p}$ instead of \mathfrak{p}^{-1}). If we cancel any prime appearing both in the numerator and denominator, then it is clear that the factorization is unique.

A ring satisfying the properties of Theorem 2 is called a **Dedekind ring**. The ring of algebraic integers in a number field K is a Dedekind ring, because it satisfies the three properties stated in Theorem 2. The multiplicative group of non-zero fractional ideals of the ring of algebraic integers \mathfrak{o}_K will be denoted by I_K .

From now on, by fractional ideal we shall mean non-zero fractional ideal, unless otherwise specified.

Let A be a Dedekind ring and \mathfrak{a} a fractional ideal. We have a factorization

$$\mathfrak{a} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{p}^{r_{\mathfrak{p}}}$$

with integers $r_{\mathfrak{p}}$ all but a finite number of which are 0. We say that $r_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the order of a at \mathfrak{p} . If $r_{\mathfrak{p}} > 0$, we say that a has a zero at \mathfrak{p} . If $r_{\mathfrak{p}} < 0$, we say that it has a **pole** at \mathfrak{p} .

Let α be a non-zero element of the quotient field of A. Then we can form the fractional ideal (α) = $A\alpha$ and we apply the above notions of order, zero, and pole to α .

DEDEKIND RINGS

[I, §6]

If a and b are two fractional ideals, then it is clear that $a \supset b$ if and only if $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} a \leq \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} b$ for all primes \mathfrak{p} . Thus we have a criterion for an element α to belong to a fractional ideal a in terms of orders (taking $\mathfrak{b} = (\alpha)$).

If $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \alpha = 0$, then we say that α is a **unit at** \mathfrak{p} . If that is the case, then α is a unit in the local ring $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

In what follows, by a prime ideal, we shall mean a non-zero prime ideal, unless otherwise specified, and we call a non-zero prime ideal simply a **prime**.

Proposition 15. Let o be a Dedekind ring with only a finite number of prime ideals. Then o is a principal ideal ring.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{p}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{p}_s$ be the prime ideals. Given any ideal

$$\mathfrak{a}=\mathfrak{p}_1^{r_1}\cdots\mathfrak{p}_s^{r_s}\neq 0,$$

select an element π_i in \mathfrak{p}_i but not in \mathfrak{p}_i^2 and find an element α of \mathfrak{o} such that

If

$$\alpha \equiv \pi_i^{r_i} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}_i^{r_i+1}}$$

$$(\alpha) = \mathfrak{p}_1^{e_1} \cdots \mathfrak{p}_s^{e_s}$$

is a factorization of the ideal generated by α , then one sees immediately that $e_i = r_i$ for all *i*, and hence that $\mathfrak{a} = (\alpha)$.

Proposition 16. Let A be a Dedekind ring and S a multiplicative subset of A. Then $S^{-1}A$ is a Dedekind ring. The map

$$\mathfrak{a} \mapsto S^{-1}\mathfrak{a}$$

is a homomorphism of the group of fractional ideals of A onto the group of fractional ideals of $S^{-1}A$, and the kernel consists of those fractional ideals of A which meet S.

Proof. If \mathfrak{p} meets S, then

$$S^{-1}\mathfrak{p} = S^{-1}A$$

because 1 lies in $S^{-1}\mathfrak{p}$. If \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{b} are two ideals of A, then

$$S^{-1}(\mathfrak{ab}) = (S^{-1}\mathfrak{a})(S^{-1}\mathfrak{b}),$$

so multiplication by S^{-1} induces a homomorphism of the group of (fractional) ideals.

If $S^{-1}\mathfrak{a} = S^{-1}A$, then we can write $1 = \alpha/s$ for some $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$ and $s \in S$. Thus $\alpha = s$ and \mathfrak{a} meets S. This proves that the kernel of our homomorphism is what we said it is. Our mapping is surjective since we saw in §1 that every ideal of $S^{-1}A$ is of type $S^{-1}a$ for some ideal a of A. The same applies of course to fractional ideals. This proves our proposition.

By a **principal fractional ideal** we shall mean a fractional ideal of type αA , generated by a single element α in the quotient field of A, and $\alpha \neq 0$ unless otherwise specified.

Let A be a Dedekind ring. The group of fractional ideals modulo the group of **principal ideals** (i.e. non-zero principal fractional ideals) is called the **ideal class group** of A.

Proposition 17. Let A be a Dedekind ring, and assume that its group of ideal classes is finite. Let a_1, \ldots, a_r be representative fractional ideals of the ideal classes, and let b be a non-zero element of A which lies in all the a_i . Let S be the multiplicative subset of A generated by the powers of b. Then every ideal of $S^{-1}A$ is principal.

Proof. All the ideals a_1, \ldots, a_r map on the unit ideal in the homomorphism of Proposition 16. Since every ideal of A is equal to some a_i times a principal ideal, our proposition follows from the surjectivity of Proposition 16.

If two fractional ideals a, b lie in the same ideal class, we write

 $\mathfrak{a} \sim \mathfrak{b}$

and we say that a, b are **linearly equivalent**. It is clear that every fractional ideal is linearly equivalent to an ideal.

The assumptions of Proposition 17 will be proved later to be satisfied by the ring of integers of an algebraic number field.

§7. Discrete valuation rings

A discrete valuation ring o is a principal ideal ring having a unique (non-zero) prime ideal m. It is therefore a local ring. If π is a generator for m, then it must be the only irreducible element of o, i.e. the only prime element (since any prime element generates a prime ideal) up to a unit, of course. Thus the unique factorization in an arbitrary principal ideal ring has a particularly simple form in this case: Every element $\alpha \neq 0$ of o has an expression

$$\alpha = \pi^r u$$

with some integer r, and a unit u in \mathfrak{o} .

Every discrete valuation ring is a Dedekind ring, and every Dedekind ring having only one maximal ideal is a discrete valuation ring. If A is a Dedekind ring, and \mathfrak{p} a prime ideal of A, then $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a discrete valuation ring, since it is equal to $S^{-1}A$ (S = complement of \mathfrak{p} in A) (cf. Proposition 16).

Since every ideal of a discrete valuation ring is principal, it must be some power of the maximal ideal.

In proving theorems about Dedekind rings, it is frequently useful to localize with respect to one prime ideal, in which case one obtains a discrete valuation ring. For instance we have the following proposition.

Proposition 18. Let A be a Dedekind ring and M, N two modules over A. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime of A, denote by $S_{\mathfrak{p}}$ the multiplicative set $A - \mathfrak{p}$. Assume that $S_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}M \subset S_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}N$ for all \mathfrak{p} . Then $M \subset N$.

Proof. Let $a \in M$. For each \mathfrak{p} we can find $x_{\mathfrak{p}} \in N$ and $s_{\mathfrak{p}} \in S_{\mathfrak{p}}$ such that $a = x_{\mathfrak{p}}/s_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Let \mathfrak{b} be the ideal generated by the $s_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Then \mathfrak{b} is the unit ideal, and we can write

$$1 = \sum y_{\mathfrak{p}} s_{\mathfrak{p}}$$

with elements $y_{\mathfrak{p}} \in A$ all but a finite number of which are 0. This yields

$$a = \sum y_{\mathfrak{p}} s_{\mathfrak{p}} a = \sum y_{\mathfrak{p}} x_{\mathfrak{p}}$$

and shows that a lies in N, as desired.

If A is a discrete valuation ring, then in particular, A is a principal ideal ring, and any finitely generated torsion-free module M over A is free. If its rank is n, and if \mathfrak{p} is the maximal ideal of A, then $M/\mathfrak{p}M$ is a free module of rank n.

Proposition 19. Let A be a local ring and M a free module of rank n over A. Let \mathfrak{p} be the maximal ideal of A. Then $M/\mathfrak{p}M$ is a vector space of dimension n over A/\mathfrak{p} .

Proof. This is obvious, because if $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is a basis for M over A, so

then

 $M/\mathfrak{p}M \approx \sum (A/\mathfrak{p})\overline{x}_i$ (direct sum),

 $M = \sum A x_i$ (direct sum),

where \overline{x}_i is the residue class of $x_i \mod \mathfrak{p}$.

Let A be a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, L a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in L. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime ideal of A, then $\mathfrak{p}B$ is an ideal of B and has a factorization

$$\mathfrak{p}B = \mathfrak{P}_1^{e_1} \cdots \mathfrak{P}_r^{e_r} \qquad (e_i \ge 1)$$

into primes of B. It is clear that a prime \mathfrak{P} of B occurs in this factorization if and only if \mathfrak{P} lies above \mathfrak{p} .

[I, §7]

ALGEBRAIC INTEGERS

If S is the complement of \mathfrak{p} in A, then multiplying the above factorization by S gives us the factorization of $S^{-1}\mathfrak{p}$ in $S^{-1}B$. The primes $S^{-1}\mathfrak{P}_i$ remain distinct.

Each e_i is called the **ramification index** of \mathfrak{P}_i over \mathfrak{p} , and is also written $e(\mathfrak{P}_i/\mathfrak{p})$. If we assume that A is a local ring, then $\mathfrak{p} = (\pi)$ is principal (Proposition 15). Let S_i be the complement of \mathfrak{P}_i in B and let

$$B_i = S_i^{-1} B = B_{\mathfrak{P}_i}.$$

Then \mathfrak{P}_i is principal, generated by an element π_i , and we have

$$\mathfrak{p}B_i = \pi B_i = (\pi_i^{e_i}).$$

Warning: B_i is not necessarily integral over $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$. It is if and only if there exists only one prime ideal \mathfrak{P} above \mathfrak{p} in B. Prove this as an exercise.

Denote by I(A) the group of fractional ideals of a Dedekind ring A. Let K, L, B be as above. Then we have a natural injection

$$I(A) \rightarrow I(B)$$

given by $a \mapsto aB$. We shall define a homomorphism in the other direction.

If \mathfrak{P} lies above \mathfrak{p} in B, we denote by $f_{\mathfrak{P}}$ or $f(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{p})$ the degree of the residue class field extension B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} , and call it the **residue class degree.** We define the **norm** $N_K^L(\mathfrak{P})$ to be $\mathfrak{p}^{f\mathfrak{P}}$ and extend our map N_K^L to the group of fractional ideals by multiplicativity.

Proposition 20. Let A be a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, $K \subset E \subset L$ two finite separable extensions, and $A \subset B \subset C$ the corresponding tower of integral closures of A in E and L. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of A, \mathfrak{q} a prime of B lying above \mathfrak{p} , and \mathfrak{P} a prime of C lying above \mathfrak{q} . Then

$$e(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{p}) = e(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{q})e(\mathfrak{q}/\mathfrak{p})$$
$$f(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{p}) = f(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{q})f(\mathfrak{q}/\mathfrak{p}).$$

Proof. Obvious.

From Proposition 20 it is clear that the norm is transitive, i.e. if we have a fractional ideal c of C, then

$$N_K^E N_E^L(\mathfrak{c}) = N_K^L(\mathfrak{c}).$$

Proposition 21. Let A be a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, L a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in L. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of A. Then

$$[L:K] = \sum_{\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}} e_{\mathfrak{P}} f_{\mathfrak{P}}.$$
Proof. We can localize at \mathfrak{p} (multiplying A and B by $S_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}$), and thus may assume that A is a discrete valuation ring. In that case, B is a free module of rank n = [L:K] over A, and $B/\mathfrak{p}B$ is a vector space of dimension n over A/\mathfrak{p} .

Let $\mathfrak{p}B = \mathfrak{P}_1^{e_1} \cdots \mathfrak{P}_r^{e_r}$ be the factorization of \mathfrak{p} in B. Since $\mathfrak{P}_i^{e_i} \supset \mathfrak{p}B$ for each i, we have a well-defined homomorphism

$$B \to B/\mathfrak{p}B \to B/\mathfrak{P}_i^{e_i}$$

and therefore a homomorphism into the direct sum

$$B \to B/\mathfrak{p}B \to \prod_{i=1}^r B/\mathfrak{P}_i^{e_i}.$$

Each $B/\mathfrak{P}_i^{e_i}$ can be viewed as an A/\mathfrak{p} -vector space, and hence so can the direct sum. The kernel of our homomorphism consists of those elements of B lying in all the $\mathfrak{P}_i^{e_i}$, and is therefore $\mathfrak{p}B$. Furthermore, our map is surjective by the Chinese remainder theorem. It is obviously an A/\mathfrak{p} -homomorphism, and thus $B/\mathfrak{p}B$ is A/\mathfrak{p} -isomorphic to the above direct sum.

We shall now determine the dimension of B/\mathfrak{P}^e (if \mathfrak{P} is some \mathfrak{P}_i and $e = e_i$).

Let II be a generator of \mathfrak{P} in *B*. (We know from Proposition 15 that \mathfrak{P} is principal.) Let *j* be an integer ≥ 1 . We can view $\mathfrak{P}^j/\mathfrak{P}^{j+1}$ as an A/\mathfrak{p} -vector space, since $\mathfrak{P}\mathfrak{P}^j \subset \mathfrak{P}^{j+1}$. We consider the map

$$B/\mathfrak{P} \to \mathfrak{P}^j/\mathfrak{P}^{j+1}$$

induced by multiplying an element of B by Π^{j} . This map is an A/\mathfrak{p} -homomorphism, which is clearly injective and surjective. Hence B/\mathfrak{P} and $\mathfrak{P}^{j}/\mathfrak{P}^{j+1}$ are A/\mathfrak{p} -isomorphic.

The A/\mathfrak{p} -vector space B/\mathfrak{P}^e has a composition series induced by the inclusions

$$B \supset \mathfrak{P} \supset \mathfrak{P}^2 \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{P}^e.$$

The dimension of B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} is $f_{\mathfrak{P}}$, by definition. From this it follows that the dimension of B/\mathfrak{P}^e over A/\mathfrak{p} is $e_{\mathfrak{P}}f_{\mathfrak{P}}$, thereby proving our proposition.

If $e_{\mathfrak{P}} = f_{\mathfrak{P}} = 1$ for all $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, then one says that \mathfrak{p} splits completely in L. In that case, there are exactly [L:K] primes of B lying above \mathfrak{p} .

Corollary 1. Let \mathfrak{a} be a fractional ideal of A. Then

$$N_K^L(\mathfrak{a}B) = \mathfrak{a}^{[L:K]}.$$

Proof. Immediate.

[I, §7]

Corollary 2. Assume that L is Galois over K. Then all the $e_{\mathfrak{P}}$ are equal to the same number e (for $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$), all the $f_{\mathfrak{P}}$ are equal to the same number f (for $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$), and if

$$\mathfrak{p}B = (\mathfrak{P}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{P}_r)^e,$$

efr = [L:K].

then

Proof. All the \mathfrak{P} lying above \mathfrak{p} are conjugate to each other, and hence all the ramification indices and residue class degrees are equal. The last formula is clear.

Corollary 3. Assume again that L is Galois over K with group G, and let \mathfrak{P} be a prime of B lying above \mathfrak{p} in A. Then

$$N_K^L \mathfrak{P} \cdot B = \prod_{\sigma \in G} \sigma \mathfrak{P} = (\mathfrak{P}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{P}_r)^{ef}$$

(with e, f, r as in Corollary 2, and the ideal on the left is viewed as embedded in I(B)). The number of is the order of the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P} , and e is the order of the inertia group.

Proof. The group G operates transitively on the primes of B lying above \mathfrak{p} , and the order of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is the order of the isotropy group. Our assertions are therefore obvious, taking into account Proposition 14 of §5.

Proposition 22. Let A be a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, E a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in E. Let b be a fractional ideal of B, and assume b is principal, $b = (\beta)$, $\beta \neq 0$. Then

$$N_K^E \mathfrak{b} = \big(N_K^E(\beta) \big),$$

the norm on the left being the norm of a fractional ideal as defined above, and the norm on the right being the usual norm of elements of E.

Proof. Let L be the smallest Galois extension of K containing E. The norm from L to E of \mathfrak{b} and of β simply raises these to the power [L:E]. Since our proposition asserts an equality between fractional ideals, it will suffice to prove it when the extension is Galois over K. In that case, it follows at once from Corollary 3 above.

Proposition 23. Let A be a discrete valuation ring, K its quotient field, L a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in L. Assume that there exists only one prime \mathfrak{P} of B lying above the maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} of A. Let β be an element of B such that its residue class mod \mathfrak{P} generates B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} and Π an element of B which is of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} . Then $A[\beta, \Pi] = B$. *Proof.* Let C be the ring $A[\beta, \Pi]$. It can be viewed as a submodule of B over A, and by Nakayama's lemma, applied to the factor module B/C, it will suffice to prove that

$$\mathfrak{p}B+C=B.$$

But $\mathfrak{p}B = \mathfrak{P}^e$, and the products $\beta^i \Pi^j$ generate B/\mathfrak{P}^e over A/\mathfrak{p} , as in Proposition 21. Hence every element $x \in B$ is such that

$$x \equiv \sum c_{ij} \beta^i \Pi^j \qquad (\text{mod } \mathfrak{p}B)$$

for some $c_{ij} \in A$. This proves our proposition.

Finally, we prove one more result, generalizing the arguments of Proposition 21.

Proposition 24. Let A be a Dedekind ring, and a non-zero ideal. Let $n_{\mathfrak{p}} = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{a}$. Then the canonical map

$$A \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} A/\mathfrak{p}^{n_{\mathfrak{p}}}$$

induces an isomorphism of A/\mathfrak{a} onto the product.

Proof. The map is surjective according to the Chinese remainder theorem, and it is clear that its kernel is exactly \mathfrak{a} .

Corollary. Assume that A/\mathfrak{p} is finite for each prime ideal \mathfrak{p} . Denote by Na the number of elements in the residue class ring A/\mathfrak{a} . Then

$$\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}=\prod_{\mathfrak{p}}\ (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})^{n_{\mathfrak{p}}}.$$

We observe that the function N can simply be viewed as being extended from the prime ideals to all fractional ideals by multiplicativity.

§8. Explicit factorization of a prime

We return to the discussion at the end of §3 and give more precise information concerning the splitting of the prime, due to Dedekind.

Proposition 25. Let A be a Dedekind ring with quotient field K. Let E be a finite separable extension of K. Let B be the integral closure of A in E and assume that $B = A[\alpha]$ for some element α . Let f(X) be the irreducible polynomial of α over K. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of A. Let \overline{f} be the reduction of f mod \mathfrak{p} , and let

$$\overline{f}(X) = \overline{P}_1(X)^{e_1} \cdots \overline{P}_r(X)^{e_r}$$

be the factorization of \overline{f} into powers of irreducible factors over $\overline{A} = A/\mathfrak{p}$, with leading coefficients 1. Then

$$\mathfrak{p}B=\mathfrak{P}_1^{e_1}\cdots\mathfrak{P}_r^{e_r}$$

is the factorization of \mathfrak{p} in B, so that e_i is the ramification index of \mathfrak{P}_i over \mathfrak{p} , and we have

$$\mathfrak{P}_i = \mathfrak{p}B + P_i(\alpha)B,$$

if $P_i(X) \in A[X]$ is a polynomial with leading coefficient 1 whose reduction mod \mathfrak{p} is \overline{P}_i .

Proof. Let \overline{P} be an irreducible factor of \overline{f} , let $\overline{\alpha}$ be a root of \overline{P} , and let \mathfrak{P} be the prime of B which is the kernel of the map

$$A[\alpha] \rightarrow \overline{A}[\overline{\alpha}].$$

It is clear that $\mathfrak{p}B + P(\alpha)B$ is contained in \mathfrak{P} . Conversely, let $g(\alpha) \in \mathfrak{P}$ for some $g(X) \in A[X]$. Then $\overline{g} = \overline{Ph}$ with some $\overline{h} \in \overline{A}[X]$, and hence g - Ph, which is a polynomial with coefficients in A, in fact has coefficients in \mathfrak{p} . This proves the reverse inclusion, and proves the last formula of our proposition.

Finally, let e'_i be the ramification index of \mathfrak{P}_i , so that

$$\mathfrak{p}B=\mathfrak{P}_1^{e_1'}\cdots\mathfrak{P}_r^{e_r'},$$

and let d_i be the residue class degree $[B/\mathfrak{P}_i: A/\mathfrak{p}]$. It is clear that d_i is the degree of \overline{P}_i . Since $f(\alpha) = 0$, and since

$$f(X) - P_1(X)^{e_1} \cdots P_r(X)^{e_r} \in \mathfrak{p}A[X],$$

it follows that

(*)
$$P_1(\alpha)^{e_1} \cdots P_r(\alpha)^{e_r} \in \mathfrak{p}B.$$

On the other hand, we see that

$$\mathfrak{P}_i^{e_i} \subset \mathfrak{p}B + P_i(\alpha)^{e_i}B,$$

whence using (*) we find

$$\mathfrak{P}_{1}^{e_{1}}\cdots\mathfrak{P}_{r}^{e_{r}}\subset\mathfrak{p}B+P_{1}(\alpha)^{e_{1}}\cdots P_{r}(\alpha)^{e_{r}}B\subset\mathfrak{p}B=\mathfrak{P}_{1}^{e_{1}'}\cdots\mathfrak{P}_{r}^{e_{r}'}.$$

This proves that $e_i \ge e'_i$ for all *i*. But we know that

$$\sum e_i d_i = \deg f = [E:F] = \sum e'_i d_i.$$

It follows that $e_i = e'_i$ for all *i*, thus proving our theorem.

Remark. The hypothesis that $B = A[\alpha]$ for some α is not always satisfied, but if we are interested in the decomposition of a single prime \mathfrak{p} , then it suffices to look at the localization $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ over $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and in that case $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ can be generated by a single element except for a finite number of exceptions. See Proposition 16 of Chapter III, §3.

Example. Let $\alpha^3 = 2$, and let $E = \mathbf{Q}(\alpha)$. It can be shown that the ring of algebraic integers \mathfrak{o}_E is precisely $\mathbf{Z}[\alpha]$. Let p = 5. Then we have

$$X^3 - 2 \equiv (X - 3)(X^2 + 3X - 1) \pmod{5},$$

and $X^2 + 3X - 1$ is irreducible mod 5. Hence the prime ideal (5) of **Z** has the decomposition

$$5\mathfrak{o}_E = \mathfrak{p}_1\mathfrak{p}_2$$

where \mathfrak{p}_1 has residue class degree 1, and \mathfrak{p}_2 has residue class degree 2 over $\mathbb{Z}/5\mathbb{Z}$.

§9. Projective modules over Dedekind rings

Although we shall not use this section further in this book, we include it for the convenience of the reader for other possible applications. We recall from basic algebra that a module P over a ring A is called **projective** if every exact sequence of A-modules

$$0 \to M' \to M \xrightarrow{J} P \to 0$$

splits, i.e. there exists a homomorphism $g: P \to M$ such that $f \circ g = id_P$. In such a case, we have a direct sum decomposition $M \approx M' \oplus P$.

We assume known the basic operation of localization of a module at a prime. It is defined in a manner similar to the localization in $\S1$.

Proposition 26. Let M be a finitely generated torsion-free module over the Dedekind ring A. Then M is projective.

Proof. Let p be a prime. Then the localized module M_p is finitely generated torsion free over the local ring A_p , which is principal. Then M_p is projective, so if F is finite free over A and $f: F \to M$ is a surjective homomorphism, we obtain an induced homomorphism $f_p: F_p \to M_p$, which has a splitting $g_p: M_p \to F_p$, namely $f_p \circ g_p = \operatorname{id}_{M_p}$. There exists $c_p \in A$ such that $c_p \notin p$ and $c_p g_p(M) \subset F$ because $g_p(M)$ is finitely generated. The family $\{c_p\}$ generates the unit ideal, so there is a finite number of elements c_{p_i} and elements $x_i \in A$ such that $\sum x_i c_{p_i} = 1$. Let

$$g = \sum x_i c_{\mathfrak{p}_i} g_{\mathfrak{p}_i}.$$

Then $g: M \to F$ is a homomorphism, and it is immediately verified that $(f_{\mathfrak{p}} \circ g_{\mathfrak{p}}): M_{\mathfrak{p}} \to M_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is $\mathrm{id}_{M_{\mathfrak{p}}}$ for all \mathfrak{p} , whence $f \circ g: M \to M$ is id_{M} (verification left to the reader).

Proposition 27. Elementary divisors theorem. Let M be a non-zero finitely generated projective module over a Dedekind ring A. Then there exist ideals a_i (i = 1, ..., r) such that

$$M pprox \bigoplus_{i=1}^r \mathfrak{a}_i.$$

These ideals can be so chosen that $a_i|a_{i+1}$ for all *i*, and are then uniquely determined.

Proof. Let K be the quotient field of A. Tensoring M with K we obtain a finite-dimensional vector space V over K, whose dimension is called the rank of M and is denoted by r. The natural map of M in $K \otimes_A M$ is injective, so we may identify M inside $K \otimes_A M$. There exists a functional $\lambda \in \text{Hom}_A(M, A)$ such that $\lambda(M) \neq \{0\}$. For instance, let $\{e_1, \ldots, e_r\}$ be a basis of V over K. A non-zero element of M can be written as a linear combination of this basis, with some non-zero coefficient, say $x \in M$, $x = \sum x_i e_i$ and $x_j \neq 0$. Let $\lambda = \lambda_j$ be the projection on the *j*-th coefficient. Then $\lambda(M) \neq \{0\}$. After multiplying λ by some non-zero element of A, we may assume that $\lambda(M) \subset A$. Let $\lambda(M) = \mathfrak{a}_1$. Then \mathfrak{a}_1 is an ideal, and we have a surjective homomorphism $M \to \mathfrak{a}_1$ giving rise to an exact sequence

By Proposition 26, a_1 is projective, so $M \approx a_1 \oplus M'$. We leave it to the reader to verify that the rank of M' is r-1, so the proof of the first statement is concluded by induction. If one takes for λ a functional such that $\lambda(M)$ is maximal among all possible ideals obtained as above, then the inductive sequence of ideals a_1, \ldots, a_r which one obtains satisfies $a_i|a_{i+1}$ for all *i*. The uniqueness follows by localizing at primes p, and invoking the corresponding uniqueness over principal rings, which is part of standard algebra.

CHAPTER II

Completions

This chapter introduces the completions of number fields under the p-adic topologies, and also the completions obtained by embedding the number field into the real or complex numbers.

In §3 we discuss the rough structure of complete fields.

In §4 and §5 we cover the basic facts concerning unramified and tamely ramified extensions. For the higher ramification theory, we refer the reader to [ArT 67]. In §4 and §5 we deal with complete Dedekind rings. We define the notions of \mathfrak{B} unramified, tamely ramified, and totally ramified above \mathfrak{p} . These can also be defined globally, since they will depend only on the ramification index and residue class degree. However, in the local case, we can also apply them to the field extension, since to each finite extension of the ground field K there is exactly one \mathfrak{P} above \mathfrak{p} .

It is useful to think of finite extensions of a number field as coverings, and of completions as analogous to power-series fields in the theory of functions. Absolute values measure something like the order of a zero or pole of a function.

§1. Definitions and completions

Let K be a field. An **absolute value** on K is a real valued function $x \mapsto |x|_v$ on K satisfying the following three properties:

AV 1. We have $|x|_v \ge 0$ and = 0 if and only if x = 0.

AV 2. For all $x, y \in K$ we have $|xy|_v = |x|_v |y|_v$.

AV 3. $|x + y|_v \leq |x|_v + |y|_v$.

If instead of AV 3 the absolute value satisfies the stronger condition

AV 4. $|x + y|_v \leq \max(|x|_v, |y|_v)$,

then we shall say that it is a valuation or that it is non-archimedean.

The absolute value which is such that |x| = 1 for all $x \neq 0$ is called **trivial.** We shall assume from now on that none of the absolute values we deal with are trivial.

COMPLETIONS

An absolute value || defines a distance function $(x, y) \mapsto |x - y|$, and thus a topology on the field. Two (non-trivial) absolute values are called **dependent** if they define the same topology. If they do not, they are called **independent**. It is clear that if $||_1$ and $||_2$ are absolute values such that there exists some $\lambda > 0$ for which

$$|x|_1 = |x|_2^{\lambda}, \qquad all \ x \in K,$$

then they are dependent. The converse is also true, and thus the weakest notion of dependence implies the strongest. This is easily seen as follows. The set of $x \in K$ such that $|x|_1 < 1$ is the same as the set such that $\lim x^n = 0$ for $n \to \infty$. Then if $x \in K$ and $|x|_1 > 1$ we conclude that $|x|_2 > 1$ also, because $|x^{-1}|_1 < 1$. Since the absolute values are assumed to be non-trivial, there exists $y \in K$ such that $|y|_1 > 1$. Let $a = |y|_1$ and let $b = |y|_2$. Let $x \in K, x \neq 0$. Say $|x| \ge 1$. Then $|x|_1 = |y|_1^\alpha$ for some $\alpha \ge 0$. If m, n are integers > 0 such that $m/n > \alpha$, we have

$$|x|_1 < |y|_1^{m/n},$$

whence $|x^n/y^m|_1 < 1$, and thus $|x^n/y^m|_2 < 1$, so that

 $|x|_2 < |y|_2^{m/n}$.

Similarly if m, n are integers such that $m/n < \alpha$, then

 $|x|_2 > |y|_2^{m/n}$.

Hence $|x|_2 = |y|_2^{\alpha}$. From this it follows immediately that

$$|x|_1 = |x|_2^{\lambda}$$

where $\lambda = (\log a)/(\log b)$, thus proving our assertion.

Let v be an absolute value on K. We say that K is **complete** if every Cauchy sequence in K has a limit (i.e. converges). Suppose that K is complete, and let E be a finite extension of K. Assume that we have extended the absolute value to E in some way. Since E is a finite dimensional vector space over K, it is easy to verify that all extensions of v to E are equivalent, and we shall recall the proof below. Since two of them are positive powers of each other, and since they coincide on K, we conclude that they must be equal. Thus we get:

If K is complete under an absolute value, then an extension of this absolute value to a finite extension is uniquely determined. In particular, if E is a

32

finite extension of K and $\sigma: E \to \sigma E$ is an isomorphism of E over K, then

$$|\sigma \alpha| = |\alpha|$$

for every $\alpha \in E$.

We now recall the result about finite dimensional vector spaces over complete fields.

Let k be complete with respect to an absolute value. Let V be a finite dimensional vector space over k. Then all norms on V are equivalent.

By a norm on V we mean of course a function which satisfies the same properties as an absolute value, namely its values are real ≥ 0 , and |x| > 0 if $x \neq 0$, the triangle inequality holds, namely

$$\begin{aligned} |x+y| &\leq |x|+|y| \\ |cx| &= |c| |x| \qquad \qquad c \in k, x \in V. \end{aligned}$$

and we have

We say that two norms are **equivalent** if each one is less than or equal to a positive constant times the other.

The reader can refer to my Algebra for a proof in the general case. We give here a slightly simpler argument valid when k is locally compact, which is the only case that matters for this book. Let $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$ be a basis for V over k, and let || || be the sup norm with respect to this basis. We let || be any other norm. If $x \in V$ and $x_i \in k$ are its coordinates with respect to our basis, then

$$|x| = |x_1\alpha_1 + \cdots + x_n\alpha_n| \leq C ||x||,$$

where $C = n \cdot \sup ||\alpha_i||$. This proves one inequality, and shows that the norm || is continuous with respect to || ||. Hence || has a minimum on the unit sphere with respect to || || (by local compactness), say at the point $v \in V$, so that

 $|v| \le |x|,$ all $x \in V, ||x|| = 1.$

Let $y \in V$, $y \neq 0$ and write

$$y = y_1 \alpha_1 + \cdots + y_n \alpha_n, \qquad \qquad y_i \in k.$$

Let j be such that $|y_j| = \max |y_i| = ||y||$. Then $y = y_j x$ with ||x|| = 1, and

$$|v| \leq |x| = |y/y_j| = |y|/|y_j|.$$

It follows that

 $|v| ||y|| \leq |y|,$

thus proving the other inequality, and concluding the proof of our assertion.

The vector space V is like n-space over k with respect to the sup norm, and is thus complete with respect to the sup norm, because a sequence in V is Cauchy if and only if the sequences of coordinates with respect to the given basis are Cauchy (in k). From the equivalence of any norm with the sup norm, we conclude that V is complete with respect to any norm. All of this applies to a finite extension of k, which may be viewed as a normed vector space over k.

We shall be mostly concerned with the following examples.

Let $K = \mathbf{Q}$ be the rational numbers. Then we have the ordinary absolute value.

For each prime number p we have the *p*-adic valuation $v_p = | |_p$, defined by the formula

$$|p^r m/n|_p = 1/p^r,$$

where r is an integer, and m, n are integers $\neq 0$ and not divisible by p.

Let \mathfrak{o} be a discrete valuation ring with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} , generated by an element π . Every non-zero element α of the quotient field K of \mathfrak{o} can be written in the form $\alpha = \pi^r u$, where r is an integer and u is a unit in \mathfrak{o} . We call r the order of α . Let c be a positive real number, 0 < c < 1. If we define

$$|\alpha| = c^r$$
,

then we get an absolute value on K (trivial verification), which is in fact a valuation.

There is of course considerable arbitrariness in the choice of the constant c. In number fields, we shall deal with two possible normalizations of this constant.

Let A be the integral closure of the integers Z in an algebraic number field K, and let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of A. Let π have order 1 at \mathfrak{p} , and let p be the prime number generating $\mathfrak{p} \cap \mathbb{Z}$. Then $p = \pi^e u$ for some integer e > 0 and a unit u at \mathfrak{p} . Let $f = f_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be the degree of A/\mathfrak{p} over $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. The residue class field A/\mathfrak{p} is an extension of degree f over $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$, and hence has p^f elements. We denote by $\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{p}$ the number of elements in A/\mathfrak{p} . We now have two absolute values determined by \mathfrak{p} . On the one hand the unique absolute value such that

$$|p|_{\mathfrak{p}}=rac{1}{p}$$
 and $|\pi|_{\mathfrak{p}}=rac{1}{p^{1/e}}$,

34

[II, §1]

and on the other hand the unique absolute value such that

$$\|\pi\|_{\mathfrak{p}} = rac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}$$

For any $\alpha \in K$, $\alpha \neq 0$, we have

$$\|\alpha\|_{\mathfrak{p}} = |\alpha|_{\mathfrak{p}}^{e_{\mathfrak{p}}f_{\mathfrak{p}}}.$$

Similarly, if L is a finite extension of K, and \mathfrak{P} lies above \mathfrak{p} in the ring of algebraic integers B of L, let Π be an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} . Then

$$\mathfrak{p}B=\mathfrak{P}^{e(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{p})}\cdots$$

and

$$|\pi|_{\mathfrak{P}} = |\Pi|_{\mathfrak{P}}^{e(\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{p})}.$$

The fact that ramification indices and residue class degrees are multiplicative in towers insures the consistency of these definitions when we go to finite extensions.

Given a *p*-adic valuation on \mathbf{Q} , any extension of it to a number field K comes from some prime ideal in the integral closure A of \mathbf{Z} in K. Indeed, if \mathfrak{o} is the given valuation ring in K, and \mathfrak{m} its maximal ideal, then $\mathfrak{m} \cap A$ cannot be 0, and hence is a maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} . It is then trivial to verify that $\mathfrak{o} = A_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Thus from our point of view of Dedekind rings and integral closure, we recover all the valuations on K which induce *p*-adic valuations on \mathbf{Q} .

If K is a number field, then every embedding of K into the real or complex numbers will induce an absolute value on K, which will be called real or complex accordingly.

Let K be a number field. The set of absolute values on K consisting of the p-adic absolute values $| |_{\mathfrak{p}}$ described above, and of the absolute values induced by embedding K in C or R will be called the **canonical set**, and will be denoted by M_K . The real or complex absolute values in M_K are also called **archimedean**.

If E is a finite extension of K and $v \in M_K$, then any absolute value w on E extending v lies in M_E , and we write

w|v.

It is clear that two distinct absolute values in our canonical set are independent, in the sense that they induce distinct topologies on K. We shall prove the approximation theorem, which is the analogue for absolute values of the Chinese remainder theorem, and is due to Artin-Whaples.

Theorem 1. Let K be a field and $||_1, \ldots, ||_s$ non-trivial pairwise independent absolute values on K. Let x_1, \ldots, x_s be elements of K, and $\epsilon > 0$.

Then there exists $x \in K$ such that

 $|x-x_i|_i < \epsilon$

for all i.

Proof. Consider first two of our absolute values, say v_1 and v_s . By hypothesis we can find $\alpha \in K$ such that $|\alpha|_1 < 1$ and $|\alpha|_s \ge 1$. Similarly, we can find $\beta \in K$ such that $|\beta|_1 \ge 1$ and $|\beta|_s < 1$. Let $y = \beta/\alpha$. Then $|y|_1 > 1$ and $|y|_s < 1$.

We shall prove that there exists $z \in K$ such that $|z|_1 > 1$ and $|z|_j < 1$ for j = 2, ..., s. We prove this by induction, the case s = 2 having just been proved. Suppose that we have found $z \in K$ satisfying

$$|z|_1 > 1$$
 and $|z|_j < 1$ for $j = 2, ..., s - 1$.

If $|z|_s \leq 1$, then the element $z^n y$ for large *n* will satisfy our requirements. If $|z|_s > 1$, then the sequence

$$t_n = \frac{z^n}{1+z^n}$$

tends to 1 at v_1 and v_s , but tends to 0 at v_j (j = 2, ..., s - 1). For large n, it is then clear that $t_n y$ satisfies our requirements.

Using the element z that we have just constructed, we see that the sequence

$$\frac{z^n}{1+z^n}$$

tends to 1 at v_1 and to 0 at v_j for j = 2, ..., s. For each i = 1, ..., swe can therefore construct an element z_i which is very close to 1 at v_i and very close to 0 at v_j for $j \neq i$. The element

$$x=z_1x_1+\cdots+z_sx_s$$

then satisfies the requirement of the theorem.

Let K be a number field, and v an absolute value (assumed from now on to be always in the canonical set). Then we can form the completion of K in the same way as one constructs the real numbers from the rationals. We consider Cauchy sequences in K. These form a ring. The null sequences form a maximal ideal, and the residue class ring is a field K_v . Our field K is naturally embedded in K_v (by means of the sequences whose elements consist of a fixed element of K), and the absolute value on K can be extended to K_v by continuity. We usually identify K inside K_v , and call K_v the **completion** of K, we also call K_v a **local field**.

If v is archimedean, then K_v is the field of real or complex numbers. In fact, K_v contains the closure of the rational numbers, which is **R**.

36

[II, §1]

View K as embedded in K_v , as well as **R**. Then K**R** is a finite extension of **R**, and hence equal to **R** or **C** (in the latter case, determined up to complex conjugation). But K**R** is then complete, hence closed, so that $K\mathbf{R} = K_v$.

If v is non-archimedean, i.e. is a valuation, corresponding to a prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of the ring of algebraic integers of K, then K_v will also be written $K_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and will be called the field of \mathfrak{p} -adic numbers. We shall now consider in greater detail the situation when $v = v_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a \mathfrak{p} -adic valuation.

Let A be the integral closure of Z in K, i.e. the ring of algebraic integers of K. Denote by A_v the closure of A in K_v , and let $x \in A_v$. Select $y \in A$ such that

$$|x-y| < |x|$$

 $(|| = ||_{\mathfrak{p}})$. Then |y| = |y - x + x| = |x| because of the non-archimedean nature of our valuation. Since all elements of A have a \mathfrak{p} -adic absolute value which is ≤ 1 , it follows that all elements of A_v have a \mathfrak{p} -adic absolute value ≤ 1 . A similar argument shows that the closure of \mathfrak{p} consists of elements of A_v which have absolute value < 1, and that an element $x \in K_v$ which does not lie in A_v has absolute value > 1. In particular, the value group on K_v and K is the same, and is infinite cyclic. If π is an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{p} in A, then $|\pi|$ generates this value group.

Let $\mathfrak{o} = A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be the local ring at \mathfrak{p} . All the elements of \mathfrak{o} have a \mathfrak{p} -adic absolute value ≤ 1 because their orders at \mathfrak{p} are ≥ 0 . Hence \mathfrak{o} lies in the closure of A, and hence the closure of \mathfrak{o} in K_v is the same as the closure of A. It is called the ring of \mathfrak{p} -adic integers in K_v . Let $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be the maximal ideal of $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Then we have canonical isomorphisms

$$A_{\mathfrak{p}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}} \leftrightarrow A/\mathfrak{p} \leftrightarrow A_{v}/\mathfrak{p}_{v}$$

if we denote by \mathfrak{p}_v the closure of \mathfrak{p} in A_v .

In view of the above remarks, every element $\alpha \neq 0$ in K_v has an expression

 $\alpha = \pi^r u$,

where $|u|_{\mathfrak{p}} = 1$, and u is therefore a unit in the closure A_v of A. Hence A_v is a unique factorization domain with precisely one prime, and is therefore a discrete valuation ring.

Let E be a finite extension of K, B the integral closure of A in E, and \mathfrak{P} a prime of B lying above \mathfrak{p} . Let w be the canonical absolute value corresponding to \mathfrak{P} . Then we have a commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} B \to B_w \\ \uparrow & \uparrow \\ A \to A_v \end{array}$$

COMPLETIONS

the arrows on the top, bottom, and left being inclusions, and the right vertical arrow mapping A_v on the closure of A in B_w . Similarly, we have a commutative diagram of residue class fields:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} B/\mathfrak{P} \to B_w/\mathfrak{P}_w \\ \uparrow & \uparrow \\ A/\mathfrak{p} \to & A_v/\mathfrak{p}_v \end{array} \end{array}$$

the vertical arrows being injections, and the horizontal arrows being isomorphisms.

Let K_w be the closure of K in E_w . Then the composite field EK_w is a finite extension of K_w contained in E_w . We know that EK_w is complete, hence closed, hence equal to E_w . The same argument of course applies also to the case when v, w are both induced by embeddings into the real or complex numbers.

Theorem 2. Let K be a number field, v one of its canonical absolute values, E a finite extension of K. Two embeddings σ , $\tau : E \to \overline{K}_v$ over K give rise to the same absolute value on E if and only if they are conjugate over K_v .

(By conjugate over K_v we mean that there exists an isomorphism λ of $\sigma E \cdot K_v$ onto $\tau E \cdot K_v$ which is the identity on K_v .)

Proof. Suppose that the two embeddings are conjugate over K_v . Then the uniqueness of the extension of the absolute value from K_v to \overline{K}_v guarantees that the induced absolute values on E are equal. Conversely, suppose that this is the case. Let

$$\lambda: \tau E \to \sigma E$$

be an isomorphism over K. We shall prove that λ extends to an isomorphism of $\tau E \cdot K_v$ onto $\sigma E \cdot K_v$ over K_v . Since τE is dense in $\tau E \cdot K_v$, an element $x \in \tau E \cdot K_v$ can be written

$$x = \lim \tau x_n$$

with $x_n \in E$. Since the absolute values induced by σ and τ on E coincide, it follows that the sequence

$$\{\lambda \tau x_n\} = \{\sigma x_n\}$$

converges to an element of $\sigma E \cdot K_v$ which we denote by λx . One then verifies immediately that λx is independent of the particular sequence

[II, §1]

 τx_n used, and that the map

$$\lambda: \tau E \cdot K_v \to \sigma E \cdot K_v$$

is an isomorphism, which clearly leaves K_v fixed. This proves our assertion.

This result gives a clear picture of the nature of the extensions of v to E, including the archimedean absolute values.

Corollary 1. Let K be a number field and E a finite extension, of degree n. Let $v \in M_K$ and for each absolute value w on E extending v, let n_w be the local degree,

Then

$$\sum_{w \mid v} n_w = n.$$

 $n_w = [E_w:K_v].$

Proof. Immediate from Theorem 2 and the fact that for a finite separable extension, the degree is equal to the number of conjugates.

Corollary 2. Let K be a number field, and v_0 an absolute value in M_Q . Let $\alpha \in K$. Then

$$\prod_{v \mid v_0} |\alpha|_v^{n_v} = |N_{\mathbf{Q}}^K(\alpha)|_{v_0}.$$

Corollary 3. Let k be a number field and E a finite extension. Let $v \in M_k$ and for each w|v in E, let N_w be the local norm from E_w to k_v , and Tr_w the local trace. Then

and

$$N_k^E(\alpha) = \prod_{w \mid v} N_w(\alpha),$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{k}^{L}(\alpha) = \sum_{w \mid v} \operatorname{Tr}_{w}(\alpha)$$

17

for all $\alpha \in E$.

Remark. From Corollary 1, viewing a number field as a finite extension of \mathbf{Q} , we see immediately that we have an isomorphism

$$K \otimes_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{Q}_{v_0} \approx \prod_{v \mid v_0} K_v$$

if v_0 is a fixed absolute value in M_0 .

Let K be a number field and E a finite extension of degree n. Let v be an absolute value in M_K . We shall say that v splits completely in E if there exist precisely n extensions of v to E. From Theorem 2, we see at once that v splits completely in E if and only if every embedding σ of E COMPLETIONS

into \overline{K}_v over K maps E into K_v , i.e. $(\sigma E)K_v = K_v$. From this we immediately obtain some basic properties concerning the case when v splits completely as follows:

- **SC 1.** Let $E \supset F \supset K$ be finite extensions. An absolute value v in M_K splits completely in E if and only if it splits completely in F, and every w|v in F splits completely in E.
- SC 2. If v splits completely in E, if K_1/K is finite, and $v_1|v$ in K_1 , then v_1 splits completely in EK_1 .
- SC 3. If E_1 , E_2 are finite extensions of K, and v splits completely in E_1 and E_2 , then v splits completely in the compositum E_1E_2 .

The proofs are immediate.

Let A be a Dedekind ring. Its group of fractional ideals is isomorphic to the free abelian group generated by the prime ideals. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime ideal, and $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ the local ring at \mathfrak{p} , then the group of fractional ideals of $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is infinite cyclic, generated by the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ of $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$. If v is the absolute value determined by \mathfrak{p} and A_v the completion of A (or $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$), then A_v is also a Dedekind ring, and its group of fractional ideals is infinite cyclic, generated by \mathfrak{p}_v . Thus we have natural maps:

$$I(A_v) \to I(A_p) \to I(A),$$

the first arrow being a bijection, and the second an inclusion. It is convenient to make an abuse of language, and occasionally to identify p_v , m_p , and p and just call any one of them p. A product

$$\mathfrak{d} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{p}^{r_{\mathfrak{p}}}$$

with integers $r_{\mathfrak{p}}$ all but a finite number of which are 0 could be called a **formal ideal**, and according to the context can be interpreted as an element of I(A), $I(A_{\mathfrak{p}})$, or $I(A_v)$. We shall call $\mathfrak{p}^{r_{\mathfrak{p}}}$ its \mathfrak{p} -component and denote it by $\mathfrak{d}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. We say that $r_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the order of \mathfrak{d} at \mathfrak{p} and write

$$r_{\mathfrak{p}} = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathfrak{d}.$$

If $\alpha \neq 0$ is an element of the quotient field of A or of A_v , then we can form the principal fractional ideals αA , $\alpha A_{\mathfrak{p}}$, or αA_v and the orders of these at \mathfrak{p} are all equal to the same integer, $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \alpha$.

If α , β are two such elements, we write

$$\alpha \equiv \beta \pmod{\mathfrak{d}}$$

if $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}}(\alpha - \beta) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{d}$. If α , β lie in the quotient field of A and we

view b as being a fractional ideal, then this means that $\alpha - \beta$ lies in b and is a congruence in the usual sense. It is convenient to visualize it as applying simultaneously to any one of the three above rings if $b = p^r$ is the power of a single p.

Suppose that A is a Dedekind ring and \mathfrak{p} a prime of A, with a corresponding valuation v. Let A_v be the closure of A in the completion K_v of the quotient field, and \mathfrak{p}_v the closure of \mathfrak{p} in A_v . Then A_v is a discrete valuation ring. If \mathfrak{a} is a fractional ideal of A, then we have trivially:

 $\mathfrak{a}A_v = \mathfrak{p}_v^{r_\mathfrak{p}}$

if $r_{\mathfrak{p}} = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{a}$. Conversely, given a fractional ideal \mathfrak{p}_{v}^{r} of A_{v} , we have

$$\mathfrak{p}_v^r \cap A = \mathfrak{p}^r.$$

The closure of the fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} in A_v is $\mathfrak{a}A_v$. All these statements are trivial to verify, and we leave the details to the reader.

§2. Polynomials in complete fields

Throughout this section, we assume that K is a field complete under a valuation, and we let \mathfrak{o} be the ring of integers, i.e. the set of elements of absolute value ≤ 1 . We don't need to assume that the valuation is discrete. We let \mathfrak{p} be the maximal ideal of \mathfrak{o} . We observe that a series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n$$

with $a_n \in K$ converges if and only if

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} a_n = 0.$$

Thus convergence is easier to deal with than in the archimedean case.

We now discuss the possibility of finding roots to certain polynomials in complete fields.

Proposition 1. Let m be a positive integer such that

$$m \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Then for any $x \in \mathfrak{p}$ the binomial series of $(1 + x)^{1/m}$ converges to an m-th root of 1 + x in \mathfrak{o}^* .

Proof. Obvious, because the binomial coefficients have no p in the denominators.

It is frequently necessary to have a more refined criterion for the existence of a root. COMPLETIONS

Proposition 2. Let f(X) be a polynomial with coefficients in \mathfrak{o} . Let α_0 be an element of \mathfrak{o} such that

$$|f(\alpha_0)| < |f'(\alpha_0)^2|$$

(here f' denotes the formal derivative of f). Then the sequence

$$\alpha_{i+1} = \alpha_i - \frac{f(\alpha_i)}{f'(\alpha_i)}$$

converges to a root α of f(X) in \mathfrak{o} . Furthermore,

$$|\alpha - \alpha_0| \leq \left| \frac{f(\alpha_0)}{f'(\alpha_0)^2} \right| < 1.$$

Proof. Let $c = |f(\alpha_0)/f'(\alpha_0)^2| < 1$. We show inductively that

(i) $|\alpha_i| \leq 1$, (ii) $|\alpha_i - \alpha_0| \leq c$, (iii) $\left| \frac{f(\alpha_i)}{f'(\alpha_i)^2} \right| \leq c^{2^i}$.

These three conditions obviously imply our proposition. If i = 0, they are hypotheses. By induction, assume them for *i*. Then:

(i)
$$\left|\frac{f(\alpha_i)}{f'(\alpha_i)^2}\right| \leq c^{2^i}$$
 gives $|\alpha_{i+1} - \alpha_i| \leq c^{2^i} < 1$,

whence $|\alpha_{i+1}| \leq 1$.

(ii)
$$|\alpha_{i+1} - \alpha_0| \leq \max\{|\alpha_{i+1} - \alpha_i|, |\alpha_i - \alpha_0|\} = c.$$

(iii) By Taylor's expansion, we have

$$f(\alpha_{i+1}) = f(\alpha_i) - f'(\alpha_i) \frac{f(\alpha_i)}{f'(\alpha_i)} + \beta \left(\frac{f(\alpha_i)}{f'(\alpha_i)}\right)^2$$

for some $\beta \in \mathfrak{o}$, and this is less than or equal to

$$\left|\frac{f(\alpha_i)}{f'(\alpha_i)}\right|^2$$

in absolute value.

Using Taylor's expansion on $f'(\alpha_{i+1})$ we conclude that

$$|f'(\alpha_{i+1})| = |f'(\alpha_i)|.$$

From this we get

$$\left|\frac{f(\alpha_{i+1})}{f'(\alpha_{i+1})^2}\right| \leq c^{2^{i+1}}$$

as desired.

[II, §2]

[II, §2]

(The interested reader can refer to Bourbaki [Bou 62] to see a more general formulation of the preceding proposition.)

As an application, we observe that in the 2-adic field \mathbf{Q}_2 , the equation $x^2 + 7 = 0$ has a root. In fact, for any element $\gamma \equiv 1 \pmod{8}$ in \mathbf{Q}_2 the equation $x^2 = \gamma$ has a root. We take $\alpha_0 = 1$ in Proposition 2.

Proposition 2 applies also in the trivial case when

$$f(\alpha_0) \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$$
 but $f'(\alpha_0) \neq 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$.

The solution of the recursive linear equation needed to refine α_0 to a root of f is then more trivial. Another way of characterizing this situation is to say that α_0 is a root of multiplicity 1 of the polynomial f reduced mod \mathfrak{p} . We shall call this the **trivial case** of **Hensel's lemma**.

Proposition 2 also shows that every unit of \mathfrak{o} sufficiently close to 1 has an *m*-th root if *m* is not divisible by the characteristic of *K*. Indeed, we need but consider the equation

$$X^m-u=0$$

and take $\alpha_0 = 1$, provided $|u - 1| < |m|^2$.

We prove next a useful approximation lemma in finite extensions.

Proposition 3. Let α , β be two elements of the algebraic closure of K, and assume that α is separable over $K(\beta)$. Assume that for all isomorphisms σ of $K(\alpha)$ over $K, \sigma \neq id$, we have

$$|\beta - \alpha| < |\sigma \alpha - \alpha|.$$

Then $K(\alpha) \subset K(\beta)$.

Proof. It suffices to show that for all isomorphisms of $K(\beta, \alpha)$ over $K(\beta)$ the element α remains fixed. Let τ be such an isomorphism. By the uniqueness of extensions of absolute values over complete fields, applying τ to $\beta - \alpha$ yields for all $\sigma \neq id$:

 $|\beta - \tau \alpha| < |\sigma \alpha - \alpha|.$

Using the hypothesis, we obtain

$$|\tau \alpha - \alpha| = |\tau \alpha - \beta + \beta - \alpha| < |\sigma \alpha - \alpha|.$$

This implies that τ is the identity, hence $K(\beta, \alpha) = K(\beta)$, as desired.

Proposition 3 is known as **Krasner's lemma**. It is useful in determining extensions of K.

Next, we note the continuity of the roots of a polynomial.

Let f(X) be a polynomial in K[X] having leading coefficient 1 and admitting a factorization

$$f(X) = \prod (X - \alpha_i)^{r_i}$$

in the algebraic closure of K. Say f has degree n, and the α_i are distinct. Let g also have degree n and leading coefficient 1. As usual, we denote by |g| the maximum of the absolute values of the coefficients of g. One sees immediately that if |g| is bounded, then the absolute values of the roots of g are also bounded.

Suppose that g comes close to f, in the sense that |f - g| is small. If β is any root of g, then

$$|f(\boldsymbol{\beta}) - g(\boldsymbol{\beta})| = |f(\boldsymbol{\beta})|$$

is small, and hence β must come close to some root of f. As β comes close to say $\alpha = \alpha_1$, its distance from the other roots of f approaches the distance of α_1 from the other roots and is therefore bounded from below. We may say in that case that β belongs to α .

If g comes sufficiently close to f, and say β_1, \ldots, β_s are the roots of g which belong to α (counting multiplicities), then we contend that s = r (the multiplicity of α in f).

If this is not so, then we can find a sequence g_{ν} as above, approaching f, with precisely s roots $\beta_1^{(\nu)}, \ldots, \beta_s^{(\nu)}$ belonging to α and $s \neq r$. Thus each $\beta_1^{(\nu)}, \ldots, \beta_s^{(\nu)}$ approaches α . But $\lim_{\nu} g_{\nu} = f$ and hence α must have multiplicity s in f, contradiction.

As an application, we have:

Proposition 4. If f is irreducible and separable, then any polynomial g sufficiently close to f is also irreducible. (Both f and g are still assumed to have leading coefficient 1, and the same degree.) Furthermore, given a root α of f, there exists a root β of g belonging to α , and $K(\alpha) = K(\beta)$.

Proof. If g is sufficiently close to f, then its roots have multiplicity 1, and belong to the distinct roots of f. If β is a root of g very close to the root α of f, then Krasner's lemma immediately shows that $K(\alpha) = K(\beta)$. Hence g is irreducible, since it has the same degree as f.

Corollary. Let K be a finite extension of \mathbf{Q}_p . Then there exists a finite extension E of \mathbf{Q} contained in K such that $[E:\mathbf{Q}] = [K:\mathbf{Q}_p]$ and E is dense in K, so that $K = E\mathbf{Q}_p$.

Proof. Let $K = \mathbf{Q}_p(\alpha)$, let f be the irreducible polynomial of α over \mathbf{Q}_p , and take for g a polynomial very close to f as before, but with coefficients in **Q**. Then let $E = \mathbf{Q}(\beta)$.

SOME FILTRATIONS

In view of this corollary, we call any finite extension of \mathbf{Q}_p also a p-adic field. The integral closure of the *p*-adic integers in *K* has a unique maximal ideal which is denoted by \mathfrak{p} .

§3. Some filtrations

Let \mathfrak{o} be a discrete valuation ring with maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} , let K be its quotient field, and assume that K is complete under the valuation induced by \mathfrak{o} . Let π be a generator for \mathfrak{p} . This notation will stay fixed throughout the section. We also fix a valuation corresponding to \mathfrak{o} .

We know that in the topology given by the valuation, we have subgroups \mathfrak{p}^r (r = 1, 2, ...) which are **open** in the topology. Indeed, given $x \in K$, if y is an element of K such that |x - y| < |x|, then |y| = |x|. Thus the \mathfrak{p}^r are open subgroups whose intersection is 0. Consequently, they form a fundamental system of neighborhoods of 0 in K. (We let $\mathfrak{p}^0 = \mathfrak{o}$ by definition.)

As an additive group, each factor group $\mathfrak{p}^r/\mathfrak{p}^{r+1}$ is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}$ under multiplication by π^r .

The units of \mathfrak{o} form a group under multiplication, which will be denoted by U. For each integer $i \geq 1$ we let

$$U_i = 1 + \mathfrak{p}^i$$

and define $U_0 = U$. Then U_i is a group, because whenever $x, y \in \mathfrak{p}^i$ we see that

$$(1+x)(1+y) = 1 + x + y + xy \in 1 + \mathfrak{p}^i \quad (i \ge 1)$$
$$\equiv 1 + x + y \mod(1 + \mathfrak{p}^{i+1})$$

and

$$(1-x)^{-1} = 1 + x + x^2 + \cdots$$

is a convergent series.

The units are an open subset of o.

If π has order 1 at \mathfrak{p} , then it is clear that K^* is topologically and algebraically isomorphic to the product $\{\pi\} \times U$ (letting $\{\pi\}$ be the cyclic group generated by π).

Under the canonical map

$$\mathfrak{o} \to \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}$$

the units map on the non-zero elements of o/p, and the kernel of the

induced homomorphism

 $U \to (\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p})^*$

is precisely U_1 . Thus $U/U_1 \approx (\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p})^*$.

Furthermore, for $i \geq 1$, we have an isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{p}^i/\mathfrak{p}^{i+1} \to U_i/U_{i+1}$$

induced by the map on p^i given by

$$x \mapsto (1+x) \mod U_{i+1}$$

which is immediately verified to be a homomorphism, whose kernel is p^{i+1} . This map is a truncated exponential map.

If $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}$ is a finite field, with q elements, then the number of elements in $\mathfrak{p}^i/\mathfrak{p}^{i+1}$ is also equal to q. The number of elements in U/U_1 is then q-1.

Proposition 5. If $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}$ is finite, then \mathfrak{o} and U are compact.

Proof. We observe that \mathfrak{o} is the projective limit of the finite groups $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}^i$ and hence is compact. (It can be viewed as a closed subgroup of the Cartesian product of the $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}^i$.) The same argument applies to U as a projective limit of U/U_i .

The U_i form a fundamental system of neighborhoods of 1 in U.

In view of Proposition 5, we conclude that a p-adic field is locally compact.

As we remarked in the preceding section, every unit of a \mathfrak{p} -adic field sufficiently close to 1 is an *m*-th power. Thus given a positive integer *m*, the index $(U: U^m)$ is finite. We shall now determine this index.

We need a group theoretic lemma.

Lemma. Let f be a homomorphism of a commutative group A into some other group. We denote the image of f by A^f and its kernel by A_f . Let B be a subgroup of A. Then

$$(A:B) = (A^f:B^f)(A_f:B_f)$$

in the sense that if two of the indices are finite, so is the third and the equality holds.

Proof. Consider the composite homomorphism of f and the canonical map

$$A \to A^f \to A^f/B^f$$
.

46

Its kernel in A is $B + A_f$, and hence we have an isomorphism

$$A/(B+A_f) \approx A^f/B^f$$

But $A \supset B + A_f \supset B$, and

$$(B + A_f)/B \approx A_f/(A_f \cap B) = A_f/B_f.$$

Our lemma follows at once.

Proposition 6. Let K be a p-adic field and U the units of its ring of integers. Let m be a positive integer. Then

$$(U: U^m) = \frac{1}{\|m\|_{\mathfrak{p}}} (K_m^*: 1)$$

and

$$(K^*:K^{*m}) = \frac{m}{\|m\|_{\mathfrak{p}}} (K_m^*:1)$$

(where K_m^* is the group of m-th roots of unity contained in K).

Proof. The second formula follows from the first by recalling that $K^* \approx \mathbb{Z} \times U$.

We now consider the unit index, and the proof is taken from Artin [1]. Take r so large that $|m\pi^{r+1}| \ge |\pi^{2r}|$ and consider the group U_r . Then for any integral x,

$$(1+x\pi^r)^m \equiv 1+mx\pi^r \pmod{m\pi^{r+1}}.$$

Thus if $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} m = s$, we have

$$U_r^m = U_{r+s}.$$

Take r sufficiently large that no m-th root of unity except 1 lies in U_r . We apply the lemma to the homomorphism $f(a) = a^m$, applied to the units. We obtain

$$(U: U_r) = (U^m : U_{r+s})(K_m^* : 1)$$

= $\frac{(U: U_{r+s})}{(U: U^m)}(K_m^* : 1).$

Hence

$$(U:U^m) = \frac{(U:U_{r+s})}{(U:U_r)} (K_m^*:1) = (U_r:U_{r+s})(K_m^*:1).$$

But $(U_r: U_{r+s}) = (N\mathfrak{p})^s$ and our assertion follows.

COMPLETIONS

Corollary. If K contains the m-th roots of unity, then

$$(U:U^m) = \frac{m}{\|m\|_{\mathfrak{p}}}$$
 and $(K^*:K^{*m}) = \frac{m^2}{\|m\|_{\mathfrak{p}}}$

§4. Unramified extensions

We continue to assume that K is complete under a discrete valuation, with ring A and maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} .

If E is a finite extension of K and B the integral closure of A in E, then there is a unique prime ideal \mathfrak{P} of B lying above \mathfrak{p} , and B is a discrete valuation ring. If e is the ramification index and f the residue class degree, then

ef = [E:K].

(In this book, we have proved this only when E is separable over K. As we are primarily interested in number fields, we don't give the proof in general. The reader may assume that K has characteristic 0 if he wishes.)

We see that e = 1 if and only if

$$[E:K] = [B/\mathfrak{P}:A/\mathfrak{p}].$$

If this equality holds and the residue class field extension B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} is separable, then we shall say that \mathfrak{P} is **unramified** over \mathfrak{p} , or that E is unramified over K.

Let $\varphi: B \to B/\mathfrak{P}$ be the canonical homomorphism. If

$$g = \beta_n X^n + \dots + \beta_0$$

is a polynomial with coefficients in B, then we denote by g^{φ} the polynomial $\varphi(\beta_n)X^n + \cdots + \varphi(\beta_0)$, obtained by applying the map φ to the coefficients of g.

Proposition 7. Let E be finite over K, and assume that \mathfrak{P} is unramified over \mathfrak{p} . Let $\overline{\alpha} \in B^{\varphi}$ be such that $B^{\varphi} = A^{\varphi}(\overline{\alpha})$ and let α be an element of B such that $\varphi \alpha = \overline{\alpha}$. Then $E = K(\alpha)$, and the irreducible polynomial g(X)of α over K is such that g^{φ} is irreducible. Conversely, if $E = K(\alpha)$ for some $\alpha \in B$ satisfying a polynomial g(X) in A[X] having leading coefficient 1 and such that g^{φ} has no multiple root, then \mathfrak{B} is unramified over \mathfrak{p} and $B^{\varphi} = A^{\varphi}(\varphi \alpha)$.

Proof. First assume \mathfrak{P} unramified. Let $\overline{g}(X)$ be the irreducible polynomial of $\overline{\alpha}$ over A^{φ} . Let α be an element of B such that $\varphi \alpha = \overline{\alpha}$, and let g(X) be its irreducible polynomial over K. Then α is integral over A,

48

and $\bar{\alpha}$ is a root of g^{φ} , whence \bar{g} divides g^{φ} . On the other hand

$$\deg \bar{g} = [B^{\varphi} : A^{\varphi}] = [E : K] \ge \deg g$$

and so $\bar{g} = g^{\varphi}$. This proves the first statement.

Conversely, if α satisfies the stated condition, then we may assume without loss of generality that its irreducible polynomial g(X) is such that g^{φ} has no multiple roots. We can now apply Corollary 2 of Proposition 14, Chapter I, §5 (to the smallest Galois extension of K containing E) to conclude that g^{φ} is a power of an irreducible polynomial, and hence is irreducible. Using the inequalities

$$[A^{\varphi}(\varphi\alpha):A^{\varphi}] \leq [B^{\varphi}:A^{\varphi}] \leq [E:K]$$

we now conclude that we must have an equality everywhere, and that

$$B^{\varphi} = A^{\varphi}(\varphi \alpha).$$

This proves our proposition.

Proposition 8. Let E be a finite extension of K.

- (i) If $E \supset F \supset K$, then E is unramified over K if and only if E is unramified over F and F is unramified over K.
- (ii) If E is unramified over K, and K_1 is a finite extension of K, then EK_1 is unramified over K_1 .
- (iii) If E_1 and E_2 are finite unramified over K, then so is E_1E_2 .

Proof. The first assertion comes from the fact that the degrees of residue class field extensions are bounded by the degrees of the field extensions, and their multiplicativity property in towers. One must also use the fact that assertion (i) holds when "unramified" is replaced by "a finite separable extension". The second assertion is an immediate consequence of our criterion in Proposition 7. The third comes formally from the first and second.

Proposition 9. For each finite extension E of K in a given algebraic closure, let B_E be the integral closure of A in E. Let \overline{A} be the integral closure of A in the algebraic closure \overline{K} of K. Let φ be a homomorphism of \overline{A} such that its restriction to B_E has the maximal ideal \mathfrak{P}_E as kernel. Then the map

$$B_E \mapsto B_E^{\varphi}$$

induces a bijection between unramified extensions E of K and separable extensions of A^{φ} .

Proof. We have shown in Proposition 7 that every finite separable extension of A^{φ} is obtainable as an image B_{E}^{φ} for some finite extension E

49

COMPLETIONS

of K, unramified over K. We now must prove the uniqueness. If $E_1 \subset E_2$ are unramified, then clearly $\varphi B_{E_1} \subset \varphi B_{E_2}$. Let $E_1 = K(\alpha_1)$ and $E_2 = K(\alpha_2)$ be unramified extensions, generated by elements α_1, α_2 respectively satisfying polynomials over A having leading coefficient 1, and whose reductions mod \mathfrak{p} have no multiple roots. Then $E_1E_2 = E_2(\alpha_1)$, and α_1 satisfies with respect to E_2 a similar condition (with the same polynomial as over K). Let $E = E_1 E_2$. Using Proposition 7 once more, we conclude that

$$\varphi B_E = \varphi B_{E_2}(\varphi \alpha_1) = A^{\varphi}(\varphi \alpha_1, \varphi \alpha_2) = (\varphi B_{E_1})(\varphi B_{E_2}).$$

If $\varphi B_{E_1} = \varphi B_{E_2}$, we conclude that $E_1 = E_2$, thus proving our proposition.

If we assume that A^{φ} is a finite field, as is the case in number theory, then its algebraic extensions are all separable, and in fact are cyclic. The Galois group is generated by a canonical automorphism, the Frobenius automorphism σ (Chapter I, §5) such that

 $\sigma x = x^q$

if q is the number of elements in the residue class field A/\mathfrak{p} . Thus each finite unramified extension of K is in fact cyclic, and has a uniquely determined automorphism corresponding to σ . In fact, we see that in Proposition 14 of Chapter I, $\S5$ the Galois group G of an unramified extension is equal to $G_{\mathfrak{B}}$ because there is only one \mathfrak{B} above \mathfrak{p} , and $G_{\mathfrak{B}}$ is isomorphic to the Galois group of the residue class field extension.

Corollary. Let K be a \mathfrak{p} -adic field (i.e. completion of a number field under a \mathfrak{p} -adic valuation). Let E be an unramified extension of K. Then every unit of K is a norm of a unit in E.

Proof. Let u be a unit in K. We identify the Galois group of E over Kwith the Galois group of the residue class field extension. It is a simple consequence of Hilbert's Theorem 90 (or anything else you can think of) that both the trace and norm from a finite extension of a finite field are surjective. Hence there exists a unit α_0 in E such that

$$u \equiv N_K^E \alpha_0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Then

$$uN_K^E \alpha_0^{-1} \equiv 1 + c_1 \pi \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^2}.$$

for some $c_1 \in A$. Let

 $\alpha_1 = 1 + \pi x_1$

with x_1 in B_E . Then

$$N_K^E \alpha_1 \equiv 1 + \operatorname{Tr}(x_1) \pi \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^2}$$

where Tr is the trace, and it is again an easy matter to verify that the trace is surjective in the residue class field extension. Hence we can select x_1 such that

 $\operatorname{Tr}(x_1) \equiv c_1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}},$

whence we can find α_1 such that

$$uN_K^E \alpha_0^{-1} \equiv N_K^E \alpha_1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^2}.$$

Proceeding inductively, we can find $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ such that

 $\alpha_n \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^n}$

and such that

$$uN_K^E(\alpha_0\cdots\alpha_n)^{-1}\equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^{n+1}}.$$

The infinite product

$$\prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \alpha_i$$

is convergent to an element α such that

$$N_K^E \alpha = u_s$$

thus proving our corollary.

§5. Tamely ramified extensions

We still assume that K is complete, under a discrete valuation, with Dedekind ring A and maximal ideal \mathfrak{p} , and we assume that A/\mathfrak{p} is perfect.

If E is a finite extension, we denote by $B = B_E$ the integral closure of A in E, and $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}_E$ its maximal ideal.

We shall say that \mathfrak{P} is totally ramified above \mathfrak{p} if [E:K] = e. In that case, the residue class degree is equal to 1 (because ef = n). Since \mathfrak{P} is the only prime of B lying above \mathfrak{p} , we say that E is totally ramified over K.

Proposition 10. Let E be a finite extension of K. Let E_u be the compositum of all unramified subfields over K. Then E_u is unramified over K, and E is totally ramified over E_u .

Proof. The first statement comes from Proposition 8 of the preceding section. As to the second, we consider the towers

$$egin{array}{cccc} E & B/\mathfrak{P} & & \ ert & ert & ert \ E_u & B_u/\mathfrak{P}_u & \ ert & ert \ ert & ert \ K & A/\mathfrak{p} \end{array}$$

COMPLETIONS

If the residue class field extension in the upper level of the tower had degree > 1, then it could be lifted back to an unramified subfield of E over E_u , of the same degree, contradicting the maximality of E_u . Hence the degree must be equal to 1, and therefore E is totally ramified over E_u .

Let E be a finite extension of K. We shall say that \mathfrak{P} is tamely ramified over \mathfrak{p} (or E tamely ramified over K) if the characteristic p of the residue class field A/\mathfrak{p} does not divide e. If it does, we say that \mathfrak{P} is strongly ramified. We shall now describe totally and tamely ramified extensions.

Proposition 11. Assume that E is totally ramified over K. Let Π be an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} . Then Π satisfies an Eisenstein equation

$$X^e + a_{e-1}X^{e-1} + \cdots + a_0 = 0,$$

where $a_i \in \mathfrak{p}$ for all *i* and $a_0 \neq 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^2}$. Conversely, such an equation is irreducible, and a root generates a totally ramified extension of degree e.

Proof. All conjugates of Π over K have the same absolute value (by the uniqueness of the extension of \mathfrak{p} to any finite extension), and hence the coefficients of its irreducible polynomial, which are polynomial functions of the roots, lie in $\mathfrak{P} \cap A = \mathfrak{p}$. The last coefficient a_0 is the product of Π and its conjugates, and there are e of those. Hence

$$|a_0| = |\Pi|^e$$
,

so $a_0 = \pi$ is an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{p} . As to the converse, an Eisenstein equation is irreducible. If β is a root, then the same argument we applied to Π before now applies to β and shows that $|\beta|^e = |\pi|$. Hence $e = [K(\beta) : K]$.

We observe that if $p \nmid e$, then the extension is tamely ramified.

Proposition 12. Let E be totally and tamely ramified over K. Then there exists an element Π of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} in E satisfying an equation

$$X^e - \pi = 0$$

with π of order 1 at \mathfrak{p} in K. Conversely, let a be an element of A, and e a positive integer not divisible by p. Then any root of an equation

$$X^e - a = 0$$

generates a tamely ramified extension of K, and this extension is totally ramified if the order at \mathfrak{p} of a is relatively prime to e.

Proof. Let $f(X) = X^e - a$ with $a \in A$ and e not divisible by p. Let α be any root of f. Write $a = \pi^r u$ with some integer r and a unit u of A.

Then $K(\alpha)$ is contained in $K(\zeta, u^{1/e}, \pi^{1/e})$, where ζ is a primitive *e*-th root of unity. The extension $F = K(\zeta, u^{1/e})$ is unramified over K, and hence π is still a prime element in \mathfrak{P}_F . The extension $F(\pi^{1/e})$ is totally and tamely ramified, and hence the ramification index of $K(\alpha)$ over K divides that of $K(\zeta, u^{1/e}, \pi^{1/e})$ over K. This proves that $K(\alpha)$ is tamely ramified over K. If the order of a at \mathfrak{p} is relatively prime to e, then we can find two integers s, t such that

$$se + tr = 1.$$

Let $\beta = \alpha^t \pi^s$. Then β^e and π have the same order at \mathfrak{P} , whence the ramification index is at least equal to e. It must therefore be equal to e (because $[K(\alpha):K] \leq e$), and our extension is totally tamely ramified.

There remains to prove that any totally and tamely ramified extension is generated by the root of an equation

 $X^e - \pi = 0$

for some prime element π of \mathfrak{p} . For this we shall need a lemma.

Lemma. Let e be a positive integer not divisible by p. Let E be a finite extension of K, π_0 a prime element in p, and β an element of E such that $|\beta|^e = |\pi_0|$. Then there exists an element π of order 1 in p such that one of the roots of the equation $X^e - \pi = 0$ is contained in $K(\beta)$.

Proof. We can write $\beta^e = \pi_0 u$ with a unit u in B. Since the extension is totally ramified, the residue class degree is equal to 1, and hence there exists a unit u_0 in A such that $u \equiv u_0 \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}$. Letting $\pi = \pi_0 u_0$ we get

$$\beta^e = \pi + \pi x$$

with some element $x \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}$. Thus

$$|\beta^e - \pi| < |\pi|.$$

Let $f(X) = X^e - \pi$, and let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_e$ be its roots. Then

$$|f(\beta)| = |\beta - \alpha_1| \cdots |\beta - \alpha_e|.$$

But $|\alpha_i| = |\beta|$ for each *i*. Hence for at least one value of *i*, say i = 1, we have

$$|\beta-\alpha_1|<|\alpha_1|.$$

On the other hand,

$$|f'(\alpha_1)| = |\alpha_1|^{e-1} = |\alpha_1 - \alpha_2| \cdots |\alpha_1 - \alpha_e|$$

and $|\alpha_1 - \alpha_j| \leq |\alpha_1|$. This proves that for all $j \neq 1$ we have $|\alpha_1 - \alpha_j| = |\alpha_1|$.

By Krasner's lemma, it follows that $K(\alpha_1) \subset K(\beta)$ thereby proving our assertion.

Proposition 12 follows at once by taking $\beta = \Pi$.

Proposition 13. Let E be a finite extension of K. Then all statements of Proposition 8 hold if the word "unramified" is replaced throughout by the words "tamely ramified".

Proof. Routine, using the multiplicativity of the ramification index, and Proposition 12.

Corollary. Let E be a finite extension of K, and let E_t be the compositum of all tamely ramified subextensions. Then E_t is tamely ramified over K, and E is totally ramified over E_t . Furthermore, if p is the characteristic of the residue class field, then the degree $[E:E_t]$ is a power of p.

Proof. Let e be the ramification index and write

$$e = e_0 p^r$$
,

where e_0 is prime to p. Let Π be an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} , and let

$$\beta = \Pi^{p^r}$$

By the lemma, $K(\beta)$ contains a tamely ramified subextension of ramification index e_0 . The composite of this extension with the maximal unramified subfield of E gives us a tamely ramified extension F of K, and from the definition of β , it follows that the ramification index of E over Fis p^r . On the other hand, E is totally ramified over F (because F contains E_u), and hence $[E:F] = p^r$. Any tamely ramified subextension of E must be contained in F, otherwise its compositum with F would be tamely ramified over F. This proves the corollary.

Lastly, we specialize to p-adic fields and prove a useful finiteness statement.

Proposition 14. Let K be a p-adic field (finite extension of \mathbf{Q}_p). Given an integer n, there exists only a finite number of extensions of degree $\leq n$.

Proof. Since there is exactly one unramified extension of a given degree, corresponding to an extension of the residue class field, and since every extension is a tower of an unramified and totally ramified extension, it will suffice to prove that there is only a finite number of totally ramified extensions of a given degree e. But such extensions are obtained by Eisenstein equations

$$X^{e} + a_{e-1}X^{e-1} + \cdots + u_{0}\pi = 0,$$

[II, §5]

where the coefficients a_i belong to \mathfrak{p} and u_0 is a unit (π being a fixed prime element of \mathfrak{p}). The Cartesian product

$$\mathfrak{p} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{p} \times U$$

of the units and of \mathfrak{p} taken e - 1 times is compact. Any point in it can be viewed as determining a finite number of extensions of degree e (corresponding to the distinct roots of the equation). By Krasner's lemma, it follows that a neighborhood of such a point determines the same extensions (Proposition 4 of §2), and by compactness the finiteness follows.

CHAPTER III

The Different and Discriminant

The study of the different and discriminant provides some information on ramified primes, and also gives a sort of duality which plays a role both in the algebraic study of ramification and the later chapters on analytic duality. It also gives a good method for computing the ring of algebraic integers in a number field, as in Proposition 10.

§1. Complementary modules

Throughout this section, A is a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, E a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in E. Let L be an additive subgroup of E. We define its **complementary set** (relative to the trace) to be the set of $x \in E$ such that

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{K}^{E}(xL) \subset A$$
,

and denote it by L'. Then L' is an additive group. If AL = L, then AL' = L'.

If L, M are two additive subgroups of E, and $L \subset M$, then $M' \subset L'$. We also have the following properties.

Proposition 1. If w_1, \ldots, w_n is a basis of E over K and

$$L = Aw_1 + \cdots + Aw_n,$$

then

 $L' = Aw'_1 + \cdots + Aw'_n,$

where $\{w'_i\}$ is the dual basis relative to the trace.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in L'$ and write

$$\alpha = a_1 w'_1 + \cdots + a_n w'_n$$

with $a_i \in K$. Then $Tr(\alpha w_i) = a_i$, whence $a_i \in A$ for all *i*. This proves

the inclusion \subset . Conversely,

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Aw'_{i}L) = A \cdot \operatorname{Tr}(w'_{i}L) \subset A$$

so the inclusion \supset is equally trivial.

Since every fractional ideal of B is squeezed between two A-modules of type $Aw_1 + \cdots + Aw_n$ for suitable bases $\{w_i\}$ of E over K, and since A is Noetherian, we obtain:

Corollary. If b is a fractional ideal of B, then b' is also a fractional ideal. Furthermore $B \subset B'$.

Proposition 2. Let $E = K(\alpha)$ be a finite separable extension, of degree n. Let f be the irreducible polynomial of α over K, f' its derivative, and

$$\frac{f(X)}{X-\alpha}=b_0+b_1X+\cdots+b_{n-1}X^{n-1}.$$

Then the dual basis of 1, α , ..., α^{n-1} is

$$\frac{b_0}{f'(\alpha)}, \ldots, \frac{b_{n-1}}{f'(\alpha)}$$

Proof. Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ be the distinct roots of f. Then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{f(X)}{(X-\alpha_i)} \frac{\alpha_i^r}{f'(\alpha_i)} = X^r, \qquad 0 \le r \le n-1.$$

To see this, let g(X) be the difference of the left- and right-hand side of this equality. Then g has degree $\leq n - 1$, and has n roots $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$; hence g is identically 0.

The polynomials

$$\frac{f(X)}{X-\alpha_i}\frac{\alpha_i^r}{f'(\alpha_i)}$$

are all conjugate to each other. If we define the trace of a polynomial with coefficients in E to be the polynomial obtained by applying the trace to the coefficients, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{f(X)}{X-\alpha}\frac{\alpha^{r}}{f'(\alpha)}\right] = X^{r}.$$

Looking at the coefficient of each power of X in this equation, we see that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\alpha^{i}\frac{b_{j}}{f'(\alpha)}\right) = \delta_{ij}$$

thereby proving our assertion.

[III, §1]

Corollary. Assume that $B = A[\alpha]$. Then $B' = B/f'(\alpha)$.

Proof. Using the recurring formulas

$$b_{n-1} = 1$$

$$b_{n-2} - \alpha b_{n-1} = a_{n-1}$$

$$\vdots$$

we see that the module generated by 1, α , ..., α^{n-1} over A is the same as that generated by b_0, \ldots, b_{n-1} . Our corollary follows immediately.

Proposition 3. Assume that A is a discrete valuation ring, that there is only one prime \mathfrak{B} of B above \mathfrak{p} , and that B/\mathfrak{B} is separable over A/\mathfrak{p} . Then there exists $\alpha \in B$ such that $B = A[\alpha]$.

Proof. Let β be an element of B whose residue class mod \mathfrak{P} generates B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} . Let f be a polynomial with leading coefficient 1 and coefficients in A such that its reduced polynomial mod \mathfrak{p} is an irreducible polynomial for $\beta \mod \mathfrak{P}$. Let Π be an element of order one at \mathfrak{P} in B. Then

$$f(\beta + \Pi) \equiv f(\beta) + f'(\beta)\Pi \pmod{\mathfrak{P}^2},$$

and $f'(\beta) \neq 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}$. Hence taking either β or $\beta + \Pi$ yields an element α such that its residue class generates B/\mathfrak{P} over A/\mathfrak{p} and such that there exists an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} in the ring $A[\alpha]$. We conclude by Proposition 23 of Chapter I, §7 that $B = A[\alpha]$.

The preceding proposition gives us a criterion when we can apply Proposition 2. It applies in particular in the local case, when our Dedekind ring is complete.

Proposition 4. Let \mathfrak{b} be a fractional ideal of B. Then

$$\mathfrak{b}'=B'\mathfrak{b}^{-1}.$$

Proof. We have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(B'\mathfrak{b}^{-1}\mathfrak{b}) = \operatorname{Tr}(B'B) \subset A$$

whence $B'\mathfrak{b}^{-1} \subset \mathfrak{b}'$. The converse is equally clear.

For purposes of the following proposition, we denote by $B'_{E/K}$ the complementary module of B. We need some index, since we shall deal with more than two fields.

Proposition 5. Let $E \supset F \supset K$ be two separable extensions, C the integral closure of A in F, and B the integral closure of A in E. Then

$$B'_{E/K} = B'_{E/F}C'_{F/K}$$

Proof. We prove first the inclusion \supset . We have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{K}^{E}(B'_{E/F}C'_{F/K}B) = \operatorname{Tr}_{K}^{F}\operatorname{Tr}_{F}^{E}(B'_{E/F}C'_{F/K}B)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{K}^{F}(C'_{F/K}\operatorname{Tr}_{F}^{E}(B'_{E/F}B))$$
$$\subset A.$$

This proves the desired inclusion.

Conversely, let $\beta \in B'_{E/K}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{K}^{E}(\beta B) = \operatorname{Tr}_{K}^{F}(C\operatorname{Tr}_{F}^{E}(\beta B)) \subset A$$

(we can insert C since CB = B). Thus

 $\operatorname{Tr}_F^E(\beta B) \subset C'_{F/K},$

and

 $C'_{F/K}^{-1}\operatorname{Tr}_F^E(\beta B) \subset C.$

The C-fractional ideal $C_{F/K}^{\prime-1}$ can be taken inside the trace $\operatorname{Tr}_{F}^{E}$ because it is contained in F. Hence

$$\beta C'_{F/K}^{-1} \subset B'_{E/F}.$$

Multiplying by $C'_{F/K}$ shows that $\beta \in C'_{F/K}B'_{E/F}$ and concludes the proof of the reverse inclusion.

Notation being as above, we define the **different** $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$ to be $B'_{E/K}^{-1}$. The preceding proposition gives us the rule

$$\mathfrak{D}_{B/C}\mathfrak{D}_{C/A}=\mathfrak{D}_{B/A},$$

which is called the multiplicativity of the different in towers.

The different is the inverse of a fractional ideal containing the integers, and therefore is an ideal.

Proposition 6. Let S be a multiplicative subset of A. Then

$$\mathfrak{D}_{S^{-1}B/S^{-1}A} = S^{-1}\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}.$$

Proof. Obvious.

Proposition 6 allows us to compute the different by localizing at a prime \mathfrak{p} of A. This has the advantage that $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ becomes principal.

We shall now see how the different localizes in the completion, and how it can be computed purely locally.

Using Proposition 6, we may assume that A is a discrete valuation ring.

60

Proposition 7. Let A be a discrete valuation ring, v its valuation, and \mathfrak{P} a prime of B lying above the prime \mathfrak{p} of A. Let $w_{\mathfrak{P}}$ be the valuation corresponding to \mathfrak{P} and A_v , $B_{w\mathfrak{P}}$ the respective completions. Then:

$$\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}B_{w\mathfrak{B}}=\mathfrak{D}_{B_{w\mathfrak{B}}/A_{v}}$$

Proof. Since the differents are ideals, it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}}\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}=\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}}\mathfrak{D}_{B_{w\mathfrak{P}}/A_{v}}.$$

Let Tr denote the trace from E to K and Tr_w the local trace from E_w to K_v for any w extending v in E. Then

$$\mathrm{Tr} = \sum_{w \mid v} \mathrm{Tr}_w$$

(as an operator on E).

Let $x \in E_{w\mathfrak{P}}$ and assume that $\operatorname{Tr}_{w\mathfrak{P}}(xB_{w\mathfrak{P}}) \subset A_v$. Select an element ξ of E which is very close to x at $w\mathfrak{P}$ and very close to 0 at all other w|v. Let $y \in B$. Then $\operatorname{Tr}_w(\xi y)$ is close to 0 if $w \neq w\mathfrak{P}$ and $\operatorname{Tr}_w(\xi y)$ lies in A_v if $w = w\mathfrak{P}$, by assumption and the fact that the local trace is continuous. This implies that $\operatorname{Tr}(\xi y)$ lies in A and hence that ξ lies in the complementary module B'.

Conversely, let x be an element in B' and let $y \in B_{w\mathfrak{P}}$. Find an element ξ of E which is close to x at $w_{\mathfrak{P}}$ and close to 0 at the other w|v. Find an element η of B close to y at $w_{\mathfrak{P}}$ and close to 0 at the other w|v. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\xi\eta) = \operatorname{Tr}_{w\mathfrak{P}}(\xi\eta) + \sum_{w \neq w\mathfrak{P}} \operatorname{Tr}_{w}(\xi\eta).$$

The global trace on the left lies in A. Each term in the sum on the right lies in A_v . Hence $\operatorname{Tr}_{w\mathfrak{P}}(\xi\eta)$ lies in A_v . Since ξ and η are close to x, y respectively, it follows that $\operatorname{Tr}_{w\mathfrak{P}}(xy)$ also lies in A_v .

The above arguments show that B' is dense in $B'_{w\mathfrak{P}}$ (= local complementary module with respect to $\operatorname{Tr}_{w\mathfrak{P}}$) and the proposition follows.

Let \mathfrak{D} denote the different of B over A. If we think of formal ideals, then we have the relation

$$\mathfrak{D}=\prod_{\mathfrak{P}}\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{P}}.$$

Each $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{P}}$ can be interpreted as the \mathfrak{P} -component of $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$, as the \mathfrak{P} -component of $\mathfrak{D}_{B_{\mathfrak{P}}/A_{\mathfrak{P}}}$ (if $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$), or as \mathfrak{D}_{B_w/A_v} if w and v are the valuations corresponding to \mathfrak{P} and \mathfrak{p} respectively.
One usually calls $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$ the **global different**, and \mathfrak{D}_{B_w/A_v} the **local different**. We may identify \mathfrak{D}_{B_w/A_v} with $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{P}}$ as a formal ideal, and in this sense, we may say that the global different is the product of the local differents.

§2. The different and ramification

In this section, we let A be a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, E a finite separable extension of K, and B the integral closure of A in E. We shall also assume that for any prime \mathfrak{p} of A the residue class field A/\mathfrak{p} is perfect.

Proposition 8. Let \mathfrak{P} be a prime of B lying above \mathfrak{p} , and let e be its ramification index. Then \mathfrak{P}^{e-1} divides $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$. If \mathfrak{P} is strongly ramified, then \mathfrak{P}^e divides $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$. If \mathfrak{P} is unramified, then \mathfrak{P} does not divide $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$. There is only a finite number of ramified primes. Finally, $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$ is the greatest common divisor of all ideals $(f'(\alpha))$, where α is an integral generator of E over K, and f the irreducible polynomial for α over K.

Proof. In view of the fact that ramification theory and the theory of the different localize to the completion, we may prove the first assertions under the assumption that K is complete.

Since we work over a complete field, we can apply Proposition 3 of §1, the Corollary of Proposition 2, §1, and Proposition 23 of Chapter I, §7. If \mathfrak{P} is unramified, this yields $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A} = (1)$. Using Proposition 5 of §1 (multiplicativity in towers), we may also assume that \mathfrak{P} is totally ramified. In that case, we can write $B = A[\Pi]$ for some element Π of order 1 at \mathfrak{P} , and Π satisfies an Eisenstein equation

$$f(\Pi) = \Pi^{e} + a_{n-1}\Pi^{e-1} + \cdots + \pi = 0,$$

for $a_i \in \mathfrak{p}$ and $\pi \in A$ of order 1 at \mathfrak{p} . Then

$$f'(\Pi) \equiv e\Pi^{e-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{P}^e},$$

and the second assertion of the proposition follows from the definitions.

We now return to the global case. Let α be an integral generator for E over K, and let f be its irreducible polynomial over K. There is only a finite number of primes \mathfrak{P} dividing $(f'(\alpha))$, and hence by Proposition 7 of Chapter II, §4, these primes are the only possible primes which may ramify (we may view α as a generator of the completion $E_{w\mathfrak{P}}$ over $K_{v\mathfrak{P}}$). Since $B \supset A[\alpha]$, it follows that $\mathfrak{D}_{B/A}$ divides $(f'(\alpha))$. There remains to be proved that it is the greatest common divisor, or more precisely that given a prime \mathfrak{P} , there exists an α such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}} \mathfrak{D}_{B/A} = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}} (f'(\alpha)).$$

The proof will be an exercise in techniques revolving around the approximation theorem.

There would be no difficulty if we could write $B = A[\alpha]$ for some α . This is true only locally. Hence we shall use the approximation theorem to reduce our problem to the local case.

Let $v = v_{\mathfrak{p}}$ and $w = w_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Let $\{\sigma\}$ range over the distinct isomorphisms of E into the algebraic closure \overline{K}_v of K. Let σ_1 be one of these, inducing the absolute value $w_{\mathfrak{P}}$ on E. If α is a generator of E over K, and f its irreducible equation over K, then

$$\sigma_1 f'(\alpha) = f'(\sigma_1 \alpha) = \prod_{\sigma \neq \sigma_1} (\sigma_1 \alpha - \sigma \alpha).$$

We shall write $\sigma \sim \tau$ if σ and τ are conjugate over K_v , i.e. if there exists an isomorphism λ of \overline{K}_v over K_v such that $\tau = \lambda \sigma$ on E.

According to Proposition 3, §1, there exists an element β of B_w such that $B_w = A_v[\beta]$. We observe that any element of B_w which is sufficiently close to β also generates B_w over A_v .

Let λ range over isomorphisms of \overline{K}_v over K_v . There exists an element $a \in A_v$ such that

$$|\lambda \beta - a| = 1$$

for all λ . Such an element exists because the conjugates $\lambda\beta$ have residue classes which are conjugate over A_v/\mathfrak{p}_v . If these residue classes are 0, we take a = 1. If they are not 0, we take a = 0.

Let $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_r$ be representatives of the equivalence classes of the embeddings of E into \overline{K}_v . By the approximation theorem, we can find an element α of E such that

$$|\sigma_1 \alpha - \beta|$$
 is very small,
 $|\sigma_i \alpha - a|$ is very small for $i \neq 1$.

Without loss of generality, we may assume in addition that α is integral over A and $E = K(\alpha)$. (If necessary, first multiply α by an element of A which is $\equiv 1 \mod p$ and is highly divisible by a finite number of other primes to make it integral, and then add $\pi^{\nu}\gamma$, where γ is any integral generator, and ν is very large. Then $\alpha + \pi^{\nu}\gamma$ becomes a generator.)

Since $\sigma_1 \alpha$ is very close to β , it follows that $B_w = A_v[\sigma_1 \alpha]$, and hence the \mathfrak{P} -contribution to the different is given by

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}}\mathfrak{D}_{B_w/A_v}=\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}}\prod_{\substack{\sigma\sim\sigma_1\\\sigma\neq\sigma_1}}(\sigma_1\alpha-\sigma\alpha).$$

We must now show that the other factors do not give any \$\mathcal{P}\$-contribution.

[III, §2]

Suppose that σ is not conjugate to σ_1 over K_v . We can write $\sigma = \lambda \sigma_i$, $i \neq 1$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\sigma_1 \alpha - \sigma \alpha| &= |\sigma_1 \alpha - \lambda \sigma_i \alpha| = |\lambda^{-1} \sigma_1 \alpha - \sigma_i \alpha| \\ &= |\lambda^{-1} \sigma_1 \alpha - a + a - \sigma_i \alpha|. \end{aligned}$$

But $|\sigma_i \alpha - a|$ is very small, and $\lambda^{-1} \sigma_1 \alpha$ is very close to $\lambda^{-1} \beta$. Since $|\lambda^{-1}\beta - a| = 1$, it follows that $|\lambda^{-1}\sigma_1\alpha - a| = 1$ also. Hence $|\sigma_1\alpha - \sigma\alpha| = 1$. This proves our last assertion.

§3. The discriminant

Throughout this section, A is a Dedekind ring, K its quotient field, E a finite separable extension of K of degree n, and B the integral closure of A in E.

Let $W = (w_1, \ldots, w_n)$ be any set of *n* elements of *E*. We define the **discriminant**

$$D_{E/K}(W) = \det(\sigma_i w_i)^2$$

to be the square of the determinant taken with σ_i ranging over the *n* distinct embeddings of *E* in a given algebraic closure of *K*.

Assume that W and $V = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ are two sets of elements of E, and that there is a matrix $X = (x_{ij})$ of elements of K such that W = XV. From this we see that

$$D_{E/K}(W) = \det(X)^2 D_{E/K}(V).$$

If the matrix X has entries in A, then $det(X)^2$ lies in A. Hence whenever W and V generate the same module over A, the matrix X is invertible in A, and its determinant is a unit in A. Thus the two discriminants differ by the square of a unit in A.

In particular, if $A = \mathbf{Z}$ is the ring of ordinary integers, the discriminant is uniquely determined by the module. If the module is the ring of algebraic integers \mathfrak{o}_K , then its discriminant will be called simply THE discriminant (or also the discriminant of K), and will be denoted by D_K .

Proposition 9. Notation as above, the discriminant $D_{E/K}(W)$ lies in K, and lies in A if the components of W lie in B. The discriminant is $\neq 0$ if and only if W is a basis of E over K.

Proof. Applying any isomorphism σ of E over K to the determinant $\det(\sigma_i w_j)$ interchanges the rows, hence multiplies the determinant by ± 1 . Taking the square gets rid of ± 1 . If α is a generator of E over K, i.e. $E = K(\alpha)$, then the discriminant $D_{E/K}(1, \alpha, \ldots, \alpha^{n-1})$ is the Vandermonde determinant, and hence is $\neq 0$. The same holds therefore for any basis V of E over K by a preceding remark concerning the change of THE DISCRIMINANT

the discriminant under linear transformations. If the coordinates of W are linearly dependent over K, it is clear that the discriminant is 0. If they are all integral over A, it is also clear that the discriminant lies in A (because the integral closure of A in a Galois extension containing E is a ring). This proves our proposition.

If M is a free module of rank n over A (contained in E), then we can define the discriminant of M by means of a basis of M over A. It is well defined up to the square of a unit in A.

Proposition 10. Let $M_1 \subset M_2$ be two free modules of rank n over A, contained in E. Then $D_{E/K}(M_2)$ divides $D_{E/K}(M_1)$ (as principal ideals). If $D_{E/K}(M_1) = D_{E/K}(M_2)u$ for some unit u of A, then $M_1 = M_2$.

Proof. The first statement is obvious. The second statement asserts that the matrix going from a basis of M_1 to a basis of M_2 is invertible in A, and hence that $M_1 = M_2$.

In general, it is not true that every fractional ideal of B is a free module over A. For the moment, if b is a fractional ideal of B, we denote by $D_{E/K}(b)$ the A-module generated by all $D_{E/K}(W)$ as W ranges over bases of E over K such that all $w_i \in b$, and call this the **discriminant of the fractional ideal**. Since there exists an element $c \neq 0$ in A such that $cb \subset B$, it follows at once that the discriminant is a fractional ideal of A.

Proposition 11. Let \mathfrak{b} be a fractional ideal of B and S a multiplicative subset of A. Then

$$S^{-1}D_{E/K}(\mathfrak{b}) = D_{E/K}(S^{-1}\mathfrak{b}).$$

Proof. Trivial from the definitions.

This proposition allows us to localize. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime of A, we can compute the \mathfrak{p} -component of the discriminant by localizing at \mathfrak{p} . The great advantage of this is that $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ becomes a discrete valuation ring, and thus that every fractional ideal of B becomes a free $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -module when localized at \mathfrak{p} . Furthermore, $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ has only a finite number of primes above \mathfrak{p} , and is a principal ideal ring. Thus we are reduced to computing Vandermonde determinants.

Proposition 12. Assume in addition that A is a discrete valuation ring. Let b be a fractional ideal of B, $b = (\beta)$ for some $\beta \neq 0$ in E. Then

$$D_{E/K}(\mathfrak{b}) = (N_K^E(\beta))^2 D_{E/K}(B).$$

Proof. Let W be a basis of B over A. Then βW is a basis of b over A, and the assertion is obvious from the definitions.

Using the localizing process, we can extend the above proposition to the case when A is not necessarily local.

Proposition 13. Let A be arbitrary again, and b a fractional ideal of B. Then

$$D_{E/K}(\mathfrak{b}) = (N_K^E(\mathfrak{b}))^2 D_{E/K}(B),$$

the norm being the norm of ideals as in Chapter I,

Proof. It suffices to verify this relation for each p-component, \mathfrak{p} a prime of A. Thus we may assume that A is a discrete valuation ring by Proposition 11. In that case $\mathfrak{b} = (\beta)$ for some $\beta \in E$, and our assertion follows from Proposition 22 of Chapter I, §7.

Proposition 14. The discriminant and different are related by the formula

$$N_K^E \mathfrak{D}_{B/A} = D_{E/K}(B).$$

Proof. Using Proposition 6 of §1 and Proposition 11, we may assume that A is a discrete valuation ring, and hence that B is a free module over A. If W is a basis for B over A, then $D_{E/K}(B)$ is generated by $D_{E/K}(W)$. Let W' be the complementary basis to W under the trace. Then the complementary module B' is generated by W' over A. Thus

$$D_{E/K}(B') = D_{E/K}(W')A.$$

But we see directly from the definition of the discriminant of a basis that

$$D_{E/K}(W)D_{E/K}(W') = 1.$$

Hence $D_{E/K}(B)D_{E/K}(B') = A$. Using Proposition 4 of §1 and Proposition 13 yields what we want.

Finally, consider a finite separable extension E of degree n over K, and let β be an element of E, $\beta \neq 0$, such that $E = K(\beta)$. We define the **different** $\mathfrak{D}_{E/K}(\beta)$ and the **discriminant** $D_{E/K}(\beta)$ of this element by

$$\mathfrak{D}_{E/K}(\beta) = \prod_{\sigma \neq id} (\beta - \sigma\beta)$$
$$D_{E/K}(\beta) = D_{E/K}(1, \beta, \dots, \beta^{n-1}).$$

Proposition 15. We have

$$D_{E/K}(\beta) = (-1)^{n(n-1)/2} N_K^E \mathfrak{D}_{E/K}(\beta).$$

Proof. Exercise in permuting the rows of a determinant.

Proposition 16. Let $\alpha \in B$ and let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of A. If \mathfrak{p} does not divide $D_{E/K}(\alpha)/D_{E/K}(B)$ then $B_{\mathfrak{p}} = A_{\mathfrak{p}}[\alpha]$.

Proof. By Theorem 1 of Chapter I, §2 we know that $B_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a free module over $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Furthermore

$$D_{E/K}(1, \alpha, \ldots, \alpha^{n-1}) = D_{E/K}(B)c^2$$

where c is an element of $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$. By hypothesis, this element c is a unit in $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and hence our proposition follows from Proposition 10.

Remark 1. In Proposition 16, we formulated a local version. One obtains immediately a global version in special cases using Proposition 18 of Chapter I, §7, which states that two A-modules are equal if and only if all their localizations are equal.

Remark 2. Instead of using the discriminant, we could have formulated our hypothesis in terms of the different. Indeed, the condition

 $\mathfrak{p}B$ is relatively prime to $(f'(\alpha))/\mathfrak{D}_{E/K}$

where f is the irreducible polynomial of α over K is equivalent with the condition

```
\mathfrak{p} does not divide D_{E/K}(\alpha)/D_{E/K}(B).
```

The equivalence is seen at once by taking the norm, and using the fact that the norm of the different is equal to the discriminant.

The following result is sometimes useful to analyse the discriminant and verify that the hypothesis of Proposition 16 is satisfied.

Stickelberger's criterion. Let E be an extension of degree n over \mathbf{Q} , and let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ be algebraic integers in E, linearly independent over \mathbf{Q} . Then

$$D_{E/\mathbb{Q}}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_n)\equiv 0 \ or \ 1 \mod 4.$$

Proof. The determinant $det(\sigma_i \alpha_j)$ has an expansion as a sum of terms with plus and minus signs in front of them. Let P be the sum of terms with plus signs, and N the sum of terms with minus signs, so that the discriminant is equal to

$$(P-N)^2 = (P+N)^2 - 4PN.$$

But P + N and PN are both invariant under any σ_i , and hence are rational integers. The assertion follows at once.

Example. Let $E = \mathbf{Q}(\alpha)$ where $\alpha^3 = 2$, say α is the real cube root of 2. Let $f(X) = X^3 - 2$. Then $f'(\alpha) = 3\alpha^2$, and $D_{E/\mathbf{Q}}(\alpha) = -3^3 2^2$. Let B

[III, §3]

be the ring of algebraic integers in E. Note that 2 is ramified in E with ramification index 3, and hence $D_{E/\mathbb{Q}}(B)$ is divisible by 2, whence by 2^2 , by Stickelberger's criterion. Furthermore 3 must have some ramified factor in E, for otherwise all the conjugates of E would be unramified over 3, so that the splitting field $\mathbb{Q}(\alpha, \sqrt{-3})$ would also be unramified over 3, which is obviously not the case. The polynomial $X^3 - 2$ is irreducible over the 3-adic field \mathbb{Q}_3 because already the congruence

$$X^3 \equiv 2 \pmod{9}$$

has no solution in the 3-adic integers. Thus there is only one prime in E lying above (3), and therefore the ramification index must be 3. Thus we have

$$3B = \mathfrak{P}^3.$$

We see that in fact, \mathfrak{P} is strongly ramified, and by Proposition 8 of §2 we conclude that \mathfrak{P}^3 divides the different of E/\mathbb{Q} . Since $\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{P} = 3$, it follows that 3^3 divides the discriminant, and we now see that 3^32^2 divides the discriminant $D_{E/\mathbb{Q}}$. By Proposition 10, we conclude finally that $B = \mathbb{Z}[\alpha]$.

Proposition 17. Let K, E be two number fields. Assume that their discriminants are relatively prime and that the fields are linearly disjoint (i.e. if w_1, \ldots, w_n is a basis of K over Q and v_1, \ldots, v_m is a basis of E over Q, then $\{w_i v_j\}$ is a basis of KE over Q). Then

$$D_{KE} = D_K^m D_E^n$$

 $\mathfrak{o}_{KE} = \mathfrak{o}_K \mathfrak{o}_E$

Proof. From the fundamental properties of the different, we know that $\mathfrak{D}_{KE/\mathbb{Q}}$ is equal to

$$\mathfrak{D}_{KE/K}\mathfrak{D}_{K/\mathbf{Q}}=\mathfrak{D}_{KE/E}\mathfrak{D}_{E/\mathbf{Q}}.$$

But $\mathfrak{D}_{E/\mathbb{Q}}$ and $\mathfrak{D}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$ have no factor in common (viewed as ideals of \mathfrak{o}_{KE}). The same holds for the other two factors. Hence

$$\mathfrak{D}_{KE/E} = \mathfrak{D}_{K/Q}\mathfrak{o}_{KE}$$
 and $\mathfrak{D}_{KE/K} = \mathfrak{D}_{E/Q}\mathfrak{o}_{KE}$.

Let W be a basis for \mathfrak{o}_K over \mathbb{Z} and V a basis for \mathfrak{o}_E over \mathbb{Z} . Then the above remark implies that the complementary basis W' of W, which generates $\mathfrak{D}_{K/Q}^{-1}$, also generates $\mathfrak{D}_{KE/E}^{-1}$. This is the complementary module of \mathfrak{o}_{KE} relative to \mathfrak{o}_E . Dualizing again shows that W generates \mathfrak{o}_{KE} over

 \mathfrak{o}_E and proves the assertion concerning the rings of integers. We leave the assertion on the discriminants as an exercise.

Examples of the situation in Proposition 17 arise, for instance, with two distinct quadratic extensions, with relatively prime discriminants, or with cyclotomic extensions of relatively prime degrees, as we shall see in the next chapter. It will in fact be used to determine the ring of algebraic integers for an arbitrary cyclotomic extension when we know the ring of integers in cyclotomic extensions of a prime power root of unity. Thus the next chapter gives us further examples for the use of the discriminant.

CHAPTER IV Cyclotomic Fields

This chapter achieves two purposes simultaneously. It gives examples for the theory, and also describes in greater details the cyclotomic fields which exert a great deal of control over algebraic number theory in general. The extent to which they exert this control is in fact not yet clearly understood, but one knows for instance that the heart of the proofs of class field theory is concentrated in the cyclotomic fields.

§1. Roots of unity

Let ω be an *n*-th root of unity, i.e. $\omega^n = 1$. The extension $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ is normal over \mathbf{Q} . Indeed, if ω is a primitive *n*-th root of unity (i.e. has period exactly *n*), and if σ is any isomorphism of $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ over \mathbf{Q} , then $(\sigma\omega)^n = \sigma(\omega^n) = 1$, so that $\sigma\omega$ is an *n*-th root of unity also. Hence $\sigma\omega = \omega^i$ for some integer $i = i(\sigma)$, uniquely determined mod *n*. Hence $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ is mapped into itself by σ , and hence is normal over \mathbf{Q} . If τ is another isomorphism of $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ over \mathbf{Q} , then $\sigma\tau\omega = \omega^{i(\sigma)i(\tau)}$. Since σ , τ are isomorphisms, it follows that $i(\sigma)$, $i(\tau)$ are prime to *n*. Hence the map

$$\sigma \mapsto i(\sigma)$$

is a homomorphism of the Galois group G of $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ over \mathbf{Q} into the multiplicative group of residue classes mod n, prime to n, and is injective. If we let φ be the Euler φ -function, then $\varphi(n)$ is the order of this multiplicative group. We shall see below that $[\mathbf{Q}(\omega):\mathbf{Q}] = \varphi(n)$. This will determine the Galois group of $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ over \mathbf{Q} , i.e. prove that the map $\sigma \mapsto i(\sigma)$ is surjective.

Let K be a number field. Then the Galois group of $K(\omega)$ over K is a subgroup of G, and hence is abelian.

Let K be a number field, and let us fix an algebraic closure \overline{K} of K. A cyclotomic extension of K is one which is contained in a field $K(\omega)$, where ω is a root of unity ($\omega^n = 1$ for some n). Since $K(\omega)$ is abelian over K, a cyclotomic extension of K is abelian. We say that K is cyclotomic if it is a cyclotomic extension of \mathbf{Q} . Consider now the case $K = \mathbf{Q}(\omega)$.

Let p be a prime number and ω a primitive p-th root of unity. Then ω is a root of the polynomial

$$X^{p} - 1 = (X - 1)(X^{p-1} + \dots + 1).$$

Hence $[\mathbf{Q}(\omega):\mathbf{Q}] \leq p-1$. We contend that

$$[\mathbf{Q}(\boldsymbol{\omega}):\mathbf{Q}]=p-1.$$

In fact, let $\pi = 1 - \omega$. Then π is integral over Z. If *i* is an integer prime to *p*, then ω^i is also a primitive *p*-th root of unity, and

$$rac{1-\omega^i}{1-\omega}=1+\omega+\cdots+\omega^{i-1}$$

is an algebraic integer. But $\omega = (\omega^i)^j$ for some integer j (such that $ji \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$), and hence the above quotient is a unit in the ring \mathfrak{o}_K of algebraic integers of K.

Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of \mathfrak{o}_K lying above (p), and let

$$f(X) = X^{p-1} + \dots + 1.$$

Then ω^i (i = 1, ..., p - 1) is a root of f(X) (because it is a root of $X^p - 1$), and hence

$$f(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{p-1} (X - \omega^i).$$

Therefore

$$p = f(1) = \prod_{i=1}^{p-1} (1 - \omega^i).$$

For any i, j prime to p we have seen that

$$rac{1-\omega^i}{1-\omega^j}$$

is a unit in \mathfrak{o}_K . All elements $1 - \omega^i$ have the same absolute value at \mathfrak{p} . Hence for the absolute value $| \cdot | = | \cdot |_{\mathfrak{p}}$ we have

$$|\pi|^{p-1} = |p|.$$

This implies that the ramification index of p is at least p - 1. By Proposition 21 of Chapter I, §7 it follows that

$$e_{\mathfrak{p}} = p - 1 = [\mathbf{Q}(\omega): \mathbf{Q}]$$

and that \mathfrak{p} is the only prime of \mathfrak{o}_K above (p), which is totally ramified.

[IV, §1]

Since ω also satisfies the equation $X^p - 1 = 0$, we see that any prime number not equal to p is unramified in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$, because the derivative $p\omega^{p-1}$ is divisible only by p. (Use Proposition 8 of Chapter III, §2.)

We now consider the prime-power case, and let $m = p^r$, r an integer > 0. Let $Y = X^{p^{r-1}}$ and consider

$$X^{p'} - 1 = Y^p - 1 = (Y - 1)(Y^{p-1} + \dots + 1).$$

Let

$$f(X) = \frac{X^{p'} - 1}{X^{p'-1} - 1} = Y^{p-1} + \dots + 1.$$

The degree of f is $\varphi(p^r) = (p-1)p^{r-1}$. Let ω be a primitive p^r -th root of unity. Let i be integer. Then ω^i is also a primitive p^r -th root of unity if and only if i is prime to p. Thus there are $\varphi(p^r)$ primitive p^r -th roots of unity. Then

$$f(X) = \prod_{\zeta} (X - \zeta) = \prod_{(i,p)=1} (X - \omega^i),$$

the product over ζ being taken over primitive p^r -th roots of unity, and the product over *i* being taken over distinct residue classes of $\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z}$ prime to p.

Just as we saw for *p*-th roots of unity, we see that

$$rac{1-\omega^i}{1-\omega^j}$$

is a unit if i, j are prime to p. Let $\pi = 1 - \omega$. Then from

(*)
$$f(1) = p = \prod_{(i,p)=1} (1 - \omega^i)$$

we conclude that

 $|\pi|^{\varphi(p^r)} = |p|$

at any absolute value extending the *p*-adic absolute value on \mathbf{Q} , and hence *p* is totally ramified. We therefore have:

Theorem 1. Let ω be a primitive p^r -th root of unity, and $K = \mathbf{Q}(\omega)$. Then $[K:\mathbf{Q}] = \varphi(p^r) = (p-1)p^{r-1}$. There is only one prime \mathfrak{p} of \mathfrak{o}_K lying above p, and it is totally ramified. All other primes of \mathfrak{o}_K are unramified.

Corollary. Let n be an integer > 1, and assume that n is not a prime power. Let ω be a primitive n-th root of unity. Then

$$\prod_{j=1}^{n-1} (1 - \omega^j) = 1.$$

Proof. Let S_d be the set of primitive d-th roots of unity. Let

$$f_d(X) = \prod_{\zeta \in S_d} (X - \zeta).$$

Let

$$g(X) = \frac{X^{n} - 1}{X - 1} = X^{n-1} + X^{n-2} + \dots + X + 1.$$

Then

$$g(X) = \prod_{\substack{d \mid n \\ d > 1}} f_d(X).$$

Hence

$$n = g(1) = \prod_{\substack{d \mid n \\ d > 1}} f_d(1).$$

If p is a prime dividing n, then among the divisors of n we get p, p^2, \ldots, p^r (where r is the highest power of p dividing n). We know from (*) that $f_{p^k}(1) = p$. Hence

$$\prod_{k=1}^r f_p^k(1) = p^r.$$

Thus from the prime powers dividing n we already get a contribution of n for g(1). This implies that for the composite divisors of n, the values $f_d(1)$ (which are algebraic integers, rational, hence ordinary integers) must be 1 or -1. Assume inductively that for d|n and d < n the value $f_d(1)$ is equal to 1. Then we see from our product that $f_n(1) = 1$, thus proving our corollary. (I am indebted to Bass for this proof.)

The last statement in Theorem 1 actually can be strengthened as follows.

Theorem 2. Let m be a positive integer and ω a primitive m-th root of unity. Then $[\mathbf{Q}(\omega):\mathbf{Q}] = \varphi(m)$. The only ramified primes p in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ are those dividing m. If

$$m=p_1^{r_1}\cdots p_s^{r_s}$$

is the prime power decomposition of m, ω_j is a primitive p^r_{j-1} th root of unity, then

$$\mathbf{Q}(\omega) = \mathbf{Q}(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_s) = \mathbf{Q}(\omega_1) \ldots \mathbf{Q}(\omega_s)$$

is the compositum of the $\mathbf{Q}(\omega_j)$.

Proof. Let $g(X) = X^m - 1$. Then ω satisfies g(X) = 0, and

 $g'(\omega) = m\omega^{m-1}$

is divisible only by primes dividing m. Hence any other prime is unramified in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$. For any j > 1, the field $\mathbf{Q}(\omega_j)$ is an abelian extension of \mathbf{Q} ROOTS OF UNITY

whose intersection with $\mathbf{Q}(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_{j-1})$ is \mathbf{Q} , because p_j is totally ramified in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega_j)$ and unramified in the other field. Hence $\mathbf{Q}(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_j)$ has degree $\varphi(p^{r_j})$ over $\mathbf{Q}(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_{j-1})$. This proves our theorem.

If G is the Galois group of $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ over \mathbf{Q} , then any automorphism σ of $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$ over \mathbf{Q} must map ω on some primitive root ω^i , *i* prime to *m*. Since $[\mathbf{Q}(\omega): \mathbf{Q}] = \varphi(m)$, it follows that for any such *i* there exists $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma \omega = \omega^i$. Thus G is isomorphic to the multiplicative group of residue classes of $\mathbf{Z}/m\mathbf{Z}$ which are prime to *m*. Observe also that if *m*, *n* are two relative prime integers > 0, and ζ_n , ζ_m denote primitive *m*-th and *n*-th roots of unity respectively, then

$$\mathbf{Q}(\zeta_n) \cap \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m) = \mathbf{Q}.$$

Theorem 3. Let ω be a primitive p^r -th root of unity, and $K = \mathbf{Q}(\omega)$. Then $\mathfrak{o}_K = \mathbf{Z}[\omega]$. The discriminant is given by

$$D_K = \pm p^{p^{r-1}(pr-r-1)},$$

where the - sign holds when $p^r = 4$ or $p \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$, and the + sign holds otherwise.

Proof. We shall give the proof only when r = 1. The principle is the same in general. Thus we deal with the *p*-th roots of unity. Let $B = \mathbb{Z}[\omega]$. To prove that $B = \mathfrak{o}_K$ it suffices to prove that the discriminant of B and \mathfrak{o}_K as modules over \mathbb{Z} coincide as \mathbb{Z} -ideals by Proposition 10 of Chapter III, §3. To do this, it suffices to prove it locally for each prime. All primes except p are unramified, and consequently such primes do not contribute either to the discriminant of \mathfrak{o}_K or of B. As for p, it is totally ramified, and using Proposition 23 of Chapter I, §7, we conclude that $S_p^{-1}B = S_p^{-1}\mathfrak{o}_K$ if S_p is the complement of the principal ideal (p) in \mathbb{Z} . Hence the *p*-component of the discriminants is the same in both cases. This proves that $B = \mathfrak{o}_K$. The assertion concerning the exact value of the discriminant comes from taking the discriminant of the element ω itself, and paying attention to the sign. There is no difficulty in this (use Proposition 15 of Chapter III, §3).

To deal with an arbitrary composite integer m, we use a discriminant criterion.

Theorem 4. Let m be a positive integer, and ω a primitive m-th root of unity. Then $\mathbb{Z}[\omega]$ is the integral closure of \mathbb{Z} in $\mathbb{Q}(\omega)$.

Proof. It is clearly the compositum of the rings of integers of various prime power cyclotomic fields which satisfy the conditions of Proposition 17, Chapter III, §3.

§2. Quadratic fields

Extensions of degree 2 over the rationals are also worthy of mention as examples.

Theorem 5. Let m be a square-free integer $\neq 0$, and let $K = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{m})$. If $m \equiv 2$ or 3 (mod 4), then $[1, \sqrt{m}]$ is a basis for \mathfrak{o}_K over Z. If $m \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$, then

$$\left[1, \frac{1+\sqrt{m}}{2}\right]$$

is a basis for \mathfrak{o}_K over \mathbb{Z} .

Proof. Exercise. To verify that an element $x + y\sqrt{m}$ with $x, y \in \mathbf{Q}$ is integral over \mathbf{Z} , it is necessary and sufficient that its norm and trace lie in \mathbf{Z} . From this, there is no difficulty in verifying the assertion of the theorem.

For instance, if m = -3, then

$$\frac{1+\sqrt{-3}}{2}$$

is a cube root of unity, and hence is integral over Z.

Before proving the next result, we make some observations on finite fields.

Let F_q be the finite field with q elements, q equal to a power of the prime number p. Then F_q^* has q-1 elements, and is a cyclic group. Hence we get the index for p odd

$$(F_q^*:F_q^{*2}) = 2.$$

If ν is an integer $\neq 0 \mod p$, let

$$\begin{pmatrix} \nu \\ \overline{p} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \nu \equiv x^2 \pmod{p} \\ -1 & \text{if } \nu \not\equiv x^2 \pmod{p}. \end{cases}$$

This is known as the quadratic symbol, and depends only on the residue class of $\nu \mod p$.

From the preceding remark, we see that there are as many quadratic residues as there are non-residues mod p.

Theorem 6. Let ζ be a primitive p-th root of unity for p odd, and

$$S = \sum_{\nu} \left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right) \zeta^{\nu},$$

the sum being taken over non-zero residue classes mod p. Then

$$S^2 = \left(\frac{-1}{p}\right)p.$$

Every quadratic extension of \mathbf{Q} is contained in a cyclotomic extension.

Proof. The last statement follows at once from the explicit expression of $\pm p$ as a square in $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$ and also $(1+i)^2 = 2i$. As for the sum, we have

$$S^2 = \sum_{\nu,\mu} \left(\frac{\nu \mu}{p} \right) \zeta^{\nu+\mu}.$$

As ν ranges over non-zero residue classes, so does $\nu\mu$ for any fixed μ , and hence replacing ν by $\nu\mu$ yields

$$S^{2} = \sum_{\nu,\mu} \left(\frac{\nu\mu^{2}}{p}\right) \zeta^{\mu(\nu+1)} = \sum_{\nu,\mu} \left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right) \zeta^{\mu(\nu+1)}$$
$$= \sum_{\mu} \left(\frac{-1}{p}\right) \zeta^{0} + \sum_{\nu\neq-1} \left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right) \sum_{\mu} \zeta^{\mu(\nu+1)}.$$

But $1 + \zeta + \cdots + \zeta^{p-1} = 0$, and the sum on the right over μ consequently yields -1. Hence

$$S^{2} = \left(\frac{-1}{p}\right)(p-1) + (-1)\sum_{\nu \neq -1} \left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right)$$
$$= p\left(\frac{-1}{p}\right) - \sum_{\nu} \left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right)$$
$$= \left(\frac{-1}{p}\right)p$$

as desired.

We see that $\mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{p})$ is contained in $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta, \sqrt{-1})$, or $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$, depending on the sign of the quadratic symbol with -1. It is in fact a theorem that every abelian extension of \mathbf{Q} is cyclotomic, and we shall prove this in the class field theory later.

We now apply Theorem 6 to prove the quadratic reciprocity law. We observe that if p is an odd prime, then

$$\left(\frac{-1}{p}\right) = (-1)^{\frac{p-1}{2}}$$
 and $\left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right) \equiv \nu^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \pmod{p}.$

This is obvious from the definitions, and the fact that $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^*$ is cyclic.

[IV, §2]

Let p, q be odd primes. On the one hand, we get

$$S^{q} = S(S^{2})^{\frac{q-1}{2}} = S(-1)^{\frac{p-1}{2}\frac{q-1}{2}}p^{\frac{q-1}{2}}$$
$$\equiv S(-1)^{\frac{p-1}{2}\frac{q-1}{2}}\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) \pmod{q}$$

On the other hand, we get

$$S^{q} \equiv \sum_{\nu=1}^{p-1} \left(\frac{\nu}{p}\right) \zeta^{\nu q} \pmod{q}$$
$$\equiv \left(\frac{q}{p}\right) \sum_{\nu=1}^{p-1} \left(\frac{\nu q}{p}\right) \zeta^{\nu q} \pmod{q}$$
$$\equiv \left(\frac{q}{p}\right) S \pmod{q}.$$

Hence

$$S(-1)^{\frac{p-1}{2}\frac{q-1}{2}} \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) \equiv \left(\frac{q}{p}\right) S \pmod{q}.$$

Multiplying by S and canceling $\pm p$ yields the reciprocity law

$$\left(\frac{q}{p}\right) = \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)\left(-1\right)^{\frac{p-1}{2}\frac{q-1}{2}}.$$

A similar argument (but simpler) using the sum $(1 + i)^p$ yields the result

$$\left(\frac{2}{p}\right) = \left(-1\right)^{\frac{p^2-1}{8}}.$$

We shall now reconsider these results from another point of view, closer to that of class field theory, and having to do with the decomposition laws for primes.

Quadratic Reciprocity Law. Let p, q be prime numbers.

Case 1. If p, q are odd and $p \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$, then $\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = \left(\frac{q}{p}\right)$. **Case 2.** If p, q are $\equiv 3 \pmod{4}$, then $\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = -\left(\frac{q}{p}\right)$. QUADRATIC FIELDS

Case 3. If
$$q = 2$$
 and p is odd, then $\left(\frac{2}{p}\right) = 1$ if $p \equiv \pm 1 \pmod{8}$ and $\left(\frac{2}{p}\right) = -1$ if $p \equiv \pm 3 \pmod{8}$.

Proof. First deal with Case 1, and consider the field $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$ where ζ is a primitive *p*-th root of unity. Then

$$[\mathbf{Q}(\zeta):\mathbf{Q}]=p-1$$

and $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$ is cyclic over \mathbf{Q} . Hence $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$ contains a unique quadratic subfield. Since p is the only ramified prime, this subfield must be obtained by $\sqrt{-p}$ or \sqrt{p} , and hence must be $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{p})$ since the discriminant is p in the latter case, and -4p in the former.

In the field $\mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{p})$, the prime q splits as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} (q) &= qq' \text{ with } q \neq q' \iff \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = 1, \\ (q) &= q \text{ remains prime} \Leftrightarrow \left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = -1 \end{aligned}$$

This is obvious from the definitions.

Let $\mathfrak{Q}|q$ in $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta)$. We let f be defined by $\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{Q} = q^f$, so that f is the order of the decomposition group of \mathfrak{Q} . We let r be the number of distinct primes of $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$ dividing q. Then

$$fr = p - 1.$$
 $\mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{p}) \} G$

We shall prove that 2|r is equivalent with $\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = 1$ and with $\left(\frac{q}{p}\right) = 1$. This will take care of Case 1.

Assume that 2|r. If Z is the fixed field of $G_{\mathfrak{Q}}$, i.e. the decomposition field of q, then $[Z: \mathbf{Q}] = r$, so that Z contains the unique quadratic subfield $\mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{p})$. Hence q splits completely in this subfield, and $\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = 1$. Conversely, if $\left(\frac{p}{q}\right) = 1$, then q splits completely in $\mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{p})$, which is

therefore contained in Z, and hence 2|r.

Next, let σ be the Frobenius automorphism such that $\sigma\zeta = \zeta^q$. Then $q^f \equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ and f is the least positive such exponent. If 2|r, then

[IV, §2]

f|(p-1)/2, and hence

 $q^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \equiv 1 \pmod{p}.$

It follows that $\left(\frac{q}{p}\right) = 1$. Conversely, if $\left(\frac{q}{p}\right) = 1$, then we get the same congruence, so that f|(p-1)/2 and finally 2|r, thus proving Case 1.

As for Case 2, the proof is just like that of Case 1, except that now, 2|r is equivalent with $\left(\frac{p}{a}\right) = -1$.

In Case 3, we take q = 2. Let $i = \sqrt{-1}$ so $(1 + i)^2 = 2i$, and

$$(1+i)^{2(p-1)/2} = 2^{(p-1)/2}i^{(p-1)/2} = (1+i)^{p-1}.$$

We get

$$(1+i)^p \equiv 1+i^p \equiv \left(\frac{2}{p}\right)i^{(p-1)/2}(1+i) \pmod{p}.$$

 \mathbf{But}

$$(1+i^p)(1+i) = \begin{cases} 2i & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \\ 2 & \text{if } p \equiv -1 \pmod{4}. \end{cases}$$

Hence

$$p \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \quad \text{implies} \quad 2i \equiv \left(\frac{2}{p}\right) i^{(p-1)/2} 2i \pmod{p},$$
$$p \equiv -1 \pmod{4} \quad \text{implies} \quad 2 \equiv \left(\frac{2}{p}\right) i^{(p-1)/2} 2i \pmod{p}.$$

From this Case 3 follows at once.

Note that the three cases can be summarized by the usual formula. The symbol

$$\left(\frac{p}{q}\right)$$

can be extended to more general integers.

Let P be a non-zero integer, written as

$$P=\pm p_1\ldots p_r$$

where p_1, \ldots, p_r are primes. Let

$$Q = q_1 \ldots q_s$$

be an *odd* positive integer written as a product of primes. We assume that (P, Q) = 1. We define

$$egin{pmatrix} \displaystyle P \ \displaystyle Q \end{pmatrix} = \prod_{j=1}^s egin{pmatrix} \displaystyle P \ \displaystyle q_j \end{pmatrix} \qquad ext{and} \qquad egin{pmatrix} \displaystyle P \ \displaystyle 1 \end{pmatrix} = 1.$$

We call this the **quadratic symbol.** It is then clear from the definition that the following properties hold.

QR 1. If $P_1 \equiv P_2 \pmod{Q}$ then

$$\left(\frac{P_1}{Q}\right) = \left(\frac{P_2}{Q}\right)$$

QR 2. The symbol is bi-multiplicative, i.e.,

$$\left(\frac{P_1P_2}{Q}\right) = \left(\frac{P_1}{Q}\right)\left(\frac{P_2}{Q}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\frac{P}{Q_1Q_2}\right) = \left(\frac{P}{Q_1}\right)\left(\frac{P}{Q_2}\right) \cdot \mathbf{QR} \text{ 3. We have } \left(\frac{-1}{Q}\right) = (-1)^{\frac{Q-1}{2}}.$$

Proof. By definition, and the definition of the symbol for primes,

$$\left(\frac{-1}{Q}\right) = \prod_{j=1}^{s} (-1)^{\frac{q_j-1}{2}} = (-1)^{\sum \frac{(q_j-1)}{2}}.$$

But

$$Q = \prod_{j=1}^{s} ((q_j - 1) + 1) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{s} (q_j - 1) + 1 \pmod{4}$$

because $q_j - 1$ is even, and the product of any two or more such terms is $\equiv 0 \mod 4$. Thus our assertion follows.

QR 4. If P, Q are odd and both > 0 then

$$\left(\frac{P}{Q}\right)\left(\frac{Q}{P}\right) = (-1)^{\frac{P-1}{2}\frac{Q-1}{2}}.$$

Proof. We have

$$\left(\frac{P}{Q}\right)\left(\frac{Q}{P}\right) = \prod_{j,k} \left(\frac{p_k}{q_j}\right)\left(\frac{q_j}{p_k}\right) = \left(-1\right)^{\frac{\sum_{k,j} \frac{p_k-1}{2} \frac{q_j-1}{2}}{2}} = \left(-1\right)^{\frac{P-1}{2} \frac{Q-1}{2}}.$$

§3. Gauss sums

Sums involving roots of unity appear in many contexts. We have just seen one example in §2. Other examples arise in the functional equation of zeta functions and *L*-series. We study them here a little for their own sake. We shall use constantly the fact that if G is a finite abelian group and x is a character of G (i.e. a homomorphism of G into the group of roots of unity) then

$$\sum_{a \in G} \chi(a) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \chi \neq 1 \\ (G:1) & \text{if } \chi = 1. \end{cases}$$

This is trivially seen, because if $x \neq 1$, then there exists $b \in G$ such that $x(b) \neq 1$. Then

$$\sum_{a\in G} \chi(a) = \sum_{a\in G} \chi(ba) = \chi(b) \sum_{a\in G} \chi(a),$$

whence $\sum \chi(a) = 0$.

We shall consider Gauss sums relative to $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$ where q is an integer > 1, and also relative to a finite field with q elements. We begin with the former case.

Gauss sums for Z/qZ.

The elements of $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$ represented by integers relatively prime to q form a multiplicative group denoted by $(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})^*$. By a **multiplicative character** of $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$ (or a character mod q) one means a character of this multiplicative group. Such characters are denoted by x. If d|q, then we have a natural homomorphism

$$(\mathbf{Z}/q\mathbf{Z})^* \to (\mathbf{Z}/d\mathbf{Z})^*$$

which is surjective. A multiplicative character for $\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z}$ composed with this homomorphism induces a character mod q. We say that a character mod q is **primitive** if it cannot be induced by a character mod d for any divisor d of q, $d \neq q$. A character x is extended to a function on $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$ by letting

$$\chi(n) = 0$$
 if $(n, q) > 1$.

Let ζ be a primitive q-th root of unity. We define the **Gauss sum** for a primitive character $\chi \mod q$ and an integer n to be

$$\tau(x,n) = \sum_{x \bmod q} \chi(x) \zeta^{nx}.$$

[IV, §3]

This Gauss sum of course depends on ζ . We can always select

$$\zeta = e^{2\pi i/q}$$

as a canonical choice, but we are interested here in algebraic manipulations rather than analytic values, so any *fixed* ζ will do. Observe that $\tau(x, n)$ is actually the Fourier transform of x evaluated at n (actually selecting ζ to be $e^{-2\pi i/q}$).

If (n, q) = 1, then we write

$$\bar{\chi}(n) = \chi(n)^{-1} = \chi(n^{-1})$$

where n^{-1} is the inverse of $n \mod q$.

For any primitive character $x \mod q$ we have the formula

(1)
$$\tau(x,n) = \overline{x(n)}\tau(x,1).$$

Proof. Assume first that (n, q) = 1. Then

$$\overline{\chi(n)}\tau(\chi,1) = \sum_{x} \overline{\chi(n)}\chi(x)\zeta^{x}$$
$$= \sum_{x} \chi(xn^{-1})\zeta^{x} = \sum_{y} \chi(y)\zeta^{ny} = \tau(\chi,n),$$

because as x ranges over the residue class mod q, so does nx when n is relatively prime to q. This proves our formula, in case (n, q) = 1.

Assume now that (n, q) > 1. It will suffice to prove that

(2)
$$\tau(x,n) = 0.$$

Write q = rd and n = md with positive integers r, d, m such that d > 1 and (r, m) = 1. Then

$$\tau(x,n) = \sum_{x \bmod q} \chi(x) \zeta_r^{mx}$$

where $\zeta_r = \zeta_q^d$ is a primitive *r*-th root of unity. Since *r* properly divides *q* and χ is primitive, there exists $c_0 \in (\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})^*$ such that $c_0 \equiv 1 \mod r$ and $\chi(c_0) \neq 1$. Let $c_1 = c_0^{-1} \equiv 1 \mod r$. Then

$$mc_1x \equiv mx \mod r.$$

$$\begin{split} \chi(c_0)\tau(\chi,n) &= \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}} \chi(c_0 x) \zeta_r^{mx} = \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}} \chi(x) \zeta_r^{mc_1 x} \\ &= \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}} \chi(x) \zeta_r^{mx} \\ &= \tau(\chi,n). \end{split}$$

Hence $\tau(\chi, n) = 0$, thus proving our assertion (2).

Finally, we obtain the absolute value of the Gauss sum.

For primitive character $x \mod q$ and (n, q) = 1, we have

$$|\tau(x,n)| = \sqrt{q}.$$

Proof. We have:

$$|\tau(\chi, n)|^2 = \tau(\chi, n)\overline{\tau(\chi, n)} = \sum_x \sum_y \chi(x)\overline{\chi(y)}\zeta^{n(x-y)}.$$

Take the sum over all residue class $n \mod q$.

If
$$x \neq y \pmod{q}$$
 then $\sum_{n \mod q} \zeta^{n(x-y)} = 0$.
If $x \equiv y \pmod{q}$ then $\sum_{n \mod q} \zeta^{n(x-y)} = q$.

Since X(x) = 0 if (x, q) > 1, we get

$$\sum_{n \mod q} |\tau(x, n)|^2 = \sum_{x \equiv y} |\chi(x)|^2 q = q\varphi(q).$$

But from (1), we know that

$$|\boldsymbol{\tau}(\mathbf{X},n)|^2 = |\mathbf{X}(n)|^2 |\boldsymbol{\tau}(\mathbf{X},1)|^2.$$

Summing over n and using the fact that x(n) = 0 if (n, q) > 1 we get

$$|\varphi(q)|\tau(\chi, n)|^2 = q\varphi(q).$$

This proves our formula $|\tau(x, n)| = \sqrt{q}$.

[IV, §3]

We shall now investigate quadratic sums. For the rest of our discussion, we use the following convention.

Let a, b be non-zero integers, b > 0, and (a, b) = 1. Let

$$G(a, b) = \sum_{x \bmod b} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{b} ax^2}.$$

We shall determine the value of this Gauss (quadratic) sum. We first give some algebraic reduction steps.

QS 1. If p is an odd prime, then

$$G(a, p) = \left(\frac{a}{p}\right) G(1, p).$$

Proof. If $a \equiv c^2 \pmod{p}$ for some c, then we replace x by cx, which also runs over the residue classes mod p, and we see that G(a, p) = G(1, p) in this case. If $a \neq c^2 \pmod{p}$, then we use the fact that

$$\sum_{x \mod p} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p} x^2} = 1 + 2 \sum_{r} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p} r}$$

where r denotes the non-zero quadratic residues mod p, and n denotes the non-zero non-residues mod p. The map $x \mapsto x^2$ covers the residues precisely twice (since $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^*$ is cyclic), and we also have

$$\sum_{y \mod p} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p}y} = 0 = 1 + \sum_{r} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p}r} + \sum_{n} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p}n}.$$

From this our assertion is clear.

QS 2. Let p be an odd prime, and r an integer ≥ 2 . Then

$$G(a, p^{r}) = pG(a, p^{r-2}).$$

Proof. Write

$$x = y + p^{r-1}z, \qquad y \bmod p^{r-1}, \quad z \bmod p.$$

Then $x^2 = y^2 + 2p^{r-1}yz + p^{2r-2}z^2$.

$$G(a, p^{r}) = \sum_{y} \sum_{z} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p^{r}} ay^{2}} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p} 2ayz}.$$

Sum separately for $y \equiv 0$ (p) and $y \neq 0$ (p). If $y \neq 0$ (p), then the map $z \mapsto 2ayz$ permutes the residue class mod p, and hence the sum over z in this case is 0. If $y \equiv 0$ (p), we write

$$y = pu$$
,

and we can take the sum for $u \mod p^{r-2}$. Each term $e^{\frac{2\pi i}{p} 2ayz}$ is = 1, and the inner sum over z yields p. Thus we obtain precisely

$$pG(a, p^{r-2}),$$

as desired.

QS 3. Let
$$b, c \ge 1$$
, $(b, c) = 1$, and $(a, bc) = 1$. Then

$$G(a, bc) = G(ab, c)G(ac, b).$$

Proof. Write $x \mod bc$ as

$$x = yb + zc$$
, $y \mod c$, $z \mod b$.

Then

$$G(ab, c)G(ac, b) = \sum_{y,z} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{c} aby^2} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{b} acz^2}$$
$$= \sum_{y,z} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{bc} a[(by)^2 + (cz)^2]}$$
$$= G(a, bc)$$

because

$$\frac{2yzbc}{bc} = 2yz$$

is an integer.

QS 4. If b is odd ≥ 1 then

$$G(a, b) = \left(\frac{a}{\overline{b}}\right) G(1, b).$$

Proof. Induction. If b is an odd prime, this is QS 1. Assume b > 3. If $b = p^r$ and $r \ge 2$, then

$$\frac{G(a, p^{r})}{G(1, p^{r})} = \frac{G(a, p^{r-2})}{G(1, p^{r-2})} \cdot$$

Our assertion then follows at once, in the case of prime power. In the

[IV, §3]

composite case, suppose b, c > 1, (a, bc) = 1, b, c odd, (b, c) = 1. Then

$$G(a, bc) = G(ab, c)G(ac, b)$$

$$= \left(\frac{ab}{c}\right)\left(\frac{ac}{b}\right)G(1, c)G(1, b) \quad \text{(by induction)}$$

$$= \left(\frac{a}{bc}\right)\left(\frac{b}{c}\right)\left(\frac{c}{b}\right)G(1, c)G(1, b)$$

$$= \left(\frac{a}{bc}\right)G(b, c)G(c, b) = \left(\frac{a}{bc}\right)G(1, bc),$$

and we are done.

There remains to handle the case when $b = 2^r$. We shall compute analytically the value G(1, b) for arbitrary b below, and we shall find:

$$G(1, b) = \begin{cases} (1+i)\sqrt{b} & \text{if } b \equiv 0 \pmod{4} \\ \sqrt{b} & \text{if } b \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \\ 0 & \text{if } b \equiv 2 \pmod{4} \\ i\sqrt{b} & \text{if } b \equiv 3 \pmod{4}. \end{cases}$$

Remember that $b \ge 1$, and that \sqrt{b} is the ordinary positive square root of b. In view of these values, we define

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(b) = egin{cases} 1 & ext{if } b \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \ i & ext{if } b \equiv 3 \pmod{4}. \end{cases}$$

We shall use the given values to get $G(a, 2^r)$ as follows.

QS 5. Let a be odd. Then

$$G(a, 2^r) = \left(\frac{-2^r}{a}\right) \epsilon(a) G(1, 2^r).$$

Proof. The map

 $\sigma_a: \zeta \mapsto \zeta^a$

on 2^m -th roots of unity induces an automorphism of the field generated over **Q** by 2^m -th roots of unity for all m, and we have

$$G(a, 2^r) = \sigma_a G(1, 2^r) = \sigma_a (1+i) \sigma_a (2^{r/2}),$$

assuming that $r \ge 2$ (the case r = 1 being trivial). Obviously,

$$\sigma_a(1+i) = 1 + i^a = egin{cases} 1+i & ext{if } a \equiv 1 \pmod{4} \ 1-i & ext{if } a \equiv 3 \pmod{4}, \end{cases}$$

Since 1 - i = -i(1 + i), we find that

$$\sigma_a(1+i) = \left(rac{-1}{a}
ight)\epsilon(a)(1+i).$$

Next observe that

$$1+i=e^{rac{2\pi i}{8}}\sqrt{2} \ \ {
m or} \ \ \sqrt{2}=rac{1+i}{e_8},$$

where $e_8 = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{8}}$. Hence

$$\sigma_a \sqrt{2} = \frac{1+i^a}{e_8^a} = \begin{cases} \sqrt{2} & \text{if } a \equiv \pm 1 \pmod{8} \\ -\sqrt{2} & \text{if } a \equiv \pm 3 \pmod{8}. \end{cases}$$

Thus

$$\sigma_a \sqrt{2} = \left(\frac{2}{a}\right) \sqrt{2} = (-1)^{\frac{a^2-1}{8}} \sqrt{2}.$$

If r is even, then $2^{r/2}$ is rational, and if r is odd, then $2^{r/2}$ is a rational number times $\sqrt{2}$. Therefore

$$\sigma_a(2^{r/2}) = \left(\frac{2}{a}\right)^r 2^{r/2} = \left(\frac{2^r}{a}\right) 2^{r/2}.$$

This proves **QS 5** and concludes our formalism of the Gauss sums.

There remains to compute G(1, b) for arbitrary $b \ge 1$. The computation is analytic, and is due to Dirichlet. It uses the fact that if φ is a function which is smooth except for ordinary discontinuities, then its Fourier series converges pointwise to the midpoint of the discontinuity. In particular, if φ is a function which is continuously differentiable on the interval [0, 1], then

$$\frac{\varphi(0)+\varphi(1)}{2}=\sum_m c_m,$$

where c_m is the *m*-th Fourier coefficient,

$$c_m(\varphi) = \int_0^1 \varphi(x) e^{-2\pi i m x} \, dx,$$

and the sum is taken over all integers m.

[IV, §3]

GAUSS SUMS

We shall use the function

$$f(x) = e^{2\pi i x^2/b}, \qquad 0 \le x \le 1,$$

and its translates, also in the interval $0 \leq x \leq 1$, namely

$$f_k(x) = f(x+k),$$
 $k = 0, 1, ..., b - 1.$

Then by definition,

$$G(1, b) = \sum_{k=0}^{b-1} \frac{f_k(0) + f_k(1)}{2},$$

whence if $\varphi = f_0 + f_1 + \cdots + f_{b-1}$, we need only compute the sum of the Fourier coefficients for φ to get the value of G(1, b). By definition, and the convergence of the Fourier series, we find

$$G(1, b) = \sum_{m} \sum_{k=0}^{b-1} \int_{0}^{1} f_{k}(x) e^{-2\pi i m x} dx$$
$$= \sum_{m} \int_{0}^{b} e^{2\pi i x^{2}/b} e^{-2\pi i m x} dx$$
$$= \sum_{m} \int_{0}^{b} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{b} (x^{2} - b m x)} dx.$$

We complete the square,

$$x^{2} - bmx = \left(x - \frac{bm}{2}\right)^{2} - \frac{b^{2}m^{2}}{4}$$
,

and find that our last expression is

$$= \sum_{m} e^{-\pi i b m^{2}/2} \int_{0}^{b} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{b} (x - \frac{bm}{2})^{2}} dx.$$

If m is even, then $e^{-\pi i bm^2/2} = 1$. If m is odd, then $e^{-\pi i bm^2/2} = i^{-b}$. We split the sum over even m and odd m. A trivial computation putting m = 2r or m = 2r + 1 shows that the sums of the integrals over m even and m odd are equal to the same value, namely

$$I_b = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{b}y^2} dy,$$

so that

$$G(1, b) = (1 + i^{-b})I_b.$$

This integral converges at both ends, for if 0 < A < B, then changing

variables, $t = y^2$, dt = 2ydy, and integrating by parts shows that

$$\int_{A}^{B} e^{2\pi i y^{2}/b} \, dy = O\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{A}}\right)$$

Thus the tail ends of the integral are arbitrarily small. Finally, let

$$u = \frac{y}{\sqrt{b}}$$
 and $du = \frac{dy}{\sqrt{b}}$

Changing variables shows that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{b}y^2} dy = \sqrt{b} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{2\pi i u^2} du = \sqrt{b} I,$$

where I is the universal integral constant on the right. The integral I is simply I_1 , whose value is obtained from the relation

$$1 = G(1, 1) = (1 + i^{-1})I_1.$$

Thus we find

$$G(1, b) = \frac{1 + i^{-b}}{1 + i^{-1}} \sqrt{b},$$

as desired.

Character sums over finite fields

For the rest of this section, we let F be a finite field with q elements, and $q = p^{f}$. We let F_{p} be $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. We denote elements of F by x, and elements of the multiplicative group F^{*} of F by a. We let $\omega = e^{2\pi i/p}$. We let $\mathbf{Tr} = \mathbf{Tr}_{F/F_{p}}$ be the absolute trace from F to F_{p} . Let \mathfrak{F} be the vector space of complex valued functions on F.

If $\lambda: F \to \mathbb{C}^*$ is a non-trivial character, then λ induces a self duality of F, by means of the pairing

$$(x, y) \mapsto \lambda(xy).$$

Indeed, if λ_x is the map such that $\lambda_x(y) = \lambda(xy)$, then $x \mapsto \lambda_x$ is an injective homomorphism of F into its dual group, whence an isomorphism because these two groups have the same order. We shall always use the fixed λ such that

$$\lambda(x) = \omega^{\mathbf{Tr}(x)}$$

If $f \in \mathfrak{F}$, we define the (essentially Fourier) transform Tf by

$$Tf(y) = \sum_{x \in F} f(x)\lambda(xy)$$

Thus Tf is again a function on F (identified with its character group by λ), and $T: \mathfrak{F} \to \mathfrak{F}$ is a linear map.

Theorem 7. We have $T^2f = qf^-$, i.e. $T^2f(z) = qf(-z)$.

Proof. We have

$$T^{2}f(z) = \sum_{y} \sum_{x} f(x)\lambda(yx)\lambda(zy)$$
$$= \sum_{x} f(x-z) \sum_{y} \lambda(yx)$$
$$= qf(-z),$$

as desired.

Theorem 7 is the analogue of the Fourier inversion formula. We see in particular that T is an automorphism of \mathfrak{F} .

We define the **convolution** f * g between functions by the usual formula

$$(f * g)(y) = \sum_{x} f(x)g(y - x).$$

A change of variables shows that

f * g = g * f.

Theorem 8. For complex functions f, g on F, we have

$$T(f * g) = (Tf)(Tg)$$
$$T(fg) = \frac{1}{q} Tf * Tg.$$

Proof. For the first formula, we have

$$T(f*g)(z) = \sum_{y} (f*g)(y)\lambda(zy) = \sum_{y} \sum_{x} f(x)g(y-x)\lambda(zy).$$

We change the order of summation, let y - x = t, y = x + t, and find

$$\sum_{x} f(x)\lambda(zx) \sum_{t} g(t)\lambda(zt),$$

which is precisely (Tf)(Tg)(z), thus proving the first formula. The second formula follows from the first because T is an isomorphism on \mathfrak{F} , so that we can write $f = Tf_1$, $g = Tg_1$ for some functions f_1 , g_1 . We then combine the first formula with Theorem 7 to get the second.

We let x denote a character of the multiplicative group F^* , and define x(0) = 0.

[IV, §3]

Example. If p is odd, we could take the character X_2 defined by

$$\chi_2(a) = \left(rac{a}{p}
ight)$$
 ,

i.e. the quadratic residue symbol. This character is trivial on F^{*2} .

We are concerned with the Gauss sums which generalize the sum S considered in §2, and which are defined by

$$\tau(\chi) = \sum_{a \in F^*} \chi(a) \lambda(a) = \sum_x \chi(x) \lambda(x).$$

This can also be written as

$$\tau(x) = x(-1)(x * \lambda)(0) = (Tx)(1),$$

using our convention that $\chi(0) = 0$. The Gauss sum has the following properties.

GS 1. For any character $x \neq 1$, we have $Tx = \tau(x)x^{-1}$.

Proof. We have

$$TX(y) = \sum_{x} \chi(x)\lambda(yx).$$

If y = 0, then Tx(y) = 0. If $y \neq 0$, we make a change of variables, $x = ty^{-1}$, and we find precisely the desired value $\tau(x)x(y^{-1})$.

GS 2. $\tau(\chi)\tau(\chi^{-1}) = \chi(-1)q$ for $\chi \neq 1$.

Proof. Note that $T^2 x = T(\tau(x)x^{-1}) = \tau(x)\tau(x^{-1})x$. But we also know that $T^2 x = qx^-$. This proves **GS 2.**

GS 3. $|\tau(x)| = \sqrt{q}$ for $\chi \neq 1$.

Proof. For the complex conjugate, we have

$$\overline{\tau(x)} = \sum_{a} x^{-1}(a)\lambda(-a) = x^{-1}(-1)\sum_{a} x^{-1}(a)\lambda(a)$$
$$= x(-1)\tau(x^{-1}).$$

Hence $\tau(x)\overline{\tau(x)} = q$, and our property follows.

GS 4. Let

$$\psi(\chi_1, \chi_2) = \chi_1 * \chi_2(1) = \sum_x \chi_1(x) \chi_2(1-x).$$

If $x_1x_2 \neq 1$, then

$$\tau(\chi_1)\tau(\chi_2)=\psi(\chi_1,\chi_2)\tau(\chi_1\chi_2).$$

[IV, §3]

Proof. We compute from the definitions:

$$\tau(\chi_1)\tau(\chi_2) = \sum_x \sum_y \chi_1(x)\chi_2(y)\lambda(x+y)$$

= $\sum_x \sum_y \chi_1(x)\chi_2(y-x)\lambda(y)$
= $\sum_x \sum_{a\neq 0} \chi_1(x)\chi_2(a-x)\lambda(a) + \sum_x \chi_1(x)\chi_2(-x).$

Since $x_1x_2 \neq 1$, the last sum on the right is equal to 0. In the other sum, we interchange the order of summation, replace x by ax, and find

$$\sum_{a} \chi_1 \chi_2(a) \lambda(a) \cdot \sum_{x} \chi_1(x) \chi_2(1-x),$$

which proves GS 4.

GS 5. For any positive integer r, we have $\tau(x^{p^r}) = \tau(x)$.

Proof. This is obvious because raising to the *p*-th power is an automorphism of F, and therefore $\mathbf{Tr}(x^p) = \mathbf{Tr}(x)$.

We shall now consider the prime factorization of $\tau(\chi)$. To begin with, we observe that $\tau(\chi)$ is an algebraic integer in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega,\epsilon)$ where $\epsilon^{q-1}=1$. Furthermore, since $\tau(\chi)\tau(\chi^{-1})=\pm q$, it follows that the only primes dividing $\tau(\chi)$ are those which divide p.

We let K be the extension of \mathbf{Q} obtained by adjoining the *p*-th roots of unity and the (q - 1)-th roots of unity, so that K contains roots of unity as representatives of the elements of the finite field F with q elements. We fix a homomorphism

$$\varphi:\mathfrak{o}_K\to\overline{F}_p$$

of \mathfrak{o}_K into the algebraic closure of F_p , and write mod p for this homomorphism. This homomorphism induces an isomorphism between the group of (q-1)-th roots of unity in K and the multiplicative group F^* , because the polynomial $X^{q-1} - 1$ has no multiple root mod p. If W_{q-1} is the cyclic group of (q-1)-th roots of unity, then

$$\varphi: W_{q-1} \to F^*$$

is this isomorphism. We can define a generator x_{φ} for the character group of F^* by letting x_{φ} be the character such that

$$\varphi \chi_{\varphi}(a) = a^{-1}.$$

Then x_{φ} has order q - 1, and any character x is a power of x_{φ} .

Theorem 9. Let x be a character of F^* and let $x = x_{\varphi}^{\nu}$, with

 $1 \leq \nu < q - 1.$

Write v in the p-adic expansion

 $\nu=\nu_0+\nu_1p+\cdots+\nu_{f-1}p^{f-1}$

with $0 \leq v_i \leq p-1$, and not all $v_i = 0$ or p-1. Let

$$s(\nu) = \sum_{i=0}^{f-1} \nu_i$$
 and $\gamma(\nu) = \prod_{i=0}^{f-1} (\nu_i!) \pmod{p}.$

Then $\gamma(\nu) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{p}$ and

.

$$\varphi\left[\frac{\tau(\chi)}{(\omega-1)^{s(\nu)}}\right] = \frac{-1}{\gamma(\nu)} \pmod{p}.$$

In particular, for any absolute value $||_p$ extending the p-adic absolute value on the rationals, we get

$$|\tau(\chi)|_p = |\omega - 1|_p^{s(\nu)}.$$

Proof. We use induction on ν . Take first $\nu = 1$ so $\chi = \chi_{\varphi}$. We have

$$au(\chi_{\varphi}) = \sum_{a} \chi_{\varphi}(a) \omega^{\operatorname{Tr}(a)}$$

Write

$$\omega^{\mathbf{Tr}(a)} = (1+\omega-1)^{\mathbf{Tr}(a)} = 1 + \mathbf{Tr}(a)(\omega-1) + \xi(\omega-1)^2$$

with some algebraic integer ξ depending on a. We interpret $\mathbf{Tr}(a)$ to be any representative in \mathfrak{o}_K for the element in F. Then

$$\frac{\tau(x_{\varphi})}{\omega-1} = \sum_{a} x_{\varphi}(a) [\mathbf{Tr}(a) + \xi(\omega-1)],$$

and hence

$$\varphi\left(\frac{\tau(x_{\varphi})}{\omega-1}\right) = \sum_{a} a^{-1} \operatorname{Tr}(a) = \sum_{a} a^{-1} (a+a^{p}+\dots+a^{p^{f-1}})$$
$$= \sum_{a} (1+a^{p-1}+\dots+a^{p^{f-1}-1})$$
$$= q-1 \equiv -1 \pmod{p}$$

because $a \mapsto a^{p^r-1}$ is a multiplicative character. This settles the case $\nu = 1$.

GAUSS SUMS

Assume next that $1 < \nu < q - 1$ and that the statement is true for χ^{μ}_{φ} with $1 \leq \mu < \nu$. We distinguish two cases.

Case 1. $p|\nu$. Then $\nu = p\mu$ and $\chi^{\nu}_{\varphi} = (\chi^{\mu}_{\varphi})^p$, so that by **GS 5** we have

$$\tau(\chi_{\varphi}^{\nu}) = \tau(\chi_{\varphi}^{\mu})$$

But obviously

$$s(\mu) = s(\nu)$$
 and $\gamma(\nu) = \gamma(\mu)$.

This case is taken care of.

Case 2. $p \nmid \nu$. Then $\nu_0 \neq 0$. We shall use **GS 4.** We have

$$\varphi(\psi(X_{\varphi}, X_{\varphi}^{\nu-1})) = \varphi\left(\sum_{a\neq 0,1} X_{\varphi}(a) X_{\varphi}^{\nu-1}(1-a)\right)$$
$$= \sum_{a\neq 0,1} a^{-1}(1-a)^{-(\nu-1)},$$

and after inserting q-1 as an exponent of (1-a), using the fact that $(1-a)^{q-1} = 1$, we find that this is

$$=\sum_{a\neq 0}\sum_{j=0}^{q-\nu}(-1)^{j}\binom{q-\nu}{j}a^{j-1}\\=(q-1)(-1)(q-\nu)$$

(because $a \mapsto a^{j-1}$ is a multiplicative character)

$$= -\nu = -\nu_0 \pmod{p}.$$

Note that in the present case,

$$s(\nu) = s(\nu - 1) + 1$$
 and $\gamma(\nu) = \nu_0 \cdot \gamma(\nu - 1)$.

Hence

$$\begin{split} \varphi\left(\frac{\tau(\chi_{\varphi}^{\nu})}{(\omega-1)^{s(\nu)}}\right) &= \varphi\left(\frac{\tau(\chi_{\varphi})\tau(\chi_{\varphi}^{\nu-1})}{(\omega-1)(\omega-1)^{s(\nu)-1}\psi(\chi_{\varphi},\chi_{\varphi}^{\nu-1})}\right) \\ &= (-1)\frac{-1}{\gamma(\nu-1)}\frac{-1}{\nu_{0}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\gamma(\nu)}, \end{split}$$

thus proving our theorem.

For an application in the next section, we obtain another expression for $s(\nu)$. As usual, [x] is the largest integer $\leq x$, and $\{x\} = x - [x]$.

[IV, §3]

Lemma. If ν is a positive integer, $\nu = \nu_0 + \nu_1 p + \cdots + \nu_{f-1} p^{f-1}$ with $0 \leq \nu_i \leq p-1$, then

$$s(\nu) = \nu - (p-1) \sum_{j=0}^{f-1} \left[\frac{p^j \nu}{q-1} \right].$$

Proof. The expression on the right is equal to

$$(p-1)\sum_{j=0}^{f-1} \left(\frac{p^{j}\nu}{q-1} - \left[\frac{p^{j}\nu}{q-1} \right] \right) = (p-1)\sum_{j=0}^{f-1} \left\{ \frac{p^{j}\nu}{q-1} \right\}.$$

We note that this expression depends only on the residue class of $\nu \pmod{q-1}$. We consider therefore ν such that $0 \leq \nu < q-1$. For $j = 0, \ldots, f-1$, we have

$$\nu_j = \left[\frac{\nu}{p^j}\right] - p\left[\frac{\nu}{p^{j+1}}\right],$$

and $[\nu/p^f] = 0$. Taking the sum yields

$$s(\nu) = \nu - (p-1) \sum_{j=0}^{f-1} \left[\frac{\nu}{p^{j+1}} \right] = \nu - (p-1) \sum_{j=0}^{f-1} \left[\frac{\nu p^j}{q} \right].$$

It will now suffice to prove that

$$\left[\frac{\nu p^j}{q}\right] = \left[\frac{\nu p^j}{q-1}\right].$$

Suppose otherwise. Then for some integer n we have

$$\frac{\nu p^j}{q} < n \leq \frac{\nu p^j}{q-1},$$

whence

$$\nu < \frac{nq}{p^j} \leq \frac{\nu q}{q-1} = \nu + \frac{\nu}{q-1} < \nu + 1,$$

a contradiction which proves our lemma.

§4. Relations in ideal classes

Throughout this section we let $k = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$ where ζ is a primitive *m*-th root of unity. We let *p* be a prime number, $p \nmid m$, and we let *p* be a prime in *k* such that $p \mid p$. We let ω be a primitive *p*-th root of unity. If μ is a positive integer prime to *m*, we let σ_{μ} be the automorphism of *k* such that

$$\sigma_{\mu}\zeta = \zeta^{\mu}.$$

96

We know that p is totally ramified in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$, and hence \mathfrak{p} is totally ramified in $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta, \omega) = k(\omega)$. Thus there exists a unique prime \mathfrak{P} in $k(\omega)$ such that $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, and we have

$$\mathfrak{p}=\mathfrak{P}^{p-1}.$$



Theorem 10. Let f be the order of p mod m, and $q = p^{f}$. Let x be a character of $F = F_{q}$ such that

$$\chi(a) \equiv a^{-(q-1)/m} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Then for any integer $r \geq 1$ we have the factorization

$$\tau(\chi^r) \sim \mathfrak{P}^{a(r)},$$

where $\alpha(r)$ is the element of the group ring given by

$$\alpha(r) = \frac{1}{f} \sum_{\mu} s\left(\frac{(q-1)\mu r}{m}\right) \sigma_{\mu}^{-1},$$

and the sum is taken over all $\mu \mod m$, prime to m.

Proof. This is essentially a reformulation of Theorem 9. Let $K = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta, \omega)$ and let φ be a homomorphism of \mathfrak{o}_K into \overline{F}_p corresponding to \mathfrak{P} , i.e. inducing an injection

$$\mathfrak{o}_K/\mathfrak{P}\to \overline{F}_p$$

Then we may assume that $x^r = x_{\varphi}^{(q-1)r/m}$. We know from §1 that $\omega - 1$ is a prime element in $\mathbf{Q}(\omega)$, and remains unramified in K. Hence by Theorem 9,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}} \tau(x^r) = s\left(\frac{(q-1)r}{m}\right)$$

We also have

$$\sigma_{\mu}\tau(\chi^{r})=\tau(\chi^{r\mu}),$$

so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\sigma_{\mu}^{-1}\mathfrak{B}} \tau(\chi^r) = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{B}} \sigma_{\mu} \tau(\chi^r) = s\left(\frac{(q-1)r\mu}{m}\right)$$

As μ ranges over $(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^*$, each conjugate of \mathfrak{P} appears f times. This proves Theorem 10.

CYCLOTOMIC FIELDS

Theorem 11. Let $k = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)$ where ζ_m is a primitive m-th root of unity. Let p be a prime number, p|m, and let $\mathfrak{p}|p$ in k. For positive integers a, b such that $ab(a+b) \not\equiv 0 \mod m$, let

$$heta_{a,b} = \sum_{\mu} \left(\left[\frac{(a+b)\mu}{m} \right] - \left[\frac{a\mu}{m} \right] - \left[\frac{b\mu}{m} \right] \right) \sigma_{\mu}^{-1}.$$

Then $\mathfrak{p}^{\theta_{\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}}}$ is principal, and in fact

 $\mathfrak{p}^{\theta_{a,b}} \sim \psi(\chi^a, \chi^b),$

where x is the character described in Theorem 10.

Proof. We just transform the expression of Theorem 10 and use GS 4. We have

$$\psi(x^a, x^b) = \frac{\tau(x^a)\tau(x^b)}{\tau(x^{a+b})}$$

and hence

$$\psi(\chi^a,\,\chi^b)\sim\mathfrak{P}^{\beta(a,b)},$$

B(a, b) =

where

$$\frac{1}{f}\sum_{\mu}\left(s\left(\frac{(q-1)a\mu}{m}\right)+s\left(\frac{(q-1)b\mu}{m}\right)-s\left(\frac{(q-1)(a+b)\mu}{m}\right)\right)\sigma_{\mu}^{-1}$$
$$=\frac{p-1}{f}\sum_{\mu}\left(\sum_{j=0}^{f-1}\left[\frac{(a+b)p^{j}\mu}{m}\right]-\left[\frac{ap^{j}\mu}{m}\right]-\left[\frac{bp^{j}\mu}{m}\right]\right)\sigma_{\mu}^{-1},$$

using the lemma at the end of §3. The decomposition group $G_{\mathfrak{p}}$ of \mathfrak{p} in k is $\{1, \sigma_p, \sigma_{p^2}, \ldots\}$. Hence we can replace σ_{μ} by $\sigma_{p^{j}\mu}$, and since μ ranges over $(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^*$, so does $p^{j}\mu$. Consequently we find

 $\beta(a,b) = (p-1)\theta_{a,b}.$

Since $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{P}^{p-1}$, we see that Theorem 11 is proved.

The special case of Theorems 10 and 11 when m is prime is already in Hilbert's Zahlbericht and is due to Stickelberger. The general case is due to MacKenzie ("Class group relations in cyclotomic fields", Am. J.Math., 74, 1952, pp. 757–763). Here, I have followed an exposition given by Tate in a seminar around 1951. The significance of Theorem 11 is that it gives a relation in the ideal class group of $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$, since every ideal class contains infinitely many primes (a fact which will be proved later in this book).
CHAPTER V

Parallelotopes

This chapter gives quantitative results concerning the distribution of elements of a number field in parallelotopes.

If we impose certain bounds on the absolute values of elements α in a number field k, then we can ask for the number of field elements satisfying such conditions. It turns out that this number is asymptotic to the volume of the region (in a suitable space) determined by the inequalities.

Next, we shall reproduce the classical theory of Minkowski concerning the units and discriminant of the number field, and obtain the Minkowski constant.

§1. The product formula

Let $M_{\mathbf{Q}}$ be the canonical set of absolute values on the rational numbers **Q**. Then for any element $\alpha \in \mathbf{Q}$, $\alpha \neq 0$, we have

$$\prod_{v\in M\mathbf{Q}}|\alpha|_v=1$$

Indeed, if α is a prime number l, then

$$|l|_p = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \text{ is a prime number } \neq l \\ 1/p & \text{if } p = l. \end{cases}$$

The ordinary absolute value will be called (by abuse of language) a prime at infinity. Since $|l|_{\infty} = l$, the product formula is satisfied for prime numbers. It follows for any element of \mathbf{Q}^* by multiplicativity.

Let k be a finite extension of **Q** and M_k the set of absolute values of k extending those of $M_{\mathbf{Q}}$. Then by Corollary 2 of Theorem 2, Chapter II, §1, we obtain for $\alpha \in k^*$:

$$1 = \prod_{v_0 \in M_{\mathbf{Q}}} |N_{\mathbf{Q}}^k(\alpha)|_{v_0} = \prod_{v_0 \in M_{\mathbf{Q}}} \prod_{v \mid v_0} |\alpha|_{v}^{N_v}$$
$$= \prod_{v \in M_k} |\alpha|_{v}^{N_v} = \prod_{v \in M_k} ||\alpha||_{v}.$$

Thus the product formula is also satisfied, with multiplicities

$$N_{v} = [k_{v} : \mathbf{Q}_{v_{0}}].$$

If k is a number field, we denote by S_{∞} the set of archimedean absolute values in M_k . We let r_1 and r_2 be the number of real and complex absolute values respectively. Then

$$r_1 + 2r_2 = [k:\mathbf{Q}]$$

and we denote this degree by N. We also let $r = r_1 + r_2 - 1$. The local degree N_v is 1 if v is real, and 2 if v is complex.

We shall now prove the classical theorems concerning the finiteness of class number and the unit theorem.

To begin with the class number, we shall prove that there exists a constant C depending only on k, such that for any ideal \mathfrak{a} (always assumed $\neq 0$), there exists an ideal \mathfrak{b} in the linear equivalence class of \mathfrak{a} such that $N\mathfrak{b} \leq C$.

This implies that the number of ideal classes is finite, because there is only a finite number of ideals with bounded norms. (In fact, there is only a finite number of prime numbers bounded by a given constant, and for each prime number p, there is only a finite number of prime ideals p of o_k lying above p.) This number is called the **class number** of k.

Let $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N$ be a basis of \mathfrak{o}_k over Z, and let S be the set of elements of \mathfrak{o}_k of type

$$a_1\omega_1+\cdots+a_N\omega_N$$

with integers a_i such that

$$0 \leq a_i \leq (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a})^{1/N} + 1.$$

Then there are more than Na elements in S, and thus there are two distinct elements α , β in S such that $\alpha - \beta = \xi$ will map into 0 in the homomorphism

$$\mathfrak{o}_k \to \prod \mathfrak{o}_k / \mathfrak{p}^{\mathrm{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}^{\mathfrak{a}}}}.$$

(Cf. Proposition 24 of Chapter I, §7.) It follows that there exists an ideal \mathfrak{b} such that $(\xi) = \mathfrak{ab}$. On the other hand, we estimate the norm

$$|N_{\mathbf{Q}}^{k}(\xi)| = \prod_{\sigma} |c_{1}\omega_{1}^{\sigma} + \cdots + c_{N}\omega_{N}^{\sigma}|,$$

where $0 \leq |c_i| \leq (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a})^{1/N} + 1$. We see that there is a constant *C* (depending on the maximum of the archimedean absolute values of the ω_i and on *N*) such that

$$|N_{\mathbf{Q}}^{k}(\xi)| \leq C \cdot \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}.$$

Using Proposition 22 of Chapter I, §7 we get $Nb \leq C$ and $b \sim a^{-1}$ by definition. This proves our assertion.

Next, we shall prove the unit theorem, as in Artin-Whaples. We first discuss some general notions.

We define an M_k -divisor c to be a real valued function of absolute values v in M_k such that:

- (1) c(v) > 0 for all v in M_k .
- (2) c(v) = 1 for all but a finite number of v in M_k .
- (3) If v is a discrete valuation, then there exists an element α in k such that $c(v) = |\alpha|_{v}$.

We shall sometimes write $|c|_v$ or c_v instead of c(v), and when we have the multiplicities N_v , we write

$$\|\mathfrak{c}\|_{v}=\mathfrak{c}(v)^{N_{v}}.$$

We define the k-size or simply size of our M_k -divisor to be

$$\|\mathfrak{c}\|_{k} = \prod_{v} \mathfrak{c}(v)^{N_{v}}.$$

We denote by $L(\mathfrak{c})$ the set of elements $x \in k$ such that for each $v \in M_k$ we have

$$|x|_v \leq c(v).$$

Each element $\alpha \in k^*$ determines an M_k -divisor whose value at v is simply $|\alpha|_{v}$. The product of two M_k -divisors is an M_k -divisor, and if c is an M_k -divisor, then αc is the M_k -divisor such that

$$(\alpha \mathfrak{c})(v) = |\alpha|_v \mathfrak{c}(v).$$

In view of the product formula, we have

$$\|\alpha \mathbf{c}\|_k = \|\mathbf{c}\|_k.$$

In other words, the size of c is the same as the size of αc .

If $\alpha \in k^*$, then $L(\alpha c)$ and L(c) are in canonical bijection under the mapping

$$x\mapsto \alpha x, \qquad x\in L(\mathfrak{c}).$$

We denote the number of elements of L(c) by $\lambda(c)$. Then

$$\lambda(\alpha \mathfrak{c}) = \lambda(\mathfrak{c}).$$

If we think of c as prescribing the sides of a box, all but a finite number of which are 1, then $\lambda(c)$ may be interpreted as the number of field elements in the box. The size of c may be interpreted as the volume of the box. We

[V, §1]

PARALLELOTOPES

[V, §1]

shall now prove that the number of elements in the box is approximately equal to the volume. In the next section, we shall obtain a stronger asymptotic result, by different methods.

Theorem 0. Let k be a number field. There exist two numbers $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending only on k, such that for any M_k -divisor c, we have

$$c_1 \|\mathbf{c}\|_k < \lambda(\mathbf{c}) \leq \sup [1, c_2 \|\mathbf{c}\|_k].$$

Proof. Suppose that there is at least one complex absolute value v_0 in M_k . We identify k_{v_0} with the complex plane, and consider the square centered at the origin, with sides of length $2c(v_0)$. Let m be an integer such that

$$m < \lambda(\mathfrak{c})^{1/2} \leq m+1.$$

Without loss of generality, we may assume that $m \neq 0$, and so $m \geq 1$. Cut up each side of the square into m equal parts, thus giving rise to m^2 small squares inside the big one. Our set L(c) is embedded inside the big square at k_{v_0} . Since it contains more than m^2 elements, there exist two distinct elements $x, y \in L(c)$ lying in the same small square. Hence we can estimate their difference by

$$|x-y|_{v_0} \leq \frac{2\sqrt{2} \operatorname{c}(v_0)}{m}$$

If v is any other archimedean absolute value of M_k , then

$$|x-y|_v \leq 2\mathfrak{c}(v),$$

and if v is non-archimedean, then

$$|x-y|_v \leq \mathfrak{c}(v).$$

Taking the product, we obtain

$$1 = \prod_{v \in M_k} |x - y|_v^{N_v} \leq \frac{c_3 \|\mathbf{c}\|_k}{m^2}$$

with a suitable constant c_3 . Since $(m+1)^2 \leq 4m^2$, the inequality on the right in Theorem 0 follows immediately.

If there is no complex absolute value in M_k , then we proceed in a similar manner, using a real one v_0 , and cut up the interval centered at the origin of length $2c(v_0)$ into m equal parts, giving rise to m small intervals, with

$$m < \lambda(\mathfrak{c}) \leq m+1$$

The arguments then proceed in the same way.

[V, §1]

Let us prove the other inequality. Let $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N$ be a basis for \mathfrak{o}_k over Z. Put

$$c_0 = N \sup_{v,i} |\omega_i|_v,$$

the sup being taken over the archimedean absolute values v in M_k , and over *i*. This is a number depending only on k.

Let c be our given M_k -divisor. By the approximation theorem, there exists an element $\alpha \in k^*$ such that

$$c_0 \leq |\alpha \mathfrak{c}|_v \leq 2c_0$$

for each archimedean absolute value v in M_k . We now select an element $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, $a \neq 0$, such that $a\alpha c$ has absolute value ≤ 1 at all non-archimedean $v \in M_k$, just by taking a highly divisible at a lot of prime numbers. In view of the fact that $\lambda(c)$ and $||c||_k$ do not change if we multiply c by an element of k^* , we may therefore assume, without loss of generality, that our M_k -divisor satisfies the inequalities

$$c_0|a|_v \leq |\mathfrak{c}|_v \leq 2c_0|a|_v$$

for some element $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, a > 0, and all $v \in S_{\infty}$.

We must exhibit elements of L(c). For this purpose, consider the set L of elements of o_k consisting of those which can be expressed in the form

$$a_1\omega_1+\cdots+a_N\omega_N$$

with $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $0 \leq a_i \leq a$. Then our set L contains more than a^N elements.

Each non-archimedean v in M_k corresponds to a prime \mathfrak{p} of \mathfrak{o}_k , and using the third condition in the definition of an M_k -divisor, we have in an obvious manner the notion of $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{c}$. Let $n_{\mathfrak{p}} = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{c}$. The additive group

$$\mathfrak{o}_k/\prod\mathfrak{p}^{n_\mathfrak{p}}$$

has $\prod(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})^{n_{\mathfrak{p}}}$ elements. We look at the image of L under the canonical homomorphism of \mathfrak{o}_k into this additive group. There will be a subset L' of L with at least

$$rac{a^N}{\prod (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})^{n_\mathfrak{p}}}$$

elements, all of which have the same image. Take one fixed element $x \in L'$, and let y range over L'. Then for each non-archimedean absolute value v in M_k , we have

$$|x-y|_v \leq \mathfrak{c}(v),$$

because $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}}(x-y) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} c$. If v is archimedean, then by an obvious estimate, we have

$$|x - y|_v \leq c_0 |a|_v \leq c(v).$$

Thus our element x - y lies in L(c). We have therefore proved that

$$\lambda(\mathbf{c}) \geq a^N \prod \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{n_{\mathfrak{p}}}}.$$

We observe finally that

$$a^N = \prod_{v \mid v_{\infty}} |a|_v^{N_v} > c_1 \prod_{v \mid v_{\infty}} |\mathfrak{c}|_v^{N_v},$$

the product being taken over the archimedean absolute values, and c_1 being an obvious constant, while

$$\frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n_{\mathfrak{p}}}} = \|\mathfrak{c}\|_{v},$$

if v is the non-archimedean absolute value belonging to \mathfrak{p} . Taking the full product over all absolute values proves our inequality on the left in Theorem 0.

Let k be a number field, and S a finite subset of M_k containing the archimedean absolute values. Let s be the number of elements of S. We define the set of S-units k_S to be the set of elements α in k^* such that

 $|\alpha|_v = 1$

for $v \notin S$. If $S = S_{\infty}$, the S-units are also called the **units** of k. Strictly speaking, they are the units (invertible elements) of the ring of algebraic integers o_k .

We map k_S into Euclidean s-space as follows. Let v_1, \ldots, v_s be the absolute values of S. Map

$$x\mapsto (\log ||x||_1,\ldots, \log ||x||_s),$$

and call this map

log: $k_S \rightarrow \mathbf{R}^s$.

By the product formula, the image of k_S is contained in the hyperplane defined by the equation

$$\xi_1+\cdots+\xi_s=0,$$

so that this image is at most (s - 1)-dimensional.

Unit Theorem. The image $log(k_S)$ is an (s-1)-dimensional lattice in \mathbb{R}^s .

[V, §1]

THE PRODUCT FORMULA

By saying that it is a lattice, we mean that it is a discrete subgroup of \mathbf{R}^s , and by saying that it is (s - 1)-dimensional, we mean that the vector space generated by it is the entire hyperplane mentioned above. Thus in particular, it follows that $\log(k_S)$ is a free abelian group on s - 1 generators. The kernel of our log mapping is clearly the set of roots of unity in k because the kernel is a group, and its elements have bounded absolute values, hence form a finite group.

Corollary. Let k be a number field and S a finite subset of M_k containing the archimedean absolute values. Then k_S modulo the group of roots of unity in k is a free abelian group on s - 1 generators (s = number of elements of S).

Observe, however, that the statement of the unit theorem is stronger than the statement of the corollary. The unit theorem is actually equivalent with a compactness statement, which we shall give in Chapter VII, §3.

We shall now prove the unit theorem.

Let us begin by observing that in any bounded region of \mathbf{R}^s there exists only a finite number of elements of $\log(k_S)$. Indeed, if $\log(x)$ lies in such a region, then the absolute values of x and its conjugates must be bounded, and hence x can satisfy only a finite number of monic polynomials of degree $\leq [k:\mathbf{Q}]$ over \mathbf{Q} , because the coefficients of such polynomials are elementary symmetric functions of x and its conjugates. By a well-known property of Euclidean space, whose proof we shall recall at the end, it follows that $\log(k_S)$ is a discrete, finitely generated subgroup of \mathbf{R}^s . We must prove that it has dimension s - 1.

For this purpose, we shall first prove that given an index *i*, there exists a vector (ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_s) in $\log(k_s)$ such that $\xi_i > 0$ and $\xi_j < 0$ for $j \neq i$. We shall then prove that any s - 1 such vectors are linearly independent over **R**.

We need the following lemma.

Lemma. Given $v_0 \in M_k$ there exists a number $c(v_0) > 0$ such that for any M_k -divisor c there exists $\beta \in k^*$ such that

$$1 \leq \|\beta \mathfrak{c}\|_v \leq c(v_0)$$

for all $v \neq v_0$ in M_k .

Proof. Let c_1 be the number of Theorem 0. Let $c_0 = 1$ if v_0 is archimedean, and let $c_0 = \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}_0$ if \mathfrak{p}_0 is the prime of v_0 . Let c' be an M_k -divisor which differs from c only at v_0 , and such that

$$1/c_1 \leq \|c'\|_k \leq c_0/c_1.$$

If v_0 is archimedean, we can adjust the v_0 -component as we please, in a continuous fashion. If v_0 is discrete, the value group ranges over powers

of $N\mathfrak{p}_0$, and so we can also find the c' subject to our condition. We set $c(v_0) = c_0/c_1$.

By Theorem 0, $\lambda(c') > 1$, and hence there exists an element $\alpha \neq 0$ in L(c'), that is,

$$\|\alpha\|_{v} \leq \|\mathfrak{c}'\|_{v}$$

for all $v \in M_k$. We put $\beta = 1/\alpha$. Then the inequality on the left in the lemma is satisfied. For the inequality on the right, we have

$$\|\beta \mathbf{c}'\|_{v} = \frac{\|\beta \mathbf{c}'\|_{k}}{\prod_{w \neq v} \|\beta \mathbf{c}'\|_{w}} \le \|\beta \mathbf{c}'\|_{k} = \|\mathbf{c}'\|_{k}$$

for all $v \in M_k$. The product is taken over all $w \in M_k$, $w \neq v$. Since c' is like c except at v_0 , we have also proved the inequality on the right.

We return to the main proof. If $v \notin S$, then the value group of v is infinite cyclic, generated by Np, and there is only a finite number of primes such that if $v_0 \in S$ corresponds to the index *i*, then

$$\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p} \leq c(v_0).$$

Consequently, by the lemma, there is a finite set of absolute values $S' \supset S$ having the following property. If c is an M_k -divisor, then there exists $\beta \in k^*$ such that

$$1 = \|\beta \mathbf{c}\|_{v}, \qquad \text{all } v \notin S'.$$

Consider only such c that $c(v) \ge 1$ for all v and c(v) = 1 for all $v \notin S$. For such c there exists β with

$$1 = \|\beta \mathbf{c}\|_{v} = \|\beta\|_{v}, \qquad v \notin S'$$

$$1 \leq \|\beta \mathbf{c}\|_{v} \leq \mathbf{c}(v_{0}), \qquad v \neq v_{0}.$$

Let B be the set of all such β . Map B into $\mathbf{R}^{S'-S}$ by

$$\beta \mapsto \{ \|\beta\|_v \}_{v \in S' - S}$$

The image of B is finite. Let β_1, \ldots, β_m be representatives in B for the elements of this image. Let

$$b = \min_{\substack{v \in S' - S \\ j = 1, \dots, m}} \|\beta_j\|_v.$$

Then b > 0, and for all $\beta \in B$ there exists an S-unit $u_{\beta} \in k_S$ and some j such that

$$\beta = u_{\beta}\beta_j$$

[V, §1]

For all c as above, we can therefore find $u \in k_S$ satisfying

$$\|u\mathbf{c}\|_{v} \leq \frac{c(v_{0})}{b},$$
 all $v \neq v_{0}.$

We select c such that c(v) is very large for all $v \in S$. Then $||u||_v$ is very small for all $v \neq v_0$, $v \in S$. By the product formula, it follows that $||u||_{v_0}$ is very large. The log of u has the desired property. This achieves the first of our objectives.

As to the second, we have found elements $x_1, \ldots, x_{s-1} \in k_s$ such that

$$\log x_1 = (\xi_{11}, \dots, \xi_{1s}) \\ \vdots \\ \log x_{s-1} = (\xi_{s-1,1}, \dots, \xi_{s-1,s})$$

and such that the matrix of signs of the ξ_{ij} is as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} + & - & \cdots & - & - \\ - & + & - & \cdots & - & - \\ \vdots \\ - & - & \cdots & + & - \end{bmatrix}$$

Let Y_1, \ldots, Y_s be the column vectors. We must show that the first s-1 are linearly independent over **R**. Suppose that

 $a_1Y_1 + \cdots + a_{s-1}Y_{s-1} = 0$,

not all the coefficients being 0. Say $a_1 > 0$ and $a_1 \ge a_j$ for any j. Then looking at the sum just in the first row, we get

$$0 = a_1\xi_{11} + a_2\xi_{12} + \dots + a_{s-1}\xi_{1,s-1}$$

$$\geq a_1\xi_{11} + a_1\xi_{12} + \dots + a_1\xi_{1,s-1}$$

$$= a_1(\xi_{11} + \xi_{12} + \dots + \xi_{1,s-1})$$

because ξ_{1j} is negative for j = 2, ..., s - 1. By the product formula, we must have

 $\xi_{11}+\xi_{12}+\cdots+\xi_{1,s-1}>0,$

contradiction.

For the convenience of the reader, we repeat the proof that a discrete subgroup of Euclidean space is a free abelian group. We do this by induction on the dimension of the subgroup, i.e. the maximal number of linearly independent elements over \mathbf{R} .

Let Γ be our subgroup and ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_m a maximal set of independent vectors in Γ . Let Γ_0 be the subgroup of Γ contained in the subspace spanned by ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_{m-1} . By induction, we may assume that any vector of Γ_0 is a linear integral combination of ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_{m-1} .

$$\xi = a_1\xi_1 + \cdots + a_m\xi_m$$

with real coefficients a_i satisfying

$$0 \leq a_i < 1, \qquad i = 1, \dots, m-1$$

$$0 \leq a_m \leq 1.$$

It is a bounded set. Let ξ'_m be a vector of T with the smallest $a_m \neq 0$, say

$$\xi'_m = b_1 \xi_1 + \cdots + b_m \xi_m.$$

Starting with any vector ξ of Γ , we can select integral coefficients c_1, \ldots, c_m in such a way that

$$\xi' = \xi - c_m \xi'_m - c_1 \xi_1 - \cdots - c_{m-1} \xi_{m-1}$$

lies in T, and the coefficient of ξ_m is $\langle b_m$ and ≥ 0 . This coefficient must therefore be 0, and ξ' lies in Γ_0 . From this our result is clear.

Remark. It is sometimes useful to consider subgroups of finite index in the unit group. They may arise in the following way. Let M be an additive subgroup of the algebraic integers \mathfrak{o} , of finite index. An equivalent condition is that M has rank $[k:\mathbf{Q}]$. Let u be a unit in \mathfrak{o} . The map

 $x \mapsto ux$

is an additive automorphism of o, which maps M on an additive subgroup uM. We have isomorphisms of factor groups,

$$\mathfrak{o}/M \approx \mathfrak{o}/uM$$
,

and hence the same index,

$$(\mathfrak{o}:M)=(\mathfrak{o}:uM).$$

If m = (o: M), then every element of o/M has period m, and hence

$$\mathfrak{o} \supset M \supset m\mathfrak{o}.$$

Since $\mathfrak{o}/m\mathfrak{o}$ is finite, we conclude that there is only a finite number of subgroups of \mathfrak{o} lying between \mathfrak{o} and $m\mathfrak{o}$. The unit group U is represented in the finite group of permutations of such subgroups of \mathfrak{o} . We conclude that the subgroup U_M consisting of all units $u \in U$ such that uM = Mis a subgroup of finite index in U.

Let

$$r = r_1 + r_2 - 1$$

[V, §1]

109

If $\alpha \in k$, we let $\alpha^{(j)}$ be the *j*-th conjugate of α for $j = 1, \ldots, r_1 + r_2$. Let

$$\{u_1,\ldots,u_r\}$$

be a set of generators for the ordinary unit group U, modulo roots of unity. The absolute value of the determinant

$$\begin{vmatrix} N_1 \log |u_1^{(1)}| & \cdots & N_1 \log |u_r^{(1)}| \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ N_r \log |u_1^{(r)}| & \cdots & N_r \log |u_r^{(r)}| \end{vmatrix}$$

is independent of the choice of our generators u_1, \ldots, u_r and is called the **regulator** $R_k = R$ of the field k. Since the log vectors of the units are linearly independent, it follows that the regulator is not 0. We note that this regulator, like all determinants, can be interpreted as a volume of a parallelotope in r-space. The regulator occasionally occurs in the form

$$\pm 2^{-r_2} NR = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & \log |u_1^{(1)}| & \cdots & \log |u_r^{(1)}| \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 1 & \log |u_1^{(r+1)}| & \cdots & \log |u_r^{(r+1)}| \end{vmatrix}$$

To see this, we multiply the *i*-th row of the determinant on the right by N_i , and add the sum of the first r rows to the last row. Then we get N in the lower left-hand corner, 0 in the rest of the last row, and our assertion is obvious.

The reason for the regulator appearing in the second form is as follows. Let

$$G = \mathbf{R}^+ \times \cdots \times \mathbf{R}^+$$

be the direct product of $r_1 + r_2$ copies of the multiplicative group of positive reals. Map each unit u into G by

$$u\mapsto (|u^{(1)}|,\ldots,|u^{(r+1)}|).$$

This is a homomorphism of U into G, whose kernel consists of the roots of unity. Let V be the image of U in G. Then V is contained in G^0 , the subgroup consisting of all elements

$$y = (y_1, \dots, y_{r+1})$$

 $y = \prod_{i=1}^{r+1} y_i^{N_i} = 1.$

such that

Let u_1, \ldots, u_r be a set of independent generators for U modulo roots of unity, and let η_1, \ldots, η_r be their respective images in G. Then we have

an isomorphism

$$g: \mathbf{R}^+ \times \mathbf{R}^r \to G$$

given by

$$g(t,z) = t^{1/N} \eta_1^{z_1} \cdots \eta_r^{z_r},$$

and the Jacobian matrix of this mapping is

$$\operatorname{Jac}_{g}(t,z) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{Nt} & \log \eta_{11} & \cdots & \log \eta_{r1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \frac{1}{Nt} & \log \eta_{1,r+1} & \cdots & \log \eta_{r,r+1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence the Jacobian determinant is

$$\Delta_g(t, z) = \frac{1}{Nt} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & \log |u_1^{(1)}| & \cdots & \log |u_r^{(1)}| \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 1 & \log |u_1^{(r+1)}| & \cdots & \log |u_r^{(r+1)}| \end{vmatrix}$$

from which we see the determinant as indicated above.

Observe that our map g gives us a natural parametrization of G^0 in terms of a Euclidean space \mathbf{R}^r .

§2. Lattice points in parallelotopes

In this section, we shall give a refinement of Theorem 0.

Theorem 1. Let k be a number field, $[k:\mathbf{Q}] = N$. Let B_k be the constant

$$B_k = \frac{2^{r_1} (2\pi)^{r_2}}{|D_k|^{1/2}} \cdot$$

Then, for c ranging over M_k -divisors, the number $\lambda(c)$ of elements of L(c) is given by

$$\lambda(\mathbf{c}) = B_k \|\mathbf{c}\|_k + O(\|\mathbf{c}\|_k^{1-1/N}), \qquad \|\mathbf{c}\|_k \to \infty.$$

In other words, there exist constants b_1 , $b_2 > 0$ depending only on k such that for $\|c\|_k > b_2$ we have

$$|\lambda(\mathbf{c}) - B_k ||\mathbf{c}||_k| \leq b_1(||\mathbf{c}||_k^{1-1/N}).$$

Proof. We shall first make some remarks concerning M_k -divisors. Given an M_k -divisor c, there exists a fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} of \mathfrak{o}_k such that $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$ if and only if

$$|\alpha|_{\mathfrak{p}} \leq \mathfrak{c}(v_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

for all primes \mathfrak{p} of \mathfrak{o}_k . This follows at once from the definitions. Thus $L(\mathfrak{c})$ consists of those elements of \mathfrak{a} which satisfy certain inequalities at the archimedean absolute values. We call \mathfrak{a} the fractional ideal associated with \mathfrak{c} .

Given $\beta \in k^*$, we have $\lambda(\beta c) = \lambda(c)$. Hence to compute $\lambda(c)$, we may change c by an element of k^* .

We know that the group of ideal classes of o_k is a finite group. Let a_1, \ldots, a_k be ideal representatives of the elements of this group. Multiplying c by a suitable element of k^* , we may assume that the fractional ideal a associated with c is equal to one of the a_i .

Let c be an M_k -divisor, and a its associated fractional ideal. Then

$$\|\mathfrak{c}\|_k = rac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}} \prod_{v \in S_\infty} \mathfrak{c}_v^{N_v}$$

where we write c_v instead of c(v) to simplify the notation.

Lemma 1. Assume that the associated fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} is equal to one of the fixed representatives \mathfrak{a}_i . There exists a unit u of \mathfrak{o}_k such that we have, for all $v \in S_{\infty}$,

$$c_1(k) \|\mathbf{c}\|_k^{1/N} \leq \|u\mathbf{c}\|_v \leq c_2(k) \|\mathbf{c}\|_k^{1/N},$$

where $c_1(k)$, $c_2(k)$ are two constants > 0, depending only on k.

Proof. Let $V = \|\mathbf{c}\|_k$ and let $\mathbf{c}'_v = \mathbf{c}_v(V\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a})^{-1/N}$ for all $v \in S_{\infty}$. Then

$$\prod_{v\in S_{\infty}}\mathfrak{c}_{v}^{\prime N_{v}}=1.$$

Consider now the log vector

$$\log(\mathfrak{c}') = (\ldots, \log \|\mathfrak{c}'_v\|_{v}, \ldots)_{v \in S_{\infty}}.$$

Since the log vectors of units form a lattice of maximal rank in the hyperplane of vectors such that the sum of the components is 0, it follows that there exists a unit u such that

$$\left|\log(\mathfrak{c}') - \log(u^{-1})\right| < c_3(k)$$

for some constant $c_3(k)$. The absolute value is the ordinary norm of a vector in Euclidean space. From this we conclude that $\log(uc')$ is a vector of bounded length, i.e. that there exist constants $c_4, c_5 > 0$ such that

$$c_4 \leq |u\mathfrak{c}'_v|_v \leq c_5$$

for all $v \in S_{\infty}$. We get the assertion of the lemma by substituting the definition of c'_v .

111

[V, §2]

We let

$$A_k(\infty) = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} k_v.$$

We can identify this product with \mathbb{R}^N , because we have a product of r_1 copies of the real numbers, and r_2 copies of the complex numbers. If v is complex, we fix an isomorphism of k_v with C. (We have a choice of two such isomorphisms.)

Each nonzero ideal of o_k is a lattice of rank N in this Euclidean space, if we view o_k as embedded in the natural way on the diagonal. The inequalities imposed by our M_k -divisor at absolute values $v \in S_{\infty}$ can be viewed as determining a region in this Euclidean space, and our problem has therefore been reduced to the following.

Given a lattice L of rank N in Euclidean N-space, show that under certain circumstances, the number of lattice points in a parallelotope is approximately equal to the volume of the parallelotope. This is precisely what we shall do.

Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_N be linearly independent vectors in \mathbb{R}^N . The abelian group generated by them is a lattice. By definition, a **fundamental domain** for the lattice is any (measurable) set such that every vector of \mathbb{R}^N is congruent to exactly one vector in the set modulo the lattice. For fundamental domain, we shall always select the set F of points

$$t_1\xi_1+\cdots+t_N\xi_N$$

with $0 \leq t_i < 1$.

If c is an M_k -divisor, we denote by P_c the set of vectors x in

$$\prod_{v\in S_{\infty}}k_v=\mathbf{R}^N$$

such that

$$|x|_v \leq c_v \quad \text{for all } v \in S_{\alpha}$$

and call P_{c} the **parallelotope** determined by c (at infinity).

Let n(c) be the number of translations F_x of F which are contained in P_c for some $x \in L$.

Let m(c) be the number of translations F_x of F which intersect P_c for some $x \in L$.

Let l(c) be the number of lattice points in the parallelotope P_c . Then clearly

$$n(c) \operatorname{Vol}(F) \leq \operatorname{Vol}(P_c) \leq m(c) \operatorname{Vol}(F)$$

where Vol means volume in Euclidean space.

[V, §2]

[V, §2]

The only lattice point in F_x is x itself. Thus

$$n(\mathbf{c}) \leq l(\mathbf{c}) \leq m(\mathbf{c})$$

We shall now prove a theorem concerning any lattice in \mathbf{R}^{N} .

Theorem 2. Let c range over M_k -divisors such that for all $v \in S_{\infty}$ we have

 $c_6 \operatorname{Vol}(P_c)^{1/N} \leq c_v \leq c_7 \operatorname{Vol}(P_c)^{1/N},$

with constants c_6 , $c_7 > 0$. Let L be a fixed lattice in \mathbb{R}^N . Then, whenever $\operatorname{Vol}(P_c) > c'$, we have

$$l(\mathfrak{c}) = \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(P_{\mathfrak{c}})}{\operatorname{Vol}(F)} \pm c^{\prime\prime} \operatorname{Vol}(P_{\mathfrak{c}})^{1-1/N},$$

with constants c', c'' depending only on c_6 , c_7 , and L.

Proof. It suffices to prove that m(c) - n(c) is bounded by a term of order of magnitude $B^{1-1/N}$ if we set $B = Vol(P_c)$.

If a translation F_x of our fundamental domain by an element x in L is not contained in P_c but intersects P_c , then it intersects the boundary of P_c . (Namely, the line segment between a point in $F_x \cap P_c$ and a point in F_x but not in P_c is contained in the convex set F_x and crosses the boundary of P_c .) We can write

$$P_{\mathfrak{c}} = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} D_{v},$$

where D_v is the closed interval or the closed disc of radius c_v , according as v is real or complex. Then the boundary of D_v consists of two points or a circle, and

$$\partial P_{\mathfrak{c}} = \bigcup_{v_0 \in S_{\infty}} \Big[\partial D_{v_0} \times \prod_{v \neq v_0} D_v \Big] \cdot$$

The dimension of the boundary is therefore N-1. It will now suffice to give an upper bound of the desired kind for the number of translations F_x which intersect each

$$\partial D_{v_0} \times \prod_{v \neq v_0} D_v$$

because there are at most N such terms in the union. This will be done by parametrizing the boundary by a map having suitable partial derivatives. We recall that if φ is a differentiable map with derivative φ' , then for any two vectors y, z we have

$$|\varphi(y) - \varphi(z)| \leq |\varphi'| |y - z|,$$

where | | is Euclidean norm, and $|\varphi'|$ is the maximum of the norm of the derivative of φ on the segment between y and z. (This is the mean value theorem.)

We parametrize P_{c} by a map

$$\varphi: I^N \to P_c$$

sending the N-cube with sides of length equal to 1 onto P_c as follows. If v is real, we map

$$t \mapsto 2\mathfrak{c}_v(t-\frac{1}{2}), \qquad 0 \le t \le 1$$

and if v is complex, we use polar coordinates, and map

$$(u, \theta) \mapsto (\mathfrak{c}_v u, 2\pi\theta), \qquad \begin{array}{l} 0 \leq u \leq 1\\ 0 \leq \theta \leq 1. \end{array}$$

Each partial derivative of φ is then bounded by c_v times a constant (2 or 2π), and hence there is a constant c_8 (= $2\pi Nc_7$) such that $|\varphi'| \leq c_8 B^{1/N}$.

The boundary of P_c is then parametrized by the (N-1)-cube I^{N-1} . If we cut each side of I^{N-1} into $[B^{1/N}]$ segments of equal length, we get a decomposition of I^{N-1} into

 $[B^{1/N}]^{N-1}$

small cubes, of diameter $\leq (N-1)^{1/2}/[B^{1/N}]$. The image of such a small cube under φ has diameter

$$\leq \frac{(N-1)^{1/2}}{[B^{1/N}]} c_8 B^{1/N} \\ \leq c_9.$$

The number of translations F_x ($x \in L$) which meet a region of diameter $\leq c_9$ is bounded by a constant c_{10} depending only on c_9 and the diameter of F. Thus the image of a small cube under φ meets at most c_{10} translates F_x of F by lattice points. Since we have $[B^{(N-1)/N}]$ small cubes, we see that $\varphi(I^{N-1})$ meets at most $c_{10}[B^{(N-1)/N}]$ translates of F. The boundary of P_c consists of at most N pieces, each of which can be parametrized as indicated. This proves our theorem.

[V, §2]

The next lemma determines the volume of the fundamental domain of an ideal \mathfrak{a} of \mathfrak{o}_k viewed as a lattice in Euclidean space

$$\mathbf{R}^N = \prod_{v \in S_\infty} k_v.$$

Lemma 2. Let a be an ideal of the ring of integers of k, and let F be a fundamental domain of a, as lattice in \mathbb{R}^N . Then

$$\operatorname{Vol}(F) = 2^{-r_2} |D_{k/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a})|^{1/2} = 2^{-r_2} \operatorname{Na}\sqrt{|D_k|}.$$

Proof. The ideal \mathfrak{a} has a basis $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N$ over \mathbb{Z} .

Let $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{r_1}$ be the real embeddings of k. Let $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{r_2}$ and their conjugates be the complex ones. Each α in k maps on the vector

 $(\sigma_1\alpha,\ldots,\sigma_{r_1}\alpha,\tau_1\alpha,\ldots,\tau_{r_2}\alpha).$

Let us write

$$\tau_j \alpha = x_j + \sqrt{-1} y_j,$$

where (x_j, y_j) are real coordinates in the complex numbers C. Thus

$$au_j lpha_
u = x_{j
u} + \sqrt{-1} y_{j
u}, \qquad
u = 1, \dots, N_u$$

The discriminant of \mathfrak{a} as a module over Z is the square of the determinant

$$\begin{vmatrix} \sigma_{1}\alpha_{1} & \dots & \sigma_{1}\alpha_{N} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ x_{11} + iy_{11} & \dots & x_{1N} + iy_{1N} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ x_{11} - iy_{11} & \dots & x_{1N} - iy_{1N} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \end{vmatrix} r_{2}$$

Adding the last set of r_2 rows to the middle rows, and then subtracting again, we see that this determinant, up to a sign, is equal to

$$2^{r_2} \begin{array}{cccc} \sigma_1 \alpha_1 & \dots & \sigma_1 \alpha_N \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ x_{11} & \dots & x_{1N} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ y_{11} & \dots & y_{1N} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \end{array}$$

and the determinant obtained here is the determinant of a set of basis vectors for \mathfrak{a} as a lattice in \mathbf{R}^N having all their components in the direction

of the canonical unit vectors of \mathbf{R}^{N} . Thus we obtain

$$\sqrt{|D_{k/\mathbf{Q}}(\mathfrak{a})|} = 2^{r_2} \operatorname{Vol}(F)$$

as desired.

We can finally show how Theorem 2 implies Theorem 1. We had seen that we could assume our M_k -divisor such that the condition of Theorem 2 was satisfied, and also such that its associated ideal \mathfrak{a} is one of a finite number of representatives of the ideal classes.

For any M_k -divisor c, we find

$$\operatorname{Vol}(P_{\mathfrak{c}}) = \prod_{v \text{ real}} (2\mathfrak{c}_{v}) \prod_{v \text{ complex}} (\pi\mathfrak{c}_{v}^{2}) = 2^{r_{1}}\pi^{r_{2}} \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} \mathfrak{c}_{v}^{N_{v}}$$
$$\operatorname{Vol}(F) = 2^{-r_{2}} \operatorname{Na}\sqrt{|D_{k}|}$$

whence

$$\frac{\operatorname{Vol}(P_{\mathfrak{c}})}{\operatorname{Vol}(F)} = \frac{2^{r_1}(2\pi)^{r_2}}{|D_k|^{1/2}} \, \|\mathfrak{c}\|_k$$

thereby proving Theorem 1.

§3. A volume computation

We begin with some remarks on convex bodies in Euclidean space \mathbf{R}^{N} . We let μ be the ordinary measure in \mathbf{R}^{N} .

A subset C of \mathbf{R}^N is said to be **convex** if, whenever x, y are points of C, then

$$tx + (1-t)y, \qquad 0 \le t \le 1$$

also lies in C (in other words, the line segment between x and y lies in C). We say that C is **symmetric** (with respect to the origin) if $x \in C$ implies

$$-x \in C$$
.

Theorem 3. Let L be a lattice of dimension N in \mathbb{R}^N , and let C be a closed, convex, symmetric subset of \mathbb{R}^N . If

$$\mu(C) \geq 2^N \mu(F),$$

where F is a fundamental domain for L, then there exists a lattice point $\neq 0$ in C.

Proof. We shall first prove the theorem under the assumption $\mu(C) > 2^{N}\mu(F)$.

Under this assumption, we contend that there exist two distinct elements in $\frac{1}{2}C$ whose difference is in L. Indeed, if not we have

$$\frac{1}{2}C = \bigcup_{x \in L} \left(\frac{1}{2}C \cap F_x \right) \qquad \text{(disjoint)}$$

[V, §3]

and

$$\mu(\frac{1}{2}C) = \sum_{x \in L} \mu(\frac{1}{2}C \cap F_x)$$
$$= \sum_{x \in L} \mu((\frac{1}{2}C)_{-x} \cap F).$$

But $\mu(\frac{1}{2}C) = 1/2^N \cdot \mu(C)$. Hence the sets $(\frac{1}{2}C)_{-x} \cap F$ cannot be disjoint (otherwise the assumption on the measure of F would be contradicted). This means that there exist two vectors $y_1, y_2 \in C$ such that

$$\frac{1}{2}y_1 + x_1 = \frac{1}{2}y_2 + x_2$$

with suitable x_1, x_2 in L, and $x_1 \neq x_2$. This proves our contention.

This gives $\frac{1}{2}(y_1 - y_2) \in L$. But $y_2 \in C$ implies $-y_2 \in C$, and so $\frac{1}{2}(y_1 - y_2)$ lies in C by convexity, as desired.

Suppose that $\mu(C) \geq 2^N \mu(F)$. For every $\epsilon > 0$,

$$\mu((1+\epsilon)C) > \mu(C) \geq 2^N \mu(F),$$

and hence there is a lattice point in $(1 + \epsilon)C$. Letting ϵ tend to 0 shows that one of these lattice points must be in C.

Our next task is to compute a volume.

Lemma 3. Let

$$\mathbf{R}^N = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} k_v,$$

where k_v ranges over the reals taken r_1 times, the complex r_2 times, and $N = r_1 + 2r_2$. For each number a > 0, let A be the convex region determined by the inequality

$$\sum_{v \in S_{\infty}} N_v |z_v| \leq a$$

and denote its volume by $V_{r_1,r_2}(a)$. Then

$$V_{r_1,r_2}(a) = 2^{r_1} 4^{-r_2} (2\pi)^{r_2} \frac{1}{N!} a^N.$$

Proof. To begin with, it is clear that

$$V_{r_1,r_2}(a) = a^N V_{r_1,r_2}(1),$$

because

$$\sum_{v \in S_{\infty}} N_{v} |z_{v}| = |z_{1}| + \dots + |z_{r_{1}}| + |z_{r_{1}+1}| + |\bar{z}_{r_{1}+1}| + \dots + |z_{r_{1}+r_{2}}| + |\bar{z}_{r_{1}+r_{2}}|.$$

The complex variables $z_{r_1+1}, \ldots, z_{r_1+r_2}$ will now be replaced by polar coordinates.

We wish to find $V_{r_1,r_2}(1)$. Use polar coordinates (u_j,θ_j) with $0 \leq \theta_j \leq 2\pi$ and $0 \leq u_j$ to describe z_j . We have

$$V_{r_1r_2}(1) = \int u_{r_1+1} \cdots u_{r_1+r_2} du_1 \cdots du_{r_1} du_{r_1+1} \cdots du_{r_1+r_2} d\theta_{r_1+1} \cdots d\theta_{r_1+r_2},$$

the integral being taken over the region

$$|u_1| + \cdots + |u_{r_1}| + 2u_{r_1+1} + \cdots + 2u_{r_1+r_2} \leq 1.$$

Restricting the region of integration so that $u_i \ge 0$ for all *i* multiplies the integral by 2^{r_1} .

We make the change of variables $2u_j = w_j$, $2du_j = dw_j$ for $r_1 + 1 \leq j \leq r_1 + r_2$. The integral becomes

$$2^{r_1}4^{-r_2}(2\pi)^{r_2}W_{r_1,r_2}(1),$$

where

$$W_{r_1,r_2}(b) = \int u_{r_1+1} \cdots u_{r_1+r_2} \, du_1 \cdots du_{r_1+r_2},$$

the integral taken over the region $u_i \ge 0$ for all *i*, and

$$u_1+\cdots+u_{r_1+r_2}\leq b.$$

 \mathbf{But}

$$W_{r_1,r_2}(b) = b^N W_{r_1,r_2}(1).$$

We can split off the integral over du_1 between 0 and 1, and write the integral

$$W_{r_1,r_2}(1) = \int_0^1 W_{r_1-1,r_2}(1-u_1) \, du_1$$
$$= \frac{1}{N} W_{r_1-1,r_2}(1),$$

performing a trivial integration on u_1 and using the homogeneity. By induction, we get rid of the first set of variables and get

$$W_{r_1,r_2}(1) = \frac{1}{N(N-1)\cdots(N-r_1+1)} W_{0,r_2}(1).$$

In a similar way, we get

$$W_{0,r_2}(1) = \int_0^1 t_1(1-t_1)^{2r_2-2} dt_1 W_{0,r_2-1}(1),$$

which, after performing the integration and using induction, is

$$= \frac{1}{(2r_2)!} W_{0,0}(1) = \frac{1}{(2r_2)!}$$
$$W_{r_1,r_2}(1) = \frac{1}{N!}$$

This yields

whence the desired value for V_{r_1,r_2} drops out.

§4. Minkowski's constant

Let k be of degree N over Q and let a be an ideal of the integers o_k , viewed as a lattice in \mathbb{R}^N . We select the number a in Lemma 3 such that the region of that lemma has volume at least equal to 2^N times the volume of a fundamental domain for a. We denote by d_k the absolute value of the discriminant D_k . Then the value of a such that

$$a^N = N! 4^{r_2} \pi^{-r_2} \operatorname{Na} d_k^{1/2}$$

will achieve our purpose, in view of Lemma 2, §2. By Theorem 3 there exists a lattice point in the region of Lemma 3. This means that there exists an element $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$, $\alpha \neq 0$ such that

$$|\sigma_1 \alpha| + \cdots + |\sigma_N \alpha| \leq a.$$

The geometric mean being bounded by the arithmetic mean, we get

$$|N_{\mathbf{Q}}^{k}(\alpha)|^{1/N} \leq \frac{|\sigma_{1}\alpha| + \cdots + |\sigma_{N}\alpha|}{N}$$

whence

$$|N_{\mathbf{Q}}^{k}(\alpha)| \leq \frac{a^{N}}{N^{N}} = \frac{N!}{N^{N}} 4^{r_{2}} \pi^{-r_{2}} \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{a} d_{k}^{1/2}.$$

We have a factorization of ideals,

$$(\alpha) = \mathfrak{ab},$$

where b is an ideal. Hence

$$|N_{\mathbf{Q}}^{k}(\alpha)| = \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}.$$

Canceling Na, we have:

Theorem 4. In any ideal class, there exists an ideal b such that

$$\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b} \leq C_k d_k^{1/2},$$

where C_k is the Minkowski constant:

$$C_k = \frac{N!}{N^N} \left(\frac{4}{\pi}\right)^{r_2} \cdot$$

Corollary. The absolute value of the discriminant d_k is > 1. There is at least one prime ramified in k.

Proof. We have $N\mathfrak{b} \geq 1$ whence

$$d_k \ge \left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)^{2r_2} \frac{N^{2N}}{(N!)^2} \ge \left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)^N \frac{N^{2N}}{(N!)^2}$$

If N = 2, then we obtain at once $d > \frac{9}{4} > 1$. Our assertion will be proved if we show that the sequence of numbers

$$\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)^N \frac{N^{2N}}{(N)!^2}$$

is monotone increasing. Taking the ratio of two successive numbers, a trivial computation proves what we want.

I copied the following table of values for the Minkowski constant in a course of Artin around 1950.

N	r_1	r_2	$\left(\frac{4}{\pi}\right)^{r_2}\frac{N!}{N^N}$
2	0	1	0.63661
	2	0	0.5
3	1	1	0.28299
	3	0	0.22222
4	0	2	0.15198
	2	1	0.11937
	4	0	0.09375
5	1	2	0.06225
	3	1	0.04889
	5	0	0.0384

[V, §4]

For large N, we see that $d_k \ge (1/N)(\pi e^2/4)^N$.

We conclude by an example of which Artin was very fond. Consider the equation $f(X) = X^5 - X + 1$. The discriminant Δ of a root of $X^5 + aX + b$ is $5^5b^4 + 2^8a^5$. In this special case,

$$\Delta = 2869 = 19 \cdot 151.$$

Each prime factor occurs to the first power.

Let α be a root of f(X) and $k = \mathbf{Q}(\alpha)$. Then α is integral over \mathbf{Z} . Since f(X) is irreducible mod 5, it is irreducible over \mathbf{Z} (or \mathbf{Q}) and k is of degree 5 over \mathbf{Q} . The discriminant of $\mathbf{Z}[\alpha]$ as a module over \mathbf{Z} has no square factors. Hence it must be equal to $D(\mathfrak{o}_k)$, because it differs from $D(\mathfrak{o}_k)$ by a square. Hence $\mathbf{Z}[\alpha] = \mathfrak{o}_k$ by Proposition 10 of Chapter III, §3.

It is not difficult to show that the Galois group of the polynomial is the full symmetric group. Hence the splitting field K has degree 120 over \mathbf{Q} .

By the Minkowski theorem, every ideal class has an ideal b such that Nb < 4 (using the value for the Minkowski constant in the table and trivial estimates). Since Nb is an integer, it is either 1, 2, or 3. If $Nb \neq 1$, the only possibility is that b is a prime ideal p with Np = 2 or 3. This would mean that the residue class field o_k/p has degree 1 over Z/pZ and hence that f has a root mod 2 or mod 3. This is impossible (direct computation), and hence the only possibility is that Nb = 1. But then b = (1) and (oh miracle!) every ideal is principal. The ring of integers is a principal ideal ring.

As Artin noticed, it can be shown that the splitting field K is unramified over the extension $\mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{\Delta}) = \mathbf{Q}(\sqrt{19 \cdot 151})$.

Artin's example also gives an example of an unramified extension whose Galois group is the icosahedral group. As he once pointed out, given any Galois extension K of a number field k, with group G, there exist infinitely many finite extensions E of k such that $K \cap E = k$ and KE is unramified over E. To obtain such E, it suffices to construct an extension which absorbs locally all the ramification of K (this puts a finite number of conditions on E, which can be realized by the approximation theorem), and one must insure that $E \cap K = k$. To do this, one can for instance use the existence of primes and density theorems proved in a later chapter. We leave it as an exercise.

As a final application of the Minkowski theorem, we shall prove:

Theorem 5. If k is a number field, denote by N_k and d_k the degree $[k:\mathbf{Q}]$ and absolute value of the discriminant respectively. Then the quotient $N_k/\log d_k$ is bounded for all $k \neq \mathbf{Q}$. Furthermore, there exists only a finite number of fields k having a given value of the discriminant.

Proof. The first assertion follows from a trivial computation involving the inequality of the Corollary to Theorem 4, and the standard estimate

from Stirling's formula

$$N! = N^{N} e^{-N} \sqrt{2\pi N} e^{\theta/12N} , \qquad 0 < \theta < 1.$$

We leave it to the reader. This shows that the degree is bounded when the discriminant is bounded. Hence to prove the second assertion, we must show that there is only a finite number of number fields k having given degree N and given absolute value of the discriminant d.

Consider Euclidean N-space

$$\mathbf{R}^N = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} k_v.$$

Suppose that there is at least one complex absolute value v_0 . Consider the domain defined by the inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} |z_{v_0} - \bar{z}_{v_0}| &\leq C_1 d^{1/2} \\ |z_{v_0} + \bar{z}_{v_0}| &< \frac{1}{2} \\ & |z_v| &< \frac{1}{2}, \qquad v \neq v_0, \end{aligned}$$

where C_1 is a large constant, depending on N. Here we denote by z_v an element of k_v identified with C or R as the case may be.

Then our domain is convex and symmetric with respect to the origin. Consequently it must contain an element $\alpha \neq 0$ in \mathfrak{o}_k . Since the norm of α has absolute value ≥ 1 (being a non-zero rational integer), it follows from the first inequality that the absolute value of the imaginary part of α is greater than 1. Hence the two conjugates of α corresponding to v_0 are distinct. Furthermore, α is distinct from any other conjugate, since already its absolute value at v_0 is distinct from its absolute value at $v \neq v_0$. Hence α is a generator for k over **Q**. Its equation over **Z** has coefficients which are elementary symmetric functions of α and its conjugates, and are therefore bounded as a function of d and N. Hence such α can satisfy only a finite number of equations over **Z**, thereby proving our theorem if there is a complex v_0 . If all absolute values are real, the proof is even easier, since we can replace the first pair of conditions simply by $|z_{v_0}| \leq C_1 d^{1/2}$ and argue in the same way.

Corollary (Hermite's Theorem). Let S be a finite set of primes. There is only a finite number of fields k of bounded degree over \mathbf{Q} , and unramified outside S.

Proof. For each prime $p \in S$ there is only a finite number of extensions of \mathbf{Q}_p of bounded degree, and for such extensions, the discriminants are bounded. This immediately implies a bound for the global discriminants, and we can apply the previous result to conclude the proof.

CHAPTER VI The Ideal Function

§1. Generalized ideal classes

Let k be a number field, and let I denote the multiplicative group of non-zero fractional ideals. Let P be the subset of principal ideals. If a, b are fractional ideals (which we say from now on, instead of non-zero ideals, unless otherwise specified), then we write $a \sim b$ (a is equivalent to b) if there exists $\alpha \in k^*$ such that $a = (\alpha)b$, i.e. ab^{-1} is a principal fractional ideal. Then the equivalence classes of fractional ideals form a finite group (as we saw in Chapter V, §1), which we call the **ideal class group**. Its order is usually denoted by h, and is called the **class number** of k.

We shall now refine the notion of ideal class group. By a cycle (of k) we shall mean a formal product

$$\mathfrak{c} = \prod_{v \in M_k} v^{m(v)},$$

where v ranges over the normalized absolute values of k (inducing the ordinary absolute value or a p-adic absolute value on \mathbf{Q}), with exponents m(v) which are integers ≥ 0 , and such that m(v) = 0 for all but a finite number of v. Thus we are interested in assigning a multiplicity ≥ 0 to each absolute value. Actually, we shall not care about the complex v, and if v is real, then we only care whether m(v) = 0 or m(v) > 0. Thus for our purposes, we could take m(v) = 0 or 1 in case v is real, and leave out the complex v altogether.

From a notational point of view, the literature extends the notation \mathfrak{p} to apply to the archimedean absolute values in M_k , and also to say that such v are "primes", or "primes at infinity".

We shall avoid this, and reserve \mathfrak{p} to denote (non-zero) prime ideals of \mathfrak{o} . If $v = v_{\mathfrak{p}}$ for some prime \mathfrak{p} , we do however also write $m(\mathfrak{p})$ instead of m(v). We write $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}$ or $v|\mathfrak{c}$ if $m(\mathfrak{p})$ [or m(v)] is > 0, and we also say in that case that v (or \mathfrak{p}) divides \mathfrak{c} . We call m(v) the **multiplicity** of v in \mathfrak{c} . We let

$$c_p = p^{m(p)}$$
 or $c_v = v^{m(v)}$

denote the local v-component of c, if p corresponds to v.

We denote by c_0 the product

$$\mathfrak{c}_0 = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \neq v_\infty} \mathfrak{p}^{m(\mathfrak{p})}$$

taken over all prime ideals p, and call it the finite part of c.

We let I(c), or I(k, c), or $I_k(c)$, denote the set of fractional ideals relatively prime to c_0 (or as we shall also say, prime to c). Thus I(c) is the set of fractional ideals not divisible by any prime ideal \mathfrak{p} having a multiplicity > 0 in c.

Next, we introduce a subgroup of k^* as follows. If $\alpha \in k^*$, we define

$$\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\ast \mathfrak{c}}$$

to mean that α satisfies the following two conditions:

(i) If p is a prime ideal with multiplicity m(p) > 0, then α lies in the local ring o_p, and

$$\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{m}(\mathfrak{p})}},$$

where $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the maximal ideal of $\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Symbolically, we also write this congruence in the form

$$\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{p}}}.$$

(ii) If v is a real absolute value in M_k having multiplicity m(v) > 0 in c, and σ_v is the corresponding embedding of k in **R**, then

$$\sigma_v\alpha>0.$$

It is clear that those elements of k^* satisfying (i) and (ii) form a group, and we denote this group by k_c . We observe that elements of k_c are necessarily p-units if p is a prime dividing c. [As a matter of notation, we write X(c) to denote the subset of X consisting of those elements prime to c, and X_c to denote the subset of X consisting of those elements satisfying the congruence relations (i) and (ii).]

We denote by P_c the subgroup of P consisting of those principal fractional ideals (α) with $\alpha \in k_c$. Then it is clear that P_c is a subgroup of I(c). The factor group $I(c)/P_c$ will be called the group of c-ideal classes. We shall see in a moment that it is finite, and has the ordinary group of ideal classes as factor group. If c = 1, we agree to the convention that I(1) = Iis the group of fractional ideals, and $P_1 = P$.

First, we observe that every ideal class in I/P has a representative in $I(\mathfrak{c})$, i.e. has a representative ideal prime to \mathfrak{c} . To see this, let \mathfrak{a} be an (integral) ideal in a given class mod P. If $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{a} = r(\mathfrak{p})$ for a prime ideal $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}$, we solve the congruences

$$\alpha \equiv \pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{r(\mathfrak{p})} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^{r(\mathfrak{p})+1}}$$

125

for $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}$, using the Chinese remainder theorem. We use the notation $\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ for an element of order 1 at \mathfrak{p} . Then $\mathfrak{a}(\alpha^{-1})$ is prime to \mathfrak{c} . Again using the Chinese remainder theorem, we can multiply $\mathfrak{a}(\alpha^{-1})$ by a suitable algebraic integer in k, prime to \mathfrak{c} , to make it an ideal (i.e. not fractional). Thus the inclusions

$$\begin{array}{ccc} I(\mathfrak{c}) & \to I \\ & | & | \\ P \cap I(\mathfrak{c}) \to P \end{array} \end{array}$$

induce an isomorphism of factor groups

(1)
$$I(\mathfrak{c})/P(\mathfrak{c}) \approx I/P$$
,

where P(c) denotes the group of principal fractional ideals prime to c, so that

$$P(\mathfrak{c}) = P \cap I(\mathfrak{c}).$$

We note that P(c) contains P_c , and we have the tower of subgroups

$$I(\mathfrak{c})\supset P(\mathfrak{c})\supset P_{\mathfrak{c}}.$$

We therefore have a surjective homomorphism

$$I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}} \to I(\mathfrak{c})/P(\mathfrak{c}) \approx I/P.$$

Its kernel is $P(c)/P_c$, which we shall now analyze.

We have the surjective homomorphism $k^* \to P$, which to each $\alpha \in k^*$ associates the principal fractional ideal (α). Its kernel is the group of units U. Similarly, if k(c) denotes the subgroup of k^* consisting of those elements whose ideal is prime to c, then we have a surjective homomorphism

given by

$$\alpha \mapsto (\alpha).$$

 $k(\mathbf{c}) \rightarrow P(\mathbf{c})$

The inverse image of P_c is precisely the subgroup Uk_c , where U denotes the group of units of k, thus giving rise to the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} k(\mathbf{c}) \to P(\mathbf{c}) \\ | & | \\ Uk_{\mathbf{c}} \to P_{\mathbf{c}} \end{array}$$

and the isomorphism

(2)
$$k(c)/Uk_c \approx P(c)/P_c$$
.

Let \mathbf{R}^+ denote the multiplicative group of real numbers > 0. If v is a real absolute value, then $k_v^+ = \mathbf{R}^+$, and $k_v^*/k_v^+ \approx \{1, -1\}$. For $\mathfrak{p}|_{c_0}$ let

 $m(\mathfrak{p})$ be its multiplicity. We consider the map

(3)
$$k(\mathfrak{c}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}_0} (\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{m}(\mathfrak{p})})^* \times \prod_{\substack{v|\mathfrak{c}\\v \, real}} k_v^*/k_v^+$$

which to each $\alpha \in k(\mathfrak{c})$ associates its residue class in the corresponding factor. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime ideal, then $(\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{m(\mathfrak{p})})^*$ is the group of units (invertible elements) in the residue class ring $\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{m(\mathfrak{p})}$. Using the approximation theorem, one sees at once that our map is surjective, and from the definitions, it follows directly that its kernel is precisely $k_{\mathfrak{c}}$. Thus we have a good description of the factor group $k(\mathfrak{c})/k_{\mathfrak{c}}$ as a direct product of local factors shown in (3).

As in the rational case, we define the Euler φ -function. We let

$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{c}_0) = \text{order of the group } (\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{m(\mathfrak{p})})^*$$

and

$$\varphi(\mathfrak{c}_0) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}_0} \varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{c}_0).$$

It is clear that

$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{c}_0) = (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p} - 1)\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{m(\mathfrak{p})-1}$$

We already see that $I(c)/P_c$ is finite, and the order of $k(c)/k_c$ is given in terms of the Euler function.

Finally, we have the tower

$$k(\mathfrak{c}) \supset Uk_{\mathfrak{c}} \supset k_{\mathfrak{c}},$$

and we look at the factor group

(4)
$$Uk_{\mathfrak{c}}/k_{\mathfrak{c}} \approx U/(U \cap k_{\mathfrak{c}}) = U/U_{\mathfrak{c}},$$

where U_c consists of those units $\equiv 1 \pmod{c}$. In the above manner we have unscrewed the group of c-ideal classes into various constituents, which in particular allow us to write down a formula for its order. For clarity, we write down the diagram of what we have done.

$$I(c) \rightarrow I$$

$$| \qquad |$$

$$k(c) \rightarrow P(c) \rightarrow P$$

$$| \qquad |$$

$$U \rightarrow Uk_{c} \rightarrow P_{c}$$

$$| \qquad |$$

$$U_{c} \rightarrow k_{c}$$

Two opposite vertical bars represent isomorphisms of factor groups. For each horizontal arrow, the group on the left is the inverse image of the group on the right under the corresponding homomorphism. **Theorem 1.** The group of c-ideal classes $I(c)/P_c$ is finite. If h is the class number of k, and h_c is the order of $I(c)/P_c$, and s(c) is the number of real v|c, then

$$h_{\mathsf{c}} = \frac{h\varphi(\mathsf{c}_0)2^{s(\mathsf{c})}}{(U:U_{\mathsf{c}})} \cdot$$

It is a reasonable convention to define

$$\varphi(\mathfrak{c}) = \varphi(\mathfrak{c}_0) 2^{\mathfrak{s}(\mathfrak{c})},$$

so as to include the archimedean v into the definition of the Euler function. Then we can write

$$h_{\mathfrak{c}} = rac{h arphi(\mathfrak{c})}{(U:U_{\mathfrak{c}})} \, \cdot$$

We note that U_{c} being of finite index in U, it has also

$$r=r_1+r_2-1$$

independent units, and the additive group of "log vectors" of elements of U_{c} is a lattice in \mathbf{R}^{r} .

If $\{\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_r\}$ are independent units generating U modulo roots of unity, and if $\{\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_r\}$ are independent units generating U_c modulo roots of unity, then the logs of these units respectively generate lattices in \mathbf{R}^r , denoted by log U and log U_c respectively. We can define the **c-regulator** R_c by

$$R_{\mathfrak{c}} = |\det(\log |\sigma_j \eta_i|^{N_j})|,$$

with $i = 1, \ldots, r$ and $j = 1, \ldots, r$. Just as the regulator R can be interpreted as the volume of a fundamental domain, so can we interpret R_{c} as the volume of a fundamental domain for log U_{c} in \mathbf{R}^{r} .

Example. We conclude this section by an example which is in some sense "typical". Let $k = \mathbf{Q}$. Each prime ideal is represented by a prime number p, and we let v_{∞} denote the real absolute value. Let m be an integer >1, representing an ideal (m), and let $c = mv_{\infty}$. Then $U_{mv_{\infty}}$ consists of 1 alone. The group I(c) consists of those ideals prime to m, and $\mathbf{Q}_{mv_{\infty}}$ consists of those positive rational numbers α such that

$$\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{m}.$$

Any class of $I(mv_{\infty})/P_{mv_{\infty}}$ can be represented by an arithmetic progression of positive integers prime to m. The generalized ideal class group is isomorphic to $(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^*$, namely the multiplicative group of integers prime to m, mod m. Thus we can view our generalized ideal classes as generalizations of arithmetic progressions in number fields. By a lattice in \mathbb{R}^N , we mean as usual a discrete subgroup of rank N. Let L be such a lattice, and let D be a subset of \mathbb{R}^N . We denote by ∂D the boundary of D (set of points in the closure of D, not lying in the interior). We let tD denote the set of points tx, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x \in D$. Then $\partial(tD) = t \partial D$. We are interested in an asymptotic formula for the number of points of L in tD. To get this, one has to make some assumption on the smoothness of the boundary, as follows. Let S be a subset of some euclidean space. A map

$$\varphi: S \to \mathbf{R}^N$$

is said to satisfy a Lipschitz condition if there exists a constant C such that for all $x, y \in S$ we have

$$|\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)| \leq C|x - y|.$$

Let I^k denote the unit cube in k-space, that is the set of points (x_1, \ldots, x_k) with $0 \leq x_i \leq 1$. A subset T of \mathbb{R}^N is said to be k-Lipschitz **parametrizable** if there exists a finite number of Lipschitz maps $\varphi_j: I^k \to T$ whose images cover T.

Let $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N$ be a basis for the lattice L over Z. The set F of all points

$$t_1\omega_1 + \cdots + t_N\omega_n, \qquad (0 \leq t_i < 1)$$

is a fundamental domain for L. Then the translations F_l of F by elements $l \in L$ cover \mathbb{R}^N and are disjoint. Every element of \mathbb{R}^N has a unique representative in F modulo L.

We let Vol denote volume in N-space.

Theorem 2. Let D be a subset of \mathbb{R}^N and L a lattice in \mathbb{R}^N , with fundamental domain F. Assume that the boundary of D is (N-1)-Lipschitz parametrizable. Let $\lambda(t) = \lambda(t, D, L)$ be the number of lattice points in tD. Then

$$\lambda(t) = \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(D)}{\operatorname{Vol}(F)} t^N + O(t^{N-1}),$$

where the constant in O depends on L, N, and the Lipschitz constants.

Proof. If a point $l \in L$ lies in tD, then F_l intersects tD. Furthermore, either F_l is contained in the interior of tD, or F_l intersects the boundary

of tD. Let:

$$n(t) =$$
 number of $l \in L$ such that $l \in tD$.
 $m(t) =$ number of $l \in L$ such that $F_l \subset$ interior of tD .
 $b(t) =$ number of $l \in L$ such that F_l intersects ∂tD .

Then

$$m(t) \leq n(t) \leq m(t) + b(t),$$

and

$$m(t) \operatorname{Vol}(F) \leq \operatorname{Vol} tD \leq (m(t) + b(t)) \operatorname{Vol}(F).$$

Hence

$$m(t) \leq \frac{\operatorname{Vol} D}{\operatorname{Vol} F} t^N \leq m(t) + b(t),$$

and to conclude the proof, it suffices to estimate b(t). Let $\varphi: I^{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ be one of the parametrizing maps for a piece of the boundary of D, with Lipschitz constant C. Then $t\varphi$ parametrizes a corresponding piece of ∂tD . Let [t] denote the largest integer $\leq t$, as usual. Cut up each side of the unit cube I^{N-1} into sides of length 1/[t]. We then get $[t]^{N-1}$ small cubes. The image under φ of each small cube has diameter $\leq C_1/[t]$, and hence the image under $t\varphi$ of each small cube has diameter $\leq C_2$. The number of $l \in L$ such that F_l intersects the image of such a small cube under $t\varphi$ is then bounded by C', where C' is a constant depending only on L and C. Hence

$$b(t) \leq C'[t]^{N-1}.$$

This proves our theorem.

§3. The number of ideals in a given class

Let *I* be the group of fractional ideals of *k*, and *P* the subgroup of principal fractional ideals. We are interested in an asymptotic formula for the number of ideals a in a given class of I/P such that $Na \leq t$, for $t \to \infty$. More generally, we want such a formula for the ideals in a generalized class of $I(c)/P_c$ for some cycle c. We begin by sketching the argument in the simplest case. We let a, b denote ideals (not fractional).

Let \Re be a given ideal class mod P, and let \mathfrak{b} be an ideal in the inverse class. For each ideal $\mathfrak{a} \in \Re$, the ideal $\mathfrak{a} \mathfrak{b}$ is then a principal ideal (ξ) contained in \mathfrak{b} (because we took \mathfrak{a} to be an ideal, so $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{o}$). We have

$$Na \leq t$$
 if and only if $N(ab) = N(\xi) \leq Nb \cdot t$.

Elements α , β of k are called equivalent if there exists a unit u such that $\alpha = u\beta$. Let $j(\Re, t)$ be the number of ideals $\mathfrak{a} \in \Re$ such that $\operatorname{Na} \leq t$. Then $j(\Re, t)$ is the number of equivalence classes of elements $\xi \in \mathfrak{b}, \xi \neq 0$, such that $\operatorname{N} \xi \leq \operatorname{Nb} \cdot t$. Let U denote the group of units. Then U operates on the number field k, but we may also view U as operating on Euclidean space

$$A_k(\infty) = \mathbf{R}^N = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} k_v$$

(If v is complex, we fix a definite identification of k_v with C.) Namely, if $u \in U$, and (a_v) is in \mathbb{R}^N , then

$$u(a_v) = (\sigma_v u \cdot a_v),$$

where σ_v is the embedding of k in k_v corresponding to v.

Elements ξ , η of \mathbf{R}^N are said to be in the same orbit of U if there exists a unit u such that $\xi = u\eta$.

We can define the norm on $\mathbf{R}^N = A_k(\infty)$, namely if $\xi = (\xi_v)$, then we let

$$\mathbf{N}\xi = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} |\xi|_{v}^{N_{v}}.$$

If ξ , η are in the same orbit of U, then clearly $N\xi = N\eta$. For $\xi \in A_k(\infty)$ we have

$$\mathbf{N}(t\xi) = t^N \mathbf{N}\xi.$$

We are of course interested in elements $\xi \neq 0$ in b, and hence it is useful to deal with the subset of $A_k(\infty)$ given by

$$J_k(\infty) = \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} k_v^*,$$

consisting of those elements having non-zero coordinates at all $v \in S_{\infty}$. Then $J_k(\infty)$ is stable under the operation of U, and we can define the notion of a fundamental domain D in $J_k(\infty)$, namely a subset such that every orbit of U has a unique element in D. We can then say that $j(\Re, t)$ is the number of elements $\xi \in \mathfrak{b}$ such that

(1)
$$N\xi \leq Nb \cdot t$$
 and $\xi \in D$.

If Y is a subset of $A_k(\infty)$ and t > 0, we let Y(t) be the subset of Y consisting of those elements ξ such that $N\xi \leq t$. Assume that we are able to construct D such that tD = D for every real t > 0. Then

$$D(t) = t^{1/N} D(1).$$

With this notation, our conditions (1) are equivalent to the condition

(2)
$$\xi \in D(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b} \cdot t),$$

[VI, §3]

and we get the fundamental formula:

$$j(\mathfrak{R}, t) = \lambda((\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}\cdot t)^{1/N}, D(1), \mathfrak{b}).$$

In other words, the number of ideals $a \in \Re$ such that $Na \leq t$ is equal to the number of points of the lattice b lying in the domain

$$(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}\cdot t)^{1/N}D(1) = D(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}\cdot t).$$

This reduces the problem of computing $j(\Re, t)$ to Theorem 2, §2, provided that we can construct D(1) so as to satisfy the hypothesis of that theorem (that is, Lipschitz parametrizable boundary).

For convenience, it is easier to construct a fundamental domain for a free abelian subgroup of the unit group (i.e. disregard the roots of unity). If we do that, and count the number of points of the lattice \mathfrak{b} in such a domain, then we get $w \cdot j(\mathfrak{R}, t)$, where w is the number of roots of unity in k.

The whole discussion can be applied more generally to ideal classes of $I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}$ as follows. We shall prove:

Lemma 1. Let c be a cycle of k. Let V be a free subgroup of U_c which generates U_c modulo roots of unity. Let $J_k(\infty, c)$ be the subset of $J_k(\infty)$ consisting of those ξ such that $\xi_v > 0$ if v is real, v|c. There exists a fundamental domain D for the operation of V on $J_k(\infty, c)$ such that tD = D if t > 0, and such that D(1) has an (N - 1)-Lipschitz parametrizable boundary.

Let us postpone for a moment the proof of Lemma 1. Let \Re be an ideal class of $I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}$, and let $j(\mathfrak{K}, t)$ be the number of ideals $\mathfrak{a} \in \Re$ such that $\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{a} \leq t$. Select $\mathfrak{b} \in \Re^{-1}$. The map

$$\mathfrak{a} \mapsto \mathfrak{ab} = (\xi)$$

establishes a bijection between ideals of $a \in \Re$, and U_{c} -equivalence classes of elements ξ satisfying the pair of conditions:

$$\xi \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}}, \quad \xi \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{b}}.$$

If $w_{\mathfrak{c}}$ denotes the number of roots of unity in $U_{\mathfrak{c}}$, then we see that:

$$w_{\mathfrak{c}}j(\mathfrak{R},t)$$
 is equal to the number of elements ξ satisfying
 $\begin{cases} \xi \in \mathfrak{b}, \\ \xi \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_0}, \\ \xi \in D(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b} \cdot t) = (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b} \cdot t)^{1/N}D(1). \end{cases}$

We wrote $\xi \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_0}$ rather than $\xi \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}}$ because our third condition, that $\xi \in D$, already guarantees that $\sigma_v \xi > 0$ if v is real, v|c,

since D is contained in $J_k(\infty, c)$. The two congruences

$$\xi \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{b}}$$
 and $\xi \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_0}$

define a translation of the lattice (ideal) \mathfrak{bc}_0 in $\mathbf{R}^N = A_k(\infty)$, because if ξ_0 is one solution of these congruences, then the map

$$\xi \mapsto \xi - \xi_0$$

gives a bijection of the set of solutions of these congruences and bc_0 . [Note that b, c_0 are relatively prime, and the Chinese remainder theorem applies, i.e. $x \equiv 0 \pmod{bc_0}$ if and only if $x \equiv 0 \pmod{b}$ and $x \equiv 0 \pmod{c_0}$.] Thus we have shown:

Lemma 2. Let the notation be as in Lemma 1, and let L be the lattice obtained by translating \mathfrak{bc}_0 by one solution of the two congruences above. Then $w_c j(\mathfrak{K}, t)$ is equal to the number of elements of L lying in

$$(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}\cdot t)^{1/N}D(1).$$

We are therefore in the situation discussed in Chapter V, §2. Observe that the volume of a fundamental domain for bc_0 in \mathbf{R}^N is the same as the volume of a fundamental domain for the translated lattice L.

Theorem 3. Let c be a cycle of k, and let \Re be a class of I(c) modulo P_c . Then

$$j(\Re, t) = \rho_{c}t + O(t^{1-1/N}),$$

where

$$ho_{
m c}=rac{2^{r_1}(2\pi)^{r_2}R_{
m c}}{w_{
m c}\sqrt{d_k}~{
m Nc}}$$

and:

 R_{c} is the c-regulator, $Nc = 2^{s(c)}Nc_{0}$, s(c) is the number of real v|c, w_{c} is the number of roots of unity in U_{c} , d_{k} is the absolute value of the discriminant of k.

In particular, if \Re is an ordinary ideal class modulo principal ideals, then

$$j(\Re, t) = \frac{2^{r_1} (2\pi)^{r_2} R}{w \sqrt{d_k}} t + O(t^{1-1/N}),$$

where R is the regulator, w the number of roots of unity in k, and d_k is as above.

[VI, §3]

Proof. In Chapter V, \$2, we had computed the volume of a fundamental domain for the lattice of an ideal bc_0 , and found it equal to

$$2^{-r_2} \mathrm{Nb} \mathrm{Nc}_0 \sqrt{d_k}.$$

In view of Lemma 2, there remains only to prove Lemma 1, i.e. construct a suitable fundamental domain for V in $J_k(\infty, c)$, and to prove that

Vol
$$D(1) = 2^{r_1 - s(c)} \pi^{r_2} R_c.$$

We shall essentially follow Hecke to do this.

We proceed to construct D. Let

$$g:J_k(\infty,\mathfrak{c})\to\prod_{v\in S_\infty}\mathbf{R}_v$$

be the homogenized log map given by

$$g(\xi) = \left(\cdots, \log rac{\|\xi_v\|}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{N_v/N}}, \cdots
ight)_{v \in S_\infty}.$$

As usual, $\|\xi_v\| = |\xi_v|^{N_v}$. Then we see at once that the image of g is contained in the hyperplane H consisting of all elements z such that

$$\sum_{v\in S_{\infty}}z_v=z_1+\cdots+z_{r_1+r_2}=0.$$

Let $\{\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_r\}$ be a set of generators for V and let $g(\eta_i) = y_i$. Then $\{y_1, \ldots, y_r\}$ is a basis for a lattice in H, and is the usual image of these units under the log mapping, because for any $\eta \in V$ we have $N\eta = 1$. We let F be the usual fundamental domain for this lattice in H, namely the set of all linear combinations

Let $c_1y_1 + \cdots + c_ry_r, \qquad 0 \leq c_q < 1.$ $D = g^{-1}(F).$

It is immediately verified that D is a fundamental domain for the action of V on $J_k(\infty, c)$ and that for any real t > 0 we have tD = D. This last condition comes from the fact that

$$\frac{\|t\xi_v\|}{\mathbf{N}(t\xi)^{N_v/N}} = \frac{\|\xi_v\|}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{N_v/N}} \cdot$$

We note that D(1) is bounded, because for each coordinate ξ_v of an element of D, we have

$$|\xi_v| \leq \mathbf{N} \xi^{1/N} e^{Br},$$

where B is a bound for the elements y_i . Hence if $\xi \in D(1)$, we have

 $|\xi_v| \leq e^{Br}.$

We shall now simultaneously see that the boundary of D(1) is (N-1)-Lipschitz parametrizable, and compute the volume of D(1).

For this purpose, we use polar coordinates, namely

$$(\rho_i, \theta_i)$$
 $(i = 1, \ldots, r_1 + r_2)$

such that $0 \leq \rho_i$ for all *i*, and

$$heta_i = \pm 1$$
 if $i = 1, \ldots, r_1$ but $heta_i = 1$ if $v_i | \mathbf{c}$
 $0 \leq heta_i \leq 2\pi$ if $i = r_1 + 1, \ldots, r_1 + r_2$.

The inverse image of our domain D(1) in the polar coordinate space is described by the conditions

(3)
$$\begin{cases} 0 < \prod_{i=1}^{r_1+r_2} \rho_i^{N_i} \leq 1\\ \log \rho_j - \frac{1}{N} \log \prod_{i=1}^{r_1+r_2} \rho_i^{N_i} = \sum_{q=1}^r c_q \log |\sigma_j \eta_q| \end{cases}$$

with $0 \leq c_q < 1$ for $q = 1, \ldots, r$. These conditions (3) do not involve any of the angles θ_i .

Let us denote by P the set of $(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{r_1+r_2})$ satisfying $0 < \rho_i$ and also satisfying conditions (3), i.e. the inverse image of D(1) in the polar coordinate space. For the Lipschitz parametrizability of the boundary of D(1), it will suffice to show that the boundary of P in $(r_1 + r_2)$ -space is $(r_1 + r_2 - 1)$ -Lipschitz parametrizable. Furthermore, we have

Vol
$$D(1) = 2^{r_1 - s(c)} (2\pi)^{r_2} \int \cdots \int \rho_{r_1 + 1} \cdots \rho_{r_1 + r_2} d\rho_1 \cdots d\rho_{r_1 + r_2}$$
.

where the integral is taken over P. We change variables, and consider the cube S in $(r_1 + r_2)$ -space with variables (u, c_1, \ldots, c_r) , satisfying the inequalities

(4)
$$\begin{cases} 0 < u \leq 1 \\ 0 \leq c_q < 1. \end{cases}$$

We have a bijection $f: S \to P$ between this cube S and P, given in one direction by

$$\rho_j = u^{1/N} \exp\left(\sum_{q=1}^r c_q \log |\sigma_j \eta_q|\right) = f_j(u, c_1, \ldots, c_r).$$
[VI, §3]

In the other direction, we have

$$u=\prod_{i=1}^{r_1+r_2}\rho_i^{N_i},$$

and the numbers c_q are uniquely determined by $(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{r_1+r_2})$ because the determinant det $|\sigma_j\eta_q|(j, q = 1, \ldots, r)$ does not vanish. This determinant is in fact the R_c -regulator, by definition.

The Jacobian determinant of our map is easily computed. For instance, we find

$$\partial
ho_j / \partial u = rac{1}{N} rac{
ho_j}{u}$$
 and $\partial
ho_j / \partial c_q =
ho_j \log |\sigma_j \eta_q|.$

Hence the Jacobian determinant of f is

$$\frac{1}{N\rho_{r_1+1}\cdots\rho_{r_1+r_2}}\begin{vmatrix}1 & \log|\sigma_1\eta_1| & \cdots & \log|\sigma_1\eta_r|\\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots\\ 1 & \log|\sigma_{r_1+r_2}\eta_1| & \cdots & \log|\sigma_{r_1+r_2}\eta_r|\end{vmatrix}.$$

Adding the first r rows to the last after multiplying the *j*-th row by N_{j} , we find that this Jacobian determinant is equal to

$$\frac{1}{\rho_{r_1+1}\cdots\rho_{r_1+r_2}} 2^{-r_2} R_{\rm c}.$$

Hence

Vol
$$D(1) = 2^{r_1 - s(c)} (2\pi)^{r_2} \int_S 2^{-r_2} R_c d\mu = 2^{r_1 - s(c)} \pi^{r_2} R_c$$

where μ is Lebesgue measure. The volume of the cube S is of course equal to 1, and we have computed the volume of D(1) as desired.

Finally, as to the parametrizability, only the exponent 1/N of u is not continuously differentiable. But this is harmless: We just reparametrize the cube, letting say $u = u_1^N$ with another variable u_1 . We then get a continuously differentiable parametrization of the closed cube (compact) onto the closure of P, given by

$$ho_j = u_1 \exp\left(\sum_{q=1}^r c_q \log |\sigma_j \eta_q|\right).$$

It follows immediately that the boundary of P is $(r_1 + r_2 - 1)$ -Lipschitz parametrizable, because the boundary of our closed cube trivially has this property. This concludes the proof of Lemma 1, and also the proof of our main result, Theorem 3.

CHAPTER VII Ideles and Adeles

In classical number theory, one embeds a number field in the Cartesian product of its completions at the archimedean absolute values, i.e. in a Euclidean space. In more recent years (more precisely since Chevalley introduced ideles in 1936, and Weil gave his adelic proof of the Riemann-Roch theorem soon afterwards), it has been found most convenient to take the product over the completions at all absolute values, including the p-adic ones, with a suitable restriction on the components, to be explained below. This chapter merely gives the most elementary facts concerning the ideles and adeles (corresponding to a multiplicative and additive construction respectively), and their topologies. In each case, we prove a certain compactness theorem, and construct a fundamental domain. Although we use the existence of fundamental domains later, we shall not need any explicit form for them.

Given any group scheme over the ring of integers o_k of a number field, one can take its points in the adele ring, and one can try to prove similar results. This leads into the arithmetic theory of algebraic groups, and we do not deal with it here. Suffice it to say that the ideles turn out to be the points of the multiplicative group scheme in the adele ring.

§1. Restricted direct products

Let k be a number field. For each absolute value v on k (normalized to induce one of the standard absolute values on \mathbf{Q}), we have the completion k_v of k which is one of three types of fields: The reals, the complex, or a p-adic field. We call v by the corresponding name.

The additive group k_v (also written k_v^+) is locally compact, and so is the multiplicative group k_v^* . Each one contains a compact subgroup in the p-adic case, namely the p-adic integers or the p-adic units which are open in k_v^+ and k_v^* respectively.

We shall now describe a general procedure which allows us to take a restricted product of these groups.

Let $\{v\}$ be a set of indices, and for each v, let G_v be a locally compact commutative group. For all but a finite number of v, let H_v be a compact open subgroup of G_v . The restricted direct product of the G_v with respect to the H_v is the subgroup G of the direct product consisting of elements all but a finite number of whose components lie in H_v .

If S is a finite set of indices v, including at least all v for which H_v is not defined, then we denote by G_S that subgroup of G for which all components outside S are in H_v . Then

$$G_S = \prod_{v \in S} G_v \times \prod_{v \notin S} H_v$$

is a direct product of locally compact groups, all but a finite number of which are compact. Thus G_S is a locally compact group (product topology), and we make G into a locally compact group by decreeing that each such G_S is an open subgroup.

Each G_v is embedded in G on the v-component, as a closed subgroup.

The restricted product of the additive groups k_v with respect to the local integers \mathfrak{o}_v (defined only when $v = v_{\mathfrak{p}}$ for some \mathfrak{p}) is called the **adele** group of k and is denoted by A_k or simply A. We call A_S the S-adeles.

The restricted product of the multiplicative groups k_v^* with respect to the units U_v of \mathfrak{o}_v is called the **idele group** of k and is denoted by J_k or simply J. (The topology on the idele group is *not* the topology induced on it as a subset of the adeles!) We call J_S the S-ideles.

We can embed the number field k in the adeles on the diagonal. Since an element α of k is a p-adic integer for all but a finite number of p, and since we can view α as embedded in each k_v , the vector $(\alpha, \alpha, \alpha, ...)$ is an adele.

Similarly, we can embed the multiplicative group k^* in the ideles because a non-zero element of k is a p-adic unit for all but a finite number of \mathfrak{p} .

We can define the trace on adeles. Let E be a finite extension of k and x an adele of E, $x = (x_w)$, $w \in M_E$. We define its trace $\operatorname{Tr}_k^E(x)$ to have v-component

$$\sum_{w\mid v} \operatorname{Tr}_w(x_w).$$

Then its trace is an adele of k.

Similarly, we define the norm of an idele $a = (a_w)$ of E to be the idele $N_k^E(a)$ whose v-component is

$$\prod_{w\mid v} N_w(a_w).$$

According to Corollary 3 of Theorem 2, Chapter II, 1, these definitions are consistent with the embedding of k in A and k^* in J, and the usual definition of norm and trace on field elements. In other words, the following diagrams are commutative:

Theorem 1. The additive group k is embedded as a discrete subgroup of the adeles A. The multiplicative group k^* is embedded as a discrete subgroup of J.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in k$. To say that α is close to 0 in the adele topology means that $|\alpha|_v \leq 1$ for all but a finite number of v and $|\alpha|_v$ is very small for a finite set of v. By the product formula, this implies that $\alpha = 0$. Hence 0 is an isolated element of k in A. It follows that k is discrete in A. The same argument applied to an element α of k^* close to 1 shows that k^* is discrete in J.

§2. Adeles

We observe that the adeles form a topological ring (with zero divisors) if we define multiplication componentwise. If a is an idele and x is an adele, then ax is an adele. The map

$$h_a: A \to A$$

given for each idele a by the formula $h_a(x) = ax$ is a topological linear automorphism of the additive group A onto itself.

Let us denote by S_{∞} the set of archimedean absolute values in the canonical set of absolute values M_k .

Theorem 2. We have

$$k + A_{S_m} = A.$$

The factor group A/k is compact.

Proof. The first statement means that given any adele x, there exists an element α of k such that $x - \alpha$ has integral components at all valuations v. This is an easy extension of the Chinese remainder theorem, and can be done for instance as follows. Given $x \in A$, let m be a rational integer such that mx has integral components for all non-archimedean v. Let S be the set of primes \mathfrak{p} of \mathfrak{o}_k such that $\mathfrak{p}|m$. We can find an algebraic integer α in k such that

$$mx \equiv \alpha \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^{\nu}}$$

for all \mathfrak{p} in S and large ν , by the ordinary Chinese remainder theorem. Then $x - \alpha/m$ will be integral for all \mathfrak{p} if ν is sufficiently large.

The field k can be viewed as embedded in Euclidean space

$$\prod_{v\in S_{\infty}}k_v=\mathbf{R}^N,$$

and in that case, the integers o_k form a lattice of rank $N = [k:\mathbf{Q}]$ in \mathbf{R}^N .

To show that A/k is compact, we observe that given $x \in A$ we can translate it by an element of k into $A_{S_{\infty}}$. We can then translate an element of $A_{S_{\infty}}$ by an integer in \mathfrak{o}_k in such a way that the resulting adele has bounded components at all $v \in S_{\infty}$ because \mathfrak{o}_k has maximal rank in \mathbb{R}^N . Hence every element of A/k has a representative in a compact subset of $A_{S_{\infty}}$. This proves that A/k is compact.

It is in fact easy to construct a fundamental domain for A/k.

Theorem 3. Let $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N$ be a basis for the integers \mathfrak{o}_k of k over Z. Let F_{∞} be the subset of

$$\prod_{v\in S_{\infty}}k_{v}$$

spanned by the vectors $\sum t_i \omega_i$ with $0 \leq t_i < 1$. Then

$$F=\prod_{v\not\in S_{\infty}}\mathfrak{o}_v\times F_{\infty}$$

is a fundamental domain for $A \mod k$.

Proof. Given $x \in A$ we can bring it into $A_{S_{\infty}}$ by translation with an element of k, uniquely determined up to an element of \mathfrak{o}_k . Restricting the components t_i to lie in the half-open interval as above determines this algebraic integer uniquely if we require that the translation have a representative in F.

§3. Ideles

In this section we carry out an investigation similar to that of the adeles, but applied to the multiplicative ideles.

We denote by S any finite set of absolute values in M_k containing the set S_{∞} of archimedean absolute values.

For each $v \in M_k$, corresponding to a p-adic valuation, we have the p-adic integers \mathfrak{o}_v and the units U_v of \mathfrak{o}_v . Both of these are compact groups.

Each idele *a* has components $a_v \in k_v^*$, all but a finite number of which lie in U_v . We define

$$\|a\|_v = \|a_v\|_v$$

[VII, §3]

and

$$||a|| = ||a||_k = \prod_{v \in M_k} ||a||_v.$$

IDELES

All but a finite number of terms of this product are equal to 1, so the product is well defined. Furthermore, the map

$$a \mapsto ||a||$$

defines a homomorphism

 $J \rightarrow \mathbf{R}^+$

of J onto the multiplicative group of positive real numbers. This map is obviously continuous, and its kernel is a closed subgroup of J, denoted by J^0 .

By the product formula, k^* is contained in J^0 , and is a closed discrete subgroup of J^0 .

There is a natural homomorphism of J onto the fractional ideals of \mathfrak{o}_k . Indeed, given an idele $a = (a_v)$, each a_v lies in k_v . If v is \mathfrak{p} -adic, then we can speak of the order of a_v at \mathfrak{p} , namely the integers r_v such that we can write

 $a_v = \pi_v^{r_v} u$

with a prime element π_v and a unit u in U_v . We let

 $r_v = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} a.$

Then $r_v = 0$ for almost all v, and therefore

$$\prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{p}^{\mathrm{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}^a}}$$

is a fractional ideal, also denoted by (a). The map

$$a\mapsto (a)=\prod\mathfrak{p}^{\mathrm{ord}\mathfrak{p}a}$$

is a homomorphism of J onto the group of fractional ideals I_k , whose kernel is $J_{S_{\infty}}$.

Thus we have an isomorphism

$$J/k^*J_{S_{\infty}} \approx I/P,$$

where P is the group of principal fractional ideals, and I/P is the group of ideal classes. This group is finite, and thus if we enlarge S_{∞} to a set S which contains enough primes we can find such an S that

$$J = k^* J_s.$$

IDELES AND ADELES

[VII, §3]

An element of k^* viewed as an idele is called a **principal idele**. Its associated ideal is a principal ideal. We therefore have an induced homomorphism from J/k^* onto the ideal classes. The factor group J/k^* will be called the group of **idele classes** and will be denoted by C_k (or C if the reference to k is clear). It contains the closed subgroup $C_k^0 = J^0/k^*$.

Let S be a finite subset of M_k containing S_{∞} . Then J_S is an open subgroup of J, and J_S^0 is an open subgroup of J^0 . The intersection

 $J_S \cap k^*$

will be denoted by k_S and will be called the group of S-units. It is a discrete subgroup of J_S (obvious), and if $S = S_{\infty}$, then k_S is simply the group of units of the ring of integers \mathfrak{o}_k , namely it is the set of elements $\alpha \in k^*$ such that $|\alpha|_v = 1$ for $v \notin S_{\infty}$. The factor group J_S/k_S is called the group of S-idele classes, and is denoted by C_S . We have natural inclusions

$$C_S \to C, \qquad C_S^0 \to C^0$$

and under these inclusions, the smaller group is mapped onto an open and closed subgroup of the larger group. (Immediate verification.) In terms of ideles, the first inclusion can be written

$$J_{S} \xrightarrow{\subset} J$$
$$k^{*} \cap J_{S} = k_{S} \xrightarrow{\subset} k^{*}$$
$$J_{S}/k_{S} \xrightarrow{\subseteq} J/k^{*}$$

and we have a topological and algebraic isomorphism

$$J/k*J_S \approx C/C_S.$$

If $S = S_{\infty}$, then $J/k^*J_{S_{\infty}}$ is isomorphic to the group of ideal classes (i.e. fractional ideal classes), and is finite. Thus for any S, the group $J/k^*J_S = C/C_S$, which is a homomorphic image of $C/C_{S_{\infty}}$, is also finite. In particular, $k^*J_{S_{\infty}}$ can be viewed as the kernel of the homomorphism of J onto the group of ideal classes. We can interpret k^*J_S in a similar way, as the kernel of the homomorphism onto the group of ideal classes represented by ideals "relatively prime to S" (in the obvious meaning to be attached to these words).

Theorem 4. The factor group $J^0/k^* = C^0$ is compact. So is J_S^0/k_S for any finite set $S \supset S_{\infty}$.

Proof. Let

$$\psi: J \rightarrow \mathbf{R}^+$$

be the map which to each idele a associates $\psi(a) = ||a||$. Then $\psi(k^*) = 1$

[VII, §3]

IDELES

and so ψ is defined on J/k^* . Its kernel is C^0 . For any real number $\rho > 0$, we let $J^{\rho} = \psi^{-1}(\rho)$. Then C^{ρ} is topologically isomorphic to C^0 . Indeed, if we consider an idele

$$a_{\rho} = (\rho^{1/N}, \ldots, \rho^{1/N}, 1, 1, \ldots)$$

having component $\rho^{1/N}$ at all $v \in S_{\infty}$ and 1 otherwise, then $\psi(a_{\rho}) = \rho$ and $C^{\rho} = a_{\rho}C^{0}$. It will therefore suffice to prove that C^{ρ} is compact for some ρ .

Lemma. There exists a constant $c_1(k) > 0$ such that, for $\rho > c_1$ and all $a \in J^{\rho}$ there exists an element $\alpha \in k^*$ such that

$$1 \leq \|\alpha a\|_v \leq \rho, \qquad all \ v \in M_k.$$

Proof. According to Theorem 0 of §1, Chapter V, there exists an element $\alpha^{-1} \in k^*$ such that

$$|\alpha^{-1}|_v \leq |a|_v$$

for all $v \in M_k$. This implies

$$1 \leq \|a\alpha\|_v$$

for all v, and also for any v,

$$\|lpha a\|_v = rac{\prod \|lpha a\|_w}{\prod\limits_{w
eq v} \|lpha a\|_w} \leq rac{
ho}{1} =
ho,$$

as desired.

If $v = v_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is \mathfrak{p} -adic, then the values $\|\alpha a\|_v$ are of the form

 \ldots , 1/N \mathfrak{p} , 1, N \mathfrak{p} , (N \mathfrak{p})², \ldots

and there is only a finite number of \mathfrak{p} such that $N\mathfrak{p} \leq \rho$. We take $\rho > c_1$ in the lemma. We can conclude that there is a set S such that

$$1 \leq \|\alpha a\|_{v} \leq \rho, \quad v \in S$$
$$\|\alpha a\|_{v} = 1, \quad v \notin S.$$

Let X be the subset of J defined by these conditions. Then X is of type

$$\prod_{v \in S} (\text{annulus in } k_v^*) \times \prod_{v \notin S} U_v$$

and each factor is compact. (Each annulus is the annulus between 1 and ρ .) Hence X is compact. In the canonical map

$$J \rightarrow C$$

the set X maps onto a compact subset of C which contains C^{ρ} . Hence C^{ρ} is compact, as was to be shown. The conclusion for J_{S}^{0}/k_{S} follows at once.

We can recover the unit theorem from the compactness of J^0/k^* , without the arguments at the end of §1, Chapter V. We indicate how this can be done.

Given a set $S \supset S_{\infty}$, let s be the number of elements of S. We map

$$\log: J_S \to \mathbf{R}^s$$

by the log mapping,

$$(\ldots, a_v, \ldots) \mapsto (\ldots, \log ||a||_v, \ldots)_{v \in S}.$$

Then J_s^0 maps into the hyperplane determined by the equation

$$\xi_1+\cdots+\xi_s=0.$$

Call this hyperplane H^{s-1} . The group k_s maps onto a discrete subgroup of \mathbf{R}^s . Indeed, in a bounded region of \mathbf{R}^s , there is only a finite number of elements of $\log(k_s)$. (This is clear, since prescribing a bounded region of \mathbf{R}^s in effect defines bounds on the absolute values of an element of k, and hence bounds on the coefficients of the equation which this element satisfies over \mathbf{Z} .)

Theorem 5. The image $\log(k_S)$ is a discrete subgroup of rank s - 1 in H^{s-1} .

Proof. Note first that H^{s-1} is generated (over **R**) by $\log(J_S^0)$, because we can pick s - 1 coordinates in S arbitrarily, and then adjust the last coordinate (at an archimedean absolute value v) so that the sum of the logs is equal to 0. Let W be the subspace generated by $\log(k_S)$. We have a continuous homomorphism

$$J_S^0/k_S \rightarrow H^{s-1}/W$$
,

and the image of our homomorphism generates H^{s-1}/W as a vector space over **R**. But this image is the continuous image of a compact set, hence is compact. It follows that $W = H^{s-1}$, thereby proving our assertion.

The kernel of the log mapping consists exactly of the roots of unity in k, because it is a subgroup consisting of elements all of whose absolute values are bounded, and hence is a finite subgroup.

For computational purposes, we shall now describe how to construct a fundamental domain for the factor group J/k^* .

We select one absolute value v_0 in S_{∞} , and let S'_{∞} be the complement of v_0 in S_{∞} . Then the restriction of the log mapping to $J^0_{S_{\infty}}$ is denoted by l.

[VII, §4]

We see that

$$l: J^0_{S_{\infty}} \to \mathbf{R}^*$$

maps $J_{S_{\infty}}^{0}$ onto Euclidean *r*-space, where $r = r_1 + r_2 - 1$. The surjectivity follows from the fact that we can select *r* components of an idele in S_{∞} arbitrarily, and then adjust the component at v_0 so as to get an element of J^0 .

Let $\{\epsilon_i\}$ (i = 1, ..., r) be a basis for the group of units modulo roots of unity. Then the vectors $l(\epsilon_i)$ are a basis of \mathbf{R}^r , and for any $b \in J^0_{S_{\infty}}$ we can write

$$l(b) = \sum z_i l(\epsilon_i)$$

with unique real numbers z_i . Let P be the parallelotope in r-space spanned by the vectors $l(\epsilon_i)$, that is the set of all vectors

 $\sum z_i l(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_i)$

with $0 \leq z_i < 1$. Let w be the number of roots of unity in k, and let

$$E^0 =$$
 subset of all b in $l^{-1}(P)$ such that $0 \leq \arg b_{v_0} \leq \frac{2\pi}{w}$.

Let h be the order of the ideal class group, and let $b^{(1)}, \ldots, b^{(h)}$ be elements of J^0 such that their associated ideals represent the distinct ideal classes. We then have the following result.

Theorem 6. The subset E of J^0 consisting of

$$E^0b^{(1)}\cup\cdots\cup E^0b^{(h)}$$

is a fundamental domain for $J^0 \mod k^*$.

Proof. Starting with any idele b in J^0 we can change it into an idele which represents a principal ideal by dividing it by a uniquely determined $b^{(\nu)}$. Multiplication by a field element brings us to an idele representing the unit ideal, and therefore takes the idele into $J^0_{S_{\infty}}$. A change by units lands us in $l^{-1}(P)$, and finally multiplication by a root of unity adjusts the argument at v_0 to land us in E^0 . It is clear that this final representative in E^0 is uniquely determined, thereby proving our theorem.

§4. Generalized ideal class groups; relations with idele classes

Let c be a cycle of k. If v|c, we may now interpret c_v in the completion k_v , as follows. If $v = v_p$ for some prime ideal \mathfrak{p} , we let \mathfrak{m}_p be the maximal ideal in the completion $\mathfrak{o}_v = \mathfrak{o}_p$. If v has multiplicity m(v) in c, we let

$$\mathfrak{c}_v = \mathfrak{m}_\mathfrak{p}^{m(v)}$$

[VII, §4]

Let $v = v_{\mathfrak{p}}$. If $a \in k_v$ and m(v) > 0, we define $a \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_v}$ to mean that $a \in \mathfrak{o}_v$ and $a \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_v}$. If v is real, we define $a \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_v}$ to mean a > 0. Thus we can extend the notion $\operatorname{mod}^* \mathfrak{c}$ to ideles. If a is an idele, we define $a \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}}$ to mean that $a_v \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}_v}$, for all v.

We let $J_{\mathfrak{c}}$ denote the group of ideles a such that $a \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}}$. Then it is clear that $k_{\mathfrak{c}} = J_{\mathfrak{c}} \cap k^*$.

For each v|c we let $W_{c}(v)$ be the subgroup of k_{v}^{*} consisting of those elements $a \in k_{v}^{*}$ such that $a \equiv 1 \pmod{c_{v}}$. If v|c, then we let $W_{c}(v) = U_{v}$, the group of local units. We let

$$W_{\mathfrak{c}} = \prod_{v \mid \mathfrak{c}} W_{\mathfrak{c}}(v) \times \prod_{v \nmid \mathfrak{c}} U_{v}.$$

By convention, if v is real or complex, we let $U_v = k_v^*$.

Letting Π' be the restricted product, we can write

$$J_{\mathfrak{c}} = \prod_{v \mid \mathfrak{c}} W_{\mathfrak{c}}(v) \times \prod_{v \nmid \mathfrak{c}}' k_{v}^{*}.$$

If v is real, v|c, then $W_c(v) = \mathbf{R}^+$ is the group of reals > 0.

If v is complex, then always $W_{c}(v) = \mathbb{C}^{*}$.

If v is non-archimedean, corresponding to the prime \mathfrak{p} , and if v has multiplicity m > 0 in c, then

$$W_{\mathfrak{c}}(v) = 1 + \mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{m},$$

where $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ as before is the maximal ideal in the complete local ring \mathfrak{o}_v . We may say that $W_{\mathfrak{c}}(v)$ is a disc of center 1 in the \mathfrak{p} -adic field.

It is clear that the collection of W_c forms a fundamental system of open subgroups of the ideles at the identity. In other words, each W_c is open, and given an open subgroup of J containing 1, there exists some c such that this subgroup contains W_c .

We now consider the relations with idele classes. Any idele class (element of J/k^*) has a representative idele in J_c for any given c. Indeed, given $a \in J$, by the approximation theorem, there exists $\alpha \in k^*$ such that $\alpha^{-1}a \in J_c$. (Select α so that $a - \alpha$ is very close to 1 at all v|c, and then divide by α .) It follows that we have an isomorphism

$$J_{
m c}/k_{
m c} pprox J/k^{m *}$$

for each c, corresponding to the diagram

$$J_{\mathfrak{c}} \to J$$
$$| \to |$$
$$J_{\mathfrak{c}} \cap k^* = k_{\mathfrak{c}} \to k^*.$$

We have the natural homomorphism

$$J_{\mathfrak{c}} \xrightarrow{\psi} I(\mathfrak{c})$$
$$a \mapsto (a)$$

which to each idele *a* associates its ideal (*a*). It is clear that $\psi (= \psi_c)$ is surjective. Furthermore, we have

$$\psi^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{c}}) = k_{\mathfrak{c}} W_{\mathfrak{c}}.$$

Indeed, if $a \in J_c$ and $(a) = (\alpha)$ for some $\alpha \in k_c$, then $(\alpha^{-1}a) = (1)$, whence $\alpha^{-1}a = b$ is an idele all of whose components are units. It is clear that $b \equiv 1 \pmod{c}$, and by definition, $b \in W_c$. Thus we have a diagram

$$\begin{aligned} J_{\mathfrak{c}} & \stackrel{\Psi}{\longrightarrow} I(\mathfrak{c}) \\ & | & | \\ \psi^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{c}}) &= k_{\mathfrak{c}} W_{\mathfrak{c}} - P_{\mathfrak{c}}. \end{aligned}$$

and an isomorphism

$$J_{\rm c}/k_{\rm c}W_{\rm c} \approx I({\rm c})/P_{\rm c}.$$

Thus the generalized ideal class group has been expressed as an idele class group.

We now consider certain intermediate groups between k_cW_c and J_c , corresponding to norm groups of finite extensions.

Let K/k be a Galois extension. A cycle c of k will be said to be admissible for K/k if $W_{c}(v)$ is contained in the group of local norms $N_{w}K_{w}^{*}$ for each v and w|v in K. Here we abbreviate

$$N_w = N_{k_w}^{K_w}$$

to be the local norm. Since K/k is Galois, we can also write N_v instead of N_w (because all the *w* above a given *v* are conjugate by an element of the Galois group).

If v is archimedean, and w|v in K, we say that w is **unramified** over v if $K_w = k_v$. With this convention, if v is any absolute value of M_k , and if K/k is unramified over v, then every unit in U_v is a local norm. This is obvious if v is real or complex, and in the non-archimedean case, it follows from Chapter II, §4, Corollary of Proposition 9.

We may say that a cycle c is smaller than a cycle c' if c|c'. There is obviously a smallest admissible cycle f for K/k. It is such that for non-archimedean v corresponding to p, the open disc $W_{f}(v)$ is the largest disc in U_{v} centered at 1, contained in the local norms at v, for all v. Of course, if v is unramified, then $v \not\models f$ and this disc is all of U_{v} .

[VII, §4]

Let $\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}) = \mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}, K/k)$ denote the subgroup of $I(\mathfrak{c})$ consisting of all norms $N_k^K \mathfrak{A}$, where \mathfrak{A} is a fractional ideal of K, prime to \mathfrak{c} (i.e. by definition, relatively prime to every prime ideal \mathfrak{P} of K lying above some prime ideal $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}$). The subgroup

$$P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}) \subset I(\mathfrak{c})$$

is of great importance in class field theory. It is useful only if c is admissible for K/k. In that case, we have:

Theorem 7. Let c be admissible for K/k, and let f be the smallest admissible cycle for K/k. Then the inclusion

$$I(\mathfrak{c}) \to I(\mathfrak{f})$$

induces an isomorphism

$$I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c}) \approx I(\mathfrak{f})/P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{f}). \qquad \begin{array}{c} I(\mathfrak{c}) \to I(\mathfrak{f}) \\ | & | \\ P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c}) \to P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{f}) \end{array}$$

We have $P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f}) \cap I(\mathfrak{c}) = P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c})$. If \mathfrak{c} is divisible only by the same \mathfrak{p} such that $\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{f}$, then $P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f}) = P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f})$.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{a} \in I(\mathfrak{c})$ be such that $\mathfrak{a} = (\alpha)N_k^K\mathfrak{b}$ with some \mathfrak{b} in $I(\mathfrak{f}, K)$ prime to \mathfrak{f} , and some $\alpha \in k^*$ such that $\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}}$. We express α as a local norm at all $v|\mathfrak{f}$, say

$$\alpha = N_{k_v}^{K_w} \gamma_w$$

for $w|v, v|\mathfrak{f}$. We can take γ_w to be a unit. By the approximation theorem, there exists $\gamma \in K$ such that $N_k^K \gamma$ is very close to α at all $v|\mathfrak{f}$. (For instance, take γ close to γ_{w_0} for one $w_0|v$, and γ close to 1 for the other w|v, and each $v|\mathfrak{f}$.) We can also select γ such that $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}} \gamma = -\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{P}} \mathfrak{b}$ for all $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}, \mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}, \mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{f}$. Then

$$\alpha N_k^K \gamma^{-1}$$

is close to 1 at all v|f, γb is prime to c, and

$$\mathfrak{a} = (\alpha N_k^K \gamma^{-1}) N_k^K ((\gamma) \mathfrak{b}).$$

Since a is prime to c, it follows that $\alpha N_k^K \gamma^{-1}$ is a v-unit at all v|c. We use the approximation theorem again, and the fact that every v-unit is a norm if v|c but $v \nmid f$ to find an element γ_1 in K such that γ_1 is a v-unit for all v|c, and

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha N_k^K \gamma^{-1} N_k^K \gamma_1^{-1}$$

is very close to 1 at all v|c, specifically $\alpha_1 \equiv 1 \pmod{c}$. Then

$$\mathfrak{a} = (\alpha_1) N_k^K ((\gamma \gamma_1) \mathfrak{b}),$$

so that $\mathfrak{a} \in P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c})$, thereby proving both assertions of the theorem.

We are interested also in representing the factor group $I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c})$ as a factor group of the ideles. We have a diagram

Let $J_K(1, \mathfrak{c})$ denote the subgroup of K-ideles consisting of those ideles $A \in J_K$ having component $A_w = 1$ at all w|v, and $v|\mathfrak{c}$. We contend that

$$\psi^{-1}(P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c})) = k_{\mathfrak{c}}W_{\mathfrak{c}}N_{k}^{K}J_{K}(1,\mathfrak{c}).$$

To see this, let a be an idele in J_c such that $(a) = (\alpha)N_k^K \mathfrak{A}$ for some $\alpha \in k_c$ and some ideal \mathfrak{A} of K relatively prime to c. Let $A \in J_K$ have component $A_w = 1$ for all w|v and v|c, for all archimedean w, and for all $w_{\mathfrak{P}}$ such that \mathfrak{P} is relatively prime to \mathfrak{A} . If \mathfrak{P} occurs in the factorization of \mathfrak{A} , we let $A_{w\mathfrak{P}}$ have the same order at \mathfrak{P} as \mathfrak{A} itself. Then from the definitions, we see that

$$(N_k^K A) = N_k^K \mathfrak{A}.$$

Therefore $(\alpha N_k^K A) = (a)$, and hence $\alpha N_k^K A$ differs from a by an element of W_c . This proves one inclusion of our contention, and the reverse inclusion is obvious. We obtain an isomorphism

$$J_{\rm c}/k_{\rm c}W_{\rm c}N_k^K J_K(1,{\rm c}) \approx I({\rm c})/P_{\rm c}\mathfrak{A}({\rm c}).$$

On the other hand, corresponding to the inclusion $J_{\mathfrak{c}} \subset J$, we contend that

$$k^* N_k^K J_K \cap J_{\mathfrak{c}} = \psi^{-1} \big(P_{\mathfrak{c}} \mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c}) \big),$$

so that we have the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
J_{c} & \xrightarrow{\text{inc.}} & J \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
\Psi^{-1}(P_{c}\mathfrak{N}(c)) \to k^{*}N_{k}^{K}J_{K} \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
k_{c}W_{c} \to k^{*}W_{c}.
\end{array}$$

The verification uses the same type of trivial technique as above, and the assumption that $W_{c} \subset N_{k}^{K}J_{K}$. We leave it to the reader. We then obtain an isomorphism of the corresponding factor groups, which we summarize in a theorem.

Theorem 8. Let K/k be a Galois extension. Let c be admissible for K/k. Then we have an isomorphism

$$J/k^* N_k^K J_K \approx I(\mathfrak{c})/P_\mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}).$$

The isomorphism is induced by the isomorphism

$$J_{\rm c}/k_{\rm c} \approx J/k^*,$$

followed by the ideal map $b \mapsto (b)$ of J_{c} onto I(c).

Thus in Theorem 8, to each idele a we first select an idele b in the same coset mod k^* such that $b \in J_c$. We then map b on its ideal (b). We have $(b) \in P_c \mathfrak{A}(c)$ if and only if $a \in k^* N_k^K J_K$. In this manner we have represented the idele factor group $J/k^* N_k^K J_K$ as an ideal class factor group. Observe that the norm map applies to the idele classes, and that

$$C_k/N_k^K C_K \approx J_k/k^* N_k^K J_K$$

Thus the factor group in Theorem 8 can also be viewed as an idele class group. We shall study it especially in the class field theory, and we shall find that if K/k is abelian, then the Galois group G(K/k) is isomorphic to this factor group. We shall also exhibit the isomorphism explicitly.

Example. If we reconsider the example given at the end of Chapter VI, §1, we take $k = \mathbf{Q}$ and let $K = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)$ be the field obtained by adjoining a primitive *m*-th root of unity to \mathbf{Q} . Let $\mathbf{c} = mv_{\infty}$. Then it is easily verified that $P_c\mathfrak{N}(\mathbf{c})$ is simply the unit class in $(\mathbf{Z}/m\mathbf{Z})^*$, i.e. is represented by the arithmetic progression of positive integers $\equiv 1 \pmod{m}$. To see this, let pbe a prime number, $p \nmid m$, so that p is unramified in K. Let

$$(p) = \mathfrak{p}_1 \dots \mathfrak{p}_s$$

be the factorization in K, with $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{p}_1$. Let $G_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be the decomposition group of \mathfrak{p} in G. Then $G_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is cyclic, generated by the automorphism σ such that

$$\sigma \alpha \equiv \alpha^p \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}, \qquad (\alpha \in \mathfrak{o}_K)$$

and σ is determined by its effect on ζ_m , which is

$$\sigma:\zeta_m\mapsto\zeta_m^p$$

Thus the order of σ is the order of $p \pmod{m}$ in $(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^*$. If f is the local

150

degree, so that $N\mathfrak{p} = p^f$, then

$$fs = \varphi(m) = [K:\mathbf{Q}],$$

and f is precisely equal to this order. In particular,

$$p^f \equiv 1 \pmod{m},$$

thus showing that the norms of ideals prime to c lie in the unit class.

§5. Embedding of k_{x}^{*} in the idele classes

We consider the idele class group $C_k = J_k/k^*$. We had embedded the multiplicative group of positive reals \mathbf{R}^+ in $J = J_k$, in §3. Let $N = [k:\mathbf{Q}]$. If $\rho \in \mathbf{R}^+$, we denote by a_ρ the idele

$$a_{\rho} = (\rho^{1/N}, \ldots, \rho^{1/N}, 1, 1, \ldots)$$

or its idele class (to be made clear by the context). The map

$$f: \mathbf{R}^+ \times C^0_k \to C_k$$
$$(\rho, b) \mapsto a_{\rho} b$$

is then an algebraic isomorphism of the product onto C_k , and it is obviously continuous. In fact, it is also bicontinuous. This is essentially trivial. If an idele class \overline{a} is close to 1 in C_k , then it can be represented by an idele a close to 1 at a large set of absolute values, and in particular at all $v \in S_{\infty}$. Thus if $||a|| = \rho$, then a_{ρ} is close to 1, and $a^{-1}\overline{a}$ is close to 1 also, thus proving that the inverse of our isomorphism is continuous at 1, whence continuous.

Let v be an absolute value on k. We can embed k_v^* in the ideles, on the v-component, namely if $c \in k_v^*$, then we identify c with the idele

$$c = (\ldots, 1, 1, c, 1, 1, \ldots)$$

having c at the v-component, and 1 at all other components. The composite map

$$k_v^* \to J \to J/k^* = C_k$$

is then obviously a continuous injective homomorphism of k_v^* into C_k . It is again verified easily that it is a topological embedding, i.e. is bicontinuous. In fact let v be p-adic. We can write k_v^* as a direct product

$$k_v^* \to \{\pi\} \times U_v,$$

where $\{\pi\}$ is the cyclic group generated by a prime element π in k_v , and

 U_v is the group of local units in k_v . The cyclic group $\{\pi\}$ has the discrete topology, so that

$$k_v^* \approx \mathbf{Z} \times U_v.$$

If the idele class of an element $\pi^m u$ $(u \in U_v)$ is close to 1 in C_k then $\|\pi^m u\| = \|\pi^m u\|_v$ must be close to 1, and this proves the bicontinuity at 1, whence everywhere since our composite map is an algebraic isomorphism between k_v^* and its image in C_k .

Under the isomorphism of C_k with $\mathbf{R}^+ \times C_k^0$, we see that $\{\pi\}$ corresponds to a discrete cyclic subgroup of \mathbf{R}^+ , namely the subgroup generated by Np, and U_v corresponds to a subgroup of C_k^0 . Recall that both U_v and C_k^0 are compact. Thus k_v^* is embedded as a closed subgroup of C_k .

The situation when v is archimedean is similar. If, say, v is complex, we write

$$k_v^* = \mathbf{C}^* = \mathbf{R}^+ \times \mathbf{C}_1$$

where C_1 is the multiplicative group of complex numbers of absolute value 1. The argument proceeds as before.

Warning. If S is a finite set of absolute values on k, then one obtains similarly a continuous injective map

$$\prod_{v\in S} k_v^* \to C_k,$$

but this map is **not** bicontinuous, i.e. is **not** a topological embedding if S has more than one element.

§6. Galois operation on ideles and idele classes

Let k be a number field as before, and let

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}: k \to \boldsymbol{\sigma} k$$

be an isomorphism. Each $v \in M_k$ is then mapped on an absolute value $\sigma v \in M_{\sigma k}$, defined by

$$|\sigma x|_{\sigma v} = |x|_{v}, \qquad x \in k,$$

or

$$|y|_{\sigma v} = |\sigma^{-1}y|_{v}, \qquad \qquad y \in \sigma k.$$

Then σ induces an isomorphism on the completions, uniquely determined by continuity, and again denoted by σ , namely

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}: k_v \to (\boldsymbol{\sigma} k)_{\boldsymbol{\sigma} v}.$$

We shall apply this to the case of a finite extension E/k. Consider the product

 $\prod_{w \mid v} E_w$

which occurs as a partial product in the adeles of E. (Putting a star on E would give the same discussion for ideles.) If σ is an isomorphism of E over k, i.e. leaving k fixed, then σ operates on the above product in a natural way, namely if

$$(\sigma a)_{\sigma w} = \sigma(a_w),$$

 $a = \{a_w\}_{w \mid v} \in \prod E_w,$

and thus σ induces an isomorphism

$$\prod_{w \mid v} E_w \to \prod_{w' \mid v} (\sigma E)_{w'},$$

where w' ranges over those elements of $M_{\sigma E}$ such that w'|v.

In particular, suppose that K is Galois over k and let $\sigma \in G(K/k) = G$. Then σ permutes those $w \in M_K$ such that w|v, and hence σ induces an automorphism

$$\prod_{w \mid v} K_w \to \prod_{w \mid v} K_w.$$

The group G permutes the factors K_w transitively, because the elements of G permute the absolute values w|v transitively. The same applies to other products taken for w|v, for instance the product

$$\prod_{w \mid v} U_w,$$

where U_w is the group of local units in K_w , in the case when v is p-adic. This product in that case can also be written

$$\prod_{\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}} U_{\mathfrak{P}}.$$

We shall study this type of operation in greater detail in Chapter IX, \$1. In the operation of G on such a product as

$$\prod_{w\mid v} K_w,$$

the subgroup of G leaving one factor K_w invariant is the subgroup G_w , i.e. the **decomposition group** of w, consisting of all $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma w = w$. We had already considered that subgroup in the context of prime ideals, Chapter I, §5.

The above discussion applies to ideles, because the ideles of K are the unions of the subgroups

$$\prod_{v \in S} \prod_{w \mid v} K_w^* \times \prod_{v \notin S} \prod_{w \mid v} U_w,$$

where S ranges over finite subsets of M_k , and each partial factor taken over w|v is G-invariant.

Finally, we note that G leaves K^* invariant, and hence induces an automorphism of the idele class group J_K/K^* . Since the operation of an element $\sigma \in G$ on J_K is obviously bicontinuous, it follows that the automorphism induced by σ on C_K is also a topological isomorphism.

We have natural embeddings $A_k \to A_E$ and $J_k \to J_E$ corresponding to inclusions $k_v \subset E_w$ for w|v. We leave to the reader the verification that $A_K^G = A_k$ and $J_K^G = J_k$. For each finite extension E of k we have natural homomorphisms

$$A_k/k \to A_E/E$$
 and $J_k/k^* = C_k \to J_E/E^* = C_E$.

Both of these homomorphisms are injective, i.e. are embeddings. Perhaps the easiest way to see this is to use the beginning of the exact sequence for the cohomology of groups as follows. Without loss of generality we may assume that E = K is Galois over k. Say for the map $A_k/k \to A_K/K$, the short exact sequence

$$0 \to K \to A_K \to A_K/K \to 0$$

gives rise to the exact cohomology sequence

$$0 \to H^0(K) \to H^0(\mathbf{A}_K) \to H^0(\mathbf{A}_K/K) \to H^1(K).$$

But $H^1(K) = 0$ because K has a normal basis and the representation of the Galois group G on K is semilocal, with trivial local component so we can apply Lemma 2 of Chapter IX, §1. Since $H^0(K) = k$ and $H^0(\mathbf{A}_K) = \mathbf{A}_k$ we obtain the isomorphism

$$\mathbf{A}_k/k \approx (\mathbf{A}_K/K)^G$$
,

and in particular we obtain the injection of A_k/k into A_K/K . The proof for

$${J}_k/k = C_k o C^G_K$$

follows exactly the same pattern, after using Hilbert's Theorem 90, i.e. the triviality of $H^1(K^*)$ instead of the triviality of $H^1(K)$.

CHAPTER VIII

Elementary Properties of the Zeta Function and L-series

§1. Lemmas on Dirichlet series

We recall the formula for summation by parts. If $\{a_n\}$ and $\{b_n\}$ are sequences of complex numbers, and if we let

$$A_n = a_1 + \dots + a_n$$
 and $B_n = B_1 + \dots + b_n$

be the partial sums, then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} a_n b_n = A_N b_N + \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} A_n (b_n - b_{n+1}).$$

We shall consider series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{a_n}{n^s},$$

where $\{a_n\}$ is a sequence of complex numbers, and s is a complex variable. We write $s = \sigma + it$ with σ , t real.

Theorem 1. If the Dirichlet series $\sum a_n/n^s$ converges for some $s = s_0$, then it converges for any s with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \sigma_0 = \operatorname{Re}(s_0)$, uniformly on any compact subset of this region.

Proof. Write $n^s = n^{s_0} n^{(s-s_0)}$, and sum the following series by parts:

$$\sum \frac{a_n}{n^{s_0}} \frac{1}{n^{(s-s_0)}}$$

If $P_n(s_0) = \sum_{m=1}^n a_m / m^{s_0}$, then the tail ends of this Dirichlet series are given for n > m by

$$\sum_{k=m+1}^{n} \frac{a_k}{k^{s_0}} \frac{1}{k^{s-s_0}} = \frac{P_n(s_0)}{n^{s-s_0}} + \sum_{k=m+1}^{n-1} P_k(s_0) \left[\frac{1}{k^{s-s_0}} - \frac{1}{(k+1)^{s-s_0}} \right] - \frac{P_m(s_0)}{(m+1)^{s-s_0}}.$$

[VIII, §1]

We have

$$\frac{1}{k^{s-s_0}} - \frac{1}{(k+1)^{s-s_0}} = (s-s_0) \int_k^{k+1} \frac{1}{x^{s-s_0+1}} \, dx,$$

which we estimate easily in absolute value. If $\delta > 0$ and $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq \sigma_0 + \delta$, then we conclude that our tail end is small uniformly if $|s - s_0|$ is bounded. This proves the theorem.

Assuming that the Dirichlet series converges for some s, if σ_0 is the smallest real number such that the series converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \sigma_0$, then we call σ_0 the **abscissa of convergence**, and we see that the series converges in the half plane to the right of the line $\sigma = \sigma_0$, but does not converge for any s with $\sigma < \sigma_0$.

If the Dirichlet series converges for $s_1 = \sigma_1 + it_1$, then we must have

$$a_n = O(n^{\sigma_1})$$

because the *n*-th term of the series a_n/n^{s_1} tends to 0. It follows in particular that the Dirichlet series converges absolutely and uniformly or compacts for

$$\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq \sigma_1 + 1 + \delta$$
,

if $\delta > 0$. This is immediately seen by comparison with the series $\sum 1/n^{1+\delta}$. We shall now derive a similar criterion using an estimate for the partial sums of the coefficients of the series.

Theorem 2. Assume that there exists a number C and $\sigma_1 \geq 0$ such that

$$|A_n| = |a_1 + \dots + a_n| \leq C n^{\sigma_1}$$

for all n. Then the abscissa of convergence of $\sum a_n/n^s$ is $\leq \sigma_1$.

Proof. Summing by parts, we find for $n \ge m$,

$$P_n(s) - P_m(s) = A_n \frac{1}{n^s} + \sum_{k=m+1}^{n-1} A_k \left[\frac{1}{k^s} - \frac{1}{(k+1)^s} \right]$$
$$= A_n \frac{1}{n^s} + \sum_{k=m+1}^{n-1} A_k s \int_k^{k+1} \frac{1}{x^{s+1}} dx.$$

Let $\delta > 0$ and let $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq \sigma_1 + \delta$. Then

$$\left| A_k \int_k^{k+1} \frac{1}{x^{s+1}} \, dx \right| \le C \int_k^{k+1} \frac{1}{x^{\sigma - \sigma_1 + 1}} \, dx$$

156

[VIII, §1]

whence taking the sum from k = m + 1 to ∞ we find

. .

$$|P_n(s) - P_m(s)| \leq \frac{C}{n^{\delta}} + C \frac{|s|}{\delta} \frac{1}{(m+1)^{\delta}}.$$

This proves our theorem.

Let

$$\zeta(s)=\sum \frac{1}{n^s}$$

Applying Theorem 2 shows that $\zeta(s)$ is analytic in s, defined by the series for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$. Namely we have $\sigma_1 = 1$ in this case. Furthermore, we have for s real > 1:

$$\frac{1}{s-1} \leq \int_1^\infty \frac{1}{x^s} dx \leq \zeta(s) \leq 1 + \frac{1}{s-1}$$

This follows immediately by comparing the infinite sum with the integral. Hence for s > 1, we have

$$1 \leq (s-1)\zeta(s) \leq s.$$

We shall prove in a moment that ζ can be continued analytically to the line $\sigma = 0$, and that it is analytic except possibly for a singularity at s = 1. The preceding estimate then implies that ζ has a simple pole at s = 1, with residue equal to 1.

To get the analytic continuation, we use a simple trick, namely we consider the alternating zeta function

$$\zeta_2(s) = 1 - \frac{1}{2^s} + \frac{1}{3^s} - \cdots$$

The partial sum of the coefficients of this Dirichlet series are equal to 0 or 1, and therefore are bounded. Theorem 2 shows that $\zeta_2(s)$ is analytic for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$. But

$$\frac{2}{2^s}\zeta(s)+\zeta_2(s)=\zeta(s),$$

and therefore

$$\zeta_2(s) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{2^{s-1}}\right) \zeta(s).$$

By analytic continuation, this already gives an analytic continuation of ζ to the line $\sigma = 0$, and we must still show that there are no poles except at

s = 1. This is easily done by considering

$$\zeta_r(s) = \frac{1}{1^s} + \frac{1}{2^s} + \dots + \frac{1}{(r-1)^s} - \frac{(r-1)}{r^s} + \frac{1}{(r+1)^s} + \dots$$

with $r = 2, 3, \ldots$. Then just as for r = 2, we see that the partial sums of the coefficients of ζ_r are bounded by r, whence ζ_r is analytic for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$. Furthermore, by a similar argument as before, we get

$$\zeta(s) = \frac{\zeta_r(s)}{1 - \frac{1}{r^{s-1}}}.$$

From the expression with ζ_2 , we see that the only possible poles (other than at s = 1) occur when $2^{s-1} = 1$, or equivalently, when

$$s = \frac{2\pi i n}{\log 2} + 1$$

for some integer n. Using ζ_3 , we see in the same way that the only such poles occur at

$$s = \frac{2\pi im}{\log 3} + 1.$$

At any such pole we have $3^n = 2^m$, which shows m = n = 0. This proves:

Theorem 3. The zeta function $\zeta(s)$ is analytic for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$ except for a simple pole at s = 1, with residue 1. If $\delta > 0$, the series $\sum 1/n^s$ converges uniformly on compacts and absolutely in the region $\operatorname{Re}(s) \ge 1 + \delta$.

For applications to the L-series, we consider a special case of Theorem 2, in which the hypothesis is made more precise.

Theorem 4. Let $\{a_n\}$ be a sequence of complex numbers, with partial sums A_n . Let $0 \leq \sigma_1 \leq 1$, and assume that there is a complex number ρ , and C > 0 such that for all n we have

$$|A_n - n\rho| \leq C n^{\sigma_1},$$

or in other words, $A_n = n\rho + O(n^{\sigma_1})$. Then the function

$$f(s) = \sum a_n/n^s$$

defined by the Dirichlet series for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ has an analytic continuation to $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \sigma_1$ where it is analytic except for a simple pole with residue ρ at s = 1.

Proof. The proof is obtained by considering $f(s) - \rho \zeta(s)$, and applying Theorems 2 and 3 directly.

158

§2. Zeta function of a number field

We have for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$:

$$\zeta(s) = \prod_p rac{1}{1-rac{1}{p^s}},$$

the product being taken over all prime numbers p. To see this, recall that if z is a complex number with |z| < 1, then $\log(1 + z)$ is defined by the usual series. Thus the sum

$$\sum_{p} \log\left(1 - \frac{1}{p^s}\right)$$

converges absolutely for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, and the infinite product converges likewise. Expanding out the series for the log, and reordering the terms, we find that $\zeta(s)$ is given by the infinite product, using the unique factorization of a positive integer into prime powers. Furthermore, we have the expression

$$\log \zeta(s) = \sum_{p,m} \frac{1}{mp^{ms}},$$

the sum being taken over all prime numbers p and all integers $m \ge 1$. Observe that the sum

$$\sum_{p,m\geq 2}\frac{1}{mp^{ms}}$$

converges uniformly and absolutely for $\operatorname{Re}(s) \ge \frac{1}{2} + \delta$, $\delta > 0$. Hence only the sum

$$\sum_p \frac{1}{p^s}$$

contributes to the singularity at s = 1.

We use the notation $f(s) \sim g(s)$ to mean that two functions which have a singularity at 1 differ by a function which is analytic at 1. With this notation, we have

$$\zeta(s) \sim \frac{1}{s-1},$$

and

$$\log \zeta(s) \sim \sum_p \frac{1}{p^s} \sim \log \frac{1}{s-1}$$
.

Next consider a number field k with $[k:\mathbf{Q}] = N$. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime ideal of k and $\mathfrak{p}|p$, and if $\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p} = p^{f_{\mathfrak{p}}}$ where $f_{\mathfrak{p}} = \deg \mathfrak{p}$ is the degree of the residue

class field extension, then we have

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{p}\mid p} f_{\mathfrak{p}} \leq N.$$

We define the Dedekind zeta function

$$\zeta_k(s) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}.$$

The sum of the logarithms of the terms yields formally

$$\log \zeta_k(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{p},m} \frac{1}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}} \cdot$$

For $\operatorname{Re}(s) = \sigma > 1$, this sum is dominated by

$$\sum_{p,m} \frac{N}{mp^{m\sigma}} \leq N \log \zeta(\sigma).$$

Consequently the sum for the logarithms of the terms of the infinite product for $\zeta_k(s)$ converges absolutely and uniformly for $\sigma \ge 1 + \delta$, just like the case of $\zeta_Q = \zeta$. We can then exponentiate and multiply out the product. We find the additive expression

$$\zeta_k(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^s}$$

taken over all nonzero ideals a of k. Just as with $\zeta_{\mathbf{Q}}(s)$, we also find

$$\log \zeta_k(s) \sim \sum_{\deg \mathfrak{p}=1} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s} \cdot$$

So far, we have used only the analytic and very simple statements of §1. We shall use the somewhat more refined results of Chapter VI, §3, Theorem 3. For every ideal class \Re of the ideal class group I/P we define

$$\zeta(s,\,\Re)\,=\,\sum_{\mathfrak{a}\in\Re}\frac{1}{\,\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^s}\,\cdot\,$$

Then

$$egin{aligned} &\zeta_k(s) = \sum_{\Re} \zeta(s, \Re) \, , \ &\zeta(s, \Re) = \sum rac{a_n}{n^s} \, , \end{aligned}$$

If we write

then the partial sum
$$A_n = a_1 + \cdots + a_n$$
 is equal to $j(\mathfrak{R}, n)$, the number of ideals in \mathfrak{R} with $\operatorname{Na} \leq n$. Combining the result of Chapter VI, §3,

[VIII, §2]

Theorem 3 and Theorem 4 of the preceding section, we find:

Theorem 5. Let k be a number field, $[k : \mathbf{Q}] = N$, and let \mathfrak{R} be an ideal class. Then $\zeta(s, \mathfrak{R})$ is analytic for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1 - 1/N$, except for a simple pole at s = 1, with residue ρ , given by

$$ho=rac{2^{r_1}(2\pi)^{r_2}R}{w\sqrt{d_k}}$$

The same holds for $\zeta_k(s)$, except that the residue is equal to $h\rho$, where h is the class number.

Similarly, using the estimates for the number of ideals in a generalized ideal class, we obtain:

Theorem 5c. Let c be a cycle of k, and let \Re be a class of $I(c) \mod P_c$. Then $\zeta(s, \Re)$ is analytic for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1 - 1/N$, except for a simple pole at s = 1 with residue ρ_c given in Theorem 3, Chapter VI, §3, depending only on c but not on \Re .

With a notation which will not be misleading because of the choice of letters, we can define

$$\zeta_k(s,\mathfrak{c})=\sum_{(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{c})=1}\frac{1}{N\mathfrak{a}^s}$$

with the sum taken over those ideals prime to c. Then

$$\zeta_k(s, \mathfrak{c}) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \neq \mathfrak{c}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s}},$$

the product taken over those prime ideals p not dividing c. We have

$$\zeta_k(s, \mathfrak{c}) = \sum_{\Re \in I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}} \zeta(s, \Re),$$

and this yields immediately:

Corollary. The function $\zeta_k(s, c)$ is analytic for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1 - 1/N$, except for a simple pole at s = 1 with residue $h_c \rho_c$, where h_c is the order of the group $I(c)/P_c$.

The product for $\zeta_k(s, c)$ differs from the product for $\zeta_k(s)$ by only a finite number of factors, corresponding to those $\mathfrak{p}|c$. This yields a relation

between ρ and ρ_c , namely

$$h
ho = h_{
m c}
ho_{
m c}\prod_{\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}}rac{1}{1-rac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}}.$$

Furthermore, this finite product does not affect the singularity of the logarithm at s = 1, and hence we get:

Theorem 6. The equivalence ~ denoting the property of differing by a function analytic at s = 1, we have $\log \zeta_k(s) \sim \log \zeta_k(s, c)$ and

$$\log \frac{1}{s-1} \sim \log \zeta_k(s) \sim \sum_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{1}{N\mathfrak{p}^s} \sim \sum_{\deg \mathfrak{p}=1} \frac{1}{N\mathfrak{p}^s} \cdot$$

§3. The L-series

Let G be a finite abelian group. The character group \hat{G} consists of all homomorphisms of G into the multiplicative group of roots of unity. If x is a character of G, then

$$\sum_{x \in G} \chi(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \neq 1\\ (G:1) & \text{if } x = 1. \end{cases}$$

This is trivially seen: If x = 1, the statement is clear. If $x \neq 1$, then for some $y \in G$ we have $x(y) \neq 1$. Then

$$\sum_{x \in G} \chi(x) = \sum_{x \in G} \chi(yx) = \chi(y) \sum_{x \in G} \chi(x).$$

Our assertion follows. [We note that the proof applies to a compact abelian group, the sum being replaced by an integral, and the Haar measure being normalized so that $\mu(G) = 1$.]

We shall apply this to the finite abelian group G = I/P of ideal classes in a number field k. More generally, we select a cycle c, and apply this to the finite group $G(c) = I(c)/P_c$ of generalized ideal classes. For each character x of G(c), we have the value x(a) for any ideal $a \in I(c)$. We define the L-series

$$L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}$$

It is clear that the infinite product converges absolutely and uniformly in the same manner as the product for the zeta function $\zeta_k(s)$, and that we

[VIII, §3]

[VIII, §3]

THE L-SERIES

have for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$,

$$\log L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) = \sum_{m, \mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})^m}{m \mathrm{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}}.$$

As before, from the point of view of convergence to $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1/2$, we can do away with the terms having $m \ge 2$, so that

$$\log L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) \sim \sum_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s},$$

and this holds whether we sum over all \mathfrak{p} , or merely over all those \mathfrak{p} such that deg $\mathfrak{p} = 1$. We also have obviously the Dirichlet series representation

$$L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) = \sum_{(\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{c})=1} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{a})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^s},$$

and immediately from the definitions, collecting terms,

$$L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) = \sum_{\Re} \chi(\Re) \zeta(s, \Re),$$

taking the sum over the classes \Re of $I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}$.

Using Theorem 3 of Chapter VI, §3, we can now prove one fact about the L-series $L_{c}(s, x)$ which distinguishes it from the zeta function if $x \neq 1$.

Theorem 7. The Dirichlet series for $L_c(s, x)$ is convergent in the half plane $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1 - 1/N$ if $x \neq 1$, and represents $L_c(s, x)$, which is analytic in that half plane.

Proof. By Theorem 3 loc. cit. we know that the number of ideals \mathfrak{a} in a given class \mathfrak{R} such that $\operatorname{Na} \leq n$ is equal to the same number $\rho_{\mathfrak{c}}n$, with an error term $O(n^{1-1/N})$. Using the remark at the beginning of the section, concerning the sum of a non-trivial character over the elements of a finite abelian group, we conclude that the partial sum of the coefficients of the Dirichlet series satisfies the estimate

$$\sum_{\Re} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{a} \in \Re \\ \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a} \leq n}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) = O(n^{1-1/N}).$$

We can therefore apply Theorem 4 of §1 (with $\rho = 0$!) to conclude the proof.

We shall apply the *L*-series to study the decomposition of primes in abelian extensions. In general, we recall that in a finite extension E/k, a prime \mathfrak{p} of k is said to split completely if there are exactly [E:k] distinct primes \mathfrak{P} of E lying above \mathfrak{p} . For each such \mathfrak{P} , it follows that the extension

of the residue class field has degree $f(\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}) = 1$. We let $S_{E/k}$ be the set of primes of k which split completely in E.

Let K/k be Galois, and let c be a cycle of k divisible by all the ramified primes. (That's all we are going to need for the rest of this section, but what matters is in fact that c is admissible in the sense of Chapter VII, §4.) Consider the intermediate group

$$I(\mathfrak{c}) \supset P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}) \supset P_{\mathfrak{c}}$$

where $\mathfrak{N}(c)$ is the group of norms of fractional ideals of K, prime to c. For any \mathfrak{p} of k and $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ in K, we have

$$N_k^K \mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{p}^{f(\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p})}.$$

Thus \mathfrak{p} splits completely in K if and only if \mathfrak{p} is a norm from K, and \mathfrak{p} is unramified.

The factor group

$$I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c})$$

will be of fundamental importance in class field theory, and we shall use especially its order

$$(I(\mathbf{c}): P_{\mathbf{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathbf{c}))$$

(called the **norm index**) in various technical steps in the proofs of the class field theory. Using what we already know about L-series, we can state and prove a basic result about this order.

Universal Norm Index Inequality. Let c be divisible by the ramified primes of K/k. Then

$$(I(\mathbf{c}): P_{\mathbf{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathbf{c})) \leq [K:k].$$

In other words, the norm index is at most equal to the degree of the extension.

Proof. Let $H = P_c \mathfrak{N}(c)$ and let h = (I(c) : H). Let x be a non-trivial character of the factor group I(c)/H. Then x may also be viewed as a character of $I(c)/P_c$. Let m(x) be the order of the zero of $L_c(s, x)$ at s = 1. Then $m(x) \ge 0$. (We shall see in a moment that m(x) = 0.) Write

$$L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) = (s-1)^{m(\chi)}g(s, \chi).$$

Then

$$\log L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, X) \sim m(X) \log (s-1) = -m(X) \log \frac{1}{s-1}$$

THE L-SERIES

For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ and any character x of I(c)/H, we can write

$$\log L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) \sim \sum_{\Re \in I(\mathfrak{c})/H} \chi(\Re) \sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in \Re} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s} \cdot$$

Take the sum over all characters x of I(c)/H. We find

$$\log \zeta_k(s) + \sum_{\chi \neq 1} \log L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s,\chi) \sim \sum_{\chi} \sum_{\Re} \chi(\Re) \sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in \Re} \frac{1}{\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}$$

Consider only real values of s > 1, let $s \to 1$, and use the sign \geq to mean that the right-hand side is less than or equal to the left-hand side plus some constant, in a neighborhood of 1. For each $\mathfrak{p} \in S_{K/k}$ there are exactly N = [K:k] primes \mathfrak{P} of K lying above \mathfrak{p} . Thus we find:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 - \sum_{\substack{\chi \neq 1}} m(\chi) \end{bmatrix} \log \frac{1}{s-1} \sim h \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{p} \in H}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s} \\ \gtrsim h \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{p} \in S_{K/k}}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s} \\ \gtrsim \frac{h}{N} \sum_{\substack{\deg \mathfrak{P} = 1}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{P}^s} \\ \gtrsim \frac{h}{N} \log \frac{1}{s-1}.$$

From this we conclude that m(x) = 0 for all $x \neq 1$, and the inequality

 $h \leq N$

falls out at the same time. This concludes the proof.

In view of Theorem 8, Chapter VII, §4 we can formulate our inequality for ideles and idele classes.

Corollary. Let K/k be a Galois extension of degree N. Then

$$(J_k:k^*N_k^KJ_K) \leq N$$
 and $(C_k:N_k^KC_K) \leq N$.

It will be a consequence of class field theory that in fact, the norm index is equal to the degree of the maximal abelian subfield of K.

Assuming results of class field theory, we shall indicate in the next section how the same argument which was used to prove our universal inequality can also be used to prove a more general density statement for primes in certain ideal class groups. Conversely, inserting the next section here also serves as motivation for the theorems of class field theory. In fact, historically, this is precisely how one was led to them.

165

[VIII, §3]

§4. Density of primes in arithmetic progressions

Let c be a cycle of k. The class field theory will show that given any intermediate group

$$I(\mathfrak{c})\supset H\supset P_{\mathfrak{c}},$$

there exists an abelian extension K/k such that

$$H = P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}, K/k).$$

In particular, this holds for P_c itself, and therefore the conclusion that m(x) = 0 holds for all characters $x \neq 1$ of $I(c)/P_c$. We state this as a theorem.

Theorem 8. Let c be a cycle of k, and let x be a character of $I(c)/P_c$, $x \neq 1$. Then

$$L_{\mathfrak{c}}(1,\chi)\neq 0.$$

Using the same argument that we did to get our universal inequality, we now obtain a density statement.

Corollary. Let $h_{c} = (I(c): P_{c})$ and let \Re_{0} be a fixed ideal class of I(c) modulo P_{c} , in other words an element of $G(c) = I(c)/P_{c}$. Then for s real, s > 1, $s \to 1$, we have

$$\log \frac{1}{s-1} \sim h_{c} \sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathfrak{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{s}}.$$

Proof. We return to the relation

$$\log L_{\mathfrak{c}}(s, \chi) \sim \sum_{\Re \in G(\mathfrak{c})} \chi(\Re) \sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in \Re} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s} \cdot$$

Multiply the relation by $\chi(\Re_0^{-1})$ and sum over all x. We get

$$\log \zeta_k(s) \sim \sum_{\Re} \sum_{\chi} \chi(\Re \Re_0^{-1}) \sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in \Re} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s}$$

The sum over x yields 0 unless $\Re \Re_0^{-1}$ is the unit class, and therefore

$$\log \frac{1}{s-1} \sim h_c \sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_0} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^s},$$

as was to be proved.

If M is a set of primes of k, it is convenient to speak of the limit

$$\lim_{s \to 1+} \frac{\sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in M} \frac{1}{|\mathsf{N}\mathfrak{p}|^s}}{\log \frac{1}{|s|-1|}}$$

as the **Dirichlet density** of M (if it exists). The corollary of Theorem 8 shows that an ideal class of $I(c)/P_c$ always has such a density, and that this density is precisely $1/h_c$. We can view this as stating that the primes are equidistributed over the ideal classes.

Example. Without any class field theory, we have proved an equidistribution statement in a special case which is already of interest. Indeed, let m > 1 be an integer, and let $c = mv_{\infty}$. Then the field $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m) = K$ obtained by adjoining a primitive *m*-th root of unity to \mathbf{Q} has the property that P_c is precisely its norm class group, as we already mentioned in Chapter VII, §4. Thus we find Dirichlet's theorem that there are infinitely many primes in an ordinary arithmetic progression as a special case of our corollary. We also have a Dirichlet density for these primes, namely $1/\varphi(m)$, where φ is the Euler function.

It is customary, following Artin, to view classes mod P_c in an arbitrary number field to be generalizations of arithmetic progressions, whence the title of this section.

Finally, we note that one can define another notion of density (in some sense, the usual one according to probabilistic practice), namely for any set of primes M, it is the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\text{Number of } \mathfrak{p} \in M \text{ with } \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p} \leq n}{\text{Number of } \mathfrak{p} \text{ with } \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p} \leq n}$$

if it exists. It is a simple exercise to show that if the ordinary density exists, then the Dirichlet density also exists and the two densities are equal. (The converse is not always true.) To prove that the ordinary density exists for our ideal classes requires additional arguments. For results without error terms, we shall carry out these arguments in Chapter XV.

We can obtain a characterization of Galois extensions by means of the set of primes splitting completely in the extension. Let S, T be sets of primes in k. We shall write

 $S \prec T$

if there exists a set of Z of primes of Dirichlet density 0, contained in S, such that $S - Z \subset T$. Thus S is contained in T except for a set of primes of density 0. Observe that we can always take for Z the subset of those primes of S which have degree > 1 (over \mathbf{Q} , i.e. the absolute degree).

Let K/k be a Galois extension and let $S_{K/k}$ be the set of primes of k which split completely in K. If $L \supset K$ is another Galois extension of k, then trivially, $S_{L/k} \subset S_{K/k}$. If

$$S_{K/k} \prec S_{L/k},$$

then L = K. Indeed, $S_{L/k}$ has density 1/[L:k] and hence

$$[L:k] \leq [K:k],$$

so L = K. From this we get:

Theorem 9. Let K/k be a Galois extension and E a finite extension of k. Then $S_{K/k} \prec S_{E/k}$ if and only if $E \subset K$.

Proof. A prime \mathfrak{p} of k splits completely in E if and only if it splits completely in the smallest Galois extension L of k containing E, because this condition is equivalent to every conjugate of E over k being contained in the completion $k_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Hence we may assume without loss of generality that E = L is Galois over k. If $L \subset K$, then $S_{K/k} \prec S_{L/k}$ so this direction is obvious. Conversely, assume that $S_{K/k} \prec S_{L/k}$. Then $KL \supset K$ and KL is Galois over k. But

Hence

$$S_{KL/k} = S_{L/k} \cap S_{K/k}.$$

 $S_{K/k} \prec S_{KL/k},$

and we can apply the remark preceding the theorem to conclude that KL = K, whence $L \subset K$, thus proving our theorem.

We conclude this chapter by pointing out a non-abelian generalization of the density statements. We assume that the reader knows the class field theory, and more specifically the Artin reciprocity law, which says that we have an isomorphism

$$I(\mathfrak{c})/H \xrightarrow{\approx} G,$$

where H is a subgroup of ideals containing P_c , and G is the Galois group of an abelian extension K of k, class field to H. This isomorphism is given on primes p by the Artin symbol

$$\mathfrak{p} \mapsto (\mathfrak{p}, K/k),$$

and is extended to all fractional ideals by multiplicativity.

Given a Galois extension K/k with group G, and $\sigma \in G$, we ask for the density of those primes \mathfrak{p} in k for which there exists $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ in K such that

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}=(\mathfrak{P},K/k),$$

i.e. σ is the Frobenius automorphism of \mathfrak{P} in K. The prime \mathfrak{p} in k actually determines the conjugacy class of σ in G, since all the primes in K lying above \mathfrak{p} are conjugate.

Theorem 10. (Tchebotarev). Let K/k be Galois with group G. Let $\sigma \in G$. Let [K:k] = N, and let c be the number of elements in the conjugacy class of σ in G. Then those primes \mathfrak{p} of k which are unramified in K and for which there exists $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ such that

$$\sigma = (\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$$

have a density, and this density is equal to c/N.

Proof. The simple argument which follows is due to Deuring (Math. Ann. 110, 1934). Let σ have order f. Let Z be the fixed field of σ . Then K/Z is cyclic of degree f, and therefore a class field. If c is an admissible cycle for K/Z, then we have the Artin isomorphism

$$I(\mathfrak{c})/H \to G(K/Z),$$

where H is a subgroup of I(c) containing P_c . Let S be the set of primes \mathfrak{p} of k satisfying the condition of the theorem, and prime to c. Let $S_{K,\sigma}$ be the set of \mathfrak{P} in K such that $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ for $\mathfrak{p} \in S$, and $(\mathfrak{P}, K/k) = \sigma$. Let $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{q}$ for \mathfrak{q} in Z. Then $S_{K,\sigma}$ is in bijection with the set S_Z of \mathfrak{q} in Z which lie in a given class mod H, and which divide \mathfrak{p} splitting completely in Z. However, the density depends only on those primes of degree 1 over \mathbb{Q} . Hence S_Z has density 1/f, by the density statement for abelian, or even cyclic extensions. On the other hand, for a fixed \mathfrak{p} , the number of \mathfrak{P} in K lying above \mathfrak{p} and such that

$$\sigma = (\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$$

is equal to

$$\frac{(G_{\sigma}:1)}{(G_{\mathfrak{P}}:1)},$$

where G_{σ} is the subgroup of elements of G commuting with σ , and $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P} . Since $(G:G_{\sigma}) = c$, we find that this number is equal to N/cf. The density of S is thus equal to 1/f divided by N/cf, which gives us c/N, and proves the theorem.

For historical comments on the density theorem, cf. the introductory remarks to the next part. Let us add here only that when one has certain error terms in the density statements, Artin showed, using the formalism of the non-abelian L-series (which we discuss later), how to give the Tchebotarev density with similar error terms, formally using induced characters. We refer the reader to the original paper in Artin's collected works. For our purposes here, the simple argument of Deuring was sufficiently appropriate.

As an application of Tchebotarev density, we prove:

Corollary. Let E be a finite extension of k. If all primes in k except a set of Dirichlet density zero split completely in E, then E = k. More generally, let f be an irreducible polynomial over k. If f has at least one root in k_p for all primes p except for a set of Dirichlet density zero, then f has degree 1.

Proof. Let α be a root of f and let $E = k(\alpha)$. Let K be the smallest Galois extension of k containing E. Let G = Gal(K/k) and H = Gal(K/E). The hypothesis on f implies that for almost all \mathfrak{p} , and a prime \mathfrak{P} in K above \mathfrak{p} , the conjugacy class of $(\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$ in G intersects H, and so G is the union of the conjugates of H. If H is a proper subgroup, this is impossible. [The number of conjugates of H is $\leq (G:H)$, and

$$#(G) = #(H)(G:H),$$

while all the conjugates of H have the unit element in common, so G cannot be covered by all the conjugates of H.] Hence H = G, E = K, and almost all primes of k split completely in K, contradicting Tchebotarev's theorem.

§5. Faltings' finiteness theorem

In this section we give a beautifully simple finiteness result discovered by Faltings for use in his proof of the Mordell conjecture. We assume that the reader is acquainted with elementary facts about semisimple representations. We let l be a prime number, and we let V be a finite dimensional vector space over the l-adic numbers \mathbf{Q}_l . Let F be a number field, $G_F = G(F^a/F)$ the Galois group of the algebraic closure over F (so G_F is infinite), and let

$$\rho: G_F \to \operatorname{Aut}(V)$$

170

be a continuous homomorphism, also called a representation of G_F in V, or an *l*-adic representation. The kernel of ρ is a closed normal subgroup, whose fixed field is a possibly infinite Galois extension K of F. To a prime \mathfrak{p} of F, as in the finite case, there is a prime \mathfrak{P} of F^a lying above \mathfrak{p} , and all such primes \mathfrak{P} are conjugate by elements of G_F . Also as in the finite case, we have the decomposition group $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ consisting of all $\sigma \in G_F$ such that $\sigma P = P$. We let T_P be the inertia group, consisting of all $\sigma \in G_P$ such that σ induces the identity on the residue class field extension. We say that ρ is unramified at P if $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is contained in the kernel of ρ for some \mathfrak{P} above \mathfrak{p} . Then it follows that $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is contained in the kernel of ρ for all $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ because all the inertia groups of primes above \mathfrak{p} are conjugate. As in the finite case, if ρ is unramified at \mathfrak{p} we have a Frobenius element $\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}}$ for each $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, and such elements are all conjugate. We let $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denote $\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}}$ for any $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$.

Theorem 11 (Faltings). Let F be a number field and let d be a positive integer. Let S be a finite set of primes of F. For each prime p of F, and $p \notin S$, let Z_p be a finite set of elements of Q_l . Up to isomorphism, there exists only a finite number of semisimple representations of G_F of dimension d over Q_l , unramified outside S, and such that for $p \notin S$, the traces of Frobenius elements tr $\rho(\sigma_p)$ lie in Z_p .

The proof of Theorem 11 is based on the following lemma.

Lemma. Given a finite set S of primes of F, there exists a finite set S' of primes disjoint from l and S, such that if ρ , ρ' are two semisimple l-adic representations of dimension d of G_F , unramified outside S, and if

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho(\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}) = \operatorname{tr} \rho'(\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}) \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathfrak{p} \in S',$$

then ρ is G_F -isomorphic to ρ' .

Proof. Since G_F is compact, in the *l*-adic spaces V and V' of ρ and ρ' , there exist *l*-adic lattices M in V and M' in V' which are G_F -stable. (An *l*-adic lattice is a free \mathbb{Z}_l -module of rank d.) Let R be the \mathbb{Z}_l -algebra generated by the image of G_F in

$$\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{Z}_{l}}(M) \times \operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{Z}_{l}}(M').$$

Then $\dim_{\mathbf{Z}_{l}}(R) \leq 8d^{2}$. We have a natural homomorphism

$$G_F \rightarrow (R/lR)^*$$

and $\#(R/lR) \leq l^{\dim R}$. Hence the cardinality of R/lR is bounded. Furthermore, by Nakayama's lemma, representatives of R/lR generate R over Z_l , and R/lR is itself generated over Z_l/lZ_l by the images of the elements of G_F in $(R/lR)^*$. The representation of G_F in the finite group $(R/lR)^*$ is unramified outside S. By Hermite's theorem, there exists only a finite
number of extensions of a number field of bounded degree, unramified outside S. Thus in fact, there is a subgroup H which is closed and of finite index in G_F such that for all representations ρ , ρ' as in the lemma, the kernel contains H, and we are actually representing the finite group G/H in $(R/lR)^*$. Now by Tchebotarev's theorem, there exists a finite set S' of absolute values such that the Frobenius elements σ_p for $p \in S'$ have images which cover the image of G_F in $(R/lR)^*$. If

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho(\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}) = \operatorname{tr} \rho'(\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}) \quad \text{for all} \quad \mathfrak{p} \in S',$$

then we obtain tr $\rho(\alpha) = \operatorname{tr} \rho'(\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in R$, whence ρ is G_F -isomorphic to ρ' since the representations are assumed semisimple. This proves the lemma.

If we now apply the hypothesis that the traces of Frobenius elements are bounded, in the sense that they can take only a finite number of values for each v, then Theorem 11 follows directly from the lemma.

PART TWO CLASS FIELD THEORY

The fact that there exist relations between ideal class groups and abelian extensions of a number field was observed during the end of the nineteenth century. At first, only the fact that the primes in the unit class are precisely those which split completely in a suitable extension was taken to be the defining relation of a class field by Hilbert, who defined what is now called the Hilbert class field, namely the maximal unramified abelian extension, and conjectured its principal properties. He proved them in special cases, and general proofs were given by Furtwangler.

Weber defined the generalized ideal classes, and proved the uniqueness of the class field corresponding to them, conjecturing the existence, and pointing out that the existence of infinitely many primes in a generalized ideal class would follow from the existence of the class field (precisely the method we have adopted in this book).

Finally, in 1920, Takagi extended the Weber and Hilbert-Furtwangler theorems to the most general case, especially proving the existence theorem for abelian extensions corresponding to generalized ideal class groups, and showing that the Galois group of such an extension was isomorphic to the corresponding ideal class group. However, during all this period, both the splitting laws and the isomorphism were obtained essentially from the numerical invariants, that is the numbers e, f for the splitting case, and the order of the ideal class group for the isomorphism. Since a cyclic group is determined (up to isomorphism) by its order, and since a finite abelian group is a product of cyclic groups, the isomorphism between the Galois group of an abelian extension K/k and the ideal class group $I(c)/P_c \mathfrak{N}(c)$ could be obtained just by counting, and a reduction to the cyclic case.

On the other hand, Frobenius had associated a conjugacy class of elements in the Galois group of a Galois extension to a prime in the ground field, and conjectured that set of primes having a given conjugacy class has the obvious density. He could prove only a weaker result, corresponding to a coarser decomposition of the group into larger classes. In 1923, Artin defined his non-abelian L-series, and conjectured that in

the abelian case, the isomorphism of class field theory was induced by the Frobenius automorphism

$$\mathfrak{p} \mapsto (\mathfrak{p}, K/k).$$

In 1926, Tchebotarev proved the Frobenius conjecture by using cyclotomic fields, and Artin, recognizing the connection with his reciprocity law, succeeded in proving his conjecture in 1927, thus completing the basic statements of class field theory. (A more detailed history with references is given in Hasse's Bericht "Über neuere Untersuchungen und Probleme der algebraischen Zahlkörper", reprinted by Physica-Verlag, Wurzburg, Wien, 1965. See also Hasse's talk at the Brighton Conference, [CaF 68].)

Thus in this period, from about 1880 to 1927, we see the class field theory developing from three themes: the decomposition of primes, abelian extensions, and ideal class groups.

In 1936, Chevalley introduced the ideles in order to formulate the class field theory for infinite extensions. [Shortly afterwards, Weil introduced adeles, and gave his adelic proof of the Riemann-Roch theorem.] The ideles are very useful technically (among other things) because every generalized ideal class group is a homomorphic image of the idele class group J/k^* . Thus expositions of class field theory making greater use of the ideles were given by Artin in seminars in the late forties. The treatment which I give in this book follows roughly one of these seminars. with some exceptions: I have still made use of the generalized ideal class groups because when the Artin symbol is given for unramified p, these ideal groups occur naturally and I think it obscures matters deliberately to disregard them. More importantly, I have used the oldest proof for the universal norm inequality (Weber's proof) both because it is more natural than the "purely algebraic" proof of Chevalley (reproduced in Artin-Tate), and also because it motivates the whole approach to class field theory through the density of primes in arithmetic progressions, and the splitting laws. The proof of the reciprocity law is a simplification by Artin himself of his original 1927 proof.

There is another approach to the class field theory, first started in the early thirties by Hasse, namely through the theory of simple algebras, centering around the fundamental theorem that a simple algebra over k splits over k if and only if it splits locally everywhere (Albert-Hasse-Brauer-Noether). Hasse also shows how to associate invariants with a division algebra, and how the reciprocity law has a formulation in terms of the sum of the invariants being equal to 0 (*Math. Ann.*, 1932). Hoch-schild in 1950 pointed out that one could express the class field theory only in terms of cohomology; the simple algebras were unnecessary if one

used only the 2-cocycle used to define them. At about this time, Weil also emphasized the cohomology, by discovering the fundamental 2-cocycle of idele classes. The Artin-Tate notes give a complete systematic treatment from the point of view of cohomology. This approach, which shows that the second cohomology group of the idele classes (for the algebraic closure) is isomorphic to Q/Z, provides a good background for theories where this result is used to obtain pairings, e.g. some diophantine questions related to abelian varieties over p-adic fields or number fields as in the work of Tate. In this direction, the simple algebras do not appear. This second cohomology group is used as a receiver of character values.

On the other hand, starting from the functional equation of the zeta function of a division algebra (obtained by Hey, unpublished thesis, Hamburg 1929, cf. Deuring's *Algebren*), Zorn showed how the fundamental theorem on simple algebras over number fields could easily be obtained as a corollary, thus providing still another alternative approach to the class field theory (*Hamburg Abh.*, 1933). After a slumber of thirty years, this approach has again become important because of the recent advances in the arithmetic theory of semisimple Lie groups, and it is the one selected by Weil in his *Basic Number Theory*.

A fourth way of describing the class field theory, and in many ways the most exciting, originated with Kronecker, and consists in giving "natural" generators for class fields as values of transcendental functions, and obtaining an explicit reciprocity law in terms of them. As of now, this program (Kronecker's Jugendtraum) has succeeded only for a limited number of class fields, essentially those over totally imaginary quadratic extensions of totally real fields, in excess of the class fields over the totally real subfield.

The analogy between number fields and function fields in one variable has been a prime source of motivation ever since the nineteenth century (passing through Hensel-Landsberg, Artin's thesis, etc.). Both Artin-Tate and Weil axiomatize the class field theory so that it applies as well to the function fields over finite constant fields. However, once the analogy has been understood, there are some reasons for giving alternative expositions for the two cases. First, certain aspects of number fields are still shrouded in mystery while the corresponding aspects of the function field case are cleared up. Thus a certain emphasis on the peculiarities of number fields is not out of place. Secondly, one can give an exposition of the class field theory in the function field case making use of the generalized Jacobians of Rosenlicht, by a method which was new even in the simplest case of unramified extensions of elliptic function fields, independently of these generalized Jacobians. I did this in two articles (Annals of Math., 1956 and Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France, 1956), as a by-product

of showing how to formulate class field theoretic results for higher dimensional varieties. The essential idea is to map the variety into a commutative algebraic group, obtain explicit coverings for the group defined over the finite field with q elements (e.g. the covering defined by the formula $x \mapsto x^{(q)} - x$, verify trivially the reciprocity law for these coverings, and then pull them back to the variety. In the case of curves, Rosenlicht's universal mapping theorem for his generalized Jacobians gives a convenient family of mappings, cofinal with the family of all maps into all commutative algebraic groups. The generalized Jacobians correspond to the generalized ideal class groups of Weber (history comes around full circle). In the "geometric case", this approach allows one to have a much clearer insight into the whole class field theory, since the existence theorem and the reciprocity law become obvious once the machinery of algebraic geometry is available. For these reasons, I have limited myself in the present book to an exposition of the class field theory over number fields. With only minor modifications, though, proofs are also seen to apply to the function field case. (Only exception: the existence theorem for p-extensions, p equal to the characteristic.)

If there is one moral which deserves emphasis, however, it is that no one piece of insight which has been evolved since the beginning of the subject has ever been "superseded" by subsequent pieces of insight. They may have moved through various stages of fashionability, and various authors may have claimed to give so-called "modern" treatments. You should be warned that acquaintance with only one of the approaches will deprive you of techniques and understandings reflected by the other approaches, and you should not interpret my choosing one method as anything but a means of making easily available an exposition which had fallen out of fashion for twenty years.

Note

The first chapter of this part is quite technical. The reader is advised to read immediately the beginning of Chapter X, i.e. the description of the reciprocity law isomorphism, and the statements of the main results of class field theory in Chapter X, \$2 and \$3.

CHAPTER IX

Norm Index Computations

§1. Algebraic preliminaries

The Herbrand quotient

We begin by considerations of general abelian groups, which will be used both in the local and global case. We recall the index relation

$$(A:B) = (A^{J}:B^{J})(A_{f}:B_{f}),$$

if $A \supset B$ are abelian groups, f is a homomorphism of A. This was already used in Chapter II, §3.

Let f, g be homomorphisms of A into itself such that

$$f \circ g = g \circ f = 0.$$

Then we define the Herbrand quotient

$$Q(A) = Q_{f,g}(A) = \frac{(A_f : A^g)}{(A_g : A^f)},$$

if the indices in the numerator and denominator are finite.

Lemma 1. If B is a subgroup of A which is mapped into itself by f and g, so that f, g may be viewed also as endomorphisms of the factor group A/B, then

$$Q(A) = Q(B)Q(A/B),$$

in the sense that if two of the quotients are defined, so is the third and the relation holds. Furthermore, if A is finite, then

$$Q(A) = 1.$$

Proof. One may view the quotient Q as an Euler-Poincaré characteristic of a complex of length 2 (cf. my book Algebra, Chapter IV), and apply a general result, of an elementary nature, to deduce the multiplicativity property. We shall reproduce a sketch of the proof below in our special case. First, we give a proof for the simpler case when B is of finite index in A. We have

$$(A:B) = (A^{f}:B^{f})(A_{f}:B_{f}) = (A^{f}:B^{f})\frac{(A_{f}:B^{g})}{(B_{f}:B^{g})}$$
$$= (A^{f}:B^{f})(A^{g}:B^{g})\frac{(A_{f}:A^{g})}{(B_{f}:B^{g})},$$

whence

$$\frac{(A:B)}{(A^f:B^f)(A^g:B^g)} = \frac{(A_f:A^g)}{(B_f:B^g)} \cdot$$

The left-hand side is symmetric in f and g, so that

$$\frac{(A_f:A^g)}{(B_f:B^g)} = \frac{(A_g:A^f)}{(B_g:B^f)} \cdot$$

This proves that Q(A) = Q(B). The reader can verify for himself that all the steps were legitimate (i.e. under the assumption that Q(A) or Q(B) is finite, then we never divided by zero or infinity.)

Now for the general case. We have a sequence

$$0 \to B \to A \to C \to 0$$

where C = A/B. We define

 $H_0(A) = A_f/A^g$ and $H_1(A) = A_g/A^f$.

And similarly for B and C. We construct a diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H_0(A) \to H_0(C) \\ \swarrow & & \searrow^{\delta} \\ H_0(B) & & H_1(B) \\ & & \swarrow \\ & & \swarrow \\ & & H_1(C) \leftarrow H_1(A) \end{array}$$

which is exact, i.e. such that the image of each arrow is the kernel of the next arrow. Going from B to A, and A to C, the arrows are simply the natural homomorphisms induced by the inclusion $B \to A$ and the canonical map $A \to A/B = C$. The maps δ are defined as follows. Let $c \in C_f$ represent an element of $H_0(C)$. Then fc = 0. There exists $a \in A$ such that c = ja, if $j: A \to C$ is the canonical homomorphism. Then

$$jfa = fja = 0,$$

so that $fa \in B$, and in fact $fa \in B_g$. It is immediate to verify that the

[IX, §1]

[IX, §1]

association

 $c \mapsto \text{class of } fa \mod B^f$

is a well defined homomorphism, whose kernel contains C^{g} , and hence defines a homomorphism

$$\delta$$
: $H_0(C) \rightarrow H_1(B)$.

The map from $H_1(C)$ to $H_0(B)$ is defined similarly. It is a routine matter to prove that with these definitions, the hexagon is exact.

If the quotient Q is defined for two out of three of A, B, C we see from the hexagon and the exactness that it must be defined for the third. Under this condition, we order our six groups in the diagram clockwise, starting say with $H_0(A)$, and denote them by M_i $(i = 1, \ldots, 6 \mod 6)$. Let k_i be the order of the kernel of the arrow leaving M_i and let m_i be the order of the image of the arrow arriving at M_i . Then

ord
$$M_i = m_i k_{i+1}$$
.

Furthermore $m_i = k_i$ by exactness. Hence

$$m_1m_3m_5k_2k_4k_6 = m_2m_4m_6k_1k_3k_5.$$

Dividing suitably yields the relation Q(A) = Q(B)Q(C), thus proving the multiplicativity of Q.

We shall next give the proof for the second statement, Q(A) = 1 if A is finite. We have the following lattice of subgroups:



Under the map g we have an isomorphism $A/A_g \approx A^g$ and similarly with f replacing g. Thus opposite slanting sides of the hexagon are equal. It follows that the vertical sides are also equal, thus proving what we want. (Equality here means that the corresponding factor groups have the same order. As an abuse of language, it is very much less obnoxious than the corresponding abuse in plane geometry...)

The preceding lemma will be referred to as the **Q-machine**. It will be used in the following context. Let G be a cyclic group operating on an

abelian group A. Let σ be a generator of G. Let

$$f = 1 - \sigma$$
 and $g = 1 + \sigma + \cdots + \sigma^{n-1}$

where *n* is the order of *G*. Let A^G be the subgroup $A_{1-\sigma}$, i.e. the subgroup of *A* consisting of those elements fixed by *G*. Note that

$$1 + \sigma + \cdots + \sigma^{n-1} = \operatorname{Tr}_G$$

is a "trace" map, which in multiplicative notation would be denoted by a norm map. Thus our quotient in this case is

$$Q(G, A) = Q(A) = \frac{(A^G : \operatorname{Tr}_G A)}{(A_{\operatorname{Tr}} : (1 - \sigma)A)}$$

The numerator is the trace index (norm index in multiplicative notation).

If G operates with trivial action on Z (or any infinite cyclic group, then we have

$$Q(G, \mathbf{Z}) = (G:1)$$

i.e. the Herbrand quotient is equal to the order of G. This follows because $\mathbf{Z}^{G} = \mathbf{Z}$, $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathbf{Z}) = n\mathbf{Z}$ (where *n* is the order of G), and $\mathbf{Z}_{\mathrm{Tr}} = 0$.

Let G be an arbitrary finite group operating on an abelian group A. We associate with (G, A) two abelian groups

$$H^0(G, A) = A^G/\mathrm{Tr}_G A$$
 and $H^{-1}(G, A) = A_{\mathrm{Tr}}/I_G A$,

where I_G is the ideal of the group ring $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ consisting of all Z-linear combinations of $(1 - \sigma)$ for $\sigma \in G$. It is an ideal, because for $\tau \in G$ we have

$$\tau-\tau\sigma=\tau-1+1-\tau\sigma.$$

Thus I_GA by definition consists of the *G*-submodule generated by the elements $a - \sigma a$, with $a \in A$ and $\sigma \in G$. If *G* is cyclic, and σ is a generator of *G*, then

$$I_G A = (1 - \sigma) A,$$

because $1 - \sigma^i = (1 - \sigma)(1 + \cdots + \sigma^{i-1})$.

In homological terminology, we see that the numerator and denominator of the Herbrand quotient are simply orders of cohomology groups, namely the orders of H^0 and H^{-1} respectively.

182

[IX, §1]

Semilocal representations

We shall now prove some lemmas which are useful in computing these orders in a situation which arises all the time. We consider a finite group G operating on the abelian group A. Assume that A is given as a direct sum of subgroups,

$$A = \prod_{i=1}^{s} A_{i},$$

and that G permutes these subgroups A_i transitively. When that occurs, we say that the operation of G is **semilocal**. Let G_1 be the decomposition group of A_1 (i.e. the subgroup of elements $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma A_1 = A_1$). We call (G_1, A_1) its local component. Each element $a \in A$ can be written uniquely

$$a=\sum_{i=1}^{s}a_{i},$$

with $a_i \in A_i$. Furthermore, let

$$G = \bigcup_{i=1}^{s} \sigma_i G_1 \qquad (\sigma_1 = 1)$$

be a left coset decomposition of G. We can choose the indices i in such a way that $\sigma_i A_1 = A_i$. In that case, each element $a_i \in A_i$ can be written as $\sigma_i a'_i$ for a uniquely determined element $a'_i \in A_1$.

Lemma 2. The projection $\pi: A \to A_1$ induces an isomorphism

$$H^{0}(G, A) \approx H^{0}(G_{1}, A_{1}).$$

Proof. We first observe that A^{G} consists of all elements of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} \sigma_i a_1, \qquad \qquad \text{with } a_1 \in A_1^{G_1}$$

Namely, it is clear that such an element is fixed under G. On the other hand, if

$$a = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sigma_i a'_i \qquad (a'_i \in A_1)$$

is fixed under G, then for a fixed index j we apply σ_j^{-1} and see that $a'_j = \sigma_j^{-1}\sigma_j a'_j$ is the A_1 -component of $\sigma_j^{-1}a = a$. Hence $a'_j = a'_1$ for all j, thus proving our assertion. In particular, an element of A^G is uniquely

determined by its first component, and thus the projection gives an isomorphism

$$A^G \xrightarrow{\approx} A_1^{G_1}$$

On the other hand, for a fixed j and $a_1 \in A_1$ we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{G}(\sigma_{j}a_{1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in G} \sigma a_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sigma_{i} \operatorname{Tr}_{G_{1}}(a_{1}).$$

This shows that $Tr_G(A)$ consists precisely of those elements of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^s \sigma_i \operatorname{Tr}_{G_1}(a_1), \qquad a_1 \in A_1.$$

Thus it is clear that $A^{G}/\mathrm{Tr}_{G}A \approx A^{G_{1}}/\mathrm{Tr}_{G_{1}}(A_{1})$, and the lemma is proved.

Lemma 3. There is an isomorphism (to be described in the proof)

$$H^{-1}(G, A) \approx H^{-1}(G_1, A_1)$$

Proof. Let

$$a = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sigma_i a'_i, \qquad \qquad a'_i \in A_1.$$

Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{G}(a) = \sum_{j=1}^{s} \sigma_{j} \operatorname{Tr}_{G_{1}}(a'_{1} + \cdots + a'_{s}).$$

Hence $\operatorname{Tr}_G(a) = 0$ if and only if $\operatorname{Tr}_{G_1}(a'_1 + \cdots + a'_s) = 0$. The map

$$a \mapsto a'_1 + \cdots + a'_s$$

is therefore a homomorphism

$$\lambda : \operatorname{Ker} \operatorname{Tr}_{G} \to \operatorname{Ker} \operatorname{Tr}_{G_1},$$

which is obviously surjective (take $a = a_1$ in Ker Tr_{G_1}). We show that λ maps $I_G A$ into $I_{G_1} A_1$. If $\sigma \in G$, then there is a permutation π of the indices *i* such that

$$\sigma\sigma_i = \sigma_{\pi(i)}\tau_{\pi(i)}$$

with some $\tau_{\pi(i)} \in G_1$. Hence

$$\lambda(\sigma a - a) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} (\tau_{\pi(i)}a'_i - a'_i),$$

thus proving our assertion. To conclude the proof, it will suffice to show

[IX, §2]

that if $\lambda(a) = 0$ then $a \in I_G A$. But if $a'_1 + \cdots + a'_s = 0$ we can write

$$a=\sum_{i=1}^{s} (\sigma_i a'_i - a'_i),$$

and so $a \in I_G A$. This proves our lemma.

Remark. The two lemmas are frequently used in case $G_1 = \{1\}$, and in that case, we see that $H^0(G, A) = H^{-1}(G, A) = 0$. This occurs in the case of the "regular" representation of G, of which the following is an important case. Let K/k be a Galois extension with group G. It is known from elementary algebra that there exists a normal basis for K/k, i.e. a basis consisting of elements $\{\omega_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma\in G}$ such that for any $\tau \in G$ we have $\tau \omega_{\sigma} = \omega_{\tau\sigma}$. In that case, G permutes the 1-dimensional k-spaces $k \cdot \omega_{\sigma}$ transitively, and each decomposition group is trivial. Thus we get

$$H^0(G, K) = H^{-1}(G, K) = 0.$$

If K/k is cyclic, then we always have

$$H^{-1}(G, K^*) = 1.$$

This is nothing but Hilbert's Theorem 90.

§2. Exponential and logarithm functions

Let k be a p-adic field, and let $|| = ||_{p}$. The series

$$\log(1+x) = x - \frac{x^2}{2} + \frac{x^3}{3} - \cdots$$

converges for all $x \in k$ such that |x| < 1. To see this, let

$$p^r \leq n < p^{r+1}.$$

Then

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x^n/n = n \cdot \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x - \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} n \ge n \cdot \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x - r,$$

and the right-hand side tends to infinity with n.

For sufficiently small x, we shall see that $\log(1 + x)$ and x have the same order at \mathfrak{p} . Precisely, we shall prove that if $n \geq 2$ and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x > \frac{e}{p-1}$$
, or equivalently, $|x| < p^{-1/(p-1)}$

185

then $|x^n/n| < |x|$. Namely, we have

$$\log_p |x^n/n| - \log_p |x| = (n-1) \log_p |x| - \log_p |n|$$

< $-\frac{n-1}{p-1} + r \leq 0.$

This shows that $\log_p |x^n/n| < \log_p |x|$, whence $|x^n/n| < |x|$. Hence for such x, we find that the series of $\log(1 + x)$ is dominated by its first term x (remember that the absolute value is non-archimedean!) so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}}\log(1+x) = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x$$

whenever $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x > e/(p-1)$.

The functional equation

$$\log(\alpha\beta) = \log \alpha + \log \beta$$

holds whenever α and β are $\equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$, and we define

$$\log \alpha = \log(1 - (1 - \alpha)).$$

Indeed, it is true as a formal power series relation, and the series involved converge.

The series

$$\exp x = 1 + x + \frac{x^2}{2!} + \frac{x^3}{3!} + \cdots$$

converges for all x such that $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x > e/(p-1)$, that is in the same disc that the log series behaves well, and in that disc, we have the same type of relation as for the log, namely

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}}(\exp x - 1).$$

In fact, for $n \ge 2$, and x in that disc, we have again $|x^n/n!| < |x|$.

To prove this, we meet a slightly more difficult situation than for the log, because the factorials are more divisible and thus tend to zero more strongly than the mere n of the log series. We write

$$n = a_0 + a_1 p + \cdots + a_r p^r$$

with rational integers a_i satisfying $0 \leq a_i \leq p - 1$. Then

$$[n/p] = a_1 + a_2 p + \dots + a_r p^{r-1}$$

$$[n/p^2] = a_2 + \dots + a_r p^{r-2}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots$$

$$[n/p^r] = a_1 + a_2 p + \dots + a_r p^{r-2}$$

[IX, §2]

186

Hence

$$\operatorname{ord}_p n! = a_1 + (p+1)a_2 + \cdots + (p^{r-1} + \cdots + 1)a_r,$$

and

$$(p-1) \operatorname{ord}_p n! = (p-1)a_1 + (p^2 - 1)a_2 + \dots + (p^r - 1)a_r$$

= $n - (a_0 + \dots + a_r).$

Consequently, we find for $n \geq 2$,

$$egin{aligned} \log_p |x^n/n!| &= n \cdot \log_p |x| - \log_p |n!| \ &< n iggl[\log_p |x| + rac{1}{p-1} iggr] \end{aligned}$$

and also

$$\begin{aligned} \log_p |x^n/n!| &- \log_p |x| = (n-1) \log_p |x| - \log_p |n!| \\ &< -\frac{n-1}{p-1} + \frac{1}{p-1} [n - (a_0 + \dots + a_r)] \leq 0. \end{aligned}$$

This shows both that $x^n/n! \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ (for the *p*-adic topology), and also shows that for $n \ge 2$, we have $|x^n/n!| < |x|$, thus proving all our assertions.

In the disc $|x| < p^{-1/(p-1)}$, we conclude that

$$\exp \log(1+x) = 1+x$$
 and $\log \exp x = x$.

Namely, this is a formal power series identity, and all the series converge. In particular, for small $\delta > 0$, and this is all that we shall need in the rest of class field theory, we see that δ -neighborhoods of 1 and 0 are mapped isomorphically onto each other by the log and exp respectively. We shall not need the exact maximal domain in which this is true.

§3. The local norm index

Let k be a p-adic field. Let K/k be a cyclic extension of degree N, with group G, and let σ be a generator. Let U_k be the group of units in k, and U_K the group of units in K. We let e be the ramification index and f the residue class degree as usual.

The Galois group G operates on U_K and K^* . We are interested in

$$H^{0}(G, K^{*}) = k^{*}/N_{k}^{K}K^{*},$$

or less precisely in the index $(k^*: N_k^K K^*)$. We shall prove:

Lemma 4. Hypotheses being as above, we have

$$Q(G, K^*) = (k^*: N_k^K K^*) = [K:k],$$

$$(U_k: N_k^K U_K) = e, \qquad Q(G, U_K) = 1.$$

Proof. We use the Q-machine. By Hilbert's Theorem 90 we know that $H^{-1}(G, K^*) = 1$. Hence

$$Q(K^*) = (k^* : N_k^K K^*)$$

is our norm index. We have $K^*/U_K \approx \mathbb{Z}$ (with trivial action, because $|\sigma \alpha| = |\alpha|$ for all $\alpha \in K^*$), whence

$$[K:k] = Q(\mathbf{Z}) = Q(K^*)/Q(U_K)$$

provided that we can show that $Q(U_K)$ is defined. In fact, we shall prove that it is equal to 1.

Let $\{\omega_{\tau}\}$ be a normal basis of K over k. After multiplying the elements of this basis by a high power of a prime element π in k, we can assume that they have small absolute value. Let

$$M=\sum_{\tau\in G}\mathfrak{o}\omega_{\tau},$$

where \mathfrak{o} is the ring of integers in k. Then G acts on M semilocally, with trivial decomposition group. Furthermore, $\exp M = V$ is G-isomorphic to M (the inverse is given by the log), and V is an open subgroup of the units, whence of finite index in U_K . Therefore we find that

$$1 = Q(V) = Q(U_K)$$

as desired.

Finally, we note that

$$Q(U_K) = \frac{(U_k: N_k^K U_K)}{(H: U_K^{1-\sigma})},$$

where *H* is the kernel of the norm in U_K . Using Hilbert's Theorem 90 again, together with the fact that $|\sigma\alpha| = |\alpha|$ for all $\alpha \in K^*$, we see that $H = K^{*1-\sigma}$. Hence the denominator of $Q(U_K)$ is given by

$$(H:U_{K}^{1-\sigma}) = (K^{*1-\sigma}:U_{K}^{1-\sigma}) = (K^{*1-\sigma}:(k^{*}U_{K})^{1-\sigma})$$
$$= \frac{(K^{*}:k^{*}U_{K})}{(K_{1-\sigma}^{*}:(k^{*}U_{K})_{1-\sigma})}$$
$$= \frac{e}{(k^{*}:k^{*})} = e.$$

This shows that $(U_k: N_k^K U_K) = e$, and concludes the proof of the lemma.

Observe that we have recovered the result that if K/k is unramified, then every unit in k is a norm of a unit in K, because e = 1.

Remark. If k is the real or complex field, then the result of Lemma 4 holds also, and the verification is trivial. We must interpret the "units" then to mean the whole multiplicative group of the field, and e = [K:k] is equal to 2 or 1.

In the local class field theory, we shall see that the factor group $k^*/N_k^K K^*$ is isomorphic to G, and not only in the cyclic case but also in the abelian case.

Finally, we remark that the divisibility

$$(k^*: N_k^K K^*) | [K:k]$$

follows easily for an arbitrary abelian extension K/k. To see this, consider a tower

 $K \supset E \supset k$.

Assume that the divisibility is proved for each step of the tower, namely K/E and E/k. We have

$$k^* \supset N_k^E E^* \supset N_k^K K^*$$

because $N_k^K = N_k^E \circ N_E^K$. Therefore

$$(k^*: N_k^K K^*) = (k^*: N_k^E E^*) (N_k^E E^*: N_k^K K^*).$$

 \mathbf{But}

$$(N_k^E E^*: N_k^E N_E^K K^*)$$
 divides $(E^*: N_E^K K^*)$.

Since the degree of an extension is multiplicative in towers, we see that if the norm index divisibility holds in each step of the tower, then it holds for K/k. This reduces the divisibility to cyclic steps, in which case we apply Lemma 4.

Similarly, for any abelian extension K/k we have $(U_k \colon N_k^K U_K)|e$ so in particular

$$(U_k:N_k^K U_K) \leq e.$$

Local class field theory will ultimately show that we have an equality in these index relations.

We may now formulate an application to number fields.

Lemma 5. Let K/k be a finite abelian extension of a number field k. Then any admissible cycle c is divisible by all ramified absolute values.

[IX, §4]

Proof. Let v be ramified. If v is archimedean, and w|v in K, then K_w is complex, k_v is real and $N_w K_w = \mathbf{R}^+$, so v|c. Suppose $v = v_p$ corresponds to a prime ideal p. Since K is a composite of cyclic extensions, it follows that p is ramified in some cyclic extension E, and by Lemma 4, we know that $N_w U_{E_w} \neq U_{k_v}$. Hence $N_w U_w \neq U_v$, whence v|c. This proves the lemma.

§4. A theorem on units

We turn to the global case, and throughout this section we let k be a number field. Then U_k denotes the group of units in k.

Under a log mapping, we can embed the units (modulo roots of unity) into a Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^s . If K/k is a Galois extension with group G, then one can define an operation of G on \mathbb{R}^s which makes this a G-embedding, in a natural way, and allows us to visualize the operation of G on the units somewhat more clearly. This is done as follows.

Let S be a finite set of absolute values on k containing all archimedean ones, and let S_K be the set of absolute values w on K such that w|v for some $v \in S$. For each $w \in S_K$ we select a symbol X_w , and let E^s be the s-dimensional real space having $\{X_w\}$ as basis, for $w \in S_K$. Thus s is the number of elements of S_K . If $\sigma \in G$, we define

$$\sigma X_w = X_{\sigma w},$$

and extend σ to all of E^s by linearity. Then G operates on E^s .

By a lattice in E^s we mean, as usual, a free abelian subgroup of rank s, such that a **Z**-basis for this subgroup is also an **R**-basis for E^s . The next theorem is taken from Artin-Tate.

Theorem 1. Let M be a lattice in E^s which is invariant under G (i.e. $\sigma M \subset M$ for all $\sigma \in G$). Then there exists a sublattice M' of finite index in M which is invariant under G, and has a Z-basis $\{Y_w\}$, $(w \in S_K)$, such that

$$\sigma Y_w = Y_{\sigma w}.$$

Proof. We take the sup norm on E^s with respect to the coordinates relative to the basis $\{X_w\}$. Since M is a lattice, there exists a number b such that for any $X \in E^s$, there exists some $Z \in M$ such that

$$|X - Z| < b.$$

For each $v \in S$, let \bar{v} be a fixed element of S_K such that $\bar{v}|v$. Take t real and large positive, and find some $Z_{\bar{v}} \in M$ such that

$$|tX_{\bar{v}} - Z_{\bar{v}}| < b.$$

[IX, §4]

For w|v, let

$$Y_w = \sum_{\sigma \overline{v} = w} \sigma Z_{\overline{v}}.$$

The sum is taken over all $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma \bar{v} = w$. We contend that the family $\{Y_w\}$ is a basis for a sublattice M' satisfying our requirements.

First the action of G is the desired one, because for $\tau \in G$,

$$\tau Y_w = \sum_{\sigma \overline{v} = w} \tau \sigma Z_{\overline{v}} = \sum_{\rho \overline{v} = \tau w} \rho Z_{\overline{v}} = Y_{\tau w}.$$

The second sum is taken over those elements $\rho \in G$ such that $\rho \bar{v} = \tau w$, making the transformation $\rho = \tau \sigma$. This proves our first assertion.

We must now show that the vectors $\{Y_w\}$ are linearly independent over **R**. Suppose that

$$\sum_{w} c_{w} Y_{w} = 0$$

with real c_w . If not all $c_w = 0$, we may assume that $|c_w| \leq 1$ for all w, and also $c_w = 1$ for some w. Let

$$Z_{\bar{v}} = t X_{\bar{v}} + B_{\bar{v}}$$

with a vector $B_{\bar{v}}$ such that $|B_{\bar{v}}| < b$. Then

$$Y_w = \sum_{\sigma \overline{v} = w} \sigma Z_{\overline{v}} = t \sum_{\sigma \overline{v} = w} X_{\sigma \overline{v}} + B'_w$$

where $|B'_w| \leq Nb$, and N = order of G. Hence

$$Y_w = tm_w X_w + B'_w$$

if m_w is the number of $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma \bar{v} = w$. Thus we obtain

$$0=\sum_{w}c_{w}Y_{w}=t\sum_{w}c_{w}m_{w}X_{w}+B',$$

where $|B'| \leq sNb$. Looking at that w such that $c_w = 1$, we see that if t was selected sufficiently large then we have a contradiction, thus proving our theorem.

We observe that M' is G-isomorphic to the lattice having $\{X_w\}$ as a basis. We can decompose M' into a direct sum

$$M' = \coprod_{v \in S} \coprod_{w \mid v} \mathbf{Z} Y_w$$

and each subgroup

$$M'_v = \coprod_{w \mid v} \mathbf{Z} Y_w$$

is semilocal (i.e. G permutes the factors $\mathbb{Z}Y_w$ transitively), with decomposition group G_w for each w, acting trivially on the local component $\mathbb{Z}Y_w$, which is G_w -isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} itself.

We can now apply the semilocal theory, and the Q-machine.

Corollary 1. Let G be cyclic of order N. Then

$$Q(G, M) = Q(G, M') = \prod_{v \in S} N_v,$$

where N_v is the order of the decomposition group G_w for any w|v.

Proof. We have

$$Q(G, M') = \prod_{v \in S} Q(G, M'_v) = \prod_{v \in S} Q(G_{\overline{v}}, \mathbb{Z}Y_{\overline{v}})$$

and $Q(G_w, \mathbb{Z}) = N_w$, so that our corollary follows because (M : M') is finite.

Corollary 2. Let K/k be cyclic of order N and let K_S be the S-units in K. Then

$$Q(G, K_S) = \frac{1}{N} \prod_{v \in S} N_v.$$

Proof. The map

$$L: K_S \to E^s$$

given by

$$L(\xi) = \sum_{w \in S_K} \log \|\xi\|_w X_w, \qquad (w \in S_K)$$

is a G-homomorphism of K_S into E^s , whose image is a lattice in a hyperplane of E^s , and whose kernel is finite. Let X_0 be the vector

$$X_0 = \sum_{w \in S_K} X_w.$$

Then X_0 and $L(K_S)$ generate a lattice M in E^s to which we can apply Theorem 1. The Q-machine gives:

$$Q(K_S) = Q(L(K_S)),$$

and since ZX_0 is G-isomorphic to Z,

$$Q(M') = Q(M) = Q(L(K_S))Q(\mathbf{Z}).$$

But $Q(\mathbf{Z}) = N$. This proves our corollary.

§5. The global cyclic norm index

In this section, we prove:

If K/k is cyclic of degree N, then

$$(J_k: k^* N_k^K J_K) = (C_k: N_k^K C_K) = N.$$

Remark. The class field theory ultimately shows that the same relation holds if K/k is abelian. However, for an arbitrary finite extension E/k, the group $k^*N_k^EJ_E$ is equal to $k^*N_k^KJ_K$ where K is the maximal abelian subextension of E. Thus the fact that the index is equal to the degree in the abelian case is a non-trivial global fact, requiring some sort of global argument.

Considering the lemmas proved in the preceding sections, the proof will not be hard. We know by the finiteness of the class number that there exists a finite set of absolute values S in K such that

$$J_K = K^* J_{K,S} = K^* J_S.$$

We always assume that S contains all the archimedean absolute values, and we enlarge S so that S is invariant under G, i.e. if $\sigma \in G$ and $w \in S$ then $\sigma w \in S$ also. We also enlarge S so that S contains all w which are ramified.

We use the Q-machine, and find:

$$Q(C_K) = Q(J_K/K^*) = Q(K^*J_S/K^*) = Q(J_S/K_S) = Q(J_S)/Q(K_S)$$

We already know of course that $Q(K_S)$ is defined, and we have computed it in the preceding section. It is easy to see that $Q(J_S)$ is also defined and to compute it. Let S_k be the set of absolute values v of k which are induced by elements of $S = S_K$. We can write

$$J_{S} = \prod_{v \in S_{k}} \left(\prod_{w \mid v} K_{w}^{*} \right) \times \prod_{v \notin S_{k}} \left(\prod_{w \mid v} U_{w} \right).$$

By Lemma 4 of §3, and the assumption that any $v \notin S_k$ is unramified in K, we conclude that

$$H^0(G_w, U_w) = H^{-1}(G_w, U_w) = 1.$$

By the semilocal theory, and the fact that each factor

 $\prod_{w \mid v} U_w$

is G-invariant, we conclude that if V denotes the product

$$V = \prod_{v \notin S_k} \prod_{w \mid v} U_w,$$

then

$$H^{0}(G, V) = H^{-1}(G, V) = 1,$$

and hence Q(V) = 1. Therefore by the semilocal theory, and Lemma 4 of §3,

$$Q(J_S) = \prod_{v \in S_k} Q(G_w, K_w^*) = \prod_{v \in S_k} N_v,$$

where N_v is the local degree $[K_w:k_v]$ for any w|v. Combining this with the value of $Q(K_S)$ found in Corollary 2, §4 we see that

$$Q(C_K) = N$$

But

$$Q(C_K) = rac{(C_k : N_k^K C_K)}{h_{-1}}$$
 ,

where h_{-1} is the order of $H^{-1}(G, C_K)$. Hence $(C_k: N_k^K C_K)$ is divisible by N. In view of the universal norm index inequality, we now conclude that equality must hold, thus proving what we wanted.

Remark. Because of this equality, we also find as a by-product that

$$H^{-1}(G, C_K) = 1.$$

See the next section for an application of this.

As an application of our index result, we can prove:

Let K/k be cyclic of degree > 1. Then infinitely many primes of k do not split completely in K.

Proof. Suppose that all but a finite number of v in k split completely in K. Let S be a finite set of absolute values of k containing those which do not (i.e. for which $K_w \neq k_v$ if $v \notin S$). We shall prove that $J_k = k^* N_k^K J_K$, which will be a contradiction. Let $a \in J_k$. By the approximation theorem, there exists some $\alpha \in k^*$ such that αa is very close to 1 at all $v \in S$, and hence a local norm at all $v \in S$. For $v \notin S$, αa is trivially a local norm since $K_w = k_v$. Hence $\alpha a = N_k^K A$ for some idele $A \in J_K$. Hence

$$J_k \subset k^* N_k^K J_K.$$

This proves our assertion.

This result will be used in the next chapter to show that the reciprocity law mapping is surjective.

194

[IX, §6]

APPLICATIONS

§6. Applications

This section will not be used in the rest of the book and may be omitted. It deals with cohomological applications of the results obtained so far. We assume that the reader is acquainted with a little bit of cohomology of groups, but nothing worse than H^{-1} , H^0 , H^1 , H^2 and the exact sequence connecting them. Let K/k be cyclic. Corresponding to the exact sequence

$$0 \to K^* \to J_K \to C_K \to 0$$

we have an exact sequence

$$1 = H^{-1}(G, C_K) \to H^0(G, K^*) \to H^0(G, J_K),$$

whence the map on the right is injective. If the reader looks at the definitions, he will see that this injection is nothing but

Hasse's Theorem. Let K/k be a cyclic extension. If an element $\alpha \in k^*$ is a local norm everywhere, then it is a global norm.

Note. This is true in general only in the cyclic case. The variance from this precise relation in, say, abelian extensions, is determined by higher cohomology (3-cohomology, in fact).

Next, consider another piece of the exact sequence,

$$1 = H^1(G, C_K) \to H^2(G, K^*) \to H^2(G, J_K).$$

Again, we have an injective map on the right. But H^2 is nothing but the Brauer group, and the injection is nothing but the fundamental theorem of Albert-Hasse-Brauer-Noether:

A 2-cocycle (or simple algebra) splits globally if and only if it splits locally everywhere.

This last statement has seemingly been proved only in the cyclic case, but it is an easy technical matter to see that it holds for any Galois extension, i.e. that $H^1(G, C_K) = 1$ if K/k is Galois. Our purpose is not to go into this part of theory here, so we let the reader look it up elsewhere (e.g. Artin-Tate).

CHAPTER X

The Artin Symbol, Reciprocity Law, and Class Field Theory

§1. Formalism of the Artin symbol

Let K/k be an abelian extension, and let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of k which is unramified in K. We had seen in Chapter I, §5 that there exists a unique element σ of the Galois group G, lying in the decomposition group $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ (for any $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, they all coincide in the abelian case) having the effect

$$\sigma \alpha \equiv \alpha^{N\mathfrak{p}} \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}, \qquad \alpha \in \mathfrak{o}_{K}.$$

This element σ depends only on \mathfrak{p} , is denoted by $(\mathfrak{p}, K/k)$, and will be called the Artin symbol of \mathfrak{p} in G.

We extend the map

$$\mathfrak{p} \mapsto (\mathfrak{p}, K/k)$$

to the subgroup I(b) of fractional ideals prime to the discriminant b of K/k, by multiplicativity. In other words, if a is prime to b, and

 $\mathfrak{a} = \prod \mathfrak{p}^{\nu \mathfrak{p}}.$

then we define

$$(\mathfrak{a}, K/k) = \prod (\mathfrak{p}, K/k)^{\nu \mathfrak{p}}$$

We call again (a, K/k) the Artin symbol of a, and the map

 $\mathfrak{a} \mapsto (\mathfrak{a}, K/k)$

is a homomorphism

$$\omega: I(\mathfrak{d}) \to G(K/k),$$

which will also be called the reciprocity law map, or the Artin map. Its kernel will be called the reciprocity law kernel, or Artin kernel a. The Artin symbol satisfies the following formal properties, which are immediate consequences of its definition. A1. Let $\sigma: K \to \sigma K$ be an isomorphism (not necessarily equal to the identity on k). Then

$$(\sigma \mathfrak{a}, \sigma K/\sigma k) = \sigma(\mathfrak{a}, K/k)\sigma^{-1}.$$

Proof. Obvious.

A2. Let $K' \supset K \supset k$ be a bigger abelian extension. Then

 $\operatorname{res}_K(\mathfrak{a}, K'/k) = (\mathfrak{a}, K/k).$

For this statement, any prime entering in the factorization of a must be unramified in K'. The statement is obvious for prime ideals, and thus follows for any a. It is called the **consistency property**.

A3. Let K/k be abelian and let E/k be finite. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime in k unramified in K and let \mathfrak{q} be a prime of E lying above \mathfrak{p} . Then

$$\operatorname{res}_K(\mathfrak{q}, KE/E) = (\mathfrak{p}, K/k)^f$$

where f is the residue class degree, $f = [\mathfrak{o}_E/\mathfrak{q} : \mathfrak{o}_k/\mathfrak{p}] = f(\mathfrak{q}|\mathfrak{p}).$

The lattice of fields is as follows:



For any $x \in \mathfrak{o}_{KE}/\mathfrak{Q}$ (where \mathfrak{Q} is a prime of KE lying above \mathfrak{q}) and $\sigma = (\mathfrak{q}, KE/E)$ we have $\sigma x = x^{N\mathfrak{q}}$. But $N\mathfrak{q} = N\mathfrak{p}^{f}$. Thus our property is obvious. We also see another formulation, namely:

A4. Let K, E be as above, and let \mathfrak{b} be a fractional ideal of E such that if \mathfrak{q} occurs in the factorization of \mathfrak{b} , and $\mathfrak{q}|\mathfrak{p}$ with \mathfrak{p} in k, then \mathfrak{p} is unramified in K. Then

 $\operatorname{res}_{K}(\mathfrak{b}, KE/E) = (N_{k}^{E}\mathfrak{b}, K/k).$

In particular, if $K \supset E \supset k$, then

$$(\mathfrak{b}, K/E) = (N_k^E \mathfrak{b}, K/k).$$

The next property is neither trivial nor formal, and is a corollary of the cyclic norm index equality. [X, §1]

Theorem 1. Let K/k be abelian. Then the reciprocity law map $a \mapsto (a, K/k)$ is surjective, as a map of I(c) into the Galois group, for any cycle c (divisible by all the ramified primes).

Proof. Let c be a fixed cycle of k, divisible by the ramified primes, and let H be the subgroup of G which is the image of the reciprocity law mapping. Let F be the fixed field of H. We must show that F = k. Any $\mathfrak{p} \in I(\mathfrak{c})$ must split completely in F, otherwise $(\mathfrak{p}, F/k) \neq 1$, and $(\mathfrak{p}, F/k)$ is the restriction of $(\mathfrak{p}, K/k)$, thus contradicting the fact that F is the fixed field of H. Thus all but a finite number of primes of k split completely in F. If $F \neq k$, then F contains a subfield F_0 which is cyclic over k, of degree > 1, and all but a finite number of primes of k split completely in F_0 . This contradicts the result of Chapter IX, §5 (essentially, the global norm index equality), and proves our theorem.

Our main task now is to prove that there exists some admissible cycle c divisible by all the ramified primes such that P_c is contained in the kernel of the Artin map. Such c is called a **conductor** for the Artin map. This is the crux of the present approach to class field theory, and is a remarkable fact. Indeed, the Artin map is defined for each p (unramified) and extended formally to fractional ideals. There is a priori no connection between this definition and the definition of P_c (which is very global).

Property A4 shows that the norm group of ideals is contained in the kernel of the Artin map, that is if \mathfrak{A} is a fractional ideal of K relatively prime to the ramified primes, then

$$(N_k^K\mathfrak{A}, K/k) = 1.$$

Therefore if c is a conductor, then the group which we denoted by $P_{c}\mathfrak{A}(c)$ is contained in the Artin kernel α . But we know the universal inequality

$$(I(\mathfrak{c}): P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c})) \leq [K:k] = (G:1).$$

In view of Theorem 1, the surjectivity of the Artin map, it follows that $P_{c}\mathfrak{N}(c)$ is the precise kernel, and we get an isomorphism

$$\omega: I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}) \to G$$

from the Artin map. This is the Artin reciprocity law.

Example: Cyclotomic extensions.

We conclude this section by our usual example of cyclotomic extensions, not only because of its special interest, but also because it will be used in the general proofs later. Let *m* be an integer > 1. Let $K = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)$ be the extension obtained by adjoining a primitive *m*-th root of unity to \mathbf{Q} . Then only primes *p* dividing *m* ramify in *K* (cf. for instance Proposition 8, Chapter III, §2, together with the fact that ζ_m is a root of $X^m - 1 = 0$). Let *p* be a prime number, $p \nmid m$. Then the definitions show that $((p), \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbf{Q})$ has the effect

$$\zeta \mapsto \zeta^p$$

on $\zeta = \zeta_m$. Hence if a is a positive rational number prime to m, and $a \equiv d \pmod{m}$ for any positive integer d, then

$$((a), \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbf{Q}): \zeta \mapsto \zeta^d.$$

In particular, $((a), \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbf{Q}) = 1$ if and only if $a \equiv 1 \pmod{m}$.

Next, let k be any number field, and $k \subset K \subset k(\zeta_m)$. There exists a cycle c of k divisible only by $\mathfrak{p}|m$ and archimedean v such that if $\alpha \in k^*$ and

$$\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\ast \mathfrak{c}},$$

then (α) is in the kernel of the Artin map, i.e. P_{c} is contained in α .

Proof. This follows easily from the formal properties of the Artin symbol. By consistency, it suffices to prove our assertion when $K = k(\zeta_m)$. By the continuity of the local norms, there exists \mathfrak{c} such that if $\alpha \in k^*$ and $\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{c}}$, then $N_{\mathbb{Q}}^k \alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}}$ and is positive. At the archimedean absolute values, we simply impose the condition that α is totally positive. Then

$$\operatorname{res}_{\mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)}((\alpha), K/k) = (N_{\mathbf{Q}}^k(\alpha), \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbf{Q}) = 1.$$

The effect of an element of $G(k(\zeta_m)/k)$ is determined by its effect on ζ_m . This concludes the proof that the Artin map has a conductor in cyclotomic extensions, and that we can take this conductor divisible only by $\mathfrak{p}|m$ or archimedean v.

§2. Existence of a conductor for the Artin symbol

We shall need auxiliary cyclotomic fields, and to construct these, we need prime numbers satisfying certain properties. Artin's original proof for the existence of these prime numbers used fancy existence theorems. Van der Waerden observed that one could get them easily and in a very elementary manner, and the proofs of Lemmas 1 and 2 are due to him.

Lemma 1. Let a, r be integers > 1. Let q be a prime number. Then there exists a prime number p such that a has order $q^r \pmod{p}$.

[X, §2]

Proof. We consider the positive number

$$T = \frac{a^{q^{r}} - 1}{a^{q^{r-1}} - 1}$$

Then

$$T = (a^{q^{r-1}} - 1)^{q-1} + q(a^{q^{r-1}} - 1)^{q-2} + \dots + q.$$

Let p be a prime dividing T. If p also divides $a^{q^{r-1}} - 1$, then p = q. Otherwise, p serves our purposes. If q divides T then q also divides $a^{q^{r-1}} - 1$. If q > 2, then q - 1 > 1, and hence q^2 does not divide T. But T > q, so that there exists a prime $p \neq q$ dividing T and not $a^{q^{r-1}} - 1$, which serves our purposes. Finally, if q = 2, then

$$T = (a^{2^{r-1}} - 1) + 2,$$

and is not divisible by 2^2 so that again there exists p|T but p does not divide $a^{2^{r-1}} - 1$, thus concluding the proof.

Let m be an integer > 1. Integers a, b > 0 are said to be independent mod m if they generate cyclic groups in $(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^*$ which are independent, i.e. whose intersection is 1.

Lemma 2. Let

$$n = q_1^{r_1} \cdots q_s^{r_s}$$

be a positive integer factorized into powers of primes q_i . Let a be an integer > 1. There exists an integer

$$m=p_1\cdots p_sp'_1\cdots p'_s,$$

with distinct primes p_i , p'_i such that a has order (mod m) divisible by n, and there exists a positive integer b whose order (mod m) is divisible by n, and such that a, b are independent mod m. The primes p_i , p'_i can be chosen arbitrarily large, satisfying these conditions.

Proof. By letting $r \to \infty$, we see that in Lemma 1, we can find arbitrarily large primes p such that a has order (mod p) divisible by a fixed power of q. We therefore first find large distinct primes p_1, \ldots, p_s such that a has order $q_i^{r_i^*} \pmod{p_i}$ with a positive integer $r_i^* > r_i$. Next we find still larger primes p'_1, \ldots, p'_s , distinct from p_1, \ldots, p_s and from each other, such that a has order $q_i^{r_i^*} \pmod{p'_i}$ with a positive integer $r'_i > r'_i$. We let $m = p_1 \cdots p_s p'_1 \cdots p'_s$. Then certainly a has order (mod m)

divisible by n. Let b be a positive integer such that

 $b \equiv a \pmod{p_1 \cdots p_s}$ and $b \equiv 1 \pmod{p'_1 \cdots p'_s}$.

Then b has order $(\mod m)$ divisible by n. Finally, suppose that

$$a^{\nu}b^{\mu} \equiv 1 \pmod{m}$$

with positive integers ν , μ . Then $a^{\nu} \equiv 1 \pmod{p'_1 \cdots p'_s}$, whence

$$q_1^{r'_1} \cdots q_s^{r'_s}$$
 divides ν .

This implies that $a^{\nu} \equiv 1 \pmod{p_1 \cdots p_s}$, and hence that $a^{\nu} \equiv 1 \pmod{m}$. Therefore $b^{\mu} \equiv 1 \pmod{m}$, thereby finishing the proof of the lemma.

We interpret the lemma in terms of cyclotomic extensions. In an abelian group G, we say that two elements σ , τ are independent if they generate cyclic groups whose intersection is 1.

Lemma 3. Let K be an abelian extension of the number field k, and let S be a finite set of prime numbers. Let n = [K:k]. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of k which is unramified in K. Then there exists an integer m relatively prime to the numbers in S and to \mathfrak{p} , such that:

- (i) The Artin symbol $(\mathfrak{p}, k(\zeta_m)/k)$ has order divisible by n.
- (ii) $K \cap k(\zeta_m) = k$.
- (iii) There exists an automorphism τ of $k(\zeta_m)$ over k, independent of $(\mathfrak{p}, k(\zeta_m)/k)$, and whose order is divisible by n.

Proof. We apply Lemma 2 with $a = N\mathfrak{p}$. We can take *m* divisible only by arbitrarily large primes, so that $K \cap \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m) = \mathbf{Q}$ and (ii) is satisfied. Let $\sigma = (\mathfrak{p}, k(\zeta_m)/k)$. Then

$$\sigma\zeta_m=\zeta_m^a,$$

and (i) is satisfied. Finally select b as in Lemma 2, and define τ by $\tau \zeta_m = \zeta_m^b$. Then (iii) is satisfied. This proves the lemma.

Artin's Lemma. Let k be a number field, K a finite cyclic extension, and S a finite set of prime numbers. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of k unramified in K. Then there exists an integer m relatively prime to all numbers in S, and a finite extension E of k such that:

- (1) $K \cap E = k$.
- (2) $K(\zeta_m) = E(\zeta_m)$ and $K \cap k(\zeta_m) = k$.
- (3) \mathfrak{p} splits completely in E.

Proof. The lattice of fields is as follows:



Choose *m* as in the preceding lemma and let $\zeta = \zeta_m$. The Galois group of $K(\zeta)$ over *k* is the product of the group *G* of *K* over *k* and the group of $k(\zeta)$ over *k*. Let σ be a generator of *G*. Let τ be as in the preceding lemma, and let *H* be the subgroup of $K(\zeta)$ over *k* generated by $\sigma \times \tau$ and

$$(\mathfrak{p}, K/k) \times (\mathfrak{p}, k(\zeta)/k).$$

This second condition guarantees that H contains $(\mathfrak{p}, K(\zeta)/k)$, and hence by definition, the decomposition group of \mathfrak{p} in $K(\zeta)$. If E is the fixed field of H, then \mathfrak{p} splits completely in E. Since $\sigma \times \tau \in H$, condition (1) is satisfied. On the other, hand, it is clear that the intersection of H and $G \times 1$ is the identity. But $G \times 1$ is the subgroup of $K(\zeta)$ leaving $k(\zeta)$ fixed. Hence $k(\zeta)E = E(\zeta)$ must be all of $K(\zeta)$. This proves Artin's lemma.

The lemma will be applied in a moment to a situation where we deal with a finite number of primes $\mathfrak{p}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{p}_r$ in k. For each \mathfrak{p}_i $(i = 1, \ldots, r)$ we construct an auxiliary field E_i with a root of unity ζ_{m_i} as in the lemma, selecting successively the integers m_1, \ldots, m_r such that they are divisible by large primes, and are relatively prime to each other. Then

$$K(\zeta_{m_1},\ldots,\zeta_{m_r})/k$$
 has group $G \times G_1 \times \cdots \times G_r$,

where G_i is the Galois group of $\mathbf{Q}(\zeta_{m_i})/\mathbf{Q}$. Each E_i is the fixed field of the group

$$H_i \times G_1 \times \cdots \times \hat{G}_i \times \cdots \times G_r$$

where the roof means that G_i is omitted, and H_i is the subgroup of $G \times G_i$ generated by

 $\sigma \times \tau_i$ and $(\mathfrak{p}_i, K/k) \times (\mathfrak{p}_i, k(\zeta_{m_i})/k)$.

As before, σ is a fixed generator of G.

Contention: The field $E = E_1 \cdots E_r$ (compositum of all E_i) is such that $K \cap E = k$, and hence $G(K/k) \approx G(KE/E)$.

Proof. The field E is the fixed field of the intersection of all groups $G(KE/E_i)$, which contains

$$\sigma \times \tau_1 \times \cdots \times \tau_r$$

Furthermore, K is left fixed by

 $1 \times \tau_1 \times \cdots \times \tau_r$.

Hence $K \cap E$ is left fixed by $\sigma \times 1 \times \cdots \times 1$, and is therefore equal to k, thus proving the contention.

Theorem 2. Let K/k be a cyclic extension. Then there exists an admissible cycle c divisible only by ramified \mathfrak{p} in K such that the kernel of the Artin map in $I(\mathfrak{c})$ is equal to $P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c})$.

Proof. We shall prove that there exists c such that the kernel of the Artin map is contained in $P_{c}\mathfrak{A}(c)$, i.e.

$$\mathfrak{a} \subset P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c}) \subset I(\mathfrak{c}).$$

By the cyclic norm index inequality, and Theorem 1, which implies

$$(I(\mathfrak{c}):\mathfrak{a}) = [K:k],$$

we then conclude that $\alpha = P_{c}\mathfrak{N}(c)$.

Let f be the smallest admissible cycle for K/k, and let $a \in I(f)$ be such that (a, K/k) = 1. We know that only ramified primes \mathfrak{p} can divide f. We have to prove that $a \in P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f})$. Factorize a into prime powers:

$$\mathfrak{a} = \prod_{i=1}^r \mathfrak{p}_i^{\mathfrak{v}_i}$$

For each p_i construct the auxiliary extension E_i by means of a root of unity ζ_{m} as described above, and form the compositum

$$E=E_1\cdots E_r.$$

We have the diagram:





[X, §2]

By hypothesis, if we let σ be a generator of G, and

$$(\mathfrak{p}_i^{\mathbf{v}_i}, K/k) = \sigma^{d_i}$$

for some integer $d_i \ge 0$, then $(\mathfrak{a}, K/k) = \prod \sigma^{d_i} = \sigma^{\Sigma d_i} = 1$. Hence

$$\sum d_i = dn,$$

where n = [K:k], that is n divides $\sum d_i$. Select a fractional ideal b_E in E, prime to f, and to all integers m_i , such that

$$(\mathfrak{b}_E, KE/E) = \sigma.$$

This can be done by Theorem 1. We identify here G(K/k) with G(KE/E). Let $\mathfrak{b}_k = N_k^E \mathfrak{b}_E$. Then

$$(\mathfrak{b}_k, K/k) = \sigma.$$

We note that $\mathfrak{p}_i^{\nu} \mathfrak{b}_k^{-d_i}$ is a norm from E_i . This is true of a power of \mathfrak{p}_i because \mathfrak{p}_i splits completely in E_i , and \mathfrak{b}_k is a norm by the transitivity of the norm. Write

$$\mathfrak{p}_i^{\nu_i}\mathfrak{b}_k^{-d_i} = N_k^{E_i}\mathfrak{A}_i$$

with some \mathfrak{A}_i prime to \mathfrak{f} and all m_i . Since $(\mathfrak{p}_i^{\nu_i}\mathfrak{b}_k^{-d_i}, K/k) = 1$, it follows that $(\mathfrak{A}_i, KE_i/E_i) = 1$. But KE_i/E_i is cyclotomic, and we can apply the theorem for cyclotomic extensions. We write

$$\mathfrak{A}_i = (\beta_i) N_{E_i}^{KE_i} \mathfrak{B}_i$$

for some \mathfrak{V}_i prime to f and all m_i , and $\beta_i \equiv 1 \pmod{mc'_i}$ for some cycle c'_i in E_i , which we can select highly divisible by all primes dividing f, and archimedean absolute values. Taking the norm from E_i to k, we get

$$\mathfrak{p}_{i}^{\nu_{i}}\mathfrak{b}_{k}^{-d_{i}} = (N_{k}^{E_{i}}\beta_{i})N_{k}^{K}(N_{K}^{KE_{i}}\mathfrak{B}_{i}),$$

and $N_k^{E_i}\beta_i \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}}$. Taking the product over all *i* shows that $\mathfrak{ab}_k^{-d_n} \in P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f})$. But n = [K:k], so that $\mathfrak{b}_k^{-d_n}$ is also a norm. Hence $\mathfrak{a} \in P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f})$, thereby concluding the proof of the theorem.

Although the next result is a corollary of the cyclic result just proved, we state it as a theorem. It is the central theorem of class field theory.

Theorem 3. Let K/k be an abelian extension. Let c be any admissible cycle for K/k. Then the Artin map

$$I(\mathfrak{c}) \to G(K/k)$$

has kernel equal to $P_{c}\mathfrak{N}(c)$, and thus induces an isomorphism

$$I(\mathfrak{c})/P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{c}) \to G.$$

Proof. Let f be the smallest admissible cycle for K/k. If c is divisible only by the same v that divide f, then we know from Theorem 7 of Chapter VII, §4 that $P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f}) = P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f})$. We express K/k as a compositum of cyclic extensions. For each such cyclic extension, we can find a conductor divisible only by v such that $v|\mathfrak{f}$, using Theorem 2. An element $\sigma \in G(K/k)$ is equal to 1 if and only if its restriction to each cyclic extension is equal to 1. Hence by Theorem 2, we can find some admissible c such that the kernel of the Artin map contains \mathcal{P}_{c} , and we know trivially that the kernel of the Artin map contains $\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f})$. Hence

$$P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f}) \subset \mathfrak{a}$$

As pointed out already, using the universal norm index inequality, we obtain $\alpha = P_{f} \mathfrak{A}(f)$. For an arbitrary admissible c, the result follows immediately, because

$$P_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c}) = P_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{f}) \cap I(\mathfrak{c}).$$

We have proved the fundamental theorem of class field theory.

We shall formulate the result in terms of ideles in the next section, and prove the other theorems of class field theory, which are now mere corollaries.

§3. Class fields

Let K/k be an abelian extension. For any admissible cycle c, we have an isomorphism

$$J/k^*N_k^K J_K \approx I(\mathfrak{c})/P_\mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{c})$$

described in Chapter VII, §4. This isomorphism allows us therefore to define the Artin map for ideles, and we get a map

$$\omega: J_k \to G(K/k),$$
$$a \mapsto (a, K/k),$$

also denoted by

which we may once more describe explicitly as follows. We select
$$\alpha \in k^*$$
 such that $\alpha a \equiv 1 \pmod{\epsilon}$. If a is the associated ideal of αa , then

$$(a, K/k) = (\mathfrak{a}, K/k).$$

[X, §3]

This is well defined. Observe that from our definition, we get

$$(\alpha, K/k) = 1$$

for all $\alpha \in k^*$. Thus the Artin map on ideles may be viewed as defined on the idele classes, and yields an isomorphism

$$C_k/N_k^K C_K \approx G(K/k).$$

If a is an idele, and a_v its v-component for $v \in M_k$, then we identify a_v with the idele whose v-component is a_v , and having component 1 at all $v' \in M_k$, $v' \neq v$. Thus we have the correspondence

$$a_v \leftrightarrow (\ldots, 1, 1, a_v, 1, 1, \ldots)$$

for $a_v \in k_v^*$. If a is an idele, then a_v is a unit for almost all v. Let S be a finite set of absolute values on k containing the archimedean ones and all v which are ramified in K. Let S also contain those v at which a_v is not a unit. If $v \notin S$, then a_v is a local norm, and hence the idele

$$a^S = \prod_{v
ot \in S} a_v$$

is in $N_k^K J_K$. Hence $(a^S, K/k) = 1$, and

$$(a, K/k) = \prod_{v \in S} (a_v, K/k).$$

Since $(a_v, K/k) = 1$ for all but a finite number of v, we may summarize the preceding discussion in a theorem as follows.

Theorem 4. Let K/k be abelian. The Artin map $a \mapsto (a, K/k)$ induces an isomorphism

$$C_k/N_k^K C_K = J_k/k^* N_k^K J_K \xrightarrow{\approx} G(K/k),$$

and for any idele a, we have

$$(a, K/k) = \prod_{v \in M_k} (a_v, K/k).$$

Next we have formal properties of the symbol (a, K/k), similar to the symbol for ideals.

A1. Let $\sigma: K \to \sigma K$ be an isomorphism (not necessarily equal to the identity on k). Then

$$(\sigma a, \sigma K/\sigma k) = \sigma(a, K/k)\sigma^{-1}.$$

A2. Let $K' \supset K \supset k$ be a bigger abelian extension. Then

$$\operatorname{res}_K(a, K'/k) = (a, K/k).$$

A3. Let K/k be abelian and let E/k be finite. Let $b \in J_E$. Then

$$\operatorname{res}_{K}(b, KE/E) = (N_{k}^{E}b, K/k).$$

These properties are immediate from the corresponding properties for the ideal map.

If E/k is a finite extension, then $N_k^E J_E$ is an open subgroup of J_k . Indeed, if v is unramified in E, then every unit in k_v is a local norm. Even if v is ramified, the group of local norms contains an open neighborhood of 1, which is of finite index in the group of units. Hence the group of local norms is open. Hence $N_k^E J_E$ is open. Thus the group $k^* N_k^E J_E$ is an open subgroup of J_k , containing k^* . There is a bijection between open subgroups of J_k containing k^* and open subgroups of $C_k = J_k/k^*$. If His an open subgroup of J_k containing k^* , we say that H belongs to the abelian extension K/k if $H = k^* N_k^K J_K$. And similarly if H is an open subgroup of C_k , we say that it belongs to K/k if $H = N_k^K C_K$. We shall also say that K is the class field belonging to H. We also say that His the class group belonging to K.

If K is the class field belonging to H, and $\sigma: K \to \sigma K$ is an isomorphism (not necessarily identity on k), then it is clear from the basic definitions that σK is class field (over σk) to σH .

Theorem 5. The map $K \mapsto N_k^K C_K$ (resp. $K \mapsto k^* N_k^K J_K$) establishes a bijection between finite abelian extensions of k and open subgroups of C_k (resp. of J_k , containing k^*). If K belongs to H and K' belongs to H', then $K \subset K'$ if and only if $H \supset H'$. Furthermore, KK' belongs to $H \cap H'$, and $K \cap K'$ belongs to HH'.

Proof. Suppose that H belongs to K and H' belongs to K'. The kernel of the Artin map

$$C_k \rightarrow G(KK'/k)$$

is $H \cap H'$, because of the consistency property A2. Hence $H \cap H'$ belongs to KK'. If $K \subset K'$, it follows from the transitivity of the norm that $H \supset H'$. Conversely, if $H \supset H'$, then $H \cap H' = H'$, and

$$(C_k: H') = [K':k] = [KK':k].$$

Since $k \subset K' \subset KK'$, we conclude that KK' = K', whence $K \subset K'$. This proves our theorem, except for the fact that every open subgroup of C_k belongs to an abelian extension. This will be proved in the next chapter.

CLASS FIELDS

Corollary 1. Let K/k be class field to H and let $H_1 \supset H$. Then H_1 has a class field, which is the fixed field of $(H_1, K/k)$.

Proof. Let K_1 be the fixed field of $(H_1, K/k)$. By the consistency property of the Artin map, we see at once that H_1 is the kernel of the map $C_k \to G(K_1/k)$, so K_1 is the class field belonging to H_1 .

Corollary 2. Let K/k be an abelian extension and let c be a cycle of k, admissible for K/k. Let W_c be the neighborhood of 1 in J_k defined in Chapter VII, §4. If k^*W_c belongs to the class field K_c/k , then $K \subset K_c$.

Proof. Let H belong to K. As we saw in Chapter VII, §4, we have the inclusion $H \supset k^*W_c$. Hence our assertion is now obvious.

The class field to k^*W_c (whose existence will be proved in general in the next chapter) is called a **ray class field** (Strahl Klassenkörper).

Example. Let $K = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)$. We shall prove that K is the ray class field to the cycle mv_{∞} , thus belonging to $\mathbf{Q}^* W_{mv_{\infty}}$.

Proof. We first consider the case when $m = p^{\nu}$ is a prime power. Let u be a local unit at p, i.e. $u \in U_p$. We identify u with the idele

$$u = (\ldots, 1, u, 1, \ldots)$$

having component 1 at all $v \neq v_p$, and component u at p. Let $\mathfrak{c} = p^{\mu}v_{\infty}$ be an admissible cycle for K/\mathbb{Q} , with $\mu \geq \nu$. Let a be a positive integer such that

$$au \equiv 1 \pmod{p^{\mu}}.$$

Then

 $au = (\ldots, a, a, au, a, a, \ldots)$

is an idele such that

$$au \equiv 1 \pmod{p^{\mu} v_{\infty}}.$$

If

$$\sigma = (u, \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\nu}})/\mathbf{Q}) = (au, \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\nu}})/\mathbf{Q}),$$

then from the definition of the Artin map for ideles, we find that

$$\sigma\zeta = \zeta^a$$
.

However, ζ^a depends only on the residue class of $a \pmod{p^\nu}$. We conclude that if $u \in U_p$ and $u \equiv 1 \pmod{p^\nu}$, then

$$(u, \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\nu}})/\mathbf{Q}) = 1.$$
This implies that if $m = p^{\nu}$, and H_m is the class group belonging to $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$, then

$$W_{mv_{\infty}} \subset H_m$$

For an arbitrary unit u in U_p , we can write symbolically

$$(u, \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\nu}})/\mathbf{Q}): \zeta \mapsto \zeta^{u^{-1}},$$

exponentiation by u^{-1} meaning exponentiation by any positive integer a such that $au \equiv 1 \pmod{p^{\nu}}$.

For composite m, we see at once that $W_{mv_{\infty}} \subset H_m$, using the multiplicativity of the Artin symbol for ideles. However, we have an isomorphism $J/\mathbf{Q}^*W_{mv_{\infty}} \approx (\mathbf{Z}/m\mathbf{Z})^*$ under the ideal map, as in Chapter VII, §4, and thus the index relation

$$(J: \mathbf{Q}^* W_{mv_{\infty}}) = [\mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m): \mathbf{Q}] = (J: H_m).$$

Hence

$$\mathbf{Q}^* W_{mv_{\infty}} = H_m,$$

thus proving our assertion.

Corollary 3. Let K/\mathbb{Q} be an abelian extension of the rationals. Then K is cyclotomic, i.e. there exists a root of unity ζ such that $K \subset \mathbb{Q}(\zeta)$.

Proof. Let mv_{∞} be an admissible cycle for K/\mathbb{Q} , and let H be the class group of K. Then

$$H_m = \mathbf{Q}^* W_{mv_\infty} \subset H,$$

whence $K \subset \mathbf{Q}(\zeta_m)$ by Theorem 5.

Corollary 3 is known as **Kronecker's theorem.** According to some critical modern appraisals, Kronecker stated the theorem, but the first complete proof seems to have been given by Weber. For a proof depending on higher ramification theory, but not on class field theory, cf. Speiser, J. Reine Angew. Math., 1919. See also Neumann, J. Reine Angew. Math., 323, 1981, pp. 105–126 for a discussion of Kronecker's and Weber's proofs.

Theorem 6. Let K/k be the class field of H, and let E/k be finite. Then KE/E is the class field of $N_{E/k}^{-1}(H)$.

Proof. The kernel of the Artin map

$$C_E \rightarrow G(KE/E)$$

is precisely equal to $N_{E/k}^{-1}(H)$ because for $b \in C_E$ we have

$$\operatorname{res}_{K}(b, KE/E) = (N_{k}^{E}b, K/k),$$

and an automorphism of KE/E is determined by its effect on K. This proves our theorem.

To prove the next theorem, we shall use the fact that given an open subgroup H of J_k containing k^* , there exists an abelian extension K/k such that $H = k^* N_k^K J_K$. This is the **existence theorem** which will be proved in the next chapter.

Theorem 7. Let E/k be a finite extension, and let $H = N_k^E C_E$. Then H belongs to the maximal abelian subextension of E.

Proof. Let K/k be the class field belonging to H. For any $b \in C_E$ we have $N_k^E b \in H$, and hence

$$1 = (N_k^E b, K/k) = \operatorname{res}_K (b, KE/E).$$

Hence KE is the class field to all of C_E , whence KE = E and $K \subset E$. It is then clear that K is maximal abelian in E, thus proving the theorem.

Corollary. We have $[E:k] = (C_k: N_k^E C_E)$ if and only if E/k is abelian. Proof. Clear.

From the consistency property, we can define the Artin map for infinite abelian extensions. Let A be the maximal abelian extension of k (i.e. compositum of all finite abelian extensions). Given $a \in C_k$ we define an automorphism (a, k) on A to be (a, K/k) on each subextension K of A, finite over k. The consistency property shows that this is well defined, and from the definition of the (Krull) topology on G(A/k), which is a compact totally disconnected group, we obtain a continuous map

$$C_k \to G(A/k).$$

This map, which we again call the Artin map, has an image which is everywhere dense in G(A/k), because of the surjectivity in finite extensions. We can write C_k as a product

$$C_k = \mathbf{R}^+ \times C_k^0$$

both algebraically and topologically, and the positive reals \mathbf{R}^+ are infinitely divisible (i.e. every element is an *n*-th power for all *n*). Hence our infinite Artin map is given by its restriction to C_k^0 , which is compact (Theorem 4, Chapter VII, §3). Since the continuous image of a compact set is compact, it follows that the Artin map is surjective, i.e. maps C_k^0 onto G(A/k).

[X, §3]

Similarly, if K is any infinite abelian extension, we obtain a continuous surjective homomorphism

$$\omega_{K/k}: C_k \to G(K/k).$$

An open subgroup H of C_k is of finite index, and hence closed (it is the complement of the union of a finite number of cosets). The kernel of $\omega_{K/k}$ is the intersection

$$H_K = \bigcap_{F \subset K} H_F$$

of all groups H_F belonging to finite subextensions F of K. Actually, it is better to look at $\omega_{K/k}$ as defined on C_k^0 , because of the compactness. We can then write the kernel of $\omega_{K/k}$ in C_k^0 as the intersection

$$H_K^0 = \bigcap_{F \subset K} H_F^0,$$

where $H_F^0 = H_F \cap C_k^0$, and H_F^0 is open, of finite index in C_k^0 . This kernel is then compact, and we have an algebraic and topological isomorphism

$$C_k^0/H_K^0 \approx G(K/k).$$

We then obtain a bijection between closed subgroups of C_k containing H_A and (possibly infinite) abelian extensions of k, given by

$$K \mapsto H_K.$$

In the other direction, if H is a closed subgroup of C_k containing H_A , then its class field K is the fixed field of (H, A/k) = (H, k). As in the finite case, the association $K \mapsto H_K$ reverses inclusion relations. We call K the class field to H_K as before. The group H_A will be called the group of universal norms. It is the intersection in C_k of all the norm groups from finite extensions (or finite abelian extensions, same thing). Using the existence theorem, we shall prove a structure theorem for it later (Theorem 6, in Chapter 11, §6).

CHAPTER XI

The Existence Theorem and Local Class Field Theory

§1. Reduction to Kummer extensions

We must prove that any open subgroup H of J_k containing k^* belongs to some abelian extension. Thus at some point, we have to start exhibiting abelian extensions of k. There are not that many ways of doing this. One general way is to make cyclotomic extensions, and when the *n*-th roots of unity are in k, to make Kummer extensions, i.e. adjoining *n*-th roots of elements of k. We shall prove the existence theorem by this method. Deeper methods involving the values of certain transcendental functions are more significant, but lead into directions which require a whole book to themselves. We first start with the reduction lemma.

Lemma. Let F/k be a cyclic extension, and let H be an open subgroup of J_k containing k^* . Let $H_F = N_{F/k}^{-1}(H)$. If H_F has a class field (over F) then so does H (over k).

Proof. Let K/F be the class field of H_F . We shall prove that K is Galois over k. Let K' be the smallest Galois extension of K'k containing K. Let σ be an automorphism of K' over k. Then $\sigma H_F = H_F$. But σK is class field to σH_F . Hence $\sigma K = K$ Κ and K is Galois over k, so K = K'. We shall actually prove that K is abelian over k. Let σ be an automorphism of K F over k whose restriction to F generates G(F/k). Let τ be any automorphism of K/F. It will suffice to prove that σ comk mutes with τ . Let $b \in J_F$ be such that

Then

$$\tau = (b, K/F).$$

$$\sigma \tau \sigma^{-1} = (\sigma b, \sigma K / \sigma F) = (\sigma b, K / F).$$

However, $N_k^F(\sigma b/b) = 1$, so that $\sigma b/b \in H_F$. Hence

$$(\sigma b, K/F) = (b, K/F),$$

and $\sigma\tau\sigma^{-1} = \tau$, thus proving that K/k is abelian. Since $k^*N_k^K J_K \subset H$, and by Corollary 1 of Theorem 5, Chapter X, §3, we conclude that H has a class field. This proves the lemma.

The lemma will be applied in the following situation. An abelian extension K/k is said to have **exponent** n if $\sigma^n = 1$ for all $\sigma \in G(K/k)$. We make the same definition for an abelian group A (say multiplicative), and say that A has exponent n if $a^n = 1$ for all $a \in A$. Let H be an open subgroup of J_k containing k^* , such that J_k/H has exponent n. We want to prove that there exists a class field to H. Let $F = k(\zeta_n)$ be the field obtained from k by adjoining a primitive n-th root of unity ζ_n . We can construct a cyclic tower

$$k \subset F_1 \subset F_2 \subset \cdots \subset F_r = F$$

such that each F_{i+1}/F_i is cyclic. Let $H_F = N_{F/k}^{-1}(H)$, and similarly $H_i = N_{F_i/k}^{-1}(H)$. If we can prove that H_F has a class field, then we come down stepwise in the tower applying the lemma, to conclude that H has a class field. When J_k/H has exponent n, this reduces the existence theorem to the case when k contains the *n*-th roots of unity.

We now recall some easy facts about abelian extensions of k, of exponent n, when ζ_n lies in k. Such extensions correspond to subgroups of k^* containing k^{*n} as follows.

Let $k^* \supset D \supset k^{*n}$, and assume $(D:k^{*n})$ finite for simplicity. Let

$$K_D = k(D^{1/n})$$

be the field obtained from k by adjoining all n-th roots of elements of D. If $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m$ are representatives in D of the factor group D/k^{*n} , then we clearly have

$$K_D = k(\alpha_1^{1/n}, \ldots, \alpha_m^{1/n}),$$

so that K_D is finite. It is trivial to verify that K_D is abelian over k, of exponent n.

Conversely, let K/k be abelian of exponent n. Then K is a composite of cyclic extensions, and each cyclic extension can be written in the form $k(\alpha^{1/n})$ for some $\alpha \in k$, using Hilbert's Theorem 90, Lagrange resolvants, or whatnot. (Cf. books on Algebra, e.g. mine.) Thus $K = K_D$ for some D.

There is a duality between G(K/k) and D/k^{*n} as follows. Let $K = K_D$. For each $\sigma \in G(K/k) = G$, and each $\alpha \in D$, select $A \in K$ such that $A^n = \alpha$. Then $\sigma A/A$ is independent of the choice of A, and is an *n*-th root of unity, which we denote by $\langle \sigma, \alpha \rangle$. The map

 $G \times D \rightarrow C^*$

A

$$(\sigma, \alpha) \mapsto \langle \sigma, \alpha \rangle = \sigma A /$$

given by

[XI, §2]

is then trivially verified to be bimultiplicative, i.e. a pairing. It is clear that this pairing depends only on the class of α modulo k^{*n} , and thus induces a pairing

$$G \times D/k^{*n} \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^*.$$

We contend that the orthogonal subgroup to G in D is precisely k^{*n} , and that the orthogonal subgroup to D in G is 1. Proof: Let $\alpha \in D$ be orthogonal to all $\sigma \in G$. Then $\sigma A/A = 1$ for all $\sigma \in G$, whence $\alpha^{1/n} \in k$. Hence $\alpha \in k^{*n}$. On the other side, suppose that $\sigma \in G$ is orthogonal to all of D. For any $\alpha \in D$ and A such that $A^n = \alpha$ we have $\sigma A = A$. Hence σ leaves fixed a set of generators for K_D over k, and hence $\sigma = 1$. This proves our assertion, and we conclude that the pairing

$$G \times D/k^{*n} \to \mathbb{C}^*$$

induces an isomorphism of each one of the groups G, D/k^{*n} with the dual group of the other. In particular, we find:

$$[K_D:k] = (D:k^{*n}).$$

The facts which we have just summarized are referred to as **Kummer theory.** The field K_D is called the **Kummer** field belonging to D. Note that the Kummer theory establishes a *duality* between the Galois group and a certain group associated with the ground field, whereas the class field theory establishes an isomorphism, depending on a much more subtle construction, through the Artin symbol.

§2. Proof of the existence theorem

Existence Theorem. Let H be an open subgroup of J_k containing k^* . Then there exists a class field to H.

Proof. As mentioned in the preceeding section, we are reduced to the case when J_k/H has exponent n, and k contains all n-th roots of unity, which we assume from now on. Without loss of generality, n > 2.

Theorem 1. Let S be a finite set of absolute values of k containing all the archimedean ones, all \mathfrak{p} such that $\mathfrak{p}|n$, and enough absolute values such that $J_k = k^*J_s$. Let

$$B = \prod_{v \in S} k_v^{*n} \times \prod_{v \notin S} U_v.$$

Then k^*B has a class field K, which is equal to $k(k_S^{1/n})$, i.e. is obtained by adjoining to k all n-th roots of S-units. If s is the number of elements of S, then $[K:k] = n^s$. Finally, $k^* \cap B = k_S^n$.

216 EXISTENCE THEOREM AND LOCAL CLASS FIELD THEORY [XI, §2]

Proof. Let $K = k(k_S^{1/n})$. Observe that $k_S \cap k^{*n} = k_S^n$ (trivially), and that we have an isomorphism

$$k_S k^{*n} / k^{*n} \approx k_S / (k_S \cap k^{*n}) = k_S / k_S^n.$$

Thus K is the Kummer field belonging to $k_S k^{*n}$. Since k_S modulo roots of unity is a free abelian group on s-1 generators (where s = number of elements of S), we conclude that

$$(k_S:k_S^n)=n^s=[K:k].$$

Note that K/k is unramified outside S by the usual criterion. Namely, K is obtained by adjoining roots of equations

$$f(X) = X^n - \alpha = 0,$$

with $\alpha \in k_S$. If A is a root, then f'(A) is divisible only by primes of S. We shall prove that $k^*B = k^*N_k^KJ_K$. First we prove the inclusion

$$k^*B \subset k^*N_k^K J_K.$$

Since K/k has exponent *n*, any element of k_{o}^{*n} for $v \in S$ (viewed as idele with component 1 outside v) is in the kernel of the Artin map, and hence contained in $k^*N_k^KJ_K$. (This could also be proved in a very elementary way, using the approximation theorem.) An element of

$$\prod_{v \notin S} U_i$$

is contained in $N_k^K J_K$ because for $v \notin S$, every local unit is a local norm. This proves the first inclusion.

Conversely, it will suffice to prove that $(J_k: k^*B) = n^*$. Let $k_B = k^* \cap B$. We have:

$$(J_k:k^*B) = (k^*J_S:k^*B) = \frac{(J_S:B)}{(J_S \cap k^*:B \cap k^*)} = \frac{\prod_{v \in S} (k^*_v:k^*_v)}{(k_S:k_B)} = \frac{n^{2s}}{(k_S:k_B)}$$

(We used the index computed in Chapter II, §3, and the product formula.) There remains to be proved that $k_B = k_S^n$. It is clear that $k_B \supset k_S^n$. Conversely, let $\alpha \in k_B$. Then α is a local *n*-th power at all $v \in S$, so that v splits completely in $k(\alpha^{1/n})$ for all $v \in S$. Furthermore, if $v \notin S$, then v [XI, §3]

is unramified in $k(\alpha^{1/n})$. Let $K' = k(\alpha^{1/n})$. Then $J_S \subset N_k^{K'} J_{K'}$, whence

$$J = k^* J_S \subset k^* N_k^{K'} J_{K'}.$$

Class field theory shows that K' = k, and hence $\alpha \in k_S^n$. This concludes the proof of Theorem 1.

The existence theorem is now only a corollary of Theorem 1. Given an open subgroup H of J_k , containing k^* , such that J/H has exponent n, and assuming that the *n*-th roots of unity are in k, we find a set S as in the theorem, and enlarge S still further, to contain all those v such that U_v is not contained in H. Then $B \subset H$, and since k^*B has a class field, we conclude by Corollary 1 of Theorem 5 in the preceding chapter that H has a class field.

Remark. We shall see later that v is unramified in an abelian extension F/k if and only if U_v is contained in the group H to which F belongs. From this, we see that in Theorem 1, the class field to k^*B is the maximal abelian extension of exponent n, unramified outside S, because if F/k is abelian, of exponent n, unramified outside S, and class field to H, then $B \subset H$ whence $F \subset K$, where K is class field to k^*B , as in the theorem.

§3. The complete splitting theorem

The decomposition of a given absolute value v in an abelian extension K/k is reflected already in the group H to which K belongs.

Theorem 2. Let K/k be class field to H. Let v be an absolute value on k. Then v splits completely in K if and only if $k_v^* \subset H$.

Proof. If v splits completely, then $k_v^* \subset H$ because every element of k_v^* is a local norm. We shall prove the converse. In this section, we prove it only when J_k/H has exponent n, and the n-th roots of unity are contained in k. We shall complete the proof in the next section.

Let therefore v_0 be a fixed absolute value on k such that $k_{v_0}^* \subset H$, and let S be a finite set of absolute values containing v_0 , satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1, that is containing all archimedean v, all $\mathfrak{p}|n$, and enough v such that $J = k^*J_S$. Assume also that S contains all v which are ramified in K. Let:

$$B_{1} = k_{v_{0}}^{*} \times \prod_{\substack{v \in S \\ v \neq v_{0}}} k_{v}^{*n} \times \prod_{v \notin S} U_{v}$$
$$B_{2} = k_{v_{0}}^{*n} \times \prod_{\substack{v \in S \\ v \neq v_{0}}} k_{v}^{*} \times \prod_{v \notin S} U_{v}.$$

Then $B_1 \cap B_2 = B$, where B is the group mentioned in Theorem 1. Also $B_1 \subset H$. We shall construct the class field K_1 to k^*B_1 , and we shall see that v_0 splits completely in this class field. It then follows that v_0 splits completely in K, because $K \subset K_1$.

Let $D_1 = k^* \cap B_1$ and $D_2 = k^* \cap B_2$. Then

$$k_S^n \subset D_1 \cap k^{*n} \subset B \cap k^{*n} = k_S^n$$

by what we proved in §2. Hence $D_1 \cap k^{*n} = k_S^n$, and similarly,

$$D_2 \cap k^{*n} = k_S^n.$$

Let $K_1 = k(D_2^{1/n})$ and $K_2 = k(D_1^{1/n})$. (The reversal of indices is not accidental.) Then by Kummer theory,

$$[K_1:k] = (D_2k^{*n}:k^{*n}) = (D_2:D_2 \cap k^{*n}) = (D_2:k_S^n),$$

and similarly, reversing 1 and 2.

$$[K_2:k] = (D_1k^{*n}:k^{*n}) = (D_1:D_1 \cap k^{*n}) = (D_1:k_S^n).$$

Let K_1 and K_2 be class fields to H_1 and H_2 respectively. Then K_1 , K_2 are unramified outside S, and if $v \in S$, $v \neq v_0$ then v splits completely in K_2 , while v_0 splits completely in K_1 . Hence

$$B_1 \subset H_1$$
 and $B_2 \subset H_2$.

Therefore we obtain inequalities:

$$[K_{1}:k] \leq (J:k^{*}B_{1}) = (k^{*}J_{S}:k^{*}B_{1})$$

$$= \frac{(J_{S}:B_{1})}{(k_{S}:k^{*} \cap B_{1})}$$

$$= \frac{\prod_{\substack{v \in S \\ v \neq v_{0}}} (k^{*}_{v}:k^{*n}_{v})}{(k_{S}:k^{n}_{S})} (k^{*} \cap B_{1}:k^{n}_{S})$$

$$= \frac{\prod_{\substack{v \in S \\ v \neq v_{0}}} (k^{*}_{v}:k^{*n}_{v})}{n^{*}} [K_{2}:k].$$

Similarly, we find

$$[K_2:k] \leq (J:k^*B_2) = \frac{(k_{v_0}^*:k_{v_0}^{*n})}{n^*} [K_1:k].$$

Multiplying on the right and on the left, we get

 $[K_1:k][K_2:k] \leq (J:k^*B_1)(J:k^*B_2) \leq [K_1:k][K_2:k].$

Hence equality must hold everywhere in what precedes. In particular, we find that $k^*B_1 = H_1$. We know by construction that v_0 splits completely in K_1 , and thus finally, we conclude that v_0 splits completely in K, thus proving what we wanted in the Kummer case.

Remark 1. The technique used here (due to Herbrand) can also be used to give the "algebraic proof" of the universal norm index inequality, as was done by Chevalley. Cf. Artin-Tate.

Remark 2. It did not really matter that we selected one v_0 from S. We could split S into two disjoint sets S_1 and S_2 , and argue in a similar way. For the present application, however, what we needed was just for the study of a single v_0 .

§4. Local class field theory and the ramification theorem

In this section, we conclude the proof of the complete splitting theorem, and derive local class field theory, describing the effect of the Artin map on the local component k_v^* for a fixed v.

Theorem 3. Let K/k be abelian. The Artin map restricted to k_v^* , namely

$$a \mapsto (a, K/k), \qquad a \in k_v^*$$

maps k_v^* into the decomposition group G_v (= G_w for any w|v), has kernel $N_w K_w^*$, and induces an isomorphism

$$k_v^*/N_w K_w^* \approx G_v$$

where N_w is the local norm from K_w to k_v .

Proof. We know that the group of local norms is contained in the kernel, since it lies in $N_k^K J_K$. Hence our theorem follows from the local norm index inequality, Chapter IX, §3, once we have proved that the image of k_v^* is contained in the decomposition group G_v , and is equal to the whole decomposition group (this being the local analogue to the global surjectivity theorem of the Artin map).

Let Z be the fixed field of G_v . Then v splits completely in Z, and hence $k_v^* \subset N_k^Z J_Z$. If $a \in k_v^*$, then $a = N_k^Z b$ for some local idele $b \in Z_w$, so that

$$(a, K/k) = (b, K/Z),$$

whence (a, K/k) lies in G_v . This proves that the image of k_i^* under the Artin map is contained in G_{v} .

Next we prove that the map is surjective. Without loss of generality, we may assume that k = Z. Let $S = (k_n^*, K/k)$ be the image of k_n^* and let E be the fixed field of S. If $E \neq k$, then E contains a subfield F which is cyclic over k, of prime degree p. Let $k' = k(\zeta_p)$ where

 ζ_p is a primitive p-th root of unity, and let

$$F' = Fk' = F(\zeta_p).$$

Let v' be an absolute value of k' such that v'|v. The whole local group k_{v}^{*} is contained in the kernel of the Artin map

$$k_v^* \to G_v(F/k)$$

and hence k''_{n} is contained in the kernel of the Artin map

$$k_{v'}^{\prime*} \rightarrow G_{v'}(F'/k')$$

By the Kummer result of the preceding section, this implies that v' splits completely in F'. However, [k':k] divides p-1, and is relatively prime to p = [F:k]. Since the ramification index and residue class degree are multiplicative in towers, it follows that v splits completely in F. Since we assumed that k = Z, this gives a contradiction which proves our theorem.

The argument which we have just given also concludes the proof of Theorem 2. Indeed, let K be class field to H, and assume that $k_v^* \subset H$. Then $(k_n^*, K/k) = 1$, and we know that

$$(k_v^*, K/k) = G_v.$$

It follows that $G_v = 1$, i.e. v splits completely.

Corollary. Let K/k be class field to H. Then

$$H \cap k_v^* = N_w K_w^*$$
 and $H \cap U_v = N_w U_w$.

Theorem 4. Let K/k be abelian, class field to H. An absolute value v on k is unramified in K if and only if $U_v \subset H$. More generally, $(U_v, K/k)$ is equal to the inertia group T_v (= T_w for any w|v).

Proof. If v is unramified in K, then every local unit is a local norm, so $U_v \subset H$. Conversely, assume that $U_v \subset H$. By the preceding corollary, we know that every unit in U_v is a local norm. By Chapter IX, §3, it follows that v is unramified in every cyclic subfield of K, and hence is unramified in K. To see that $(U_v, K/k) = T_v$ in general, we may assume without loss of generality that the Galois group G(K/k) is equal to the decomposition group G_v . (If Z is the fixed field of G_v , then v splits completely in Z, and so we may use Z as ground field instead of k.) Let F be the



maximal subfield of K in which v is unramified. Then T_v is the Galois group of K/F. If w|v in F, then by the norm property of the Artin symbol, we have $(U_w, K/F) = (U_v, K/k)$. In the non-archimedean case, there exists a prime element π in F_w which is a local norm from K. Hence $(\pi, K/F) = 1$. But

$$F_w^* = \{\pi\} \times U_w$$

(where $\{\pi\}$ is the cyclic group generated by π), and $(F_w^*, K/F) = T_v$. Hence $(U_w, K/F) = T_v$, thus proving our result in general. The archimedean case is equally clear.

In view of Theorem 4, it is natural to define v unramified in H if $U_v \subset H$. With this terminology, we see that v is unramified in H if and only if v is unramified in the class field belonging to H. Furthermore, if K is class field to H, then the class field to HU_v is the maximal subextension of K in which v is unramified.

Corollary. Let K/k be an abelian extension. For any v on k, and w|v in K, we have

$$(U_v:N_wU_w)=e,$$

and the Artin map induces an isomorphism $U_v/N_wU_w \approx T_v$.

Proof. Immediate from the corollary of Theorem 3.

Let F be a local field, i.e. the completion of a number field at an absolute value. Let L be an abelian extension with Galois group G. There exists a number field k and an abelian extension K, with absolute value v, such that

$$F = k_v$$
 and $L = K_v$.

For instance, let E be a number field dense in L. Let K be the composite of σE for all $\sigma \in G$. Then K is stable under G and we let k be the fixed field of G. It is immediate that $k_v = F$, and of course $K_v = L$.

Note that the local Artin map $k_v^* \to G(Kk_v/k_v)$ is induced by the global map. The consistency property of the global symbol implies that the local map is independent of the global extension K over k chosen such that $K_v = L$ and $k_v = F$. Hence by Theorem 3, the Artin map gives an isomorphism

$$F^*/N_F^L L^* \cong G(L/F).$$

Theorem 5. Let F be a local field. The Artin map defined for abelian extensions L of F satisfies the same formalism as the global map, when

221

viewed as defined on the multiplicative group of the local field. The association

$$L \mapsto N_F^L L^*$$

establishes a bijection between finite abelian extensions of F, and open subgroups of finite index in F^* , which reverses the inclusion relations.

Proof. In the first edition, I asserted that the proof is the "same as in the global case", but I used the additional property that given an abelian extension L of k_v , there exists an abelian extension K of k such that $Kk_v = L$. I based this assertion on the property that since k_v^* is embedded in C_k , an open subgroup H_v of K_v^* can be written as an intersection

$$H_v = H \cap k_v^*$$

for some open subgroup H of C_k . Lenstra pointed out to me that this step was not properly justified, and that this property can be bypassed by the remarks preceding the theorem and the following argument. Indeed, by those remarks, the association

$$L \mapsto N_F^L L^*$$

gives an injection of the family of abelian extension to open subgroups of F^* . Thus the only thing to prove is the surjection, i.e. every open subgroup is the norm group of some abelian extension, in other words, we have to prove the existence theorem. The arguments given in §1 in the global case apply equally well in the local case. Thus given the subgroup H_v , if the factor group F^*/H_v has exponent *n*, then by these arguments, we may assume without loss of generality that the *n*-th roots of unity lie in the ground field *F*. But then we may use Kummer theory. Let $L = F(F^{1/n})$ be the abelian extension obtained by adjoining all *n*-th roots of elements in F^* . Then

$$(F^*:F^{*n}) = [L:F],$$

and F^{*n} is contained in the kernel of the Artin map. By Theorem 3 (the norm index relation for abelian extensions) it follows that

$$F^{*n} = N_F^L L^*.$$

Since $F^{*n} \subset H_v \subset F^*$, it now follows immediately that H_v is the norm group of some subextension of L, thus proving Theorem 5.

It becomes a problem to define the local Artin map purely locally in the ramified case (in the unramified case, the Artin symbol locally can be defined in the same manner as the global one). Chevalley was the first to do it, using the simple algebras. What mattered, however, were the cocycles defining the algebras, so that a purely cohomological treatment could be given as was done first by Hochschild. In fact, the local and global cohomology for this can be axiomatized into the "class formations", for which we refer to Artin-Tate.

When asking for a global abelian extension K of k such that $Kk_v = k'$ is a given local abelian extension, one can ask if K can be so chosen that $[K:k] = [k':k_v]$, especially in the cyclic case. The answer is yes, except in one special case. This is the Grunwald-Wang theorem, which even does this for a finite set S of absolute values. Observe that for such a set, the finite product

$$\prod_{v \in S} k_v^*$$

is embedded algebraically in the idele classes C_k (that is the natural map into C_k is injective), but not topologically, in distinction to the case when S has only one element. For a complete treatment of the Grunwald-Wang theorem, which has nothing to do with cohomology, we refer to Artin-Tate.

A related question is the following: If $\alpha \in k^*$ is an *n*-th power locally at every $v \in M_k$, is α also an *n*-th power in k? The answer is yes, except in a special case which can be described completely. Cf. Artin-Tate for that too.

As in the global case, the local existence theorem allows us to see that if E/k_v is a finite extension, then $N_{k_v}^E E^*$ is the local norm group to the maximal abelian subextension of E. The proof is the same as in the global case.

Using the consistency property, we can define the local Artin map for the maximal abelian extension A of k_v , thus obtaining a homomorphism

$$\omega_v: k_v^* \to G(A/k_v),$$

whose image is everywhere dense. Let us assume that v is p-adic. Since the intersection of all open subgroups of finite index in k_v^* is obviously equal to 1 (this is now different from the global situation), we conclude that the kernel of the infinite map is trivial. In the local case, however, the map is not surjective any more. In fact, we can write k_v^* as a product

$$k_v^* = \{\pi\} \times U_v \approx \mathbf{Z} \times U_v,$$

where $\{\pi\}$ is the cyclic group generated by a prime element π in k_v . The map ω_v is not only continuous for the product topology, but also for the topology in which subgroups of finite index form a fundamental

system of neighborhoods of 1 in k_v^* . The restriction of this topology to **Z** is the "ideal topology". Following Artin, we can then complete **Z** under this topology, and using the Chinese remainder theorem we see that the completion $\overline{\mathbf{Z}}$ is the compact group equal to the direct product of all *p*-adic integers for all *p*. Extending the map ω_v by continuity, we obtain an isomorphism,

$$k_v^* = \overline{\mathbf{Z}} \times U_v \xrightarrow{\approx} G(A/k_v)$$

which is both algebraic and topological. This gives a rather good model for the Galois group $G(A/k_v)$. For instance, we see that $G(A/k_v)$ has a unique subgroup of order 2 (which one?), and hence that there exists a unique subfield of A containing k_v , which is of degree 2 under A.

Finally, we mention that Theorem 4 admits a substantial refinement. Let k denote a p-adic field until the end of the section. Then k has a filtration

$$k^* = U_{-1} \supset U_0 \supset U_1 \supset U_2 \supset \cdots \supset U_i \supset \cdots,$$

where $U_0 = U$, and U_i consists of those elements $x \in U$ such that

$$x \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^i}.$$

Correspondingly, let K/k be a Galois extension with group G (equal to the decomposition group since we assumed that k is local), inertial group T. We can define a sequence of subgroups V_i (called the higher ramification groups) by the condition that $\sigma \in V_i$ if and only if

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}\alpha \equiv \alpha \;(\mathrm{mod}\; \mathfrak{P}^{i+1})$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathfrak{o}_K$. Thus $V_0 = T$.

Theorem. If K/k is abelian, and k is p-adic, then the reciprocity law map $k^* \to G(K/k)$ maps U_i onto $V_{i'}$ (i' depending on i).

The proof requires a refined look at the higher ramification, and is carried out in detail, for instance in Artin-Tate. Our purpose is not to rewrite or copy Artin-Tate here, and we refer the reader to it. The discussion is arithmetic, and independent of cohomology. The local theory thus obtained also yields a description of the local conductor in terms of the higher ramification groups, and into a description of the precise relations existing between the (local) different and the conductor.

§5. The Hilbert class field and the principal ideal theorem

The ramification theorem (Theorem 4) and the existence theorem have an interesting global application. The group

$$H = k^* J_{S_{\infty}}$$

has a class field K which by Theorem 4 is unramified everywhere (including the archimedean absolute values). Furthermore

$$J/k*J_{S_{\infty}} \approx I/P$$

is isomorphic to the ideal class group of k, under the ideal map. This class field K is called the **Hilbert class field**. We see that its Galois group is isomorphic under the Artin map to the ordinary ideal class group. It becomes a problem to exhibit K explicitly. Complex multiplication and its generalizations do this in special cases, by transcendental methods, outside the scope of this book.

Hilbert had conjectured that an ideal of k becomes principal in the Hilbert class field. This was reduced by Artin to a statement of finite group theory by means of the reciprocity law as follows.

Let k be the number field, K the Hilbert class field over k, and L the Hilbert class field over K. It is clear that L is Galois over k: If λ is any isomorphism of L over k, then $\lambda K = K$ and λL is unramified over λK , whence $\lambda L \subset L$, so $\lambda L = L$. Let G be the Galois group of L/kand S the Galois group of L/K. Then G/S is the Galois group of K/k. From the definition of the Hilbert class field, it is clear that K is maximal abelian in L, and hence translating this in terms of the Galois groups, we conclude that G/S is the maximal abelian factor group of G, whence $S = G^c$ is the commutator subgroup of G.

$$\left.\begin{array}{c}
L \\
| \\
K \\
K \\
| \\
k \\
\end{array}\right\} G/S \\
G$$

Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of k. We must prove that $(\mathfrak{p}, L/K) = 1$, identifying \mathfrak{p} with \mathfrak{po}_K . Let

$$\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{q}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{q}_r$$

be the factorization of \mathfrak{p} in distinct primes of K. Then

$$(\mathfrak{p}, L/K) = \prod_{i=1}^r (\mathfrak{q}_i, L/K).$$

Let q be any one of the primes of K dividing \mathfrak{p} , and let $\sigma_i \in G/S$ be one of the automorphisms of K/k such that $\sigma_i \mathfrak{q} = \mathfrak{q}_i$. Extend σ_i to all of L. Then

$$(\mathfrak{q}_i, L/K) = (\sigma_i \mathfrak{q}, L/K) = (\sigma_i \mathfrak{q}, \sigma_i L/\sigma_i K) = \sigma_i (\mathfrak{q}, L/K) \sigma_i^{-1}.$$

Thus we obtain

$$(\mathfrak{p}, L/K) = \prod_{i=1}^r \sigma_i(\mathfrak{q}, L/K)\sigma_i^{-1}.$$

If we can prove that the product on the right is equal to 1, then we conclude that p is principal, by the reciprocity law!

A complicated group theoretic proof was given by Furtwangler. A much simpler proof was given shortly thereafter by Iyanaga, following a suggestion of Artin concerning a group-theoretical map, the transfer, which shows that a product like the above is always equal to 1. We refer the reader to Artin-Tate, Chapter XIII, §4, for the self-contained proof (and definition of the transfer in general), having to do only with group theory, but nothing to do with ideal theory. In this connection, it had been an unsolved problem for a long time whether the tower which is constructed by taking successive Hilbert class fields can ever become infinite. In his talk at the International Congress in 1962, Shafarevich showed how this question could be reduced to a group theoretic statement, involving certain bounds for the number of generators of certain groups. Shortly afterwards, he and Golod succeeded in giving examples when the tower is infinite, and showing that in some sense, this is a very frequent occurrence. For this we refer the reader to the original paper of Golod and Shafarevich (On class field towers, AMS translations 48) or the exposition by Roquette in [CaF 68].

§6. Infinite divisibility of the universal norms

Theorem 6. The group of universal norms in C_k is infinitely divisible. In other words, if $a \in C_k$ is a universal norm, and n is a positive integer, then there exists a universal norm b such that $a = b^n$.

Proof. We shall first need a lemma, whose proof goes back to the technique of the existence theorem.

Lemma. Let n be a positive integer, assume that the n-th roots of unity lie in k, and let a be a universal norm. Then $a \in C_k^n$.

Proof. We construct a large set S as in Theorem 1, §2, and also we construct the group

$$B = \prod_{v \in S} k_v^{*^n} \times \prod_{v \notin S} U_v.$$

Let K be the class field belonging to k^*B . Then a is a norm from K, so there exists $b \in B$ in the same idele class as a. Let S' be any finite set of absolute values such as that $S' \supset S$, and form the group

$$B' = \prod_{v \in S} k_v^{*'} \times \prod_{\substack{v \in S' \\ v \notin S}} U_v^n \times \prod_{v \notin S'} U_v.$$

Then a also has a representative idele b' in B', and there exists $\beta \in k^*$ such that $b = \beta b'$. Then $\beta \in k^* \cap B = k_S^n$ by Theorem 1, §2. Hence b_v is an n-th power for all $v \in S'$. We can take S' arbitrarily large. This proves that b_v is an n-th power for all v, i.e. $b = c^n$ for some idele c, thus proving our lemma.

We shall now prove Theorem 6, as in Artin-Tate. We let D_k be the group of universal norms in C_k . We first prove that for any finite extension E/kwe have

$$D_k = N_k^E D_E$$

From the transitivity of the norm, one has trivially $N_k^E D_E \subset D_k$. Conversely, let $a \in D_k$. For each finite extension K containing E let

$$X_K = N_E^K C_K \cap N_{E/k}^{-1}(a).$$

By Theorem 4 of Chapter VII, §3, it follows at once that $N_{E/k}^{-1}(a)$ is compact. Hence X_K is compact, and is not empty by the transitivity of the norm. The family $\{X_K\}$ for all finite extensions K containing E has the finite intersection property, because if K_1, \ldots, K_r is a finite number of such extensions, and K contains each K_i $(i = 1, \ldots, r)$ then $X_K \subset X_{K_i}$ for all i. It follows that there exists $b \in X_K$ for all K. Then $a = N_k^E b$ and b is a universal norm in C_E . This proves that $D_k = N_k^E D_E$.

Given an integer n, and $a \in D_k$, to prove that $a \in D_k^n$ we let $E = k(\zeta_n)$. Let $a = N_k^E b$ with $b \in D_E$. It will suffice to prove that $b \in D_E^n$. This reduces our proof to the case when k contains the *n*-th roots of unity, which we assume for the rest of the proof.

By the lemma, we have for each finite (Galois, if you wish) K,

$$D_k = N_k^K D_K \subset N_k^K (C_K^n) = (N_k^K C_K)^n.$$

Let

$$Y_K = N_k^K C_K \cap a^{1/n},$$

where $a^{1/n}$ means the set of all $b \in C_k$ such that $b^n = a$. Then $a^{1/n}$ is closed in C_k , and is compact by the same Theorem 4 of Chapter VII, §3. We have just seen that Y_K is not empty, and the transitivity of the norm shows that the family $\{Y_K\}$ for all finite K/k has the finite intersection property. Hence there exists $b \in Y_K$ for all K. This b is a universal norm, and $b^n = a$, thereby concluding the proof of Theorem 6.

We refer to Artin-Tate for the proof that D_k is the connected component of C_k .

CHAPTER XII

L-Series Again

§1. The proper abelian L-series

Let x be a character of the idele classes C_k (or equivalently, of J_k , vanishing on k^*), that is a continuous homomorphism

$$J_k/k^* \rightarrow \mathbf{C}^*,$$

and assume in addition throughout this section that x has finite period. Then the kernel H_{χ} of x is a closed subgroup of finite index, which is therefore open, and has a class field denoted by K_{χ} .

A prime \mathfrak{p} is said to be **unramified** for \mathfrak{X} , or \mathfrak{X} is said to be *unramified* at \mathfrak{p} , if the group of local units $U_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is contained in $H_{\mathfrak{X}}$. (Cf. Theorem 4 of Chapter XI, §4.) If that is the case, and π is an element of order 1 in $k_{\mathfrak{p}}$, we view π as an idele,

$$\pi = (\ldots, 1, \pi, 1, \ldots)$$

as usual, corresponding to the embedding of $k_{\mathfrak{p}}$ in J, and we define

$$\chi(\mathfrak{p}) = \chi(\pi).$$

This is well defined, and is independent of the choice of π , since any other element π_1 of order 1 differs from π by a unit, i.e. $\pi_1 = u\pi$, $u \in U_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and $\chi(u) = 1$ since $U_{\mathfrak{p}} \subset H_{\chi}$. If χ is ramified at \mathfrak{p} , we define $\chi(\mathfrak{p}) = 0$.

If c is an admissible cycle for K_{χ}/k , then we could interpret J/H_{χ} as a generalized ideal class group, we could interpret χ as a character of this group, and $\chi(p)$ would be the value of this character, viewing p as an element of an ideal class as in Chapter VII, §4.

Let H be an open subgroup of J_k containing k^* . By the **conductor** for H we shall mean the smallest cycle \mathfrak{f} such that the group $W_{\mathfrak{f}}$ of Chapter VII, §4 is contained in H. The conductor of H_{χ} will also be called the **conductor** of χ , and will be denoted by \mathfrak{f}_{χ} . In general, a cycle \mathfrak{c} is said to be **admissible** for H if $W_{\mathfrak{c}} \subset H$. The conductor for H is thus its smallest admissible cycle. The ramification theorem (Theorem 4 of Chapter XI,

§4) shows that the conductor for x is divisible precisely by those primes \mathfrak{p} which are ramified in $K_{\mathbf{x}}$.

Let x be a character as above. We define the *L*-series

$$L(s, \chi) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{f}_{\chi}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}} = \prod_{\mathfrak{all} \mathfrak{p}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}.$$

The convergence theorems proved in Chapter VIII, §3, apply to this *L*-series, which differs from $L_{c}(s, \chi)$ only by a finite number of factors, if f|c. It is clear that

$$L(s, 1) = \zeta_k(s).$$

Theorem 1. Let K/k be an abelian extension, class field to the class group $H \subset J_k$. Then

$$\zeta_K(s) = \prod_{\chi(H)=1} L(s,\chi) = \zeta_k(s) \prod_{\chi \neq 1} L(s,\chi)$$

where the second product is taken over those characters x which are trivial on H, but $x \neq 1$.

Proof. It suffices to prove that for each prime \mathfrak{p} of k, we have

$$\prod_{\mathfrak{P}\mid\mathfrak{p}}\left(1-\frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{P}^s}\right)=\prod_{\chi(H)=1}\left(1-\frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}\right)$$

Let \mathfrak{p} split in K as

$$\mathfrak{p}=(\mathfrak{P}_1\cdots\mathfrak{P}_r)^e.$$

Then efr = N = [K:k], and $\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{P} = \mathbb{N}\mathfrak{p}^{f}$. Change variable, let $u = \mathbb{N}\mathfrak{p}^{-s}$. It suffices to prove that

(*)
$$(1-u^f)^r = \prod_{\chi(H)=1} (1-\chi(\mathfrak{p})u).$$

We have a trivial identity

$$1-u^f=\prod_{\zeta}(1-\zeta u),$$

where the product is taken over all f-th roots of unity ζ . We shall first prove formula (*) under the assumption that \mathfrak{p} is unramified, i.e. e = 1. We then have to show that the values $\chi(\mathfrak{p})$ are simply the values 1, $\zeta_f, \ldots, \zeta_f^{f-1}$ repeated r times, where ζ_f is a primitive f-th root of 1.

230

231

Let $Hk_{\mathfrak{p}}^* = H_{\mathfrak{p}} \supset H$. By the complete splitting theorem, $H_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the class group to the maximal subfield of K in which \mathfrak{p} splits completely, i.e. the fixed field of the decomposition group $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Hence

$$(H_{\mathfrak{p}}:H)=f.$$

Let $1 = \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_f$ be the distinct characters of $H_{\mathfrak{p}}/H$, which is cyclic, generated by a prime element π . Extend these characters to characters of J/H, denoted by the same letters. Let $1 = x_1, \ldots, x_r$ be the distinct characters of $J/H_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Then

$$\{\chi_i\psi_j\}$$
 $(i=1,\ldots,r;j=1,\ldots,f)$

are the characters of J/H. But π has order $f \mod H$. Hence the values

$$\psi_1(\pi),\ldots,\psi_f(\pi)$$

are precisely the values 1, $\zeta_f, \ldots, \zeta_f^{f-1}$. This proves what we wanted if x is unramified at \mathfrak{p} .

We now deal with the general case, where p may be ramified. We have

$$(HU_{\mathfrak{p}}:H) = (U_{\mathfrak{p}}:U_{\mathfrak{p}} \cap H) = e$$

by Theorem 4 of Chapter XI, §4, and its corollary. Let $1 = \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_e$ be the distinct characters of $HU_{\mathfrak{p}}/H$, and extend them to characters of J/H. Let $1 = \chi_1, \ldots, \chi_{fr}$ be the characters of $J/HU_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Then \mathfrak{p} is unramified for all χ_i , $i = 1, \ldots, fr$, and the characters

$$\{\boldsymbol{x}_i\boldsymbol{\psi}_j\} \qquad (i=1,\ldots,fr; j=1,\ldots,e)$$

are all the characters of J/H. If $j \neq 1$, so $\psi_j \neq 1$, then $\psi_j(\mathfrak{p}) = 0$ by definition. Hence the only characters χ of J/H which are not 0 on \mathfrak{p} are precisely the characters χ_i for which \mathfrak{p} is unramified. This reduces the general case to the unramified case, which has already been dealt with, and concludes the proof of our theorem.

From the factorization of the zeta function into a product of L-series, and the evaluation at s = 1, one gets a formula relating the class number, regulator, and discriminant. We don't go into this here, but refer the reader to Borevich-Shafarevich [BoS 66], or Hasse's Über die Klassenzahl abelscher Zahlkörper, Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 1952. The reader should also look at Leopoldt's results on the p-adic analogue, for instance his paper Über Fermatquotienten von Kreiseinheiten und Klassenzahlformeln modulo p, Rendiconti del Circolo di Palermo, 1960, pp. 1–12.

§2. Artin (non-abelian) L-series

All results used here from the elementary theory of group representations and characters can be found in my book *Algebra*.

Throughout this section and the next, I follow Artin (cf. his collected works).

Let K/k be a Galois extension with group G. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime of k, then \mathfrak{p} splits in K into a product

$$\mathfrak{p}=(\mathfrak{P}_1\cdots\mathfrak{P}_r)^e,$$

and efr = [K:k], where f is the degree of the residue class field extension. For any $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$ in K, we have $\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{P} = \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{f}$. We have a Frobenius automorphism $\sigma = (\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$ in the decomposition group $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ characterized by the fact that

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}\boldsymbol{\alpha} \equiv \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}} \pmod{\mathfrak{P}}$$

for $\alpha \in \mathfrak{o}_K$. This σ is determined only in the coset of the inertia group $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$, which consists of all $\tau \in G_{\mathfrak{P}}$ inducing the identity automorphism on the residue class field extension.

If S is a subset of G and x is the character of a representation of G (in a finite dimensional space over an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero), we define

$$\chi(S) = \sum_{\tau \in S} \chi(\tau).$$

We may therefore view S as the element in the group ring equal to the sum of all elements of S.

Let *m* be an integer ≥ 1 . If $\sigma = (\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$, we define

$$\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)=\frac{1}{e}\,\chi(\sigma^m T_{\mathfrak{P}}).$$

This can also be viewed as the value of x on the element

$$\frac{1}{e}\sum_{\tau\in T\mathfrak{P}}\sigma^m\tau.$$

Since $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is normal in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$, it follows that our value for $\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)$ is independent of the choice of σ in the coset of $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Since Frobenius automorphisms corresponding to different $\mathfrak{P}_i|\mathfrak{p}$ are conjugate in G, and since the inertia groups $T_{\mathfrak{P}_i}$ are also conjugate in G, it follows that this value is independent of the choice of $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, and that our notation involving only \mathfrak{p} in $\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)$ is justified. [XII, §2]

We now define the L-series L(s, x, K/k) by its logarithm, namely

$$\log L(s, X, K/k) = \sum_{\mathfrak{p}, m} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}}.$$

The L-series is then the exponent of this logarithm. Trivial bounds in terms of the degree of the representation, and the order of G, show that this series converges absolutely and uniformly for the usual

$$\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq 1 + \delta, \qquad \delta > 0$$

by comparison with the ordinary zeta function.

The L-series satisfy the following formalism.

- **L1.** We have $L(s, 1, K/k) = \zeta_k(s)$.
- **L2.** If x_1, x_2 are characters of G, then

$$L(s, \chi_1 + \chi_2, K/k) = L(s, \chi_1, K/k)L(s, \chi_2, K/k).$$

L3. If $K' \supset K \supset k$ is a bigger Galois extension, and χ is a character of G(K/k), also viewed as character of G(K'/k), then

$$L(s, \mathbf{X}, K/k) = L(s, \mathbf{X}, K'/k).$$

L4. Let $k \subset F \subset K$ be an intermediate field, and let ψ be a character of G(K/F). Let χ_{ψ} be the induced character of G(K/k). (We recall the definition below.) Then

$$L(s, \psi, K/F) = L(s, \chi_{\psi}, K/k).$$

Of these properties, only the fourth one requires a non-trivial proof. Indeed, the first is obvious, and so is the second since the character x appears linearly in the definition of log L(s, x, K/k).

The third is also easy to see. Let $\mathfrak{P}'|\mathfrak{p}$ in K', and $\mathfrak{P}'|\mathfrak{P}$ for \mathfrak{P} in K. Let S = G(K'/K) and let G' = G(K'/k). Let $G_{\mathfrak{P}'}$ be the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P}' in G', and let $T_{\mathfrak{P}'}$ be the inertia group of \mathfrak{P}' in G'. We first contend that we have natural isomorphisms

$$G' \begin{cases} K' \\ | \\ K \\ K \\ | \\ k \end{cases} G$$

and

$$G_{\mathfrak{P}} \approx G_{\mathfrak{P}'}S/S$$

 $T_{\mathfrak{P}} \approx T_{\mathfrak{P}'}S/S.$

L-SERIES AGAIN

Proof. It is clear that the restriction to K of an element in $G_{\mathfrak{P}'}S$ leaves \mathfrak{P} fixed, and so lies in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Conversely, if λ is an element of G' which restricts to an element of $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$, then there exists some $\gamma \in S$ such that $\lambda \gamma \in G_{\mathfrak{P}'}$ (because λ maps \mathfrak{P}' on another divisor of \mathfrak{P} and S permutes such divisors transitively). Hence $\lambda \in G_{\mathfrak{P}'}S$, thus proving that

$$G_{\mathfrak{B}} \approx G_{\mathfrak{B}'}S/S.$$

A similar argument shows that $T_{\mathfrak{P}} \approx T_{\mathfrak{P}'}S/S$.

We can also phrase our isomorphisms by saying that the restriction homomorphisms

$$G_{\mathfrak{P}'} o G_{\mathfrak{P}} \quad ext{ and } \quad T_{\mathfrak{P}'} o T_{\mathfrak{P}}$$

from K' to K are surjective, and hence that

$$G_{\mathfrak{P}} \approx G_{\mathfrak{P}'}/(G_{\mathfrak{P}'} \cap S)$$
 and $T_{\mathfrak{P}} \approx T_{\mathfrak{P}'}/(T_{\mathfrak{P}'} \cap S)$.

The value of x on an element of G' depends only on its class mod S, i.e. on its restriction to K', by definition of the extension of x from G to G'. Finally, if $\sigma' = (\mathfrak{P}', K'/k)$ is a Frobenius automorphism of \mathfrak{P}' in $G_{\mathfrak{P}'}$, then its restriction to K is a Frobenius automorphism of \mathfrak{P} in $G_{\mathfrak{P}}$. From this it follows that

$$\frac{1}{e}\sum_{\tau\in T\mathfrak{Y}}\chi(\sigma^{m}\tau)=\frac{1}{e'}\sum_{\tau\in T\mathfrak{Y}'}\chi({\sigma'}^{m}\tau)$$

and hence that the value

 $\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)$

does not depend on the field K'. This is precisely property L3.

The fourth property is slightly harder to prove, and depends on a more accurate analysis of the decomposition groups and inertia groups at the various levels. We do this in the next section. Here, we conclude with still a simple statement.

Theorem 2. If K/k is abelian, class field to H, and if we identify G(K/k) with the idele class group C_k/H under the Artin map, and x is a simple character, then

$$L(s, \mathbf{X}, K/k) = L(s, \mathbf{X}),$$

interpreting the character x on the right as a character on C_k/H , and the *L*-series on the right being the proper abelian *L*-series of §1.

[XII, §2]

Proof. If \mathfrak{p} is unramified in K, then the Artin map is given by means of the Frobenius automorphism, which depends only on \mathfrak{p} , and so the \mathfrak{p} -contribution to the *L*-series is the same no matter which *L*-series we deal with. Let S be the kernel of x in G, and let K_x be the fixed field of S. By property L3, we may view x as a character on $G(K_x/k)$, and

$$L(s, \mathbf{X}, K_{\mathbf{X}}/k) = L(s, \mathbf{X}, K/k).$$

Hence it suffices to prove our result when $K = K_{\chi}$, which we assume. In that case, \mathfrak{p} is ramified in K if and only if it is ramified for χ , i.e. ramified in H, and χ is a non-trivial character on the inertia group $T_{\mathfrak{P}}$. The Galois group definition of the L-series yields

$$\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{\tau \in T\mathfrak{P}} \chi(\sigma^m \tau) = \frac{1}{e} \chi(\sigma^m) \sum_{\tau \in T\mathfrak{P}} \chi(\tau) = 0,$$

because the sum of a non-trivial character over an abelian group is 0. Hence the p-contribution to the L-series L(s, x, K/k) is equal to 0. By definition, it is also equal to 0 in the abelian definition of L-series. This proves the theorem.

We conclude this section by the expression of the *L*-series as a product over the primes, again as in Artin. Let $A: \sigma \mapsto A(\sigma)$ be a representation of *G* in terms of endomorphisms of the vector space *V*, so $A(\sigma) \in \text{End}(V)$. Then

$$\frac{1}{e} A(T_{\mathfrak{P}}) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{\tau \in T_{\mathfrak{P}}} A(\tau)$$

is idempotent in End(V). If $\sigma = (\mathfrak{P}, K/k)$ as before, we define

$$A(\mathfrak{P}^m) = A(\sigma^m) \frac{1}{e} A(T_\mathfrak{P}).$$

We can then form the series

$$\log L(s, A, K/k) = \sum_{\mathfrak{p}, m} \frac{A(\mathfrak{P}^m)}{m N \mathfrak{p}^{ms}},$$

which converges uniformly and absolutely for $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq 1 + \delta$, as usual, but has its values in $\operatorname{End}(V)$, assuming that V is a vector space over the complex numbers. Because of the non-commutativity, it appears to be a mess to exponentiate this series in $\operatorname{End}(V)$, although I cannot escape the idea that there may be something in doing so. However, as in Artin, one has

trace
$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{A(\mathfrak{P}^m)}{m N \mathfrak{p}^{ms}} = -\log \det(I - N \mathfrak{p}^{-s} A(\mathfrak{P})),$$

where I is the identity in End(V), and consequently, one finds the product representation

$$L(s, \chi, K/k) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{1}{\det(I - \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{p}^{-s}A(\mathfrak{P}))},$$

valid for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.

For purposes of functional equations, to have neat formulas, it is necessary to multiply zeta functions and *L*-series by suitable factors, corresponding to the archimedean absolute values, namely Γ -factors. We shall see this later for abelian *L*-series. For the non-abelian ones, we refer to Artin's original paper for the description of these factors.

§3. Induced characters and L-series contributions

In this section, we relate induced characters with the decomposition and inertia groups. Let S be a subgroup of G = G(K/k), and let ψ be a character of S. If $\{c\}$ denotes the collection of right cosets of S in G, and for each coset c we let \bar{c} be a coset representative, so that

$$G=\bigcup_{\overline{c}}S\overline{c},$$

then the induced character x_{ψ} can be defined by the formula

$$X_{\psi}(\lambda) = \sum_{c} \psi(\bar{c}\lambda\bar{c}^{-1})$$

(For all properties concerning characters used here, cf. for instance the last chapter of my book Algebra.) It is understood that ψ is extended to a function on G by letting $\psi(x) = 0$ if $x \in G$, $x \notin S$.

We shall find suitable coset representatives in terms of the splitting of the prime \mathfrak{p} . We let F be the fixed field of S. Let

$$\mathfrak{p}=\mathfrak{q}_1^{e_1}\cdots\mathfrak{q}_s^{e_s}$$

be the splitting of \mathfrak{p} into distinct prime powers in F. For each $i = 1, \ldots, s$ let \mathfrak{P}_i be a prime of K lying above \mathfrak{q}_i . Let $\eta_i \in G$ be such that

$$\eta_i \mathfrak{P}_1 = \mathfrak{P}_i.$$

Let $G_i = G_{\mathfrak{P}_i}$ be the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P}_i in G, and T_i its inertia group. Then

$$G_i = \eta_i G_1 \eta_i^{-1}$$
 and $T_i = \eta_i T_1 \eta_i^{-1}$.

If $\sigma_i = (\mathfrak{P}_i, K/k)$ is a Frobenius automorphism of \mathfrak{P}_i in G_i (well defined modulo T_i), then we can choose σ_i such that

$$\sigma_i = \eta_i \sigma_1 \eta_i^{-1}.$$

We let e_i , f_i and e'_i , f'_i denote the usual indices at the levels indicated on the following diagram.

$$e, f \begin{cases} \mathfrak{P}_i \\ | \\ \mathfrak{q}_i \\ | \\ \mathfrak{p} \end{cases} e_i, f_i \\ \mathfrak{p} \end{cases}$$

Thus

$$e = e_i e'_i$$
 and $f = f_i f'_i$.
$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} e_i f_i = [F:k].$$

We have

Note that the order of G_i is ef, and the order of $G_i \cap S$ (which is the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P}_i in S) is $e'_i f'_i$. Hence

Let

$$\{\gamma_{i,\nu}\}$$
 $(i=1,\ldots,s; v=1,\ldots,e_if_i)$

be right coset representatives of $G_i \cap S$ in G_i .

Lemma 1. We contend that $\{\gamma_{i,\nu}\eta_i\}$ is a system of distinct right coset representatives of S in G.

Proof. We first prove that they represent distinct cosets. Suppose that

$$S\gamma_{i,\nu}\eta_i = S\gamma_{j,\mu}\eta_j.$$
$$\gamma_{i,\nu}\eta_i\eta_i^{-1}\gamma_{j,\mu}^{-1} \in S.$$

Then

Looking at the effect of this element on \mathfrak{P}_j , we see that it maps \mathfrak{P}_j on \mathfrak{P}_i . But an element of S leaves \mathfrak{q}_j fixed, and $\mathfrak{P}_j|\mathfrak{q}_j$. Hence i = j. Cancelling $\eta_i = \eta_j$ we now conclude immediately that $\nu = \mu$, thus proving our first assertion. Our contention follows because the index of S in Gis equal to $[F:k] = \sum e_i f_i$.

 $(G_i:G_i\cap S)=e_if_i.$

Having found coset representatives of S in G, we can write down the value of the induced character in terms of these, and find

This formula applies whether λ is an element of G, or represents a sum of elements of G. In the applications, of course, we use sums of elements of G, namely $\lambda = \sigma_1^m T_1$. If we conjugate $\sigma_1^m T_1$ by η_i , then we obtain $\sigma_i^m T_i$. Furthermore, T_i is normal in G_i , hence further conjugation by $\gamma_{i,\nu}$ does not change $\sigma_i^m T_i$. Consequently, we find an expression for the value of χ_{ψ} appearing in the *L*-series, namely

(2)
$$\chi_{\psi}(\sigma_1^m T_1) = \sum_{i=1}^s e_i f_i \psi(\sigma_i^m T_i).$$

We must therefore determine the intersection of $\sigma_i^m T_i$ with S, because outside of this intersection, the value of ψ is 0.

Lemma 2. The intersection $\sigma_i^m T_i \cap S$ is not empty if and only if $f_i|m$. In that case,

$$\sigma_i^m T_i \cap S = \varphi_i^{m/f_i}(T_i \cap S) = \varphi_i^{m/f_i} T_i'$$

where $\varphi_i = (\mathfrak{P}_i, K/F)$, and $T'_i = T_i \cap S$ is the inertia group of \mathfrak{P}_i in S.

Proof. Suppose that $\sigma_i^m T_i$ contains an element $\sigma_i^m \tau \in S$, with $\tau \in T_i$. Then on the residue class field $\mathfrak{o}_K/\mathfrak{P}_i$ the effect of $\sigma_i^m \tau$ is the same as that of σ_i^m , and it also leaves $\mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{q}_i$ fixed. This effect is that of

$$x \mapsto x^{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^m},$$

and $\mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{q}_i$ has $N\mathfrak{p}^{f_i}$ elements. For $\mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{q}_i$ to be fixed, we must therefore have $f_i|m$.

Suppose now that this is the case. The effect of φ_i on $\mathfrak{o}_K/\mathfrak{P}_i$ is

 $x \mapsto x^{\mathbf{Nq}_i}$

with $\mathbf{Nq}_i = \mathbf{Np}^{f_i}$. Hence $\sigma_i^m \tau$ and φ_i^{m/f_i} have the same effect on $\mathfrak{o}_K/\mathfrak{P}_i$. They both lie in $G_i \cap S$, which is the decomposition group of \mathfrak{P}_i in S. Hence they lie in the same coset of T_i . This shows that

$$\sigma_i^m T_i \cap S \subset \varphi_i^{m/j_i}(T_i \cap S).$$

. .

The converse is also clear, and this proves the lemma.

[XII, §3] INDUCED CHARACTERS AND L-SERIES CONTRIBUTIONS

The desired relationship L4 for L-series is now immediate from this last formula. We have for fixed \mathfrak{p} ,

$$\sum_{m} rac{\chi_{\psi}(\mathfrak{p}^{m})}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}} = \sum_{m} \sum_{i=1}^{s} rac{1}{e} rac{e_{i} f_{i} \psi(\sigma_{i}^{m} T_{i})}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}}
onumber \ = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sum_{m} rac{1}{e} rac{e_{i} f_{i} \psi(\sigma_{i}^{m} T_{i})}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}} \cdot$$

For each *i*, write $m = nf_i$. Only such *m* divisible by f_i give a non-zero contribution to the *i*-th sum. We have $e_i/e = e'_i$. Hence we get

$$\sum_{m} \frac{\chi_{\psi}(\mathfrak{p}^{m})}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}} = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \sum_{n} \frac{\psi(\mathfrak{q}_{i}^{n})}{n \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ns}}$$
$$= \sum_{\mathfrak{q} \mid \mathfrak{p}} \sum_{n} \frac{\psi(\mathfrak{q}^{n})}{n \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ns}}.$$

This proves L4, because it proves that

$$\log L(s, X_{\psi}, K/k) = \log L(s, \psi, K/F).$$

PART THREE ANALYTIC THEORY

The simple analytic results obtained in Chapter VIII were used up to now only incidentally in basically algebraic results, especially in the class field theory. We shall concentrate more on the analytic aspects for the rest of the book. We give two proofs for the functional equation, one following Hecke, and the other following Tate. The reader will profitably compare both techniques. Hecke's proof makes use of the general Poisson summation formula for the integral lattice in Euclidean space. Tate's proof uses the adelic form of the Poisson formula. We give the functional equation for the *L*-series with characters only in Tate's version, which in this case I find slightly easier to keep track of the computations. If the character is of finite period, then there would still not be too much difference with the functional equation as given in Chapter XIII.

The chapter on densities, using the Tauberian theorem, is misleading. Statements on the distribution of primes depend essentially on the explicit formulas, which give much better insight (especially when one will have better results in the direction of the Riemann Hypothesis). The reader can refer to Landau [Ld 17], or also Hooley's paper "On Artin's conjecture," J. Reine Angew, Math., 225, 1967, pp. 209–220. Again, the Brauer-Siegel theorem on log $hR \sim \log d^{1/2}$ really depends on a weak result on the zeros of the zeta function to have a neat proof. Siegel and Brauer had to surmount considerable technical difficulties to go around the non-availability of such results at this time. I have reproduced Siegel's argument for this in Chapter XIII.

CHAPTER XIII

Functional Equation of the Zeta Function, Hecke's Proof

§1. The Poisson summation formula

Let f be a function on \mathbb{R}^n . We shall say that f tends to 0 rapidly at infinity if for each positive integer m the function

$$x\mapsto (1+|x|)^m f(x), \qquad x\in \mathbf{R}^n,$$

is bounded for |x| sufficiently large. Here as in the rest of this chapter, |x| is the Euclidean norm of x. Equivalently, the preceding condition can be formulated by saying that for every polynomial P (in n variables) the function Pf is bounded, or that the function

$$x \mapsto |x|^m f(x)$$

is bounded, for x sufficiently large (i.e. |x| sufficiently large).

We define the Schwartz space to be the set of functions on \mathbb{R}^n which are infinitely differentiable (i.e. partial derivatives of all orders exist and are continuous), and which tend to 0 rapidly at infinity, as well as their partial derivatives of all orders.

Example of such functions. In one variable, e^{-x^2} is one, and similarly in n variables if we interpret x^2 as the dot product $x \cdot x$, which we also write x^2 . As a matter of notation, we shall write xy instead of $x \cdot y$ if x, y are elements of \mathbf{R}^n .

If f is a C^{∞} function of one variable which is 0 outside some bounded interval, then f is in the Schwartz space. As an example, one can take the function

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{1}{(x-a)(b-x)}} & \text{if } a < x < b \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

An analogous function in n variables can be obtained by taking the product

$$f(x_1) \cdots f(x_n).$$

It is clear that the Schwartz space is a vector space, which we denote by S. We take all our functions to be complex valued, so S is a space over C.

We let D_j be the partial derivative with respect to the *j*-th variable. For each *n*-tuple of integers $\geq 0, p = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$, we write

$$D^p = D_1^{p_1} \cdots D_n^{p_1},$$

so that D^p is a partial differential operator, which maps S into itself. As a matter of notation, we write

$$|p| = p_1 + \cdots + p_n.$$

It is also convenient to use the notation M_{jf} for the function such that

$$(M_j f)(x) = x_j f(x).$$

Thus M_j is multiplication by the *j*-th variable. Also

so that

$$(M^{p}f)(x) = x_1^{p_1} \cdots x_n^{p_n} f(x).$$

 $M^{p}f = M_{1}^{p_{1}} \cdots M_{n}^{p_{n}}f,$

In what follows, we shall take the integral of certain functions over \mathbb{R}^n , and we use the following notation:

$$\int f(x) \ dx = \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} f(x) \ dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \ dx_1 \cdots dx_n.$$

Since our functions will be taken from S, there is no convergence problem, because for x sufficiently large, we have for some constant C:

$$|f(x)| \leq \frac{C}{(1+x_1^2)\cdots(1+x_n^2)},$$

and we can view the integral as a repeated integral, the order of integration being arbitrary. The justification is at the level of elementary calculus. Furthermore, we differentiate under the integral sign, using the formula

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} \int K(x, y) \, dx = \int \frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} K(x, y) \, dx$$

 $\mathbf{246}$

for suitable functions K in situations where this is obviously permissible (justification loc. cit.), namely when the partial derivatives of K exist, are continuous and bounded by an absolutely integrable function of x over \mathbb{R}^n , independent of y. The trivial argument runs as follows, say when x and y each consist of one variable:

$$\left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left[\frac{K(x, y+h) - K(x, y)}{h} - D_2 K(x, y) \right] dx \right|$$
$$\leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \frac{K(x, y+h) - K(x, y)}{h} - D_2 K(x, y) \right| dx.$$

But by the mean value theorem,

$$\frac{K(x, y+h) - K(x, y)}{h} - D_2 K(x, y) = D_2 K(x, c) - D_2 K(x, y),$$

where c lies between y and y + h, and c depends on x, y, h. Now we split the integral into a finite integral and a tail end, so that the tail end is very small because of the absolute integrability of D_2K , and then take h small and use uniform continuity of D_2K on the finite part to get our expression less than ϵ , for given ϵ .

A similar argument which is even simpler works to show that similar integrals depend continuously on parameters.

We shall also change variables in an integral. For instance,

$$\int f(x-y) \, dx = \int f(x) \, dx, \qquad \int f(-x) \, dx = \int f(x) \, dx.$$

If $c > 0$, then $\int f(cx) \, dx = \frac{1}{c^n} \int f(x) \, dx.$

We now define the Fourier transform of a function $f \in S$ by

$$\hat{f}(y) = \int f(x) e^{-2\pi i x y} \, dx.$$

Remember that $xy = x \cdot y$.

We shall now see that the Fourier transform interchanges the maps D_j and M_j .

Since

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial y_j} f(x) e^{-2\pi i x y} = f(x) (-2\pi i) x_j e^{-2\pi i x y},$$

we see that we can differentiate under the integral sign, and that

$$D_j f = (-2\pi i)(M_j f)^{\wedge}.$$

By induction, we get

$$D^{p} \widehat{f} = (-2\pi i)^{|p|} (M^{p} f)^{\wedge}.$$

The analogous formula reversing the roles of D^p and M^p is also true, namely:

$$M^p\widehat{f} = (2\pi i)^{-|p|} (D^p f)^{\wedge}$$
.

To see this, we consider

$$y_j \hat{f}(y) = \int f(x) y_j e^{-2\pi i x y} dx_j.$$

and integrate by parts with respect to the j-th variable first. We let

u = f(x) and $dv = y_j e^{-2\pi i x y} dx_j$.

Then $v = (-2\pi i)^{-1}e^{-2\pi ixy}$ and the term uv between $-\infty$ and $+\infty$ gives zero contribution because f tends to 0 at infinity. Hence

$$M_j \hat{f}(y) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int D_j f(x) e^{-2\pi i x y} dx = (2\pi i)^{-1} (D_j f)^{\wedge}(y).$$

Induction now yields our formula.

Lemma. The Fourier transform $f \mapsto \hat{f}$ is a linear map of the Schwartz space into itself.

Proof. If $f \in S$, then it is clear that \hat{f} is bounded, in fact by

$$|\hat{f}(y)| \leq \int |f(x)| dx$$

The expression for $M^{p}\hat{f}$ in terms of the Fourier transform of $D^{p}f$, which is in S, shows that $M^{p}\hat{f}$ is bounded, so that \hat{f} tends rapidly to zero at infinity. Similarly, one sees that $M^{p}D^{q}\hat{f}$ is bounded, because we let $g = D^{q}f, g \in S$, and

$$M^{p}D^{q}\hat{f} = (-2\pi i)^{|q|}(2\pi i)^{-|p|}(D^{p}M^{q}f)^{\wedge}$$

is bounded. This proves our theorem.

A function g on \mathbb{R}^n will be called **periodic** if g(x + k) = g(x) for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. We let $T^n = \mathbb{R}^n/\mathbb{Z}^n$ be the *n*-torus. Let g be a periodic C^{∞} function. We define its k-th Fourier coefficient for $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ by

$$c_k = \int_{T^n} g(x) e^{-2\pi i k x} \, dx.$$

 $\mathbf{248}$

The integral on T^n is by definition the *n*-fold integral with the variables (x_1, \ldots, x_n) ranging from 0 to 1. Integrating by parts *d* times for any integer d > 0, and using the fact that the partial derivatives of *g* are bounded, we conclude at once that there is some number C = C(d, g) such that for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ we have $|c_k| \leq C/||k||^d$, where ||k|| is the sup norm. Hence the Fourier series

$$g(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}^n} c_k e^{2\pi i k x}$$

converges to g uniformly.

Poisson summation formula. Let f be in the Schwartz space. Then

$$\sum_{m \in \mathbf{Z}^n} f(m) = \sum_{m \in \mathbf{Z}^n} \hat{f}(m).$$

Proof. Let

$$g(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}^n} f(x+k).$$

Then g is periodic and C^{∞} . If c_m is its m-th Fourier coefficient, then

$$\sum_{m \in \mathbf{Z}^n} c_m = g(0) = \sum_{k \in \mathbf{Z}^n} f(k).$$

On the other hand, interchanging a sum and integral, we get

$$c_m = \int_{T^n} g(x) e^{-2\pi i mx} dx = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{T^n} f(x+k) e^{-2\pi i mx} dx$$
$$= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{T^n} f(x+k) e^{-2\pi i m(x+k)} dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) e^{-2\pi i mx} dx = f(m).$$

This proves the Poisson summation formula.

In preparation for the *n*-dimensional theorems of the next section, we treat here the one dimensional case as an example. Let θ be the function defined for y > 0 by

$$\theta(y) = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-n^2 \pi y}.$$

It is easy to see that if $h(y) = e^{-\pi y^2}$, then $\hat{h} = h$. (We shall recall the proof briefly in the next section.) Furthermore, if f is in the Schwartz space, and b > 0, and $f_b(y) = f(by)$, then

$$\hat{f}_b(y) = \frac{1}{b}\hat{f}(b^{-1}y).$$
From this and the Poisson formula in one variable, we find at once the functional equation of the theta function, namely

$$\theta(y^{-1}) = y^{1/2}\theta(y).$$

Let $s = \sigma + it$ with σ , t real. We have by definition

$$\Gamma(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-y} y^s \frac{dy}{y} dy$$

Let

$$F(s) = \pi^{-s/2} \Gamma(s/2) \zeta(s).$$

Let $g(y) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-n^2 \pi y}$, so that $2g(y) = \theta(y) - 1$. Then from the above integral for the gamma function, we obtain at once

$$F(s) = \int_0^\infty x^{s/2} g(x) \frac{dx}{x} \\ = \int_1^\infty x^{s/2} g(x) \frac{dx}{x} + \int_1^\infty x^{-s/2} g(1/x) \frac{dx}{$$

The functional equation of the theta function immediately implies that

$$F(s) = \frac{1}{s-1} - \frac{1}{s} + \int_{1}^{\infty} (x^{s/2} + x^{(1-s)/2})g(x) \frac{dx}{x}$$

The integral on the right converges absolutely for all complex s, and uniformly for s in any strip $\sigma_1 \leq \sigma \leq \sigma_2$. The expression on the right then defines F for all values of $s \neq 0, 1$, and we see that

$$F(s)=F(1-s).$$

§2. A special computation

Example 1. Consider the function

$$h(x) = e^{-\pi x^2},$$

where $x^2 = x \cdot x$ as usual. We contend that h is self dual, i.e.

$$\hat{h} = h$$
.

Proof. We differentiate the Fourier transform

$$\hat{h}(y) = \int h(x) e^{-2\pi i x y} \, dx$$

251

under the integral with respect to y (we may assume for this proof that we are in the one variable case, since the Fourier transform splits into a product of 1-variable transforms), and we integrate by parts. We then find that

$$\frac{dh(y)}{dy} = -2\pi y \hat{h}(y).$$

Hence there exists a constant C such that

$$\hat{h}(y) = C e^{-\pi y^2}.$$

Taking the value $\hat{h}(0)$ shows that C = 1, thus concluding the proof.

Example 2. Next, let f be an arbitrary function in the Schwartz space, and let B be a non-singular real matrix. Then the function f_B defined by

$$f_B(x) = f(Bx)$$

is also in the Schwartz space, and using the change of variables formula for the multiple integral, we find immediately that its Fourier transform is given by

$$\hat{f}_B(y) = \frac{1}{\|B\|} \hat{f}({}^t B^{-1} y)$$

where ||B|| is the absolute value of the determinant of B, and ${}^{t}B^{-1}$ is the transpose of the inverse of B. This is clear since when we make the change of variables z = Bx, we have dz = ||B|| dx, and

$$\langle B^{-1}z, y \rangle = \langle z, {}^{t}B^{-1}y \rangle.$$

The Poisson formula will be applied to a special kind of function f in the Schwartz space. Let Q be a positive definite quadratic form over the reals, on \mathbb{R}^{N} . We can write

$$Q(x) = \langle Ax, x \rangle$$

where \langle , \rangle is the usual scalar product, $x \in \mathbf{R}^N$, and A is a symmetric matrix, such that for all $x \neq 0$ we have Q(x) > 0.

Let

$$g(x) = e^{-\pi Q(x)}$$

We can write $A = B^2$ for some symmetric operator B, and thus

$$Q(x) = \langle Bx, Bx \rangle.$$

We are therefore in the situation arising from Examples 1 and 2, and we can apply the Poisson formula to g(x). We find:

$$\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^N} e^{-\pi \langle A^{l, l} \rangle} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\|A\|}} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^N} e^{-\pi \langle A^{-1}l, l \rangle}.$$

Or, if we let Q' be the quadratic form such that

$$Q'(x) = \langle A^{-1}x, x \rangle,$$

then we can rewrite this formula in the form

$$\sum_{l\in\mathbf{Z}^N}e^{-\pi Q(l)}=\frac{1}{\sqrt{\|A\|}}\sum_{l\in\mathbf{Z}^N}e^{-\pi Q'(l)}.$$

We shall apply this to a quadratic form obtained arithmetically. Let k be a number field, and a fractional ideal of k. Let

$$\alpha = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N\}$$

be a basis of a over Z. We let

$$\alpha' = \{\alpha'_1, \ldots, \alpha'_N\}$$

be the dual basis with respect to the trace. Then α' is a basis for the fractional ideal

$$\mathfrak{a}'=(\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a})^{-1},$$

where b is the different of K over **Q**. (Proposition 4 of Chapter III, §1). We let $j = 1, \ldots, r_1 + 2r_2$ be indices for the conjugates of k in C. We write symbolically

 $\xi = x_1\alpha_1 + \cdots + x_N\alpha_N,$

and

$$\xi^{(j)} = x_1 \alpha_1^{(j)} + \cdots + x_N \alpha_N^{(j)},$$

with real numbers x_1, \ldots, x_N .

Hecke's theta formula. Let c_1, \ldots, c_N be real numbers > 0, such that $c_{r_1+\nu} = c_{r_1+\nu+r_2}$ for $1 \leq \nu \leq r_2$. Let $d_{\mathfrak{a}}$ be the absolute value of the discriminant of \mathfrak{a} , so that

$$(d_{\mathfrak{a}}) = \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^2 d_k.$$

[XIII, §3]

Let

$$g(x) = \exp\left(-\pi d_{a}^{-1/N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} c_{j} |\xi^{(j)}|^{2}\right)$$

and let

$$\Theta(c, \mathfrak{a}) = \sum_{x \in \mathbf{Z}^N} g(x).$$

Then we have the relation

$$\Theta(c,\mathfrak{a})=\frac{1}{\sqrt{c_1\cdots c_N}}\,\Theta(c^{-1},\mathfrak{a}'),$$

where c^{-1} stands symbolically for $c_1^{-1}, \ldots, c_N^{-1}$.

Proof. Let us put

$$Q(c, \alpha, x) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} c_j |\alpha_1^{(j)} x_1 + \dots + \alpha_N^{(j)} x_N|^2$$
$$= \langle A_{c,\alpha} x, x \rangle.$$

The $\nu\mu$ -component of the matrix $A_{c,\alpha}$ is

$$\sum_{j=1}^N c_j \alpha_{\nu}^{(j)} \bar{\alpha}_{\mu}^{(j)}.$$

From Chapter III, §1, it is immediately verified that the inverse matrix of $A_{c,\alpha}$ is given by

$$\langle A_{c,\alpha}^{-1}x,x\rangle = Q(c^{-1},\alpha',x).$$

Furthermore, the absolute value of the determinant is

$$||A_{c,\alpha}|| = c_1 \cdots c_N |D(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N)|.$$

This yields all the data needed to apply the Poisson formula in the form given above for the exponential of a quadratic form, and concludes the proof.

§3. Functional equation

It is convenient to deal with the zeta function associated with an ideal class. We shall follow Hecke (cf. also Landau), which gives an N-dimensional version of one of the original proofs for the functional equation by Riemann.

Let \Re be an ideal class of the ordinary ideal class group I/P. We define

$$\zeta(s, \Re) = \sum_{\mathfrak{b} \in \Re} \frac{1}{N\mathfrak{b}^s}$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$. Let \mathfrak{a} be an ideal in \mathfrak{R}^{-1} . The map

$$\mathfrak{b} \mapsto \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b} = (\xi)$$

establishes a bijection between the set of ideals in \Re and equivalence classes of non-zero elements of \mathfrak{a} (where two field elements are called equivalent if they differ by a unit). Let $R(\mathfrak{a})$ be a set of representatives for the non-zero equivalence classes. Then we may write

$$\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^{-s}\zeta(s,\,\mathfrak{R})=\sum_{\xi\in R(\mathfrak{a})}rac{1}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{s}},$$

where the sum is taken over representatives ξ of equivalence classes of non-zero elements of \mathfrak{a} . Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N$ be a basis of \mathfrak{a} over Z. We write

$$\xi = x_1 \alpha_1 + \cdots + x_N \alpha_N, \qquad \qquad x_i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Let S_{∞} be the set of archimedean absolute values on k. For $v \in S_{\infty}$ we let σ_v be the embedding of k in k_v , identified with **R** or **C** (in the complex case, we fix one identification which otherwise is determined only up to conjugacy). We let

$$\xi_v = \sigma_v \xi,$$

and also use this same notation when we let x_i be real numbers.

Functional equation. Let \Re be an ideal class, $N = [k: \mathbf{Q}]$, d_k the absolute value of the discriminant of k,

Let

$$A = 2^{-r_2} d_k^{1/2} \pi^{-N/2}.$$

$$F(s, \mathfrak{R}) = A^{s} \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)^{r_{1}} \Gamma(s)^{r_{2}} \zeta(s, \mathfrak{R}).$$

Let \Re' be the ideal class of $\mathfrak{d}^{-1}\mathfrak{R}^{-1}$, where \mathfrak{d} is the different of k/\mathbf{Q} . Then $F(\mathbf{s}, \mathfrak{R})$ is analytic except for simple poles at $\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{0}$, $\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{1}$, and

$$F(s, \Re) = F(1 - s, \Re').$$

Proof. We shall obtain an integral expression for the zeta function, and also see that it is entire except for a simple pole at s = 1, for which we shall determine the residue.

We recall that

$$\Gamma(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-y} y^s \frac{dy}{y}, \qquad \text{for } \operatorname{Re}(s) > 0.$$

It will also be useful to note that if f is a function such that f(y)/y is absolutely integrable from 0 to ∞ , then

$$\int_0^\infty f(y) \, \frac{dy}{y} = \int_0^\infty f(ay) \, \frac{dy}{y}$$

for any number a > 0. In other words, the integral is an invariant integral on the multiplicative group of positive reals, for the measure dy/y. Note that the gamma function is expressed as such an integral. This is relevant to the zeta function, because for instance

$$\frac{\Gamma(s/2)}{a^s} = \int_0^\infty e^{-a^2 y} y^{s/2} \, \frac{dy}{y} \, \cdot$$

(Here we made a multiplicative translation of f by a^2 .) Let

$$d_{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^{2}d_{k}$$

be the absolute value of the discriminant of a.

Let v be real. Let

$$a^2 = \pi d_{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1/N} |\xi_v|^2,$$

where ξ is one of our non-zero elements of \mathfrak{a} . Then we find

$$(\pi^{-1/2} d_k^{1/2N} \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{a}^{1/N})^s \frac{\Gamma(s/2)}{|\xi_v|^s} = \int_0^\infty \exp(-\pi d_\mathfrak{a}^{-1/N} |\xi_v|^2 y) y^{s/2} \frac{dy}{y} dy$$

Let v be complex. By a similar argument, we find

$$(2^{-1}\pi^{-1} d_k^{1/N} \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{a}^{2/N})^s \frac{\Gamma(s)}{|\xi_v|^{2s}} = \int_0^\infty \exp(-\pi d_\mathfrak{a}^{-1/N} 2|\xi_v|^2 y) y^s \frac{dy}{y} \cdot$$

Multiplying over all $v \in S_{\infty}$, and letting $y = \prod y_v$ be the variable in $(r_1 + r_2)$ -space, with

$$rac{dy}{y} = \prod_v rac{dy_v}{y_v}$$
 ,

we obtain

$$A^{s}\Gamma(s/2)^{r_{1}}\Gamma(s)^{r_{2}}\frac{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^{s}}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{s}} = \int_{0}^{\infty}\cdots\int_{0}^{\infty}\exp(-\pi d_{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1/N}\sum N_{v}|\xi_{v}|^{2}y_{v})\|y\|^{s/2}\frac{dy}{y},$$
where

wnere

$$\|y\| = \prod y_{v}^{N_{v}}.$$

For $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq 1 + \delta$, the sum over inequivalent $\xi \neq 0$ is absolutely and uniformly convergent. Hence for Re(s) > 1 we find an expression for

 $F(s, \Re)$, namely

(1)
$$F(s, \mathfrak{R}) = A^{s} \Gamma(s/2)^{r_{1}} \Gamma(s)^{r_{2}} \zeta(s, \mathfrak{R}) \\ = \int_{0}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{\xi \in R(\mathfrak{a})} \exp(-\pi d_{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1/N} \sum N_{v} |\xi_{v}|^{2} y_{v}) ||y||^{s/2} \frac{dy}{y}.$$

We can abbreviate the notation to get a clearer picture of this expression. We let

$$G = \mathbf{R}^+ imes \cdots imes \mathbf{R}^+ = \prod \mathbf{R}^+_v$$

be the product of $r_1 + r_2$ copies of the positive reals. Then we can write

(2)
$$F(s, \Re) = \int_{G} f(y) ||y||^{s/2} d^{*}y,$$

where $d^*y = dy/y$, and f is the big sum over all $\xi \neq 0$, $\xi \in R(\mathfrak{a})$.

Let V be the image of the group of units U in G. In other words, V is the image of the map

$$u\mapsto (|u_v|)_{v\in S^{\infty}}.$$

The kernel of this map is the group of roots of unity. Its image is contained in the subgroup G^0 consisting of all $y \in G$ such that ||y|| = 1, and is a discrete subgroup. Furthermore, G^0/V is compact. Also, we can write G as a product

$$G = \mathbf{R}^+ \times G^0$$
,

because any $y \in G$ can be written uniquely as

$$y = t^{1/N}c$$

with $t \in \mathbf{R}^+$ and $c \in G^0$. Here $c = (c_v)$ and $t^{1/N}c = (t^{1/N}c_v)$. By changing variables, we could map G on Euclidean space \mathbf{R}^{r+1} . We prefer to carry out the proof formally using the present notation. We shall perform this change of variables at the end, to compute some needed constants. Observe that with the above product expression we have

$$\|y\|=t$$

We may write

$$F(s, \Re) = \int_0^\infty \int_{G^0} f(t^{1/N}c) t^{s/2} d^*c \, \frac{dt}{t}$$

where d^*c is the appropriate measure on G^0 , and $c = (c_v)$ is the variable

256

[XIII, §3]

in G^0 . If we put indices $j = 1, \ldots, r_1 + r_2$ then

$$c = (c_1, \ldots, c_{r_1+r_2}).$$

Let E be a fundamental domain for V^2 in G^0 . We have a disjoint decomposition

$$G^{\mathbf{0}} = \bigcup_{\eta \in V} \eta^{2} E,$$

and hence if w is the number of roots of unity in k, we get

$$F(s, \Re) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{E} \frac{1}{w} \sum_{u \in U} \sum_{\xi \in R(\mathfrak{a})} \exp(-\pi d_{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1/N} \sum N_{v} |\xi_{v} u_{v}|^{2} t^{1/N} c_{v}) t^{s/2} d^{*} c \frac{dt}{t}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{E} \frac{1}{w} [\Theta(t^{1/N} c, \mathfrak{a}) - 1] d^{*} c t^{s/2} \frac{dt}{t}.$$

We split the integral from 0 to ∞ into two integrals, from 0 to 1 and from 1 to ∞ . We let $\mu^*(E)$ be the integral of 1 over E, with respect to d^*c . We then find:

$$F(s, \Re) = \int_0^1 \int_E \frac{1}{w} \Theta(t^{1/N}c, \mathfrak{a}) t^{s/2} d^*c \frac{dt}{t} - \frac{\mu^*(E)2}{ws} + \int_1^\infty \int_E \frac{1}{w} [\Theta(t^{1/N}c, \mathfrak{a}) - 1] d^*c t^{s/2} \frac{dt}{t}.$$

We now use the functional equation of the theta function. We see that

$$\Theta(t^{1/N}c,\mathfrak{a})=\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\,\Theta(t^{-1/N}c^{-1},\mathfrak{a}')$$

because ||c|| = 1 (c is in G^0 !). We transform the first integral from 0 to 1, with a small change of variables, letting $t = 1/\tau$, $dt = -d\tau/\tau^2$. Note that the measure d^*c is invariant under the change $c \mapsto c^{-1}$ (think of the isomorphism with the additive Euclidean measure, invariant under taking negatives). We therefore find that

(3)
$$F(s, \mathfrak{R}) = \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{E} \frac{1}{w} \left[\Theta(t^{1/N}c, \mathfrak{a}) - 1\right] d^{*}c t^{\frac{s}{2}} \frac{dt}{t} - \frac{\mu^{*}(E)2}{ws} + \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{E} \frac{1}{w} \left[\Theta(t^{1/N}c, \mathfrak{a}') - 1\right] d^{*}c t^{\frac{1-s}{2}} \frac{dt}{t} - \frac{\mu^{*}(E)2}{w(1-s)}.$$

This expression is invariant under the changes

$$s\mapsto 1-s$$
 and $\mathfrak{a}\mapsto \mathfrak{a}'$.

This proves the functional equation.

Actually, our last expression yields more information on $F(s, \mathfrak{R})$. Indeed, the integrals are absolutely convergent for all complex s, thus giving us an analytic expression for $F(s, \mathfrak{R})$, disregarding the two simple polar terms at s = 0 and s = 1.

We shall now carry out explicitly the change of variables in the above proof, and compute $\mu^*(E)$. Let u_1, \ldots, u_r be independent generators for the units modulo roots of unity, and let

$$\eta_i = (|u_i^{(1)}|, \ldots, |u_i^{(r+1)}|) = (\eta_{i1}, \ldots, \eta_{i,r+1})$$

be their images in G, so that η_1, \ldots, η_r form a (multiplicative) Z-basis for V. Let

 $g: \mathbf{R}^+ \times \mathbf{R}^r \to G$

be the map

$$(t, z_1, \ldots, z_r) \mapsto t^{1/N} \eta_1^{2z_1} \cdots \eta_r^{2z_r}.$$

Then our map is an isomorphism, and in terms of coordinates we have

$$y_j = t^{1/N} \eta_{1j}^{2z_1} \cdots \eta_{rj}^{2z_r}, \quad j = 1, \ldots, r_1 + r_2.$$

The Jacobian determinant is then immediately computed to be

$$\Delta_g(t,z) = 2^{-r_2+r} \frac{y_1 \cdots y_{r+1}}{t} R,$$

where R is the regulator. Hence (2) can now be written

$$F(s, \Re) = \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbf{R}^r} f(g(t, z)) t^{s/2} (2^{-r_2 + r} R) \, dz \, \frac{dt}{t} \, \cdot$$

Thus the integral over G^0 corresponds to an integral over \mathbf{R}^r , and under our map, the fundamental domain E is the image of the unit cube (half closed) in this Euclidean space. The cosets of this unit cube with respect to the lattice of integral points \mathbf{Z}^r in \mathbf{R}^r correspond to the cosets of Ewith respect to elements of V^2 in G^0 . This shows that

$$\mu^*(E) = 2^{-r_2 + r}R = 2^{r_1 - 1}R.$$

This gives us the residue of $F(s, \Re)$:

Theorem 1. The polar part of $F(s, \Re)$ at s = 0 and s = 1 is given by

$$\frac{\mu^*(E)2}{w} \left(\frac{1}{s-1} - \frac{1}{s}\right) = \frac{2^{r_1}R}{w} \left(\frac{1}{s-1} - \frac{1}{s}\right).$$

The zeta function $\zeta(s, \Re)$ has a simple pole at s = 1 with residue

$$\kappa = rac{2^{r_1}(2\pi)^{r_2}R}{wd_k^{1/2}}$$
 ,

and no other singularity.

Proof. The first statement is obtained by plugging in our value for $\mu^*(E)$ in the expression (3). The second statement comes from evaluating

$$A^{-1}\Gamma(1/2)^{r_1}\Gamma(1)^{r_2}$$
.

So Theorem 1 drops out.

We have obtained information on the zeta function of an ideal class. Taking the sum over the ideal classes immediately yields information on the zeta function itself, as follows.

Theorem 2. Let

$$F_k(s) = \sum_{\Re} F(s, \Re).$$

Also, let

$$\lambda = rac{2^{r_1}hR}{w} \hspace{0.5cm} and \hspace{0.5cm} \kappa = rac{2^{r_1}(2\pi)^{r_2}hR}{wd_k^{1/2}} \, .$$

Then

$$F_k(s) = F_k(1-s),$$

and F_k has a simple pole at s = 0 and s = 1, with polar part

$$\lambda\left(\frac{1}{s-1}-\frac{1}{s}\right)=\frac{\lambda}{s(s-1)}.$$

The zeta function $\zeta_k(s)$ has only a simple pole at s = 1 with residue equal to κ .

We shall now keep our integrals for $t \ge 1$, but put back the theta terms into the sums over ξ . In fact, we had

$$(\xi) = \mathfrak{ab}$$
 and $N\xi = N\mathfrak{a}N\mathfrak{b}$.

We can make a similar construction for a' and hence we find that

$$F(s, \mathfrak{R}) = \frac{\lambda}{s(s-1)} + \int_{\|y\|\geq 1} \sum_{\mathfrak{b}\in\mathfrak{R}'} \exp\left(-\pi \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}^{2/N}d_k^{-1/N}\sum N_v \frac{|\xi_v|^2}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{2/N}}y_v\right) \|y\|^{\frac{s}{2}} \frac{dy}{y} + \int_{\|y\|\geq 1} \sum_{\mathfrak{b}\in\mathfrak{R}'} \exp\left(-\pi \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{b}^{2/N}d_k^{-1/N}\sum N_v \frac{|\xi_v|^2}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{2/N}}y_v\right) \|y\|^{\frac{1-s}{2}} \frac{dy}{y}.$$

Each sum over b is taken over the ideals in the given class.

We change variables, making the multiplicative translation

$$y'_v = \frac{|\xi_v|^2}{\mathbf{N}\xi^{2/N}} y_v.$$

Then ||y'|| = ||y||, and we find:

Theorem 3. Let $Tr(y) = \sum N_v y_v$. Then

$$F_k(s) = \frac{\lambda}{s(s-1)} + \sum_{\mathfrak{b}} \int_{\|\boldsymbol{y}\| \ge 1} \exp\left(-\pi \, d_k^{-1/N} \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{b}^{2/N} \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{y})\right) \left[\|\boldsymbol{y}\|^{\frac{s}{2}} + \|\boldsymbol{y}\|^{\frac{1-s}{2}}\right] \frac{d\boldsymbol{y}}{\boldsymbol{y}},$$

where the sum is taken over all ideals $b \neq 0$.

§4. Application to the Brauer-Siegel theorem

Following Siegel, we shall show how the formula of Theorem 3 implies an asymptotic relation between the class number, absolute value of the discriminant, and regulator of a number field k. We denote these numbers as usual by h_k , d_k , and R_k , respectively. We let $N_k = [k : \mathbf{Q}]$. We omit the subscript k if the reference to k is clear.

For the statement of the next theorem, we assume something about the zeros of the zeta function, in order to see clearly the simple logical structure of the argument. Siegel showed in a special case how one can supplement this argument by the technique of *L*-series to get a proof in a wider class of cases, and Brauer extended Siegel's argument more generally, using some of his theorems on characters. We shall do this in Chapter XVI.

Theorem 4. Let k range over a sequence of number fields such that $N_k/\log d_k \to 0$. Assume that for some $\delta > 0$, the zeta functions $\zeta_k(s)$

have no zeros on the interval $[1 - \delta, 1]$. Then for this sequence of fields,

 $\log(h_k R_k) \sim \log d_k^{1/2}.$

Proof. We shall consider successively values of s > 1, and values of s < 1 to get inequalities for hR.

First take s real > 1, say

$$s=1+rac{1}{lpha}, \qquad \alpha \ge 1.$$

For this case, we disregard the sum over b in Theorem 3, except for the fact that it is ≥ 0 . We then see that

$$\frac{\lambda}{s(s-1)} \leq A^s \Gamma(s/2)^{r_1} \Gamma(s)^{r_2} \zeta_k(s).$$

For s near 1, the gamma factors $\Gamma(s/2)$ and $\Gamma(s)$ are bounded. Furthermore, using the series expression for $\zeta_{\mathbf{Q}}(s)$, comparing it with the integral, we have

$$\zeta_{\mathbf{Q}}\left(1+\frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \leq 1+\alpha.$$

We also have the obvious bound

$$\zeta_k\left(1+\frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \leq \zeta_{\mathbf{Q}}\left(1+\frac{1}{\alpha}\right)^N$$

Using the value for λ we find

$$hR \leq C^N d^{1/2} d^{1/2\alpha} (1+\alpha)^N$$

for some universal constant C. Taking the log yields

$$\frac{\log hR}{\log d^{1/2}} \leq \frac{N}{\log d^{1/2}} \log C + 1 + \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{\log d^{1/2}} \log(1+\alpha).$$

Given ϵ , we select α so large that $1/\alpha < \epsilon$. We then select k in the sequence so that $N_k/\log d_k^{1/2}$ is close to 0. This proves the right-hand side of the type of inequality we want to prove, and we note that the zeros of the zeta function have played no role in this inequality.

We now work on the other side, taking s < 1 and s close to 1. This time, we use only one term of the sum in Theorem 3, namely that term corresponding to the ideal b = o. Under our hypothesis on the zeros of $\zeta_k(s)$, we conclude that $F_k(s) < 0$ for s < 1 and s close to 1. We let $s = 1 - \epsilon/N$. We restrict the integral to the region defined by the inequalities

$$d^{1/N} \leq y_j \leq 2d^{1/N}$$

[XIII, §5]

We disregard the term with $||y||^{(1-s)/2}$, and give y_j its lower bound in this region. We then obtain at once an inequality

$$C(\epsilon)^{-N} d^{1/2} d^{-\epsilon/2} \leq hR$$

Taking the log and dividing by log $d^{1/2}$ yields

$$\frac{-N}{\log d^{1/2}}\log C(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}) + 1 - \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \leq \frac{\log hR}{\log d^{1/2}}.$$

Letting ϵ be small, we let k be so large that $N/\log d^{1/2}$ is very small. This yields the opposite inequality, and concludes the proof of Theorem 4.

The arguments we have just given will be repeated completely in Chapter XVI, so that the reader can compare the use of the adelic integral expressions of the zeta function with the use of Theorem 3.

§5. Applications to the ideal function

We shall see how the functional equation of the zeta function can be used to give growth estimate on vertical lines. For this we need some classical facts of complex variables, essentially of Phragmen-Lindelöf type. We shall then see how the behavior of zeros in the critical strip affects these growth estimates, and also affect the ideal function. The analytic techniques developed are standard and elementary, essentially at the level of Cauchy's Theorem and its immediate corollaries.

Phragmen-Lindelöf Theorem. Let f(s) be holomorphic in the upper part of a strip: $a \leq \sigma \leq b$, and $t \geq t_1 > 0$. Assume that f(s) is $O(e^{t^{\alpha}})$ with $1 \leq \alpha$, and $t \to \infty$ in this strip, and that f(s) is $O(t^M)$ for some real number $M \geq 0$, on the sides of the strip, namely $\sigma = a$ and $\sigma = b$. Then f(s) is $O(t^M)$ in the strip. In particular, if f is bounded on the sides, then f is bounded on the strip.

Proof. The general statement reduces to the special case when f is bounded on the sides, by considering the function $f(s)/s^M$ instead of f(s). We now prove this special case, and assume that f is bounded on the sides. Without loss of generality we can take t_1 large, so that $\theta = \arg s$ is close to $\pi/2$. We select an integer $m \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$ such that $m > \alpha$. If $s = re^{i\theta}$, then

$$s^m = r^m (\cos m\theta + i \cdot \sin m\theta),$$

and $m\theta$ is close to π . Consider the function

$$g_{\epsilon}(s) = g(s) = f(s)e^{\epsilon s^{m}},$$

with $\epsilon > 0$. Then there is a constant B such that for large t we have

$$|g(s)| \leq Be^{t^{\alpha}}e^{\epsilon r^{m}\cos m\theta}$$

Consequently for large t_2 , the function g(s) is bounded by B on the horizontal segment $t = t_2$, between the vertical lines $\sigma = a$ and $\sigma = b$.

On the vertical sides of the rectangle shaded in Fig. 1, g(s) is bounded since f(s) is bounded, and $e^{\epsilon t^{m} \cos m\theta}$ is ≤ 1 . Hence g(s) is bounded on the boundary of the rectangle, consequently inside the rectangle, and in fact $|g(s)| \leq B$ inside this rectangle. Hence we get

$$|f(s)| \leq Be^{\epsilon r^m \cos m\theta}$$

inside the rectangle. This is true for every $\epsilon > 0$, and hence

 $|f(s)| \leq B$



inside the rectangle. Our theorem is proved.

In the Phragmen-Lindelöf theorem we were interested in the crude asymptotic behavior for large t. In the next theorem, we want a more refined behavior, and so we must assume that the function is holomorphic in a whole strip.

First convexity theorem. Let $s = \sigma + it$. Let f be holomorphic and bounded on the strip $a \leq \sigma \leq b$. For each σ let

$$M_f(\sigma) = M(\sigma) = \sup_t |f(\sigma + it)|.$$

Then log $M(\sigma)$ is a convex function of σ .

Proof. We must show that

$$M(\sigma)^{b-a} \leq M(a)^{b-\sigma}M(b)^{\sigma-a}.$$

We first consider the case when M(a) = M(b) = 1. We must show that $M(\sigma) \leq 1$. Suppose that $|f(s)| \leq B$ in the strip. For $\epsilon > 0$, let

$$g_{\epsilon}(s) = \frac{1}{1+\epsilon(s-a)}$$
.

Then the real part of $1 + \epsilon(s - a)$ is ≥ 1 , so that $|g_{\epsilon}(s)| \leq 1$. Also, for $t \neq 0$,

$$|g_{\epsilon}(s)| \leq \frac{1}{\epsilon |t|},$$

and therefore

$$|f(s)g_{\epsilon}(s)| \leq \frac{B}{\epsilon|t|}$$
.

Let ϵ be small, and select $t = \pm B/\epsilon$. On the boundary of the rectangle

Let ϵ be small, and select $t = \pm B/\epsilon$. On the boundary of the rectangle with sides at $\sigma = a$, $\sigma = b$, with top and bottom $\pm B/\epsilon$, we find that $|fg_{\epsilon}|$ is bounded by 1. Hence $|fg_{\epsilon}| \leq 1$ on the whole rectangle. Letting ϵ tend to 0 we get what we want, namely, $|f| \leq 1$ on the strip.

In general, let

$$h(s) = M(a)^{\frac{b-s}{b-a}} M(b)^{\frac{s-a}{b-a}}.$$

Then h is entire, has no zeros, and 1/h is bounded on the strip. We have

$$|h(a+it)| = M(a)$$
 and $|h(b+it)| = M(b)$

for all t. Consequently,

$$M_{f/h}(a) = M_{f/h}(b) = 1.$$

The first part of the proof implies that $|f/h| \leq 1$, whence $|f| \leq |h|$, thus proving our theorem.

Corollary. (Hadamard Three Circle Theorem.) Let f(z) be holomorphic on an annulus $\alpha \leq |z| \leq \beta$, centered at the origin. Let

$$M(r) = \sup_{|z|=r} |f(z)|.$$

Then $\log M(r)$ is a convex function of $\log r$. In other words,

 $\log \beta / \alpha \log M(r) \leq \log \beta / r \log M(\alpha) + \log r / \alpha \log M(\beta).$

Proof. Let $f^*(s) = f(e^s)$. Then f^* is holomorphic and bounded on the strip $a \leq \sigma \leq b$, where $e^a = \alpha$ and $e^b = \beta$. We simply apply the theorem, to get the corollary.

In the next corollary, we analyze a growth exponent. Let f be holomorphic in the neighborhood of a vertical line $\sigma + it$, with fixed σ , and suppose that

$$f(\sigma + it) \ll |t|^{\gamma}$$

for some positive number γ . The inf of all such γ can be called the **growth** exponent of f, and will be denoted by $\psi(\sigma)$. Thus

$$f(\sigma + it) \ll |t|^{\psi(\sigma) + \epsilon}$$

for every $\epsilon > 0$, and $\psi(\sigma)$ is the least exponent which makes this inequality true.

Second convexity theorem. Let f be holomorphic in the strip $a \leq \sigma \leq b$. For each σ assume that $f(\sigma + it)$ grows at most like a power of |t|, and let $\psi(\sigma)$ be the least number ≥ 0 for which

$$f(\sigma + it) \ll |t|^{\psi(\sigma) + it}$$

for every $\epsilon > 0$. Assume for simplicity also that $f(\sigma + it) \ll e^{|t|^{\alpha}}$ in the strip, with some $\alpha, 1 \leq \alpha$. Then $\psi(\sigma)$ is convex as a function of σ , and in particular is continuous on [a, b].

Proof. The Phragmen-Lindelöf Theorem shows that there is a uniform M such that $f(\sigma + it) \ll |t|^M$ in the strip. Let $L_{\epsilon}(s)$ be the formula for the straight line segment between $\psi(a) + \epsilon$ and $\psi(b) + \epsilon$; in other words, let

$$L_{\epsilon}(s) = \frac{b-s}{b-a}[\psi(a)+\epsilon] + \frac{s-a}{b-a}[\psi(b)+\epsilon].$$

The function

$$f(s)(-is)^{-L_{\epsilon}(s)}$$

is then immediately seen to be bounded in the strip, and our theorem follows, since we get $\psi(\sigma) \leq L_{\epsilon}(\sigma)$ for each σ in the strip, and every $\epsilon > 0$.

Remark. We wish to apply the second convexity theorem to the case of a function which satisfies the hypotheses of this corollary, except for the presence of a few poles, say the zeta function of a number field k, which has a pole of order 1 at s = 1. In that case, we consider

$$f(s) = (s-1)\zeta_k(s).$$

If for some σ we know that outside a neighborhood of the pole,

$$\zeta_k(\sigma+it)\ll |t|^{\psi(\sigma)+\epsilon},$$

then

$$f(\boldsymbol{\sigma}+it)\ll |t|^{\psi(\boldsymbol{\sigma})+1+\epsilon}$$

Furthermore $\psi(\sigma)$ is best possible for the zeta function, outside a neighborhood of the pole, if and only if $\psi(\sigma) + 1$ is best possible for the function f. The convexity of ψ follows from the convexity of $\psi + 1$, so that our result applies to the zeta function.

We shall deal with a fixed number field k, so that we sometimes write $\psi(\sigma)$ instead of $\psi_k(\sigma)$. I am indebted to Bombieri for the following formulas concerning $\psi_k(\sigma)$, and for pointing out Theorem 5. Bombieri tells me that the arguments go back to Hardy-Littlewood (1917). They are given in Titchmarsh's book on the zeta function (e.g. Chapter XIV) for the case $k = \mathbf{Q}$. They also apply to a wider class of zeta functions and Dirichlet

[XIII, §5]

series. Cf. L. Goldstein's paper, Acta Arithmetica (1969), pp. 205-215. Since the zeta function is bounded for $\sigma \ge 1 + \delta$, $\delta > 0$, it follows that

$$\psi_k(\sigma) = 0$$
 if $\sigma > 1$.

Let k be a number field of degree N over Q. For any real σ , the gamma function satisfies the asymptotic relation

$$|\Gamma(\sigma + it)| \sim C(\sigma)e^{-\pi t/2}t^{\sigma-1/2}, \quad t \to \infty,$$

this being obvious from the simplest form of Stirling's formula. Here, $C(\sigma)$ is a constant depending on σ . (We won't even require that it can be taken uniform in a strip.) From the functional equation, we see that for any s away from the poles, say away from the real axis, we have

$$\zeta_k(s) = A^{1-2s} \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} \Gamma\left(\frac{N_v(1-s)}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{N_v s}{2}\right)^{-1} \zeta_k(1-s).$$

For a fixed σ , the term A^{1-2s} is bounded, as a function of t. If $\psi_k(\sigma)$ exists for some σ , then using the asymptotic formula for the gamma function, we conclude that $\psi_k(1-\sigma)$ also exists, and we have the relation

$$\psi_k(\sigma) = N(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma) + \psi_k(1 - \sigma).$$

Since $\psi_k(\sigma) = 0$ when $\sigma > 1$, we conclude that $\psi_k(\sigma)$ exists when $\sigma < 0$. The Phragmen-Lindelöf theorem then implies that $\psi_k(\sigma)$ exists for all σ . We can therefore apply the convexity theorem, and we see that the graph of ψ_k looks at worst like this:



Figure 2

(Recall that a convex function on an open interval is necessarily continuous.)

The graph may in fact look better. We shall see that if we assume the Riemann Hypothesis, then in fact the graph follows the dotted line to $\frac{1}{2}$, and that $\psi_k(\sigma) = 0$ if $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$.

Theorem 5. If ζ_k has no zero for $\sigma \ge \beta > \frac{1}{2}$, then $\psi_k(\sigma) = 0$ for $\sigma \ge \beta$.

Proof. First observe that $\log \zeta_k(s)$ is analytic for $\sigma \geq \beta$. We have

Re
$$\log \zeta_k(s) = \log |\zeta_k(s)| \ll \log |t|$$
,

uniformly in a strip $a \leq \sigma \leq b$ and $\beta < a$, excluding a neighborhood of the poles, or say for $|t| \geq t_1 > 0$.

The next lemma is the standard way of showing how to bound a holomorphic function by its real part. Recall that the real part of a holomorphic function f satisfies the maximum modulus principle (for instance, look at $e^{f(z)}$).

Lemma (Borel-Caratheodory). Let f be holomorphic on a closed disc of radius R, centered at the origin. Let $||f||_r = \max |f(z)|$ for |z| = r < R. Then

$$||f||_r \leq \frac{2r}{R-r} \sup_R \operatorname{Re} f + \frac{R+r}{R-r} |f(\mathbf{0})|.$$

Proof. Let $A = \sup_R \operatorname{Re} f$. Assume first that $f(\mathbf{0}) = \mathbf{0}$. Let

$$g(z) = \frac{f(z)}{z(2A - f(z))}$$

Then g is holomorphic for $|z| \leq R$. Furthermore, if |z| = R, then

$$|2A - f(z)| \ge |f(z)|.$$

Hence $||g||_R \leq 1/R$. By the maximum modulus principle, we have $||g||_r \leq ||g||_R$, and hence, if |w| = r, we get

$$\frac{|f(w)|}{r|2A - f(w)|} \leq \frac{1}{R},$$

whence

$$|f(w)| \leq \frac{r}{R} (2A + |f(w)|),$$

and therefore

$$\|f\|_r \leq \frac{2r}{R-r} A,$$

which proves the lemma in this case.

In general, we apply the preceding estimate to the function

$$h(z) = f(z) - f(0).$$

Then

$$\sup_R \operatorname{Re} h \leq \sup_R \operatorname{Re} f + |f(\mathbf{0})|,$$

and if |w| = r, we get

$$|f(w) - f(0)| \le \frac{2r}{R-r} [A + |f(0)|]$$

whence

$$|f(w)| \leq \frac{2r}{R-r} [A + |f(0)|] + |f(0)|$$

thereby proving the lemma.

We apply the lemma to the function $f(s) = \log \zeta_k(s)$, and to circles centered at the point C + it for C large, passing through the points a + itand b + it, with $\beta < a < b$. We then see that





Indeed, for C large, $\zeta_k(s)$ is close to 1 in the half plane $\sigma \geq C$.

Actually, we want $\log \zeta_k$ to behave like a power $(\log |t|)^{\gamma}$ with $\gamma < 1$. To see this, we use the three circles with center at C + it, passing through a + it, b + it, and B + it, with B large and close to C, as on the next figure.

Figure 4

268

The Hadamard Three Circle Theorem then shows that

$$|\log \zeta_k(b+it)| \ll (\log |t|)^{\gamma},$$

with

$$\gamma = \frac{\log \frac{C-b}{C-B}}{\log \frac{C-a}{C-B}} < 1.$$

This proves Theorem 5.

Remark. Of course, we have proved something stronger, namely that for $\sigma > \beta$, we have

$$\log \zeta_k(\sigma + it) \ll (\log |t|)^{\varphi(\sigma) + \epsilon},$$

and we can play the same game with $\varphi(\sigma)$ as we did with $\psi(\sigma)$, namely show that it is convex in σ , as in Titchmarsh, thus giving rise to a third convexity theorem. We use the technique of the Phragmen-Lindelöf Theorem, and the auxiliary function

$$(\log(-is))^{-L(s)}$$
.

However, we won't need this here.

We apply Theorem 5 to the problem of estimating the number of ideals with norm $\leq x$. We need another lemma from complex variables. First, we give an approximate formulation of the lemma. We have:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \frac{y^s}{s} dx = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y > 1\\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } y = 1\\ 0 & \text{if } 0 < y < 1. \end{cases}$$

This is a useful formulation to remember the formalism of what goes on, but we need a more precise value for the manner in which the integral converges, depending on y.

Lemma. We have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{2-iT}^{2+iT} \frac{y^s}{s} dx = \begin{cases} 1 + O\left(\frac{y^2}{T \cdot \log y}\right) & \text{if } y > 1\\ 0 + O\left(\frac{y^2}{T \cdot \log y}\right) & \text{if } 0 < y < 1. \end{cases}$$

Proof. In the case y > 1, we take an integral over a rectangle as shown on Fig. 5.



Figure 5

We shall let $A \to \infty$. The function y^s/s has residue 1 at s = 0, thus giving us the contribution of 1. We must then estimate the integral over the top, bottom, and left side of the rectangle.

As for the top, the integral is estimated by

$$\int_{-A}^{2} \frac{y^{\sigma}}{|\sigma + iT|} d\sigma \leq \frac{1}{T} \int_{-A}^{2} y^{\sigma} d\sigma.$$

Letting A tend to infinity, we see that this integral is bounded by $y^2/T \log y$. The bottom is estimated similarly.

As for the left-hand side, the integral is estimated by

$$\int_{-T}^{T} \frac{y^{-A}}{|-A + it|} dt \leq \frac{2T}{A},$$

which tends to 0 as A goes to infinity. This yields the estimate of the lemma when y > 1.

If 0 < y < 1, we take a rectangle going to the right. Then there is no residue, so 1 is replaced by 0. The estimates on the bottom and side of the rectangle are carried out as before to yield the analogous estimate.

If y = 1, then one deals directly with the integral

$$\int_{2-iT}^{2+iT} \frac{1}{s} \, ds = i \int_{-T}^{T} \frac{1}{2+it} \, dt = i \int_{-T}^{T} \frac{2-it}{4+t^2} \, dt.$$

Since t is an odd function, the term with -it cancels. The integral of $1/(4 + t^2)$ is an arctangent, which gives the desired result. We won't need this case in the applications, however.

Theorem 6. Let $j_k(x)$ be the number of ideals of k with Na < x. Assume that $\zeta_k(s)$ has no zero for $\sigma \geq b$, where $\frac{1}{2} < b < 1$. Then for every ϵ , we have

$$j_k(x) = \rho_k x + O(x^{b+\epsilon}),$$

where ρ_k is the residue of ζ_k at s = 1.

Proof. We consider the integral

(*)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{2-iT}^{2+iT} \zeta_k(s) \frac{x^s}{s} ds.$$

There is no problem of convergence, which is absolute, and such that we can replace the zeta function by the sum $\sum 1/Na^s$, as well as interchange the sum and the integral. In view of the lemma, we have to deal with the two sums

$$\sum_{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a} < x} \int_{2-iT}^{2+iT} \left(\frac{x}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}}\right)^s \frac{1}{s} \, ds$$

and

$$\sum_{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}>x}\int_{2-iT}^{2+iT}\left(\frac{x}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}}\right)^s\frac{1}{s}\,ds.$$

We take x to lie exactly between two integers, and use the lemma with y = x/Na. In the estimate, the term log y comes close to 0 when Na comes close to x, but even in the worst possible case when Na may differ from x by $\frac{1}{2}$, log(x/Na) behaves like x. Hence

$$\sum_{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a} < x} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{2-iT}^{2+iT} \left(\frac{x}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}}\right)^s \frac{1}{s} ds = j_k(x) + O\left(\frac{x^3}{T}\right).$$

All we have to do is pick T large, say $T = x^3$, to make the error term negligible. (We used the fact that the order of magnitude of $j_k(x)$ is at most a constant times x, thus giving an upper bound for the number of terms in the above sum.) For the sum with Na > x, we estimate each term using the lemma, namely

$$\int_{2-iT}^{2+iT} \left(\frac{x}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}}\right)^s \frac{1}{s} ds \ll \left(\frac{x}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}}\right)^2 \frac{1}{T \cdot \log(x/\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a})}$$
$$\ll \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^2} \frac{x^2}{T \cdot \log(x/\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a})} \cdot$$

Again, $\log(x/N\mathfrak{a})$ behaves at worst like x. Selecting $T = x^3$ and summing over all \mathfrak{a} yields an estimate $\ll \zeta_k(2)$, i.e., a bound for our sum. Thus our integral (*) yields essentially $j_k(x)$, up to a bounded term.

Now we use Theorem 5, and move the integral to the left. If we had the Riemann Hypothesis, we would move the integral to the line $\sigma = \frac{1}{2} + \epsilon$. As it is, take any b with $\frac{1}{2} < b < 1$ so that ζ_k has no zero for $\sigma \ge b$. Then

$$\zeta_k(b+it) \ll |t|^\epsilon$$

for every ϵ by Theorem 5. Consequently, shifting the integral (*) to the line $\sigma = b$, we pick up a residue of $\rho_k x$ at s = 1. This gives us the main term for $j_k(x)$. The error introduced is given by the integral on the top, bottom, and left-hand side of the rectangle on Fig. 6.



Figure 6

The integral on the left-hand side of the rectangle is bounded by

$$\int_{-T}^{T} |\zeta_k(b+it)| \frac{x^b}{|b+it|} dt \ll x^b T^{\epsilon} \int_{-T}^{T} \frac{1}{|b+it|} dt$$
$$\ll x^b T^{\epsilon} \log T.$$

[XIII, §5]

With our choice of $T = x^3$, we find an error of $x^{b+\epsilon}$. For instance, on the Riemann Hypothesis, our error term is

 $x^{\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon}$

The integral over the top, say, is estimated by

$$\int_b^2 |\zeta_k(\sigma+iT)| \, \frac{x^{\sigma}}{|\sigma+iT|} \, d\sigma \ll \frac{T^{\epsilon}}{T} \, x^2,$$

which is small. This proves our theorem.

Appendix. Other applications

Zimmert [Zi 81] has used Hecke's expression for the zeta function and the functional equation to give a better upper bound for the norm of an ideal in an ideal class than would come out from the Minkowski constant; to give a better lower bound for the discriminant; and also especially to give a lower bound for the regulator, showing that it tends to infinity exponentially with the degree. Using some of Zimmert's ideas, Skoruppa [Sk 93] was able to give a remarkably simple proof of the following inequality, which is a special but important case of Zimmert's results.

Theorem 7. Let $g(s) = 2^{-r_1}\Gamma(s/2)^{r_1}\Gamma(s)^{r_2}$. Let $R = R_k$ resp. $w = w_k$ be the regulator of k resp. the number of roots of unity in k, as usual. Then for any real number s > 1, we have

$$\frac{R}{w} \geq \frac{s(s-1)}{e} e^{-s/(s-1)}g(s)e^{-sg'/g(s)}.$$

Taking special values of s shows that

$$rac{R}{w} \ge c e^{a r_1 + b r_2}$$

with some positive constants a, b, c. One can pick values of s which maximize the right side, for instance as in Skoruppa, taking s = 4/3, one finds

$$c = 0.00299, \qquad a = 0.48, \qquad b = 0.06.$$

Zimmert, with his refinement, finds the constants

 $c = 0.02, \qquad a = 0.46, \qquad b = 0.1.$

A bibliography giving other people's previous results in those directions will be found in [Zi 81].

CHAPTER XIV

Functional Equation, Tate's Thesis

This chapter is essentially Tate's thesis, which has also appeared (finally) in the Brighton conference volume.

We first treat the local duality theory of local fields, i.e. completions of number fields under an absolute value. In §1 we give the additive theory and in §2 the multiplicative theory which are used later.

In §3 we give the local functional equation, and in §4 we perform certain local computations and tabulate special zeta functions, namely those used in practice. In §5 we discuss Haar measure and integration on restricted direct products, and in §6 we discuss the additive global duality theory. The main result here is that the adele group is self-dual, and that the additive discrete group of k embedded in it is its own orthogonal complement. Thus one may apply the Poisson summation formula to this situation (done in §7) and thereby get instantly the functional equation for the L-series, in an abstract form. We get actually more (as in the classical theory), since we express these as an everywhere convergent integral plus a simple term involving possible simple poles at s = 1 or s = 0.

Finally in §8, we make the results of §7 explicit, and tabulate various identities useful for reference in the subsequent applications.

One more word on notation. If G is a locally compact commutative group, we denote by $\mathbf{Inv}(\mathbf{G})$ the set of complex valued functions f on Gwhich are continuous, in $L_1(G)$, and such that the Fourier transform \hat{f} is also continuous and in $L_1(\hat{G})$. The Fourier inversion formula then holds for such functions for some choice (unique) of Haar measure on \hat{G} depending on the choice of Haar measure on G. Such a pair of Haar measures is then called **self-dual**, and throughout our theory we shall always select the additive measures to be self-dual.

We shall use frequently the fact that if x is a character on a compact group G, then

$$\int_G x(x) \, dx = \begin{cases} \text{measure of } G & \text{if } x = id. \\ 0 & \text{if } x \neq id. \end{cases}$$

Since this fact is trivial, we recall its proof. If $x \neq id$, there exists an element y of G such that $x(y) \neq 1$. Making the translation by y does

not change Haar measure, and hence

$$\int_G \chi(x) \ dx = \int_G \chi(x+y) \ dx = \chi(y) \int_G \chi(x) \ dx.$$

Subtracting and using $\chi(y) \neq 1$ gives what we want.

§1. Local additive duality

Let $k = k_v$ now denote the completion of a number field under the absolute value v. We call k a **local field**. Then k is either the real numbers, complex numbers, or a p-adic field, and v is described by the same terms. We denote by $| |_v$ the normalized absolute value, inducing the ordinary absolute value on the reals if v is archimedean, and the p-adic absolute value $|p|_v = 1/p$ if v is p-adic. If $N_v = [k_v : \mathbf{Q}_v]$ is the local degree, then we set

$$||x||_{v} = |x|_{v}^{N_{v}}.$$

If v is p-adic, and Np denotes the number of elements in the residue class field $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{p}$ of k, then

$$||x||_{\mathfrak{p}} = ||x||_{\mathfrak{v}} = (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})^{-\mathfrak{v}},$$

where $\nu = \operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} x$.

Suppose for the moment that $k = \mathbf{Q}_v$. We define a non-trivial character on the additive (locally compact) group of k as follows.

If v is real, we put

$$\lambda_0(x) \equiv -x \pmod{1}.$$

If v is p-adic, and Z_p , Q_p denote the p-adic integers and p-adic field respectively, then there is a canonical embedding of Q_p/Z_p into Q/Z, namely onto that subgroup of Q/Z having only powers of p in the denominator. Viewing Q/Z as embedded in R/Z = reals mod 1, we let λ_0 be the composition of these homomorphisms, sending Q_p into R/Z:

$$\lambda_0: \mathbf{Q}_p \to \mathbf{Q}_p / \mathbf{Z}_p \to \mathbf{Q} / \mathbf{Z} \to \mathbf{R} / \mathbf{Z}$$

If k is a finite extension of \mathbf{Q}_v and $\mathrm{Tr} = \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathbf{Q}_v}^k$ is the trace, then the homomorphism

$$\lambda = \lambda_0 \circ \mathrm{Tr}$$

is a continuous, nontrivial homomorphism of k into the reals mod 1.

Theorem 1. Let k be a local field. Then the bilinear map

$$(x, y) \mapsto e^{2\pi i \lambda(xy)}$$

induces an identification of the additive group of k with its own character group.

[XIV, §1]

277

Proof. It is easily verified that the pairing is continuous, and that the kernels on both sides are trivial, i.e. = 0. This induces a natural map of k into \hat{k} which is injective, continuous, and dense. It is in fact bicontinuous, because if the character λ_x given by

$$\lambda_r(y) = e^{2\pi i \lambda(xy)}$$

is very close to 1, it must take on values close to 1 on a large compact subset of k. One sees at once that in that case, x must be close to 0. From this it follows that the image of k in the character group is complete, and hence closed. The map is therefore surjective and the theorem is proved.

In choosing a Haar measure on k, we choose one which is self-dual. We shall choose:

- dx = ordinary Lebesgue measure on the real line if k is real.
- dx = twice the ordinary Lebesgue measure if k is complex.
- dx = that measure for which the integers \mathfrak{o} of k get measure $(\mathbb{ND})^{-1/2}$ if k is p-adic.

Here as usual, $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denotes the local different, i.e. the ideal such that \mathfrak{D}^{-1} is the orthogonal complement of \mathfrak{o} in the pairing of Theorem 1.

If μ denotes any Haar measure on k, and if $a \in k^*$ is a non-zero element of k, then

$$\mu(a\mathfrak{o}) = ||a||\mu(\mathfrak{o}),$$

or symbolically, d(ax) = ||a|| dx.

Our assertion is clear if v is archimedean, and if v is p-adic, it suffices to verify it when $a = \pi$ is a prime element. In that case, πo is of index Np in o, and is an open subgroup of o. Thus our assertion is obvious.

Theorem 2. If we define the Fourier transform \hat{f} of a function f in $L_1(k)$ by

$$\hat{f}(y) = \int f(x) e^{-2\pi i \lambda(xy)} \, dx,$$

then with our choice of measure, the inversion formula

$$\hat{f}(x)=f(-x),$$

holds for f in Inv(k).

Proof. We need only establish the inversion formula for one non-trivial function, since from abstract Fourier analysis we know it is true save possibly for a constant factor. For k real, we can take $f(x) = e^{-\pi x^2}$, for k complex, $f(x) = e^{-2\pi |x|^2}$, and for k p-adic, f(x) = characteristic function of \mathfrak{o} . We leave the details of the computation to the reader (cf. §4).

§2. Local multiplicative theory

The units $U_v = U$ of our local field are the kernel of the homomorphism

$$a \mapsto ||a||$$

for $a \in k^*$. If v is p-adic, then U is a compact open subgroup of k^* , and it is always a compact subgroup of k^* .

By a **quasi-character** of k^* we mean a continuous homomorphism c of k^* into the multiplicative group of complex numbers. A character is thus a quasi-character of absolute value 1. We say that c is **unramified** if it is trivial on U.

Proposition 1. The unramified quasi-characters are the maps of the form

$$c(a) = \|a\|^s$$

where s is any complex number; s is determined by c if v is archimedean, and is determined only mod $2\pi i/\log Np$ if v is p-adic.

Proof. An unramified quasi-character depends only on ||a||. Use the fact that

$$k^* \approx U \times \mathbf{R}^+$$
 or $k^* \approx U \times \mathbf{Z}$

according as v is archimedean or not. In the p-adic case, the decomposition is of course not canonical, and depends on the fact that once we have selected an element π of order 1, then any element $a \in k^*$ can be written

$$a = \pi^r u$$

for some integer r and a unit u.

Any quasi-character c restricted to the units U determines a character on U, since U is compact. Conversely, given a character x of k^* , the function

$$c(a) = \chi(a) \|a\|^s$$

is a quasi-character.

If v is archimedean, and x a character of k^* , we can write

$$\chi(a) = \left(\frac{a}{|a|}\right)^m \|a\|^{i\varphi},$$

where $m = m_v(x)$ is an integer, m = 0 or 1 if v is real, $\varphi = \varphi_v(x)$ is a real number, and m, φ are uniquely determined by x.

If v is p-adic, then the subgroups $1 + p^{\nu}$ ($\nu \ge 0$) form a fundamental system of neighborhoods of 1 in U. Any quasi-character c must therefore vanish on one of these subgroups, and we call the ideal

$$\mathfrak{f}_{\chi}=\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{p},\chi}=\mathfrak{p}^{n}$$

[XIV, §2]

the conductor of c if m is the smallest integer for which $c(1 + p^m) = 1$. (If m = 0, then by definition, f = o.)

To use a unified notation for the archimedean and non-archimedean case, we shall refer to the integer $m_v(x)$ or $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{X}} = m$ as the **ramification** degree of c, or \mathfrak{X} .

Selecting a prime element π in case v is p-adic, and a decomposition

$$k^* \approx U \times \mathbf{R}^+$$
 or $k^* \approx U \times \mathbf{Z}$

we let a' be the U-component of an element $a \in k^*$ (so a' = a/|a| if v is archimedean). We let c' be the restriction of c to U. Using elementary results concerning \mathbf{R}^+ or \mathbf{Z} , we get:

Proposition 2. The quasi-characters of k^* are the maps of the form

 $a \mapsto c(a) = c'(a') ||a||^s,$

where c' is any character of U, uniquely determined by c. The complex number s is determined as in Proposition 1.

The real part of s in Proposition 2 is uniquely determined by the quasicharacter, and will be called its real part or also Re(c).

Now for Haar measure. If g(a) is in $C_c(k^*)$ (continuous functions with compact support), then $g(x)||x||^{-1}$ is in $C_c(k^+ - 0) = C_c(k - 0)$. Hence we may define on $C_c(k^*)$ a non-trivial functional

$$g\mapsto \int_{k=0}^{\infty} g(x) ||x||^{-1} dx,$$

which is obviously invariant under multiplicative translation, is positive, and thus comes from a Haar measure. Passing to the limit, we have:

Proposition 3. A function g(a) is in $L_1(k^*)$ if and only if $g(x)||x||^{-1}$ is in $L_1(k-0)$, and for such functions, we have

$$\int_{k^*} g(a) \ d_1^* a = \int_{k-0} g(x) ||x||^{-1} \ dx,$$

where d_1^*a is the measure on k^* just mentioned, and dx is the measure on (the additive group of) k.

In fact it will be convenient to take a Haar measure on k^* which differs from the above by a constant in the p-adic case, and gives the units measure 1 in general. Thus we take:

$$d^*a = \frac{da}{\|a\|}$$
 if v is archimedean.
 $d^*a = \frac{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p} - 1} \frac{da}{\|a\|}$ if v is \mathfrak{p} -adic.

Proposition 4. If v is p-adic, then $\int_U d^*a = (N\mathfrak{D})^{-1/2}$.

Proof. This is seen immediately, taking into account that ||a|| = 1 if $a \in U$, that the units are the complement of \mathfrak{p} in \mathfrak{o} , together with the definition of the additive Haar measure in §1.

§3. Local functional equation

In this section, f(x) denotes a complex valued function on k^+ , and f(a) its restriction to k^* . We consider functions satisfying the following conditions:

Z1_v. f(x) and $\hat{f}(x)$ are continuous and in $L_1(k^+)$.

$$\mathbb{Z}2_{v}$$
. $f(a)\|a\|^{\sigma}$ and $\hat{f}(a)\|a\|^{\sigma}$ are in $L_{1}(k^{*})$ for $\sigma > 0$.

For such functions, and a quasi-character c, we define a zeta function:

$$\zeta(f,c) = \int f(a)c(a) d^*a.$$

If $c(a) = \chi(a) ||a||^s$, where χ is a character of k^* , then we also write

$$\zeta(f, \chi, s) = \int f(a)\chi(a) ||a||^s d^*a.$$

Once χ is fixed, our zeta function can be viewed as a function of a complex variable, which in view of our hypotheses on f, is holomorphic for Re(s) (or Re(c)) > 0. In this domain, one sees immediately that one can differentiate under the integral sign. Two quasi-characters are called **equivalent** if we have $c_1(a) = c_2(a) ||a||^{s_1}$ for some complex number s_1 . We can view a zeta function as a complex valued function on equivalence classes of quasi-characters, and it is clear what is meant by analytic continuation on these.

If c is a quasi-character, we define $\hat{c}(a) = ||a||c^{-1}(a)$. The functional equation will come from the following fundamental Lemma.

Lemma. For any quasi-character in the domain 0 < Re(c) < 1, and two functions f, g satisfying $\mathbb{Z}\mathbf{1}_v$ and $\mathbb{Z}\mathbf{2}_v$, we have

$$\zeta(f,c)\zeta(\hat{g},\hat{c}) = \zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c})\zeta(g,c).$$

Proof. We can write $\zeta(f, c)\zeta(\hat{g}, \hat{c})$ as an absolutely convergent double integral over $k^* \times k^*$, namely:

$$\iint f(a)\hat{g}(b)c(ab^{-1})\|b\| \ d^*a \ d^*b.$$

[XIV, §3]

The measure is invariant under shearing automorphism $(a, b) \rightarrow (a, ab)$, and our integral is thus equal to

$$\iint f(a)\hat{g}(ab)c(b^{-1})\|ab\|\ d^*a\ d^*b.$$

Writing down the definition of g and the multiplicative measures $d^*a d^*b$ we get (up to an obvious constant factor)

$$\iiint f(a)g(x)c(b^{-1})e^{-2\pi i\lambda(axb)}\,dx\,da\,db,$$

which is symmetric in f and g. This proves our Lemma.

If we can show that there exists one function f for which $\zeta(\hat{f}, \hat{c})$ is not 0, then the quotient $\zeta(f, c)/\zeta(\hat{f}, \hat{c})$ is defined and does not depend on the function f. We shall denote it by $\rho(c)$. In the next section we shall exhibit for each equivalence class of quasi-characters on a local field a function ffor which $\rho(c)$ is defined. We thus get:

Theorem 3. A zeta function has an analytic continuation to the domain of all quasi-characters given by a functional equation of the type

$$\zeta(f,c) = \rho(c)\zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c}).$$

The factor $\rho(c)$, which is independent of the function f, is a meromorphic function defined in the domain $0 < \operatorname{Re}(c) < 1$ by the functional equation, and for all quasi-characters by analytic continuation.

From the functional equation, we get the following properties:

1.
$$\rho(c)\rho(\hat{c}) = c(-1).$$

2. $\rho(\bar{c}) = c(-1)\overline{\rho(c)}$
3. If $\operatorname{Re}(c) = \frac{1}{2}$, then $|\rho(c)| = 1$.

Proofs. For the first, we have

 $\zeta(f,c) = \rho(c)\zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c}) = \rho(c)\rho(\hat{c})\zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c}),$

and

$$\zeta(f,c) = c(-1)\zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c}),$$

using the fact that $\hat{f} = f^-$ and $\hat{c} = c$. The first property follows. For the second, we have

$$\overline{\zeta(f,c)} = \zeta(\overline{f},\overline{c}) = \rho(\overline{c})\zeta(\overline{f},\overline{c})$$
$$= \rho(\overline{c})c(-1)\zeta(\overline{f},\overline{c}) = \rho(\overline{c})c(-1)\overline{\zeta(f,\overline{c})}$$

and

$$\overline{\zeta(f,c)} = \overline{\rho(c)\zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c})}$$

so that the second property follows. As to the third, if the exponent of c is equal to $\frac{1}{2}$, then

$$c(a)\overline{c}(a) = |c(a)|^2 = c(a)\widehat{c}(a).$$

Hence $\bar{c}(a) = \hat{c}(a)$. Using the first two properties yields

$$\rho(c)\overline{\rho(c)}=1,$$

which proves the third property.

In the next section, we give explicitly, for each class of quasi-characters, a weight function f_c which makes the zeta function have the usual shape, and in particular, defines $\rho(c)$

§4. Local computations

v archimedean. We use the following notation:

 $x = k_v^+$ -variable $a = k_v^*$ -variable $dx = N_v$ times Lebesgue measure $d^*a = da/\|a\|.$

Given any character x of k_v^* , we have

$$\mathbf{x}(a) = \left(\frac{a}{|a|}\right)^m |a|^{iN_v\varphi},$$

where $m = m_v(x)$ and $\varphi = \varphi_v(x)$. If v is real, m = 0 or 1. We put

$$s_v = s_v(x) = N_v(s + i\varphi) + |m|,$$

 $\hat{s}_v = N_v(1 - s - i\varphi) + |m|.$

If v is real,

$$f_{\chi,v}(x) = x^m e^{-\pi x^2}.$$

If v is complex,

$$f_{\chi,v}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\pi} \overline{x}^{|m|} e^{-2\pi |x|^2} & \text{if } m \ge 0\\ \frac{1}{2\pi} x^{|m|} e^{-2\pi |x|^2} & \text{if } m \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Observe that our functions $f_{\chi,v}$ depend only on m, and thus may be denoted by $f_m = f_{m_v}$. If c is a quasi-character, and χ the associated character on the units, then we write $f_c = f_{\chi}$.

282

Theorem 4. With the above notation, we have in all cases, putting $c(a) = \chi(a) ||a||^s$:

$$\hat{f}_m(x) = i^{|m|} f_{-m}(x) \quad (\text{if } v \text{ real, } f_{-m} = f_m)$$

$$\zeta(f_c, c) = \zeta(f_{\chi,v}, \chi, s) = (N_v \pi)^{-s_v/2} \Gamma(s_v/2)$$

$$\zeta(\hat{f}_c, \hat{c}) = \zeta(\hat{f}_{\chi,v}, \chi, 1 - s) = i^{|m|} (N_v \pi)^{-\hat{s}_v/2} \Gamma(\hat{s}_v/2)$$

Proof. If v is real, our first assertion concerning \hat{f} is easy and is left to the reader.

For the zeta functions, we use repeatedly the definition of the Gamma function:

$$\Gamma(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-u} u^{s-1} \, du.$$

The computations are also quite simple and are again left to the reader.

For v complex, things are slightly harder. We establish the formula for \hat{f}_m first for $m \ge 0$ by induction. To fit classical notation, let us use z as a complex variable,

$$z = x + iy = re^{i\theta}.$$

For m = 0, we break up the Fourier integral into two real integrals and use the classical formula

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-\pi u^2 + 2\pi i x \, u} \, du = e^{-\pi x^2}.$$

Assume we have proved our formula for some $m \ge 0$, so we have

$$\int f_m(w) e^{-2\pi i\lambda(zw)} dw = i^m f_{-m}(z).$$

Writing this out, we get

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (u - iv)^m e^{-2\pi(u^2 + v^2) + 4\pi i(xu - yv)} 2 \, du \, dv = i^m (x + iy)^m e^{-2\pi(x^2 + y^2)}.$$

Applying the operator $D = (4\pi i)^{-1} [\partial/\partial x + i(\partial/\partial y)]$ to both sides (a simple task in view of the fact that since z^m is analytic, $D(x + iy)^m = 0$) we obtain our contention for m + 1. The induction step is carried out.

To handle the case m < 0, we put a roof on the formula

$$\hat{f}_{-m}(z) = i^{|m|} f_m(z),$$

which we have already proved, and remember that $\hat{f}(z) = f(-z)$.

For the assertions concerning the zeta functions, we may assume without loss of generality that $\varphi = 0$, and that our character x is of type $c_m(a) = e^{im\theta}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \zeta(f_m, c_m, s) &= \int f_m(a) c_m(a) \|a\|^s \, d^*a \\ &= \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{1}{2\pi} r^{2(s-1)+|m|} e^{-2\pi r^2} 2r \, dr \, d\theta \\ &= \int_0^\infty (r^2)^{(s-1)+|m|/2} e^{-2\pi r^2} \, d(r^2), \end{split}$$

from which our assertion follows immediately after a change of variables. The function $\zeta(\hat{f}, \hat{c})$ is now computed using the first part of our theorem and the definitions.

v p-adic. We use the following notation:

$$x = k_v^+$$
-variable $a = k_v^*$ -variable dx gives o measure $(N\mathfrak{D})^{-1/2}$ $d^*a = rac{N\mathfrak{p}}{N\mathfrak{p} - 1} rac{da}{\|a\|}$

We denote by $m_{\chi,v} = m$ the order of the conductor of a character χ , so $m \ge 0$. As in the archimedean case, our function $f_{\chi,v}$ depends only on this integer, and in fact, we put

$$f_m(x) = \begin{cases} e^{2\pi i\lambda(x)} & x \in \mathfrak{D}^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi}^{-1} \\ 0 & x \notin \mathfrak{D}^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi}^{-1} \end{cases}$$

(\mathfrak{D} and \mathfrak{f}_{χ} should of course carry the index \mathfrak{p}).

For convenience of notation, we write $\mathfrak{D}_{\chi} = \mathfrak{D}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi}$.

Proposition 5. We have

$$\widehat{f}_m(x) = \begin{cases} (\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{D})^{1/2}(\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{f}_\chi) & x \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}_\chi} \\ 0 & x \not\equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}_\chi}. \end{cases}$$

Proof. This comes immediately from the fact that the integral of a character over a compact group is $\mu(G)$ or 0 according as the character is trivial or not. (The compact group here is $(\mathfrak{D}_{\chi})^{-1}$.)

We observe that f_0 is the characteristic function of \mathfrak{D}^{-1} while \hat{f}_0 is $(\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{D})^{1/2}$ times the characteristic function of \mathfrak{o} .

We now give explicitly a zeta function for unramified characters. If x is unramified, the value $x(\pi)$ does not depend on the particular choice of prime element π , and is denoted $x(\mathfrak{p})$.

Theorem 5. Let x be an unramified character of k^* , and let f be the characteristic function of an ideal p^n . Then

$$\zeta(f, \chi, s) = \frac{(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{D})^{-1/2}\chi(\mathfrak{p})^n(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})^{-ns}}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}} \cdot$$

Proof. This is an easy computation, using the definition of multiplicative Haar measure in terms of the additive one, and taking the integral as a sum over integrals over the annuli $\mathfrak{p}^{\nu} - \mathfrak{p}^{\nu+1}$ for ν ranging from n to ∞ . On each such annulus, $||a||^s$ is constant, and $\chi(a) = \chi(\pi^{\nu})$, since χ is assumed unramified. We leave the details to the reader.

Corollary 1. We have

$$\zeta(f_0, \chi_0, s) = \frac{(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{D})^{s-1/2}}{1 - \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}$$

and

$$\zeta(\widehat{f}_0, \chi_0, 1-s) = \frac{1}{1-\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{s-1}} \cdot$$

Proof. Put $n = -\text{ord } \mathfrak{D}$ in the first case, and n = 0 in the second.

Corollary 2. Let x be an unramified character of k^* , and let $f_0 = f_x$ be the characteristic function of \mathfrak{D}^{-1} . Then

$$\zeta(f_0, \chi, s) = \frac{(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{D})^{s-1/2}\chi(\mathfrak{D}^{-1})}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}$$

and

$$\zeta(\hat{f}_0, \bar{x}, 1-s) = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\chi - 1(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{n}^{1-s}}}$$

We observe that for unramified x, the zeta function has the usual term $1 - (N\mathfrak{p})^{-s}$ in the denominator. For ramified characters, it does not.

Theorem 6. Let π be a prime element, x a character of k^* , m > 0 the order of its conductor, and $\{\epsilon\}$ a set of unit representatives for $U/(1 + f_x)$. Let $o(x) = \text{ord}(\mathfrak{D}_x)$, and put

$$\eta(x) = e^{2\pi i \lambda(x)}.$$

Let $c(a) = \chi(a) ||a||^s$. Then

$$\zeta(f_m,c) = \zeta(f_m,\chi,s) = (\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{D}_{\chi})^s \mu(1+\mathfrak{f}_{\chi})\tau(\chi),$$

where

$$\tau(\chi) = \sum_{\epsilon} (\chi_{\eta})(\epsilon \pi^{-o(\chi)}).$$

Furthermore,

$$\zeta(\hat{f}_m,\hat{c})=\zeta(\hat{f}_m,\bar{\chi},1-s)=(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{D})^{1/2}(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{f}_\chi)\mu(1+\mathfrak{f}_\chi).$$

(Note: The measure μ is of course that of d^*a , and π in $2\pi i$ is 3.14159...) *Proof.* By definition,

$$egin{aligned} \zeta(f_m,c) &= \int_{\mathfrak{D}_\chi^{-1}} \eta(a)\chi(a) \|a\|^s \, d^*a \ &= \sum_{-o(\chi)}^\infty (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})^{-
u s} \int_{A_
u} \eta(a)\chi(a) \, d^*a, \end{aligned}$$

where A_{ν} is the usual annulus $\mathfrak{p}^{\nu} - \mathfrak{p}^{\nu+1}$. We contend that all the terms in this sum after the first are 0.

Case 1. $\nu \geq -\text{ord } \mathfrak{D}$. Then $\eta(a) = 1$ on A_{ν} and the integral is

$$\int_{A_{\nu}} \chi(a) \, d^*a = \int_{U} \chi(a\pi^{\nu}) \, d^*a = \chi(\pi^{\nu}) \int_{U} \chi(a) \, d^*a,$$

which is 0, since x is non-trivial on U.

Case 2. $-\operatorname{ord} \mathfrak{D} > \nu > -\operatorname{ord} \mathfrak{D} - \operatorname{ord} \mathfrak{f}_{\chi}$. (This occurs only if m > 1.) To handle this case, we break up A_{ν} into disjoint sets of type $a_0 + \mathfrak{D}^{-1} = a_0(1 + \mathfrak{D}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}^{-\nu})$. On such a set, λ is constant, $= \lambda(a_0)$, and our integral is equal to

$$\eta(a_0) \int_{a_0 + \mathfrak{D}^{-1}} \chi(a) \, d^*a.$$

This is equal to 0 because we can move this integral by multiplicative translation to an integral over $1 + \mathfrak{D}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}^{-\nu}$ on which our character is non-trivial.

Thus we get

$$\zeta(f_m, \chi, s) = (\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{D}_{\chi})^s \int_{A-o(\chi)} \eta(a)\chi(a) \ d^*a.$$

Using our representatives of cosets of $U/(1 + f_x)$, it is a trivial matter to transform this expression into the one given in the theorem.

For $\zeta(\hat{f}_m, \bar{\chi}, 1 - s)$ we take into account the fact that \hat{f}_m is $(\mathbb{ND})^{1/2}(\mathbb{Nf}_{\chi})$ times the characteristic function of $1 + f_{\chi}$, a set on which

$$\chi^{-1}(a) \|a\|^{1-s} = 1.$$

Our result is then immediate.

 $\mathbf{286}$
Corollary. If $c(a) = \chi(a) ||a||^s$, where χ is a character with conductor \mathfrak{f} , of order m > 0, then

$$\rho(c) = (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{D}_{\chi})^{s-1/2} (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{f})^{-1/2} \tau(\chi)$$

and $(Nf)^{-1/2}\tau(\chi)$ has absolute value 1.

Proof. The first statement comes by taking quotients of the zeta functions. The second comes from the general fact that for $\operatorname{Re}(c) = \frac{1}{2}$, we have $|\rho(c)| = 1$. We then merely set $s = \frac{1}{2}$ above.

§5. Restricted direct products

Earlier, in Chapter VII, we studied the topology of restricted direct products, and the special cases of adeles and ideles. Here we consider the Haar measure and Pontrjagin duality.

We let $\{v\}$ be any set of indices, and G_v a locally compact commutative group, with a given compact open subgroup H_v for all but a finite number of v. Let G be the restricted direct product of the G_v with respect to the H_v .

A quasi-character of G is then a continuous homomorphism into C^* .

If c is a quasi-character of G, then its restriction to G_v is denoted by c_v , and c_v is trivial on H_v for all but a finite number of v by continuity and the fact that the multiplicative group of complex numbers contains no small subgroup other than 1. Furthermore, we have the formula:

$$c(a) = \prod_{v} c_{v}(a_{v}),$$

all but a finite number of the terms on the right being equal to 1.

Conversely, given a quasi-character c_v of G_v which is trivial on H_v for all but a finite number of v, we can define a quasi-character c on G by this formula.

We note that c is a character if and only if c_v is a character for all v.

If \hat{G} is the character group of G, and H^{\perp} is the orthogonal complement of a closed subgroup of G, i.e. the subgroup of characters which are trivial on H, then we have in a natural way

$$\tilde{G}/H^{\perp} \approx H$$
, and $(G/H)^{\uparrow} \approx H^{\perp}$.

It is an easy matter to verify the following theorem in our special case of restricted direct products.

Theorem 7. The restricted direct product of the groups \hat{G}_v relative to the subgroups H_v^{\perp} (which are compact by compact-discrete duality) is naturally isomorphic, topologically and algebraically, to the character group \hat{G} of G.

The isomorphism is of course given by the correspondence

$$x = \prod x_v$$

Haar measure. Assume that we have chosen a Haar measure da_v on each G_v which gives H_v measure 1 for almost all v. We wish to define a Haar measure on G for which, in some sense, $da = \prod da_v$. To do this, we use once more our open subgroups G_S which are products of locally compact groups, almost all of which are compact, and hence such that we can take the product measure on G_S . There exists a unique Haar measure on G inducing this product measure on each G_S (trivial verification), which we denote by $\prod da_v$.

Lemma. If f(a) is a function on G, then

$$\int_G f(a) \, da = \lim_S \int_{G_S} f(a) \, da$$

if either (1) f(a) is measurable, $f(a) \ge 0$, in which case $+\infty$ is allowed as value of the integrals; or (2) f(a) is in $L_1(G)$, in which case the values of the integrals are complex numbers.

Proof. In either case, $\int f(a) da$ is the limit of the integral taken for larger and larger compact subsets of G, and any compact is contained in some G_S .

Theorem 8. Assume that for each v we are given a continuous function $f_v \in L_1(G_v)$ such that $f_v = 1$ on H_v for almost all v. We define

$$f(a) = \prod f_v(a_v)$$

on G (actually a finite product). Then f is continuous. If, furthermore,

$$\prod_v \int |f_v(a_v)| \, da_v = \lim_S \prod_{v \in S} \int |f_v(a_v)| \, da_v$$

is $< \infty$, then f(a) is in $L_1(G)$, and

$$\int_G f(a) \, da = \prod_v \int_{G_v} f_v(a_v) \, da_v.$$

Proof. Immediate.

Fourier transform. We keep the notation as above, and let ξ denote a variable element of \hat{G} . Let $d\xi_v$ be the measure of \hat{G}_v dual to da_v in G_v . If $f_v(a_v)$ is the characteristic function of H_v , then its Fourier transform

$$\hat{f}_v(\xi_v) = \int f_v(a_v) \overline{\xi_v(a_v)} \, da_v$$

288

is the measure of H_v times the characteristic function of H_v^{\perp} . Consequently, from the inversion formula, we get

$$\left(\int_{H_v} da_v\right) \left(\int_{H_v^\perp} d\xi_v\right) = 1$$

and the measure of H_v^{\perp} is 1 for almost all v. We may thus put

$$d\xi = \prod d\xi_v.$$

Theorem 9. Let $f_v(a_v)$ be in $L_1(G_v)$, continuous, and assume \hat{f}_v is in $L_1(\hat{G}_v)$, i.e. assume that $f_v \in \text{Inv}(G_v)$. Assume also that f_v is the characteristic function of H_v for almost all v. Then the function

$$f(a) = \prod f_v(a_v)$$
$$\hat{f}(\xi) = \prod \hat{f}_v(\xi_v).$$

Proof. By Theorem 8, applied to the function $f(a)\overline{c(a)} = \prod f_v(a_v)\overline{c_v(a_v)}$ we see that the Fourier transform of the product is the product of the Fourier transforms. Since f_v is in $\operatorname{Inv}(G_v)$, it follows that \hat{f}_v is in $\operatorname{Inv}(\hat{G}_v)$ for all v. For almost all v, \hat{f}_v is the characteristic function of H_v^{\perp} . Hence \hat{f} is in $L_1(\hat{G})$ and thus f is in $\operatorname{Inv}(G)$.

Corollary. The measure $d\xi = \prod d\xi_v$ is dual to $\prod da_v$.

is in Inv(G), and

§6. Global additive duality and Riemann-Roch theorem

Let k be a number field (finite extension of the rationals Q). Its completion at the absolute value v is k_v , and all objects discussed in the local case in §1-§4 should have the index v or p in the p-adic case, e.g. \mathfrak{o}_v , λ_v , \mathfrak{D}_p , $|| ||_v$, c_v , etc.

As mentioned above, the **adele** group of k is the locally compact group equal to the restricted direct product of the k_v^+ with respect to the compact subgroups o_p , given at the non-archimedean absolute values. We let

$$x = (\ldots, x_v, \ldots,)$$

denote a variable element of the adele group $A_k = A$. We define a continuous homomorphism

$$\lambda(x) = \sum \lambda_v(x_v)$$

of A into the reals mod \mathbf{Z} , and the duality of Theorem 7 applied to our

present case, combined with the self-duality of the local theory, gives:

Theorem 10. The adele group is self-dual, under the pairing

$$\langle x, y \rangle = \prod_{v} e^{2\pi i \lambda_{v}(x_{v}y_{v})} = e^{2\pi i \lambda(xy)}.$$

Our next goal is to prove that the additive group of k, embedded in A on the diagonal:

$$\alpha \mapsto (\alpha, \alpha, \alpha, \ldots)$$

is its own orthogonal complement. We frequently write k instead of k^+ .

Theorem 11. The additive group k is its own orthogonal complement in the self-duality of A.

Proof. We first prove that k is orthogonal to itself. This amounts to proving that if $x \in k$, then $\sum \lambda_v(x) = 0$. We can verify this at once if $k = \mathbf{Q}$ is the field of rational numbers (using a partial fraction decomposition of a rational number in terms of rational numbers having only prime powers in their denominators). If k is finite over \mathbf{Q} , and Tr_v resp. Tr denote the local trace resp. the global trace, then

$$\sum_{v} \lambda_{v}(x) = \sum_{w} \sum_{v \mid w} \lambda_{w}(\operatorname{Tr}_{v}(x)) = \sum_{w} \lambda_{w}(y),$$

where $y = \sum_{v \mid w} \operatorname{Tr}_{v}(x) = \operatorname{Tr}(x)$, and w ranges over the absolute values of **Q**. This reduces the statement to **Q**.

We have proved $k^{\perp} \supset k$. But A/k compact implies k^{\perp} discrete. Hence k^{\perp}/k is both discrete and compact, hence finite. Since k^{\perp} is obviously a vector space over k, we must have $k^{\perp} = k$ thereby concluding the proof of the theorem.

Proposition 6. Let F_{∞} be as in Theorem 3 of Chapter VII, §2. Then with our choice of measure, F_{∞} has volume $d_k^{1/2}$.

Proof. This is an easy determinant computation. Remember that at complex v, our measure is twice Lebesgue measure.

Proposition 7. Let F be the subset of A_k equal to

$$\prod_{v\not\in S_{\infty}}\mathfrak{o}_v\times F_{\infty}$$

Then F has measure 1.

Proof. This follows from our choice of measures dx_v , which insure that \mathfrak{o}_v has measure $(\mathbb{ND}_p)^{-1/2}$ for $v = v_p$.

[XIV, §6] GLOBAL ADDITIVE DUALITY, RIEMANN-ROCH THEOREM 291

We are now ready to apply the duality of Theorem 11 to integration theory.

The arguments which follow could be applied to any locally compact commutative group and closed subgroup. To preserve the notation of the applications, we give the proof in the context of a self-dual commutative group A with a discrete closed subgroup k equal to its own orthogonal complement. Then the integral over k is equal to the sum over k. Of course, convergence in that case means absolute convergence. We also assume that the measure on A is self-dual.

Poisson formula. Let f be continuous and in $L_1(A)$. Assume that

$$\sum_{\alpha \in k} |f(x + \alpha)|$$

is uniformly convergent for x in a compact subset of A, and that

$$\sum_{\alpha \in k} \hat{f}(\alpha)$$

is convergent. Then

$$\sum_{\alpha \in k} \hat{f}(\alpha) = \sum_{\alpha \in k} f(\alpha).$$

Proof. We give a measure db on the factor group A/k which is such that the formula

$$\int_{A/k} \int_k f(\alpha + b) \, d\alpha \, db = \int_A f(a) \, da$$

holds, if $d\alpha$ corresponds to summation over k, and da is the given measure on A.

Let $g(x) = \int_k f(x + \alpha) d\alpha$. We contend that $\hat{g}(\alpha) = \hat{f}(\alpha)$ for $\alpha \in k$. Indeed, denoting by \langle , \rangle the pairing of an element of a group and a character, and taking into account that

$$(A/k)^{\hat{}} = k^{\perp} = k$$

we have:

$$\begin{split} g(\beta) &= \int_{A/k} g(b) \overline{\langle b, \beta \rangle} \, db \\ &= \int_{A/k} \int_k f(b+\alpha) \overline{\langle b, \beta \rangle} \, d\alpha \, db \\ &= \int_{A/k} \int_k f(b+\alpha) \overline{\langle b+\alpha, \beta \rangle} \, d\alpha \, db \end{split}$$

(because $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = 1$ by assumption)

$$= \int_{A} f(a) \overline{\langle a, \beta \rangle} \, da$$
$$= \hat{f}(\beta).$$

Now the measure on A is self-dual. Hence the Fourier inversion can be applied to \hat{g} evaluated at 0. The assertion of the theorem follows at once from the definition of $\hat{g}(0)$.

Classically, as in Chapter XIII, the Poisson formula is applied to the case of the reals, and the discrete subgroup Z. We shall apply it to the adeles.

In fact, we shall need to apply it in the adele case, to a multiplicative translation of f.

Riemann-Roch theorem. If f(x) satisfies the conditions

- (1) f(x) is continuous and in $L_1(A)$.
- (2) $\sum_{\alpha \in k} f(a(x + \alpha))$ is convergent for ideles a and adeles x uniformly for

these variables ranging over compact subsets of the idele and adele groups respectively.

(3) $\sum_{\alpha \in k} \hat{f}(a\alpha)$ is convergent for all ideles a.

Then

$$\frac{1}{\|a\|}\sum_{\alpha\in k}\hat{f}\left(\frac{\alpha}{a}\right)=\sum_{\alpha\in k}f(a\alpha).$$

Proof. The function g(x) = f(ax) satisfies the conditions of the Poisson formula, as we see using the relation

$$\hat{g}(x) = \frac{1}{\|a\|} \hat{f}\left(\frac{x}{a}\right)$$

Our assertion is therefore immediate.

§7. Global functional equation

In the multiplicative theory, we take the ideles $J = J_k$ as our restricted direct product of the local multiplicative groups k_v^* with respect to the units U_v and apply §5. The quasi-characters will be trivial for almost all U_v , i.e. are unramified for almost all v.

It will be convenient to write J as a direct product (topologically and algebraically) by embedding the positive reals \mathbf{R}^+ in it, namely, we map an element t of \mathbf{R}^+ on the idele

$$(t^{1/N},\ldots,t^{1/N},1,1,\ldots)$$

having $t^{1/N}$ as component at every archimedean v, and 1 at all others. This is a norm preserving embedding, since

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{v}\in S_{\infty}}N_{\boldsymbol{v}}=N\quad (=[k:\boldsymbol{Q}]).$$

[XIV, §7]

It is then clear that

 $J \approx \mathbf{R}^+ \times J^0,$

i.e. every idele a can be written uniquely as a product

a = tb

with $t \in \mathbf{R}^+$ and $b \in J^0$, and this product decomposition is also topological. There is a unique measure on J^0 (denoted by d^*b) such that we have formally

$$d^*a = d^*b \times \frac{dt}{t}.$$

We make one restriction on the quasi-characters to be considered in the sequel. We assume that they are trivial on k^* . Then they can be considered as quasi-characters on the **idele classes** $C_k = J_k/k^*$. Such characters will also be called **Hecke characters**. Since we know that $J_k^0/k^* = C_k^0$ is compact, it follows that the restriction of a quasi-character to C_k^0 is a character, and thus that we have a situation similar to the one in the local archimedean theory. If c is a quasi-character trivial on C_k^0 , then we must have

$$c(a) = \|a\|^s$$

for some complex number s uniquely determined by c. If c is any quasicharacter, then there is a unique real number σ such that $|c(a)| = ||a||^{\sigma}$, and we call σ the **real part** of c, $\operatorname{Re}(c)$. Given a character χ on C_k , then $\chi(a)||a||^s$ is a quasi-character, and conversely every quasi-character can be so written (although χ is not determined uniquely, only up to some $||a||^{it}$).

It will sometimes be convenient to normalize characters on C_k by prescribing that they should take the value 1 on our embedded \mathbf{R}^+ (the embedding was canonical). This is clearly equivalent to stating that

$$\sum_{v\in S_{\infty}}N_v\varphi_v(\chi)=0.$$

A quasi-character c determines uniquely such a character x, so that the formula $c(a) = x(a) ||a||^{s}$ holds.

As in the local theory, we let $\hat{c}(a) = ||a||c(a)^{-1}$ so that with the above convention,

$$\hat{c}(a) = \chi^{-1}(a) ||a||^{1-s} = \bar{\chi}(a) ||a||^{1-s}$$

We shall now supplement the construction preceding Theorem 6 of Chapter VII, §3, by a measure computation.

293

As before, we let v_0 be a fixed archimedean absolute value, and

$$S'_{\infty} = S_{\infty} - v_0.$$

As before, $r = r_1 + r_2 - 1$.

Let $\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_r$ be units such that $l(\epsilon_i)$ generate the lattice of units. These are called **fundamental units**. They are generators of the group of units modulo the group of roots of unity.

The absolute value of the determinant

$$\det(\log \|\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_i\|_v)$$

taken with $i = 1, \ldots, r$ and v in S'_{∞} is the volume of a fundamental parallelotope P in Euclidean *r*-space, up to a sign. Its absolute value is called the **regulator** of k and is denoted by $R = R_k$. We denote by $d = d_k$ the absolute value of the discriminant.

Proposition 8. Let the notation be as above, and l as in Theorem 6, Chapter VII, §3. Then the measure of $l^{-1}(P)$ is

$$\frac{2^{r_1}(2\pi)^{r_2}}{d_k^{1/2}}\,R.$$

Proof. Let Q be the unit cube in *r*-space. Since l is a homomorphism, we have

$$\frac{\text{measure of } l^{-1}(P)}{\text{measure of } l^{-1}(Q)} = \frac{\text{volume of } P}{\text{volume of } Q} = R.$$

Thus it suffices to compute the measure of $l^{-1}(Q)$, and we leave it as an exercise (easy, using the definitions of our multiplicative measure).

Proposition 9. If E is a fundamental domain for J^0/k^* , then its measure is

$$\kappa = \frac{2^{r_1} (2\pi)^{r_2} h R}{w d_k^{1/2}}$$

(notation as in Theorem 6 of Chapter VII, §3).

Proof. Trivial from Proposition 8.

We approach the end of our journey. To get global zeta functions, we consider functions f on the adeless satisfying the following conditions:

Z1. f(x) and $\hat{f}(x)$ are continuous and in $L_1(A)$, i.e. f is in Inv(A).

294

[XIV, §7]

- **Z2.** The sums $\sum_{\alpha \in k} f(a(x + \alpha))$ and $\sum_{\alpha \in k} \hat{f}(a(x + \alpha))$ are both convergent, absolutely and uniformly for ideles a and adeles x ranging over compact subsets of the idele and adele groups respectively.
- **Z3.** The functions $f(a)||a||^{\sigma}$ and $\hat{f}(a)||a||^{\sigma}$ are in $L_1(J)$ for $\sigma > 1$.

Note that in view of **Z1** and **Z2**, the Riemann-Roch theorem is valid for functions of the above type. The purpose of **Z3** is to enable us to define zeta functions. With each such f we define, for quasi-characters c with $\operatorname{Re}(c) > 1$ a zeta function

$$\zeta(f,c) = \int f(a)c(a) d^*a,$$

the integral being over the idele group. If $c(a) = \chi(a) ||a||^s$, then

$$\zeta(f,c) = \zeta(f,\chi,s) = \int f(a)\chi(a) \|a\|^s d^*a.$$

(We always assume quasi-characters and characters are trivial on k^* .) Once the character x is fixed, our zeta function becomes a function of the parameter s, and from our assumption Z3 it follows that it is holomorphic in the domain $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$. We can say invariantly that it is holomorphic in the domain of quasi-characters with $\operatorname{Re}(c) > 1$.

Theorem 12. By analytic continuation we may extend the definition of any zeta function $\zeta(f, c)$ to the domain of all quasi-characters of J/k^* . The extended function is single valued and holomorphic, except at c(a) = 1 and c(a) = ||a||, where it has simple poles with residues $-\kappa f(0)$ and $+\kappa f(0)$ respectively, where $\kappa =$ volume of multiplicative fundamental domain of $J_k^0 \mod k^*$. We have the functional equation

$$\zeta(f,c) = \zeta(\hat{f},\hat{c}),$$

where $\hat{c}(a) = ||a||c^{-1}(a)$.

Proof. We have

$$\zeta(f,c) = \int_{\|a\|<1} f(a)c(a) d^*a + \int_{\|a\|\geq 1} f(a)c(a) d^*a.$$

The second integral obviously converges for $\operatorname{Re}(c)$ equal to any real number, because it converges for $\operatorname{Re}(c) > \sigma_0$ for some σ_0 , and hence converges all the better for $\operatorname{Re}(c) \leq \sigma_0$. We shall now transform the first

integral and in fact we shall prove:

Theorem 13. We have

$$\zeta(f,c) = \int_{\|a\| \ge 1} f(a)c(a) \ d^*a + \int_{\|a\| \ge 1} \hat{f}(a)\hat{c}(a) \ d^*a + \delta_{\chi} \bigg[\frac{\kappa \hat{f}(0)}{s-1} - \frac{\kappa f(0)}{s} \bigg],$$

where δ_{χ} is 1 or 0 according as the character χ induced by c on J^0 is trivial or not in which case s is the unique complex number such that

$$c(a) = ||a||^s.$$

The two integrals are convergent for all c, uniformly in every strip

$$\sigma_0 \leq \operatorname{Re}(c) \leq \sigma_1$$

The uniformity of convergence of the integrals in a given strip is clear from the above remarks. Furthermore, let us replace (f, c) by (\hat{f}, \hat{c}) in the expression on the right. We take into account that

$$\hat{f}(0) = f(-0) = f(0),$$

and that $\hat{f}(a) = f(-a)$. Then changing variables in the second integral, we see that c(-1) will come out as a factor in front of the integral. But we have assumed that c is trivial on k^* . Hence the expression on the right is invariant under the substitution sending (f, c) into (\hat{f}, \hat{c}) , and thus the functional equation follows.

Let us now complete our proofs by transforming the integral taken over ||a|| < 1. We can write the ideles as a product:

$$J = J^0 \times \mathbf{R}^+.$$

For any fixed t, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{J^0} f(tb) c(tb) \ d^*b + f(0) \int_E c(tb) \ d^*b \\ &= \sum_{\alpha \in k^*} \int_{\alpha E} f(tb) c(tb) \ d^*b + f(0) \int_E c(tb) \ d^*b. \end{split}$$

Using the invariance of measure under multiplicative translations, and the fact that $c(\alpha) = 1$ for $\alpha \in k^*$, we see that this expression is equal to

$$\sum_{\alpha \in k^*} \int_E f(\alpha t b) c(t b) \ d^* b + f(0) \int_E c(t b) \ d^* b.$$

By Property Z2, which allows us to interchange sum and integral, this is equal to

$$\int_E \sum_{\alpha \in k} f(\alpha t b) c(t b) \ d^* b = \int_E \sum_{\alpha \in k} \hat{f}\left(\frac{\alpha}{t b}\right) \frac{1}{\|t b\|} c(t b) \ d^* b \qquad \text{(Riemann Roch)}.$$

If we had started with the expression

$$\int_{J^0} \hat{f}(t^{-1}b)\hat{c}(t^{-1}b) d^*b + \hat{f}(0) \int_E \hat{c}(t^{-1}b) d^*b,$$

made the transformation sending b to b^{-1} which preserves the measure, and then applied the same arguments as above, we would end up with the same expression that we found above; in other words, we find the equality

$$\begin{split} \int_{J^0} f(tb)c(tb) \ d^*b + f(0) \int_E c(tb) \ d^*b \\ &= \int_{J^0} \hat{f}(t^{-1}b) \hat{c}(t^{-1}b) \ d^*b + \hat{f}(0) \int_E \hat{c}(t^{-1}b) \ d^*b. \end{split}$$

Now we observe that $c(tb) = c(t)c(b) = t^{*}c(b)$, whence

$$\int_E c(tb) d^*b = \begin{cases} \kappa t^s & \text{if } c(a) = ||a||^s \\ 0 & \text{if } c \text{ is non-trivial on } J^0, \end{cases}$$

always using the fact that the integral over a compact group of a nontrivial character is 0, and that the integral of the trivial character is the measure of the group.

If we integrate our expressions from t = 0 to t = 1, then on the righthand side of our equality we can replace t^{-1} by t and the limits of integration from 1 to ∞ . Theorem 13 is now clear, and this concludes the proof.

§8. Global computations

The purpose of this section is to derive explicitly certain convenient global formulas used in the applications, using a particular weight function g_{χ} closely related to f_{χ} . These will be products of local functions, and the proof that the product converges for $\sigma > 1$ will be given in the next chapter. Although it is simple (and classical), we must emphasize that this proof is the final step in showing that Theorem 12 is not empty, and applies to the classical zeta functions or *L*-functions.

Proposition 10. If g is a translation of f, i.e. g(x) = f(bx), then

 $\hat{g}(y) = \|b\|^{-1} \hat{f}(y/b)$ and $\zeta(g, c) = c(b)^{-1} \zeta(f, c).$

Proof. Directly from the definitions. The assertion is valid locally or globally, i.e. on k_v^* or J_k . In the local case, $|| || = || ||_v$ of course, and b is either in k_v^* or an idele.

To fix some notation, we put for every character x,

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\chi} = \mathfrak{D}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi} \qquad d_{\chi} = \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{D}_{\chi}$$

If $x = x_0$, then $d_0 = d_k$ is simply the absolute value of the discriminant of the number field k. We use similar conventions for the local case, putting an index \mathfrak{p} on our symbols.

If v is archimedean, $N = [k : \mathbf{Q}]$, we let

$$g_{\chi,v}(x) = f_{\chi,v}(d_{\chi}^{1/2N}x)(N_v\pi)^{|m_v(\chi)|/2},$$

where $f_{\chi,v}$ is the function of §4.

If v is p-adic, we let

$$g_{\chi,v}(x) = \frac{1}{\mu_v(1+\mathfrak{f}_{\chi,v})} f_{\chi,v}(x),$$

it being understood as usual, that if x is unramified, then $f_{x,v} = o_v$ and $1 + f_{x,v} = o_v$ also, so that its measure is $d_n^{-1/2}$. We let

$$g_{\chi}(x) = \prod g_{\chi,v}(x_v).$$

In particular, if $x = x_0$, then for v archimedean,

$$g_{0,v}(x) = f_{0,v}(d_k^{1/2N}x)$$

and for v p-adic,

$$g_{0,v}(x) = d_{\mathfrak{p}}^{1/2} f_{0,v}(x),$$

where $d_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathbb{N}\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

We observe that g_{χ} has been obtained from f_{χ} by a translation at the archimedean v, and multiplication by constant factors, designed to cancel certain local extraneous terms, occurring both in the zeta function of f_{χ} and f_{χ} .

To begin with, we observe a symmetry at the origin.

Proposition 11. Let $x = x_0$ be the trivial character. Then g_0 and \hat{g}_0 are ≥ 0 , and

$$g_0(0) = g_0(0) = d_k^{1/2} (2\pi)^{-r_2}$$

Proof. Immediate from the definitions.

Proposition 12. Let b be the idele having components $b_v = d_k^{1/N}$ at archimedean v, and $b_p = \pi^{-\nu_p}$, where $\nu_p = \operatorname{ord}_p \mathfrak{D}$. Then $\|b\| = 1$, and

$$\hat{g}_0(x) = g_0(b^{-1}x).$$

[XIV, §8]

Proof. This is an easy consequence of Proposition 10, together with the explicit determination of g_0 in terms of f_0 .

If x is a character of C_k , and \mathfrak{p} is unramified for x, then the value of x on the idele having a prime π at the \mathfrak{p} -component and 1 for all other components is independent of the choice of such prime element π , and will be denoted by $\chi(\mathfrak{p})$. We then define

$$L(s, \chi) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \notin S_{\chi}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}$$

the product being taken over all \mathfrak{p} which are unramified for x, letting S_x be the set of \mathfrak{p} which are ramified for x.

We put

$$\Lambda(s, \chi) = (2^{-r_2} \pi^{-N/2} d_{\chi}^{1/2})^s \prod_{v \in S_{\infty}} \Gamma(s_v/2) L(s, \chi),$$

where we recall that

$$s_v = s_v(x) = N_v(s + i\varphi_v(x)) + |m_v(x)|.$$

Theorem 14. Assume that x is normalized so that

$$\sum_{v\in S_{\infty}}N_v\varphi_v(\chi)=0.$$

Then:

$$\zeta(g_{\chi}, \chi, s) = \Lambda(s, \chi) \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in S_{\chi}} \tau_{\mathfrak{p}}(\chi) \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \notin S_{\chi}} \chi(\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}) 2^{-i\Phi},$$

where Φ is the sum of $\varphi_v(x)$ over the complex v. We also have

$$\zeta(\hat{g}_{\chi}, \bar{\chi}, 1-s) = \Lambda(1-s, \bar{\chi})(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi})^{1/2} i^{M} 2^{i\Phi},$$

where $M = \sum_{v \in S_{\infty}} |m_v(X)|$, and these two expressions are equal.

Proof. Just put together the local results of the computations of §4, together with Proposition 10, and be careful about all the possible cancellations which take place.

If we had divided g_{χ} by $(Nf_{\chi})^{1/2}$, we see that $\Lambda(s, \chi)$ and the resulting zeta function would have differed by a constant of absolute value 1, and similarly for $\Lambda(1 - s, \bar{\chi})$.

Corollary 1. We have the functional equation

$$W(\mathbf{x})\Lambda(s,\mathbf{x})=\Lambda(1-s,\mathbf{x}),$$

where $W(\mathbf{x})$ is a constant of absolute value 1, given by

$$W(\chi) = 4^{-i\Phi} i^{-M} (\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi})^{-1/2} \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in S_{\chi}} \tau_{\mathfrak{p}}(\chi) \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \notin S_{\chi}} \chi(\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}).$$

Proof. From the local computations of §4, we know that each expression $\tau_{\mathfrak{p}}(x)$ has absolute value $(Nf_{\mathfrak{X},\mathfrak{p}})^{1/2}$ which is just enough to cancel out in the equality

$$\zeta(g_{\chi},\chi,s) = \zeta(\hat{g}_{\chi},\bar{\chi},1-s)$$

Corollary 2. For a fixed character χ , put $\Lambda(s) = \Lambda(s, \bar{\chi})$. Then

$$\Lambda(\overline{s}) = \overline{\Lambda(1-s)}u(x),$$

where u(x) has absolute value 1.

Proof. A trivial computation, using the relation

$$\Lambda(\bar{s},\chi)=\overline{\Lambda(s,\bar{\chi})}.$$

Corollary 3. Let $\Lambda_0(s) = \Lambda(s, \chi_0)$. Then

$$\Lambda_0(s) = \zeta(g_0, \chi_0, s) = (2^{-2r_2} \pi^{-N} d_k)^{s/2} \Gamma^{r_1}(s/2) \Gamma^{r_2}(s) \zeta_k(s)$$

and

$$\Lambda_0(s) = \Lambda_0(1-s).$$

Proposition 13. Let

$$\kappa = \frac{2^{r_1} (2\pi)^{r_2} h R}{w d_k^{1/2}}$$

be the volume of the fundamental domain for $J_k^0 \mod k^*$. Then the residue of $\zeta(g_0, s) = \zeta(g_0, \chi_0, s)$ at s = 1 is

$$\lambda = \frac{2^{r_1} h R}{w}$$

and the residue of $\zeta_k(s)$ at 1 is κ itself.

Proof. The residue for $\zeta(g_0, \chi_0, s)$ comes from the general Theorem 12 and that for the zeta function comes from s = 1 in Corollary 3 above together with the values $\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \pi^{1/2}$, and $\Gamma(1) = 1$.

Theorem 15. We have an integral expression

$$\zeta(g_0, s) = \int_{\|a\| \ge 1} \hat{g}_0(a) (\|a\|^s + \|a\|^{1-s}) \, d^*a + \frac{\lambda}{s(s-1)} \cdot$$

[XIV, §8]

301

Proof. If we write down the integral expression of Theorem 13, §7 and use Proposition 10 together with the fact that ||b|| = 1 and that the multiplicative measure is invariant under multiplicative translation, we get what we want.

This formula is the analogue of the formula proved in Chapter XIII, §3. Note that the integral terms are ≥ 0 .

CHAPTER XV

Density of Primes and Tauberian Theorem

We shall give a proof of Ikehara's Tauberian theorem (cf. also Widder's book on Laplace Transforms), and prove the density theorem of primes in generalized arithmetic progressions determined by Hecke characters. In addition to giving a density for primes in given ideal classes, it also gives densities for primes distributed suitably in Euclidean N-space.

The reader will note that the Tauberian theorem has as a corollary the asymptotic behavior of the coefficients of a Dirichlet series having a simple pole at, say, an integer d > 1 and holomorphic otherwise for $\operatorname{Re}(\sigma) \geq d$. If the residue is, say 1, then by translation we are brought to evaluating sums of type

$$\sum_{n < x} n^d a_n,$$

and summing or integrating by parts shows that if $\sum_{n < x} a_n \sim x$, then $\sum n^d a_n \sim x^{d+1}/(d+1)$. This can then be applied to the zeta function of a variety defined over the ring of algebraic integers of a number field. Reducing mod \mathfrak{p} for almost all \mathfrak{p} , and applying the estimates of Lang-Weil, "Number of points of varieties in finite fields," Am. J. of Math. (1954) pp. 819-827, one sees that the zeta function has an analytic behavior on $\operatorname{Re}(\sigma) \geq d$ such that we can apply the Tauberian theorem if d is the dimension of the variety under consideration.

§1. The Dirichlet integral

Let $\varphi(x)$ be a real valued function of bounded variation in any finite subinterval of $0 \leq x < \infty$. The function

(1)
$$f(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} d\varphi(x)$$
 $(s = \sigma + it \text{ complex})$

contains as special case the Dirichlet series if $\varphi(x)$ is taken to be a step function. We shall look into this later. For now, we deal with the integral.

Suppose that for a special value s_0 the function

$$g(y) = \int_0^y e^{-s_0 x} d\varphi(x)$$

is bounded in $0 \leq y < \infty$. If $0 \leq y_1 < y_2$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{y_1}^{y_2} e^{-sx} \, d\varphi(x) &= \int_{y_1}^{y_2} e^{-(s-s_0)x} e^{-s_0x} \, d\varphi(x) \\ &= e^{-(s-s_0)x} g(x) \Big|_{y_1}^{y_2} + (s-s_0) \int_{y_1}^{y_2} e^{-(s-s_0)x} g(x) \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

We see that for $\operatorname{Re}(s - s_0) \ge \epsilon > 0$ and bounded values of $\frac{|s - s_0|}{\sigma - \sigma_0}$ the left side is uniformly small for large y_1 . Therefore (1) will converge for these s-values.

Since the assumption about g(y) is satisfied if s_0 is taken to be a point where (1) converges, it follows that (1) has a certain right half-plane as plane of convergence and that this convergence is uniform in any compact subset of the interior of the half-plane of convergence. Since each $\int_0^y e^{-sx} d\varphi(x)$ is analytic, it follows that (1) is analytic in the interior of our half-plane.

Assume now that $\varphi(x) \ge 0$, that (1) converges for some real $s_0 > 0$. Integrating $d(e^{-sx}\varphi(x))$, we get

(2)
$$\int_{0}^{\xi} e^{-sx} d\varphi(x) = -\varphi(0) + e^{-s\xi} \varphi(\xi) + s \int_{0}^{\xi} e^{-sx} \varphi(x) dx$$
$$= -\varphi(0) + e^{-(s-s_{0})\xi} e^{-s_{0}\xi} \varphi(\xi)$$
$$+ s \int_{0}^{\xi} e^{-(s-s_{0})x} e^{-s_{0}x} \varphi(x) dx.$$

If we put $s = s_0$ in the first line of (2), we see that the left-hand side is bounded, and the last two terms on the right are ≥ 0 . Hence $e^{-s_0\xi}\varphi(\xi)$ is bounded in ξ . It follows that for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > s_0$ we have

(3)
$$f(s) = -\varphi(0) + s \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} \varphi(x) \, dx$$

(including of course the existence of the integral on the right side).

§2. Ikehara's Tauberian theorem

Throughout this section, we suppose that $\varphi(x)$ is a monotone increasing, function, with $\varphi(x) = 0$ for $x \leq 0$. We let

$$H(x) = e^{-x}\varphi(x),$$

304

and the monotonicity of φ means for H(x) that

$$H(x_2) \ge H(x_1)e^{x_1-x_2}, \quad \text{for } x_2 \ge x_1.$$

For a given $\lambda > 0$, consider the class of all monotonically increasing functions $\varphi(x)$ with $\varphi(x) = 0$ for $x \leq 0$ that have the following properties:

- (1) The integral for f(s) converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.
- (2) For $\epsilon > 0$, $s = 1 + \epsilon + it$, put

$$h_{\epsilon}(t) = f(s) - \frac{1}{s-1}.$$

Our property states that $h(t) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} h_{\epsilon}(t)$ exists uniformly in t for $|t| \leq 2\lambda$. (Whence h(t) is continuous for $|t| \leq 2\lambda$.)

Tauberian theorem. There are two functions $P_1(\lambda)$ and $P_2(\lambda)$ of λ alone such that for any φ in our class, we have

$$P_1(\lambda) \ge \lim_{y \to \infty} H(y) \ge \lim_{y \to \infty} H(y) \ge P_2(\lambda) > 0$$

and such that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} P_1(\lambda) = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} P_2(\lambda) = 1.$$

Should one know therefore that $\varphi(x)$ belongs to our class for all λ then

$$\lim_{x\to\infty}e^{-x}\varphi(x)=1.$$

This is the formula used in our applications.

We shall now prove the Tauberian theorem. We define π to be the integral

$$\pi = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} \, dv > 0$$

(which gives the customary value).

Lemma. Under the previous hypotheses, we have

$$\lim_{y\to\infty}\int_{-\infty}^{\lambda y}H\left(y-\frac{v}{\lambda}\right)\frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2}\,dv=\,\pi.$$

Proof. With $s = 1 + \epsilon + it$, we have using (3):

$$\frac{h_{\epsilon}(t) - 1}{s} = \frac{1}{s} \left(f(s) - \frac{1}{s - 1} - 1 \right)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(s - 1)x} H(x) \, dx - \frac{1}{s - 1}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} (H(x) - 1) e^{-\epsilon x - itx} \, dx,$$

taking into account the integral $\int_0^\infty e^{-(s-1)x} dx = \frac{1}{s-1}$. Thus

$$\frac{h_{\epsilon}(t)-1}{s} = \lim_{\xi \to \infty} \int_0^{\xi} (H(x)-1)e^{-\epsilon x - itx} dx$$

uniformly in $|t| \leq 2\lambda$ so long as ϵ is fixed.

Our next goal is to get formula (6) below. We multiply our last expression by the function $e^{ity}(1 - |t|/2\lambda)$ and integrate over t from -2λ to 2λ . On the right we can interchange the integral and the limit. Putting

$$F_{\epsilon}(t) = \left(1 - \frac{|t|}{2\lambda}\right) \frac{h_{\epsilon}(t) - 1}{s}$$

we get:

$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} F_{\epsilon}(t) dt$$
$$= \lim_{\xi \to \infty} \int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} \left(1 - \frac{|t|}{2\lambda}\right) \left[\int_{0}^{\xi} (H(x) - 1) e^{-\epsilon x - itx} dx\right] dt.$$

The two integrations (which are over finite intervals) can be interchanged, and one obtains:

(4)
$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} F_{\epsilon}(t) dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} (H(x) - 1) e^{-\epsilon x} \left[\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} \left(1 - \frac{|t|}{2\lambda} \right) e^{i(y-x)t} dt \right] dx.$$

The inner integral on the right is elementary. We have

$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} \left(1 - \frac{|t|}{2\lambda}\right) e^{i(y-x)t} dt = 2 \int_0^{2\lambda} \left(1 - \frac{|t|}{2\lambda}\right) \cos((y-x)t) dt,$$

[XV, §2]

[XV, §2]

which after a change of variables and integration by parts is equal to

$$\frac{2\sin^2\left(\lambda(y-x)\right)}{\lambda(y-x)^2}\cdot$$

Thus (4) becomes

(5)
$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} F_{\epsilon}(t) dt = 2 \int_0^\infty \left(H(x) - 1 \right) e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^2 \left(\lambda(y - x) \right)}{\lambda(y - x)^2} dx.$$

The integral $\int_0^\infty e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^2(\lambda(y-x))}{\lambda(y-x)^2} dx$ exists since the similar integral obtained by putting $\epsilon = 0$ exists. Adding it to both sides of (5), we get:

(6)
$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} F_{\epsilon}(t) dt + 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^{2}(\lambda(y-x))}{\lambda(y-x)^{2}} dx$$
$$= 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} H(x) e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^{2}(\lambda(y-x))}{\lambda(y-x)^{2}} dx.$$

We now take the limit as $\epsilon \to 0$. What happens to the left side as $\epsilon \to 0$? The first part converges to

$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} F(t) \, dt,$$

where F(t) is the continuous function $\left(1 - \frac{|t|}{2\lambda}\right) \frac{h(t) - 1}{s}$ because of the uniformity of $h_{\epsilon}(t) \to h(t)$.

The second integral has a tail end

$$\int_{\xi}^{\infty} e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} dx \leq \int_{\xi}^{\infty} \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} dx$$

which is small for large ξ , uniformly in ϵ . But as $\epsilon \to 0$,

$$\int_0^{\xi} e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} \, dx \to \int_0^{\xi} \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} \, dx.$$

Hence the second integral has the limit

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{\sin^2 \lambda (y-x)}{\lambda (y-x)^2} \, dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda y} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} \, dv$$

What about the right side of (6)? We have just proved that it has a limit as $\epsilon \to 0$. The integrand is positive and increasing as $\epsilon \to 0$. Therefore

$$\int_0^{\xi} H(x) e^{-\epsilon x} \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} dx$$

remains below this limit for all $\epsilon > 0$. Hence

$$\int_0^{\xi} H(x) \, \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} \, dx$$

is also below this limit. We see that

$$\int_0^\infty H(x) \, \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} \, dx$$

exists. Its tail end is small and greater than the tail end of the right side of (6). It follows that the right side has the limit

$$\int_0^\infty H(x) \, \frac{\sin^2 \lambda(y-x)}{\lambda(y-x)^2} \, dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda y} H\left(y-\frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} \, dv.$$

Hence finally:

(7)
$$\int_{-2\lambda}^{2\lambda} e^{ity} F(t) dt + 2 \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda y} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv = 2 \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda y} H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv.$$

What happens to (7) as $y \to \infty$? The first integral on the left is the Fourier transform of the continuous function F(t) and goes to 0 by the Riemann-Lebesgue Lemma. The second integral on the left goes to π , and this proves our Lemma.

We shall now apply our Lemma. Observe that if $v > \lambda y$, then $H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) = 0$ so that we can also write $\lim_{y \to \infty} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv = \pi.$

The proof from now on is formal. For both inequalities, the idea is to consider the integral between finite limits, depending on λ .

[XV, §2]

Note that the integrand is ≥ 0 . Cutting down the domain of integration we get

$$\overline{\lim_{y\to\infty}}\int_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}^{\sqrt{\lambda}}H\left(y-\frac{v}{\lambda}\right)\frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2}\,dv\,\leq\,\pi.$$

Using the monotonicity of φ and the corresponding property of H, we get in the interval $[-\sqrt{\lambda}, \sqrt{\lambda}]$

$$H\left(y-\frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \geq H\left(y-\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right)e^{-2/\sqrt{\lambda}}.$$

Hence

$$\overline{\lim_{y\to\infty}} H\left(y-\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) e^{-2/\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}^{\sqrt{\lambda}} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv \leq \pi.$$

Since λ is fixed, y can be replaced by $y + 1/\sqrt{\lambda}$. Hence

$$\overline{\lim_{y\to\infty}} H(y) \leq \frac{\pi e^{2/\sqrt{\lambda}}}{\int_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}^{\sqrt{\lambda}} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv} = P_1(\lambda),$$

and we see that $\lim_{\lambda\to\infty} P_1(\lambda) = 1$, thereby proving the first half of the Tauberian theorem.

From this half, it follows that H(y) is bounded. Therefore,

$$\int_{\sqrt{y}}^{\infty} H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv \leq C \int_{\sqrt{y}}^{\infty} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv$$

goes to 0 as $y \to \infty$. Hence we may write also

(8)
$$\lim_{y\to\infty}\int_{-\infty}^{\sqrt{y}}H\left(y-\frac{v}{\lambda}\right)\frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2}dv=\pi.$$

(We take \sqrt{y} as a limit of integration so that $y - \sqrt{y} \to \infty$ with y.) If y is large enough, then $H(y) < 2P_1(\lambda)$. Thus $H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right)$ in (8) will be $< 2P_1(\lambda)$ if y is large enough. We now put

$$b = \frac{4}{\pi} P_1(\lambda) + \sqrt{\lambda}$$

and cut down the integration domain in (8) for large y from -b to b. This neglects

$$\int_{-\infty}^{-b} H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv \leq 2P_1(\lambda) \int_{-\infty}^{-b} \frac{1}{v^2} dv = 2P_1(\lambda)/b$$

and

$$\int_{b}^{\sqrt{y}} H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} \, dv \leq 2P_1(\lambda) \int_{b}^{\sqrt{y}} \frac{1}{v^2} \, dv \leq 2P_1(\lambda)/b.$$

Therefore

$$\frac{4P_1(\lambda)}{b} + \lim_{y \to \infty} \int_{-b}^{b} H\left(y - \frac{v}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv \ge \pi.$$

Again by monotonicity, in this interval,

$$H\left(y+\frac{b}{\lambda}\right)e^{2b/\lambda} \ge H\left(y-\frac{v}{\lambda}\right)$$

We get

$$\frac{4P_1(\lambda)}{b} + \lim_{y \to \infty} H\left(y + \frac{b}{\lambda}\right) e^{2b/\lambda} \int_{-b}^{b} \frac{\sin^2 v}{v^2} dv \ge \pi.$$

Replacing y by $y - \frac{b}{\lambda}$ and the integral by π we get

$$\lim_{y\to\infty} H(y) \ge e^{-2b/\lambda} \left(1 - \frac{4P_1(\lambda)}{\pi b}\right) = P_2(\lambda).$$

It is clear that $\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} P_2(\lambda) = 1$, and this proves the Tauberian theorem.

§3. Tauberian theorem for Dirichlet series

Let

$$f(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n / n^s = \sum a_n e^{-s \log n}$$

be a function defined by a Dirichlet series, which converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, has real $a_n \ge 0$, and such that f is regular on the line $\operatorname{Re}(s) = 1$ with exception of a pole of first order at s = 1 with residue 1.

310

Let $\varphi(x)$ be the step function which jumps at the places $x = \log n$ by the amount a_n and is 0 at 0. Then

$$\varphi(x) = \sum_{\log n < x} a_n.$$

Denoting by $\Phi(x)$ the function

$$\Phi(x) = \sum_{n < x} a_n,$$

we have $\varphi(x) = \Phi(e^x)$ or $\Phi(x) = \varphi(\log x)$. Our function f(s) satisfies the condition of the Tauberian theorem for all λ , and hence

$$\lim_{x\to\infty} \Phi(x)/x = 1 \quad \text{or} \quad \Phi(x) \sim x.$$

We shall now see formally how to extend this to a wider class of Dirichlet series.

Theorem 1. Let f(s) be as above. Let $g(s) = \sum b_n/n^s$ be a Dirichlet series with complex coefficients b_n , and assume that there is a number C such that $|b_n| < Ca_n$. Assume that the series for g(s) converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, and that g is regular on $\operatorname{Re}(s) = 1$ with the possible exception of a pole of first order and residue α at s = 1. Let $\Psi(x) = \sum_{n < x} b_n$. Then $\Psi(x) \sim \alpha x$.

Proof. We naturally set $\alpha = 0$ if there is no pole at s = 0.

Suppose the b_n are real. Then the function $(Cf + g)/(C + \alpha)$ for large enough constant C satisfies the same conditions as f(s). From this our assertion is immediate.

In case the b_n are complex, we write

$$g^*(s) = \sum \overline{b_n}/n^s$$

so that $g^*(\overline{s}) = \overline{g(s)}$, and

$$g = \frac{1}{2}(g + g^*) + \frac{i}{2} \frac{(g - g^*)}{i}.$$

Then one sees immediately that our theorem follows for g(s).

For the prime number theorem, we need another asymptotic behavior, which we formulate in a proposition.

Proposition 1. Let b_n (n = 2, 3, ...) be complex numbers such that

$$\Psi(N) = \sum_{n=2}^{N} b_n = \alpha N + o(N)$$

for some complex α . Then:

$$\pi(N) = \sum_{n=2}^{N} \frac{b_n}{\log n} = \alpha \frac{N}{\log N} + o\left(\frac{N}{\log N}\right).$$

Proof. We have $b_n = \Psi(n) - \Psi(n-1)$ for $n \ge 2$, putting $\Psi(1) = 0$. Hence

$$\pi(N) = \sum_{n=2}^{N} \frac{\Psi(n) - \Psi(n-1)}{\log n} = \sum_{2}^{N} \frac{\Psi(n)}{\log n} - \sum_{1}^{N-1} \frac{\Psi(n)}{\log(n+1)}$$
$$= \frac{\Psi(N)}{\log N} + \sum_{n=2}^{N-1} \Psi(n) \left(\frac{1}{\log n} - \frac{1}{\log(n+1)}\right).$$

It will therefore suffice to show that the sum is $o\left(\frac{N}{\log N}\right)$. To estimate this sum, we can replace $\Psi(n)$ by Cn for some constant C. Furthermore,

$$\frac{1}{\log n} - \frac{1}{\log(n+1)} = \frac{\log\left(1 + \frac{1}{n}\right)}{\log(n)\log(n+1)} < \frac{1/n}{(\log n)^2} \cdot$$

Thus it suffices to show

$$\sum_{2}^{N-1} \frac{1}{(\log n)^2} = o\left(\frac{N}{\log N}\right) \cdot$$

As for this, the sum can be split into two sums, with $2 \leq n < N^{1/2}$ and $N^{1/2} \leq n < N$. Thus our sum is bounded by

$$\frac{N^{1/2}}{(\log 2)^2} + \frac{N}{(\log N^{1/2})_2}$$

which is obviously $o\left(\frac{N}{\log N}\right)$. Our proposition is proved.

§4. Non-vanishing of the L-series

We let x be a Hecke character. If \mathfrak{p} is unramified for x, then we recall that $x(\mathfrak{p})$ is the value $x(\pi)$ for any prime element π (viewed as idele with \mathfrak{p} -component equal to π and other components equal to 1). If \mathfrak{p} is ramified for x, then we let $x(\mathfrak{p}) = 0$. This is the same thing we have already encountered for instance in Chapter XII, §1, for characters of finite period.

[XV, §4]

We extend x to ideals a by multiplicativity, so that if

then

$$\chi(\mathfrak{a}) = \prod \chi(\mathfrak{p})^{\nu \mathfrak{p}}.$$

 $\mathfrak{a}=\prod_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathfrak{p}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}\mathfrak{p}}\text{,}$

With every Hecke character x, we associate its *L*-series

$$L(s, \chi) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{a})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a}^s} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}}$$

The character taking the value 1 will be called the **trivial character** X_0 . Its *L*-series is then the zeta function $\zeta_k(s)$ of the field k. We have the usual logarithmic derivative

$$\frac{d}{ds}\log L(s, \chi) = \sum_{\mathfrak{p}, m} (\log \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p})\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{-ms}$$

with the sum taken over all primes \mathfrak{p} and $m \geq 1$. The sum converges absolutely and uniformly for $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq 1 + \delta$. As with characters of finite period, we see that the contribution to a pole at 1 (if it exists at all) is all due to the sum taken only for m = 1.

Theorem 2. Let x be a Hecke character, $x \neq x_0$. Then

 $L(1, \chi) \neq 0.$

Proof. Assume that L(1, x) = 0. We have for s real > 1:

$$L(s, \chi) = \exp\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{p},m} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}}\right),$$

where $\exp(x) = e^x$. Consider the function

$$f(s) = L^3(s, \chi_0) L^4(s, \chi) L(s, \chi^2) = \exp\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{p}, m} \frac{3 + 4\chi(\mathfrak{p}^m) + \chi^2(\mathfrak{p}^m)}{m \mathbb{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}}\right).$$

Then

$$|f(s)| = \exp\left[\sum_{\mathfrak{p},m} \frac{3+4\cos heta+\cos2 heta}{m\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{m\sigma}}
ight],$$

where $\theta = \arg \chi(\mathfrak{p}^m)$. Since $3 + 4 \cos \theta + \cos 2\theta \ge 0$, we see that $|f(s)| \ge 1$ for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$. Assume that $\chi^2 \ne \chi_0$. Then if $L(1, \chi) = 0$,

our function f(s) must have a zero at s = 1. Its series represents the function for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, and since f is in particular continuous at s = 1, it follows that f(s) must tend to 0 as s tends to 1. Contradiction.

If $x^2 = x_0$, consider

$$L(s, x_0)L(s, x) = \exp\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{p}, m} \frac{1 + x(\mathfrak{p}^m)}{m \mathbf{N} \mathfrak{p}^{ms}}\right)$$

The term inside exp is a Dirichlet series with coefficients ≥ 0 , which dominates the series

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{p},m}\frac{2}{2m\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{2ms}}$$

which diverges for $s = \frac{1}{2}$ (being the log of the zeta function). This contradicts the following Lemma on Dirichlet series with coefficients ≥ 0 .

Lemma 1. Let $f(s) = \sum a_n n^{-s}$ be a function defined by a Dirichlet series with a_n real ≥ 0 , such that the series converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \sigma_0$. Suppose that f(s) is holomorphic at σ_0 . Then the series converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \sigma_0 - \delta$ for some $\delta > 0$ (and hence represents f(s) in this bigger half-plane).

Proof. Let δ be small > 0. We may assume $\sigma_0 = 0$ (after a translation). We have for $0 < \sigma < \delta$,

$$f(\sigma) = \sum_{n} a_{n} e^{-(\sigma-\delta)\log(n)} e^{-\delta\log(n)}.$$

We replace the exponents e^z by the series $\sum_{\nu} z^{\nu}/\nu!$. Since all coefficients are positive we can interchange $\sum_{n} \sum_{\nu}$ and we get the power series expansion for f in a neighborhood of δ , which converges for $\sigma = -2\delta$ if we took δ small enough. We can then unwind the power series back into the Dirichlet series, in the interval $-2\delta \leq \sigma < \delta$, and this shows that the Dirichlet series converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) \geq -\delta$.

Theorem 3. Let x be a Hecke character which is non-trivial on J^0 . Then L(s, x) has no zero on the line s = 1 + it.

Proof. This is essentially a corollary of Theorem 2, if we replace s by s + it, and x by the character

$$a\mapsto \chi(a)\|a\|^{-it}.$$

DENSITIES

§5. Densities

For each number x > 0 we denote by P_x the set of primes such that $N\mathfrak{p} \leq x$, and by A_x the set of integral ideals a such that $N\mathfrak{a} \leq x$. If S is a finite set of primes, we denote by A_x^S those integral ideals a which are prime to S and such that $N\mathfrak{a} \leq x$, and similarly for P_x^S .

As a special case of the Tauberian theorem, we get:

Theorem 4. Let κ be the residue of the zeta function $\zeta_k(s)$ at 1. Let $n(A_x^S)$ and $n(P_x)$ be the number of elements in A_x^S and P_x respectively. Then these two numbers are asymptotic to

$$n(A_x^S) \sim \kappa \beta x$$

 $n(P_x) \sim x/\log x,$

where $\beta = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in S} (1 - 1/\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{p}).$

Indeed, the residue at 1 of the function obtained from the zeta function $\zeta_k(s)$ by omitting the factors involving the primes in S has residue $\alpha\beta$, whence the first assertion. As for the second, we apply the Tauberian theorem to the logarithmic derivative of the zeta function, of type

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{p},m} \frac{\log \,\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{ms}} \,\cdot$$

We split this sum as usual into two sums, one over all \mathfrak{p} , and m = 1, and the other sum with m > 1. This second sum gives no contribution to the residue at 1, and the first sum is

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{p}} rac{\log \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^s}$$

This is a Dirichlet series $\sum b_n/n^s$, where $b_n = 0$ if n is not a prime power. For each integer $n \ge 2$, let $\mu(n)$ be the number of \mathfrak{p} such that $\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p} = n$. Then $b_n = \mu(n) \log n$. The residue of the logarithmic derivative of $\zeta_k(s)$ at s = 1 is equal to 1. By Theorem 1, we get

$$\sum_{n < x} b_n \sim x.$$

We now apply Proposition 1 to conclude the proof.

We now study the question of equidistribution of primes.

Let G be a compact commutative group. Let $F = \bigcup F_r$ be a set which is the union of finite subsets F_r , with $r = 1, 2, \ldots$ and $F_r \subset F_{r+1}$. Let $\lambda: F \to G$ be a map. We shall say that F is λ -equidistributed in G if for every character χ of G we have

$$\lim_{r\to\infty}\frac{1}{n(F_r)}\sum_{\xi\in F_r}\chi\circ\lambda(\xi)=\int_G\chi.$$

Recall the trivial fact that $\int_G x = 1$ if $x = x_0$ and 0 if $x \neq x_0$.

We take for granted the fact that any continuous function on a compact group can be uniformly approximated by linear combinations of characters with complex coefficients.

Let us call a real function f on G Riemann integrable if there exist sequences of continuous real functions $\{g_n\}$, $\{h_n\}$ such that

$$g_n \leq f \leq h_n$$

and g_n , h_n converge to f monotonically increasing and decreasing respectively, and such that

$$\int_G \left(g_n - h_n\right)$$

tends to 0 as $n \to \infty$.

A complex function is called integrable if both its real and imaginary parts are Riemann integrable.

If F is λ -equidistributed on G and if f is any integrable function on G, then

$$\lim_{r\to\infty}\frac{1}{n(F_r)}\sum_{\xi\in F_r}f\circ\lambda(\xi)=\int_Gf.$$

This follows at once by approximating f by continuous functions as above, and then approximating each continuous function uniformly by linear combinations of characters (use three epsilons). In practice, f is taken to be the characteristic function of suitable subsets of G. For instance, if G is finite, we take f to be the characteristic function of an element of G, so that $\int_G f = 1/n(G)$.

All desired theorems of equidistribution now follow from the following result.

Theorem 5. Let x be a Hecke character which is non-trivial on J^0 , and S a finite set containing those primes where x ramifies. Then

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{n(A_r^S)} \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in A_r^S} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) = 0$$
$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{n(A_r^S)} \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in A_r^S} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) = 0$$

$$\lim_{r\to\infty}\frac{1}{n(P_r^S)}\sum_{\mathfrak{p}\in P_r^S}\chi(\mathfrak{p})=0.$$

DENSITIES

Proof. This is immediate, since we know that the *L*-series is holomorphic at 1, and does not vanish on the line 1 + it. Thus the residue of both the *L*-series and its logarithmic derivative is 0, whence our results follow from Theorem 1, Proposition 1, Theorem 3, and the Tauberian theorem.

Let $J = J_k$ be the ideles of k. Let S be a finite set of primes containing the archimedean primes, and denote by J^S the subgroup of J consisting of those ideles having components which are units at the primes outside S, and 1 for the primes in S.

Thus

$$J^S = 1 \times \cdots \times 1 \times \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \notin S} U_{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Care should be exercised to avoid confusing this with J_S , which consists of the ideles having arbitrary components in S, and units outside S. By continuity, any character of the idele classes will vanish on some J^S and on the multiplicative group k^* of k embedded in J. If G is a compact group, and $\lambda: J/k^*J^S \to G$ a continuous homomorphism, then for any character x of G, the composite function $x \circ \lambda$ is a character of the idele classes, i.e. a Hecke character. The set of primes P^S not in S can be viewed as embedded in J/k^*J^S , as follows. Let π be an element of order 1 at a prime $\mathfrak{p} \notin S$. Then π is viewed as the idele having π as \mathfrak{p} -component, and 1 as component for all other primes. Modulo k^*J^S the coset of π does not depend on the choice of such element, and thus the map sending \mathfrak{p} into this coset gives our embedding of P^S into J/k^*J^S . (We could also embed \mathfrak{p} on the idele π^{-1} . This is in fact what we shall do in the subsequent examples, to fit the classical description relative to the archimedean primes.)

Let $\sigma: J_k \to G$ be a continuous homomorphism such that

$$\sigma(J_k^0) = G,$$

and whose kernel contains k^* . If ψ is a non-trivial character of G, then $x = \psi \circ \sigma$ is non-trivial on J_k^0 , and hence we can apply our previous results, especially Theorem 3, and the Tauberian theorem, combined with the preceding discussion. Thus we obtain:

Theorem 6. Let P be the set of primes. Let $\tau: P \to J_k$ be the following map. For each \mathfrak{p} , select a prime element $\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ in $k_{\mathfrak{v}\mathfrak{p}}^*$ and let $\tau(\mathfrak{p})$ be the idele having component 1 at all v except $v_{\mathfrak{p}}$, at which it has component $\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$. We view P as filtered by the sets P_r consisting of those \mathfrak{p} such that $\mathbb{N}\mathfrak{p} \leq r$. Let G be a compact commutative group, and let $\sigma: J_k \to G$ be a continuous homomorphism such that $\sigma(J_k^0) = G$, and whose kernel contains k^* . Let $\lambda = \sigma \circ \tau$. Then P is λ -equidistributed in G.

Example 1. Let H be an open subgroup of J containing k^* , i.e. one of those subgroups which are class groups to class fields, and let

$$\lambda: J \to J/H$$

be the canonical homomorphism. Then we get the equidistribution of primes in our generalized ideal classes, which according to the Artin map of class field theory, is the same as the equidistribution of primes having elements of the Galois group as Artin symbols in the corresponding class field.

Example 2. Take $k = \mathbf{Q}(i)$, the Gaussian field. Let S consist of the archimedean absolute value. We have

$$J/k^*J^S \approx k^*_{\infty}/(\pm 1, \pm i),$$

where k_{∞}^{*} is the multiplicative group of complex numbers. We may then consider the ideals as points in the Gauss plane, in the first quadrant, and get equidistribution of ideals and primes in sectors, taking for λ the radial projection on the unit circle.

Example 3. (Suggested by Serre.) Let k be a number field of class number 1, so that

$$J = k^* J_S,$$

where S is the set of archimedean absolute values. Let U be the group of units of o_k , viewed as a subgroup of

$$k^*_{\infty} = \prod_{v \in S} k^*_v$$

(i.e. embedded on the diagonal). We have an injection

$$k^*_{\infty} \rightarrow J = k^* J_S$$

if we associate with each element of k_{∞}^* the idele having the same components in S, and component 1 outside S. We then obtain a canonical isomorphism

$$k_{\infty}^*/U \approx J/k^*J^S.$$

Let $\sigma: k_{\infty}^*/U \to \text{circle}$ be a continuous homomorphism whose restriction to the subgroup of k_{∞}^* consisting of all elements of norm 1 is surjective. Then Theorem 6 applies to this case, and one gets the equidistribution of $\sigma(\mathfrak{p})$, where $\sigma(\mathfrak{p}) = \sigma(\pi)$ for any generator π of \mathfrak{p} .

DENSITIES

In particular, if k is a real quadratic field of class number 1, we may take an embedding $k \to \mathbf{R}$ of k into one of its (real) completions, giving rise to an absolute value denoted by | |, and $k_{\infty}^* = \mathbf{R}^* \times \mathbf{R}^*$. We let

$$\sigma(a,b) = |a|^{2\pi i/\log \epsilon},$$

where ϵ is a fundamental unit, and we obtain the equidistribution of the log π (mod log ϵ).

CHAPTER XVI

The Brauer-Siegel Theorem

Using the integrals expressing the zeta function, one can give certain estimates concerning its residue in order to derive asymptotic results relating the class number, regulator, and discriminant of a number field, and notably the following.

If k ranges over a sequence of number fields Galois over \mathbf{Q} , of degree N and absolute value of the discriminant d, such that $N/\log d$ tends to 0, then we have

 $\log(hR) \sim \log d^{1/2}.$

One may of course ask whether it is possible to lift the restriction of normality, and the condition that $N/\log d$ tends to 0. With the present approach, these questions involve Artin's conjecture on the non-abelian L-series and the Riemann hypothesis (as will be clear in the proof). The existence of infinite unramified extensions proved by Golod-Shafarevic shows that the assumption $N/\log d \to 0$ is necessary. Indeed, if k is a number field admitting an infinite tower of unramified extensions K, then $N_K/\log d_K$ is constant.

We observe that the discriminant of the field $k = \mathbf{Q}(\zeta)$, where ζ is a *p*-th root of unity (*p* a prime), is $d_k = p^{p-2}$ and so our statement applies to such fields. Similarly for towers of p^r -th roots of unity.

The study of the behavior of $N/\log d$ is thus of considerable interest. We shall use the essentially elementary fact that for all number fields with

$$N > 1$$
 (i.e. $k \neq \mathbf{Q}$)

the number $N/\log d$ is bounded. This follows at once from Minkowski's theorem that in every ideal class there exists an integral ideal \mathfrak{a} such that

$$\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{a} \leq C_k d^{1/2},$$

where C_k is the Minkowski constant. Taking the N-th root, a simple computation, using the fact that $1 \leq \mathbf{Na}$, shows that there is an absolute constant C such that $N/\log d \leq C$.

§1. An upper estimate for the residue

Lemma 1. There exists an absolute constant c_1 such that the inequality

$$\kappa(k) \leq c_1^N (1+\alpha)^N d_k^{1/2\alpha} \qquad (N = [k:\mathbf{Q}])$$

holds for all number fields k and all $\alpha \geq 1$.

Proof. According to Chapter XIV, Theorem 14, Corollary 3 and Theorem 15 together with the fact that the integrals expressing the zeta function are ≥ 0 for real s, we get for s > 1:

$$(2^{-2r_2}\pi^{-N}d_k)^{s/2}\Gamma^{r_1}\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)\Gamma^{r_2}(s)\zeta_k(s) \ge \kappa \frac{d_k^{1/2}(2\pi)^{-r_2}}{s(s-1)}.$$

If we put $s = 1 + \alpha^{-1}$, then the gamma factors are uniformly bounded. We have obvious contributions of type c_1^N and $d_k^{1/2\alpha}$. From the product expansion for the zeta function we have the inequalities

$$\zeta_k\left(1+\frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \leq \zeta_{\mathbf{Q}}\left(1+\frac{1}{\alpha}\right)^N \leq (1+\alpha)^N.$$

The lemma follows at once.

Lemma 2. There exists a constant c_2 such that for $k \neq \mathbf{Q}$,

$$\log(hR)/\log(d^{1/2}) \leq c_2$$

If k ranges over a sequence of fields such that $N/\log d$ tends to 0, then for this sequence

$$\limsup\left[\left(\frac{\log hR}{\log d^{1/2}}-1\right)\frac{1}{N}\right] \leq 0.$$

Proof. We use the elementary estimate that the number of roots of unity w in a number field k is $\leq c_3 N^2$ for some absolute constant c_3 . (Use the fact that the field of *n*-th roots of unity over **Q** has degree $\varphi(n)$, together with an obvious estimate of $\varphi(n)$, using $\varphi(p^r) = (p-1)p^{r-1}$ and the multiplicativity.)

From Lemma 1, and the value for κ , we get

$$\frac{\log hR}{\log d^{1/2}} - 1 \leq \frac{N}{\log d^{1/2}} \log(c_1(1+\alpha)) + \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{\log d^{1/2}} \log c_3.$$

Putting $\alpha = 1$ proves the first assertion. Fixing α , and taking our sequence of fields shows that for each α large, and all but a finite number of fields in our sequence, the difference on the left is $\leq \alpha^{-1} + \epsilon$ with arbitrarily small ϵ . This proves our assertion.

[XVI, §2]

§2. A lower bound for the residue

Lemma 3. Let s_0 be real, $0 < s_0 < 1$, and assume that $\zeta(g_0, s_0) \leq 0$ (or what is the same thing, that $\zeta_k(s_0) \leq 0$). Then

$$\kappa(k) \ge s_0(1-s_0)2^{-N}e^{-4\pi N}d_k^{(s_0-1)/2}.$$

Proof. By Theorem 15 of Chapter XIV, §8, we have

$$\frac{\kappa g_0(0)}{s_0(1-s_0)} \ge \int_{\|a\|\ge 1} g_0(a) \|a\|^{s_0} d^*a.$$

We shrink the domain of integration to a domain $P = \prod P_v$, where P_v is the set of units U_v for v non-archimedean, and for v archimedean, P_v is the domain

$$1 \leq ||a_v d^{-1/2N}||_v \leq 2.$$

This lowers the value of the integral, and the integral over P is the product of the local integrals, which we now compute.

For v p-adic, we know that $g_{0,v} = d_{\mathfrak{p}}^{1/2} f_{0,v}$ and hence $\mathfrak{g}_{0,v} = d_{\mathfrak{p}}^{1/2} \mathfrak{f}_{0,v} = d_{\mathfrak{p}}$ times the characteristic function of \mathfrak{o}_{v} . Hence in this case, our local integral becomes

$$\int_{P_v} \hat{g}_{0,v}(a) d^*a = d_{\mathfrak{p}}^{1/2}.$$

For v archimedean, we use Proposition 9 of Chapter XIV, §8, to get \mathfrak{g} in terms of \hat{f} . Changing variables, setting $z = a_v d^{-1/2N}$, our integral over P_v becomes

$$\|d^{1/2N}\|_{v}^{(s_{0}-1)}\int \hat{f}_{0,v}(z) d^{*}z,$$

the range of integration being $1 \leq ||z||_v \leq 2$. In this range, we replace $\hat{f}_{0,v}(z)$ by its lower bound, namely $e^{-4\pi}$ if v is real and $\frac{1}{2\pi} e^{-4\pi}$ if v is complex. The measure of the annulus between 1 and 2 is easily computed to be $\log 2$ or $2\pi \log 2$ respectively, and thus finally we get the lower bound

$$||d^{1/2N}||_{v}^{(s_{0}-1)}e^{-4\pi}\log 2$$

for v archimedean. Taking the product yields

$$\kappa d^{1/2} (2\pi)^{-r_2} \ge s_0 (1-s_0) d^{1/2} d^{(s_0-1)/2} e^{-4\pi N} (\log 2)^N$$

using N instead of $r_1 + r_2$. The estimate of the lemma is a weakening of the estimate we have just obtained.

Our goal is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 1. Let $\epsilon > 0$. There exists a number $c_4(\epsilon)$ such that for all fields k normal over \mathbf{Q} , the inequality holds:

$$\kappa(k) \geq c_4(\epsilon)^{-N} d_k^{-\epsilon}.$$

Proof. If we had the Riemann hypothesis, we could dispense with our hypothesis that k is normal over **Q**. Indeed, our arguments are split into two cases.

Case 1. For all normal fields k the function $\zeta_k(s)$ does not vanish for real s with $1 - \epsilon/N < s < 1$.

Then from the integral representation, we know that the zeta function takes on negative values for s close to 1 and to the left of 1. Consequently, under our present case, $\zeta_k(1 - \epsilon/N) \leq 0$ and putting $s_0 = 1 - \epsilon/N$ in Lemma 3 gives us what we want. The argument works if k is not normal.

Case 2. There exists a field k_0 normal over **Q** of degree N_0 , such that $\zeta_{k_0}(s_0) = 0$ for some real s_0 with $1 - \epsilon/N_0 < s_0 < 1$.

In order to treat this case, it will be necessary to take a detour through L-series, and we shall prove in the next section:

Theorem 2. There exists a constant c_5 such that for all number fields k and normal extensions K of k, the following inequality holds:

$$\kappa(K)/\kappa(k) \leq c_5^{N_K - N_k} (1 + \alpha)^{N_K - N_k} (d_K/d_k)^{1/2\alpha}$$

for all $\alpha \geq 1$.

Let us assume this theorem for the time being. We use the following fundamental lemma of Brauer's which will be proved in an appendix.

Lemma. Let G be a finite group, and χ_{reg} the character of the regular representation. Then there exist cyclic subgroups $H_j \neq 1$, positive rational numbers λ_j , and one-dimensional characters $\psi_j \neq 1$ of H_j such that

$$x_{\mathrm{reg}} = x_0 + \sum \lambda_j \psi_j^*$$

(where the * means induced character).

We shall use the lemma several times, and to begin with, we use it to note that if K is normal over k, and $\zeta_k(s_0) = 0$ for some s_0 , then $\zeta_K(s_0) = 0$ also. (This is an open question in the non-normal case. Its answer would of course be implied by Artin's conjectures.) We use Artin's formalism:

$$\zeta_K(s) = \zeta_k(s) \prod L(s, \psi_j^*, K/k)^{\lambda_j}$$

and the fact that the L-series are abelian L-series of the type discussed in Chapters XII and XIV.
[XVI, §3] COMPARISON OF RESIDUES IN NORMAL EXTENSIONS

We treat Case 2 as follows. We may consider s_0 , the special value of s between $1 - \epsilon/N_0$ and 1, and the discriminant of k_0 as depending only on ϵ . Given a field k normal over **Q**, let $K = kk_0$. Then K is normal over k_0 and we can use the preceding remark: $\zeta_K(s_0) = 0$.

By Lemma 3, we get

$$\kappa(K) \geq s_0(1-s_0)2^{-N_K}e^{2\pi N_K}d_k^{-(1-s_0)/2}.$$

An elementary estimate gives

$$N_K \leq N_0 N_k$$
 and $d_K \leq d_k^{N_0} d_0^{N_k}$,

whence

$$d_{K}^{-(1-s_{0})/2} \ge d_{K}^{-\epsilon/2N_{0}} \ge d_{k}^{-\epsilon/2} d_{0}^{-\epsilon/2N_{0}}$$

and we get

$$\kappa(K) \geq c_5(\epsilon)^{-N_k} d_k^{-\epsilon/2}$$

By Theorem 2 which compares residues in k and K, choosing $\alpha = N_0/\epsilon$ we obtain an inequality

$$\kappa(k) \geq \kappa(K)c_8(\epsilon)^{-N_k}d_k^{-\epsilon/2},$$

so that Theorem 1 follows from our last two inequalities.

§3. Comparison of residues in normal extensions

Our purpose is now to prove Theorem 2. For this, we use again Brauer's lemma on group representations, and the decomposition of the zeta function:

$$\zeta_K(s) = \zeta_k(s) \prod L(s, \psi_j^*, K_j/k)^{\lambda_j}.$$

Each *L*-series is equal to $L(s, \psi_j)$, where ψ_j is a character $\neq 1$ of the idele class group of K_j . We have

$$\kappa(K)/\kappa(k) = \prod L(1,\psi_j)^{\lambda_j},$$

the factors on the right being finite, since each ψ_j is different from the trivial character.

We need an upper estimate for each factor $|L(1, \psi_j)|$. We note that the ψ_j are characters of finite period.

We have:

Lemma 4. Let k be a number field, $\psi \neq 1$ a character of finite period of C_k , and $\alpha \geq 1$. Then

$$|L(1,\psi)| \leq c_6^N (1+\alpha)^N d_{\psi}^{1/2\alpha}$$

Proof. We have, with the same notation as Chapter XIV, §8,

$$\zeta(g_{\psi},\psi,1) = \int_{\|a\| \ge 1} g_{\psi}(a)\psi(a) \|a\| d^*a + \int_{\|a\| \ge 1} \hat{g}_{\psi}(a)\bar{\psi}(a) d^*a.$$

A direct computation shows that $|\hat{g}_{\psi}| \leq |g_{\psi}|$. Hence we get the upper bound:

$$\begin{aligned} |\zeta(g_{\psi},\psi,1)| &\leq 2 \int_{\|a\| \geq 1} |g_{\psi}(a)| \|a\|^{s} d^{*}a \qquad (s>1) \\ &\leq 2\zeta(|g_{\psi}|,\chi_{0},s) \qquad (s>1). \end{aligned}$$

Our character is unramified at complex v. Let ν be the number of ramified real v, and $\mu = r_1 - \nu$. We let

$$\Gamma(s,\psi) = \Gamma\left(rac{s+1}{2}
ight)^{
u} \Gamma\left(rac{s}{2}
ight)^{\mu} \Gamma(s)^{r_2}.$$

Then evaluating local integrals in an easy way, we get from the expression of the zeta function in terms of local factors the inequality:

$$d_{\psi}^{1/2} 2^{-r_2} \pi^{-N/2} \Gamma(1,\psi) |L(1,\psi)| \leq 2(d_{\psi}^{1/2} 2^{-r_2} \pi^{-N/2})^s \Gamma(s,\psi) \zeta_k(s)$$

for s > 1. If we put $s = 1 + \alpha^{-1}$ and use the same trivial estimate as in §1 for the zeta function we get our lemma.

Let us put

$$N_j = [K_j : \mathbf{Q}].$$

We apply Lemma 4 to the field K_j and characters ψ_j . We get:

$$\kappa(K)/\kappa(k) \leq \prod c_6^{N_j \lambda_j} (1+\alpha)^{N_j \lambda_j} d_{\psi_j}^{\lambda_j/2\alpha}$$

We use the relation

$$N_K = N_k + \sum N_j \lambda_j$$

obtained by evaluating the character of the regular representation of G(K/k) at 1 and multiplying by $[k:\mathbf{Q}]$. From it and Artin's conductordiscriminant formula (cf. [ArT 67]) one gets at once:

$$d_K = d_k \prod d_{\psi_j}^{\lambda_j}$$

(Compute with the different instead of the discriminant, because the different is multiplicative in towers.) In view of these decompositions of the degree and the discriminant, our estimate for the quotient of the residues follows trivially. [XVI, §4]

For the convenience of the reader, let us give the proof of the decomposition of the discriminant. According to Artin's formula, we have

$$D_{K/k} = N_{K/k}(\mathfrak{D}_{K/k}) = \prod N_{K_j/k}(\mathfrak{D}_{K_j/k}\mathfrak{f}_{\psi_j})^{\lambda_j}.$$

We multiply both sides by

$$N_{K/k}(\mathfrak{D}_{k/\mathbf{Q}}) = \mathfrak{D}_{k/\mathbf{Q}}^{[K:k]}$$

and use our relation for the degrees. This yields

$$N_{K/k}(\mathfrak{D}_{K/\mathbf{Q}}) = \mathfrak{D}_{k/\mathbf{Q}} \prod N_{K_j/k}(\mathfrak{D}_{K_j/\mathbf{Q}}\mathfrak{f}_{\psi_j})^{\lambda_j}.$$

If we now take $N_{k/\mathbf{O}}$ of both sides, we get what we want.

§4. End of the proofs

From the lower bound of the residue obtained in §2, we get an inequality of type

$$\log (hR) - \log d_k^{1/2} \geq -Nc_{\tau}(\epsilon) - 2\epsilon \log d_k^{1/2}.$$

We had noted that $N/\log d$ is bounded for all number fields $\neq \mathbf{Q}$. This allows us to complement our first assertion in Lemma 2:

Theorem 3. There exists a constant c_8 such that for all fields k normal over \mathbf{Q} , we have

$$\left|\log(hR)\right| \ge c_8 \log d^{1/2}.$$

Furthermore, if k ranges over a sequence of fields normal over \mathbf{Q} for which $N/\log d$ tends to 0, then the above inequality implies that

$$\liminf \left[\log(hR) / \log d^{1/2} \right] \ge 1 - 2\epsilon.$$

Combined with our preceding results (Lemma 2) we get:

Theorem 4. If k ranges over a sequence of fields normal over \mathbf{Q} for which $N/\log d$ tends to 0, then

$$\log(Rh) \sim \log d^{1/2}.$$

It is a simple exercise to estimate the discriminant of the smallest normal extension k' containing a given number field k over **Q**. One finds that

$$d_{k'} \leq d_k^{N'/2},$$

where $N' = [k' : \mathbf{Q}]$. If we apply Theorem 2 to k' and k, and take $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon$

with $\epsilon < \frac{1}{2}$, we find the inequality

$$\kappa(k) \geq \kappa(k')c_9(\epsilon)^{-N'}d_{k'}^{-\epsilon}.$$

On the other hand, if we apply Theorem 1 to k', we get

$$\kappa(k') \geq c_4(\epsilon)^{-N'} d_{k'}^{-\epsilon}$$

so that finally,

$$Rh/d^{1/2} \geq c_{10}(\epsilon)^{-N'} d_{k'}^{-2\epsilon},$$

and

$$\log(Rh) - \log d^{1/2} \ge -N'c_{10}(\epsilon) - 2\epsilon \log d_{k'}$$

Using the estimate of d_k in terms of d_k stated above, we get finally:

$$\left\lfloor \frac{\log(Rh)}{\log d^{1/2}} - 1 \right\rfloor \frac{1}{N'} \ge -\frac{c_{10}(\epsilon)}{\log d^{1/2}} - 2\epsilon.$$

There is only a finite number of number fields with bounded discriminant. The left-hand side of our inequality is bounded below and does not possess any negative limit point, if we let k range over all number fields $\neq \mathbf{Q}$. From Lemma 2, we get our main result:

Theorem 5. If k ranges over all number fields $\neq \mathbf{Q}$ and N' is the degree over \mathbf{Q} of the smallest normal field k' over \mathbf{Q} containing k, then the set of values

$$\left[\frac{\log(Rh)}{\log d^{1/2}} - 1\right]\frac{1}{N'}$$

is bounded, and possesses 0 as its only limit point.

Corollary. If k ranges over number fields of fixed degree N over \mathbf{Q} , then we have the asymptotic relation

$$\log(hR) \sim \log d^{1/2}$$

for $d \to \infty$.

Proof. Immediate, taking into account that $N' \leq N!$.

Appendix: Brauer's lemma

In this appendix, we prove the lemma on group characters which has been used several times in the chapter. I am indebted to Serre for the exposition (derived from Brauer's).

[XVI, App.]

Let G be a finite group. We denote by 1_G the trivial character, by r_G the character of the regular representation, and we let $u_G = r_G - 1_G$. If H is a subgroup of G and ψ a character of H, we let ψ^* be the induced character.

If A is a cyclic group of order a, we define the function θ_A on A by the conditions:

$$heta_A(\sigma) = egin{cases} a & ext{if } \sigma ext{ is a generator of } A \ 0 & ext{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We let $\lambda_A = \varphi(a)r_A - \theta_A$ (where φ is the Euler function), and $\lambda_A = 0$ if a = 1.

The desired result is contained in the following two propositions.

Proposition 1. Let G be a finite group of order g. Then

$$u_G = rac{1}{g} \sum \lambda_A^*,$$

the sum being taken over all cyclic subgroups of G.

Proof. Given two functions x, ψ on G, we have the usual scalar product:

$$\langle \psi, \chi \rangle_G = \frac{1}{g} \sum_{\sigma \in G} \psi(\sigma) \overline{\chi(\sigma)}.$$

Let ψ be any function on G. Then:

$$egin{aligned} &\langle \psi, g u_G
angle &= \langle \psi, g r_G
angle - \langle \psi, g 1_G
angle \ &= g \psi(1) - \sum\limits_{\sigma \in G} \psi(\sigma). \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, using the standard fact that the induced character is the transpose of the restriction, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{A} \langle \psi, \lambda_{A}^{*} \rangle &= \sum_{A} \langle \psi \mid A, \lambda_{A} \rangle \\ &= \sum_{A} \langle \psi \mid A, \varphi(a) r_{A} - \theta_{A} \rangle \\ &= \sum_{A} \varphi(a) \psi(1) - \sum_{A} \frac{1}{a} \sum_{\sigma \text{ gen } A} a \psi(\sigma) \\ &= g \psi(1) - \sum_{\sigma \in G} \psi(\sigma). \end{split}$$

Since the functions on the right and left of the equality sign in the statement of our proposition have the same scalar product with an arbitrary function, they are equal. This proves our proposition.

[XVI, App.]

Proposition 2. If $A \neq \{1\}$, the function λ_A is a linear combination of irreducible non-trivial characters of A with positive integral coefficients.

Proof. If A is cyclic of prime order, then by Proposition 1, we know that $\lambda_A = gu_A$, and our assertion follows from the standard structure of the regular representation.

In order to prove the assertion in general, it suffices to prove that the Fourier coefficients of λ_A with respect to a character of degree 1 are integers ≥ 0 . Let ψ be a character of degree 1. We take the scalar product with respect to A, and obtain:

$$egin{aligned} &\langle \psi, \, \lambda_A
angle &= \varphi(a) \psi(1) - \sum\limits_{\sigma \, \mathrm{gen}} \psi(\sigma) \ &= \varphi(a) - \sum\limits_{\sigma \, \mathrm{gen}} \psi(\sigma) \ &= \sum\limits_{\sigma \, \mathrm{gen}} \left(1 - \psi(\sigma)\right). \end{aligned}$$

The sum $\sum \psi(\sigma)$ taken over generators of A is an algebraic integer, and is in fact a rational number (for any number of elementary reasons), hence a rational integer. Furthermore, if ψ is non-trivial, all real parts of

 $1-\psi(\sigma)$

are > 0 if $\sigma \neq id$ and are 0 if $\sigma = id$. From the last two inequalities, we conclude that the sums must be equal to a positive integer. If ψ is the trivial character, then the sum is clearly 0. Our proposition is proved.

CHAPTER XVII Explicit Formulas

Classical so-called "explicit formulas" of number theory state that the sum of a certain simple function over the prime powers is equal to the sum of the Mellin-Fourier transform of the function over the zeros of the zeta function. A number of such formulas are given in Ingham [In 32] (references at the end of the chapter). Weil [We 68] had the idea of extending such explicit formulas by taking a very general class of test functions, and viewing these sums as a functional on the space of test functions. In the explicit formula, the sum over the primes is complemented by a term corresponding to the places at infinity, and Weil saw the role of a generalized Parseval formula in the duality entering into one side of the equation, thus giving rise to the Weil functional at infinity. This functional was reworked by Barner [Ba 81], [Ba 90] in a more tractable form. In light of this development, I have rewritten this chapter for the second edition.

Readers who wish some exercises can extend the theorems of [In 32] to the *L*-series associated with an arbitrary Hecke character.

§1. Weierstrass factorization of the L-series

Throughout this chapter we use the results of Chapter XIV, §8. If k is a number field, χ a character of the idele classes, and $d_{\chi} = \mathbf{N}(\mathfrak{D}\mathfrak{f}_{\chi})$, we put

$$A=(2\pi)^{-N}2^{r_1}d_{\gamma}.$$

Note that this is the square of the part of the residue of the L-function not involving the regulator or the roots of unity. We also put:

$$\begin{split} G_0(s,\chi) &= A^{s/2} = G_0(s,\bar{\chi}) \\ G_v(s,\chi) &= \Gamma(s_v/2) \qquad (v \text{ archimedean}), \end{split}$$

where

$$s_v = s_v(\chi) = N_v(s + i\varphi_v) + |m_v|,$$

and

$$L(s, \chi) = usual product over p unramified for \chi$$
.

Then we set

$$\Lambda(s, \chi) = G_0(s, \chi) \prod_{v \in S_{\chi}} G_v(s, \chi) L(s, \chi) = \Lambda(s)$$

and we note right away the expression for the logarithmic derivative

$$\Lambda'/\Lambda(\mathfrak{s}) = \frac{1}{2} \log A + \sum_{\mathfrak{v} \in S_{\varkappa}} \frac{1}{2} N_{\mathfrak{v}} \Gamma'/\Gamma(\mathfrak{s}_{\mathfrak{v}}/2) + L'/L(\mathfrak{s}).$$

which is going to play a crucial role.

We have the functional equation

$$W(\chi)\Lambda(s,\chi) = \Lambda(1-s,\bar{\chi}),$$

or also

$$\Lambda(\bar{s}) = \overline{\Lambda(1-s)}u(\chi),$$

where $W(\chi)$ and $u(\chi)$ have absolute value 1.

As usual, δ_{χ} is 1 if $\chi = \chi_0$ and 0 otherwise.

We wish to prove that the function

$$\xi(s) = \xi(s, \chi) = [s(s-1)]^{\delta_{\chi}} \Lambda(s)$$

is an entire function of order 1, and hence by a general and standard theorem in complex variables that we have

$$\xi(s) = e^{b_0 + b_1 s} \prod_{\rho} \left(1 - \frac{s}{\rho}\right) e^{s/\rho},$$

where ρ ranges over the zeros of $\xi(s)$, with their multiplicities, and b_0 , b_1 are constants depending on χ , of course.

We shall need to estimate Gamma factors, and for this use the Stirling formula

$$\log \Gamma(s) = (s - \frac{1}{2}) \log s - s + \frac{1}{2} \log 2\pi + \int_0^\infty \frac{P_1(x)}{s + x} dx,$$

where

$$P_1(x) = [x] - x + \frac{1}{2}$$

is the saw-tooth function. The remainder term is therefore O(1/|s|) uniformly in each region

$$-\pi + \delta \leq \arg s \leq \pi - \delta, \qquad \delta > 0.$$

[XVII, §2]

For a fixed complex number a, we obtain

 $\log \Gamma(s+a) = (s+a-\frac{1}{2}) \log s - s + \frac{1}{2} \log 2\pi + O(1/|s|)$

uniformly in the above region.

In particular, if a is real, and if we set r = |s| and $\theta = \arg s$, then

$$|\Gamma(s+a)| = r^{\sigma+a-1/2}e^{-\sigma}(2\pi)^{1/2}e^{O(1/r)}$$

uniformly in the above-mentioned region, and if a, φ are real then

$$|\Gamma(s+a+i\varphi)| = r^{\sigma+a-1/2} e^{-t\theta-\varphi\theta} e^{-\sigma} (2\pi)^{1/2} e^{O(1/r)}$$

Letting G(s) be the product of the G_v , G_0 , i.e. essentially a product of Gamma factors, we see immediately that |G(s)| is $O(e^{|s|^{1+\epsilon}})$ for every $\epsilon > 0$ in the half-plane $\sigma \ge 1$. Furthermore, for every real a > 0, we know from the product expansion that L(s) is bounded in the half-plane $\sigma \ge 1 + a$. Hence $\Lambda(s)$ is $O(e^{|s|^{1+\epsilon}})$ in this half-plane.

By the functional equation, we get the same estimate in the halfplane $\sigma \leq -a$.

On the other hand, the expression of $\Lambda(s)$ as a sum of two integrals converging for all s plus a term involving s(s-1) shows that $\Lambda(s)$ is bounded in every strip $\sigma_0 \leq \sigma \leq \sigma_1$, excluding a neighborhood of the poles s = 0, 1 if these occur, i.e. if $\chi = \chi_0$. We have therefore shown that our estimate in fact holds for all s, excluding such a neighborhood, and have thus proved that our function is of order 1.

§2. An estimate for ξ'/ξ

We recall two lemmas from complex variables.

Lemma 2.1. Let f(s) be holomorphic in the upper part of a strip: $\sigma_0 \leq \sigma \leq \sigma_1$, and $t \geq t_1 > 0$. Assume that f(s) is $O(e^{t^z})$ for some constant $\alpha > 1$, and $t \to \infty$, in this strip, and that |f(s)| is $O(t^M)$ for some positive integer M, on the sides of the strip $\sigma = \sigma_0$ and $\sigma = \sigma_1$. Then f(s) is $O(t^M)$ in the strip.

This is nothing but the Phragmen-Lindelöf Theorem, proved in Chapter XIII, §5.

Lemma 2.2. Suppose f(z) is holomorphic in a circle $|z - z_0| \leq R$, and has at least n zeros in the circle $|z - z_0| \leq r < R$ (counting multiplicities). Assume $f(z_0) \neq 0$. Then

$$(R/r)^n \leq B/|f(z_0)|,$$

where B is the maximum of |f(z)| on the larger circle.

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume $z_0 = 0$. Let $\{a_i\}$ be the zeros of f in the small circle. Let

$$g(z) = f(z) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{R^2 - \bar{a}_i z}{R(z - a_i)}.$$

Then g is holomorphic on the large closed disc, and using the maximum modulus principle, we find

$$|f(0)|\left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^n \leq |g(0)| \leq ||g||_R \leq ||f||_R,$$

thus proving the desired inequality.

We return to our L-series. Put

$$L_1(s, \chi) = L_1(s) = s(s-1)L(s).$$

Proposition 2.3. For every strip $\sigma_0 < \sigma < \sigma_1$ there exists an integer M such that $L_1(s, \chi)$ is $O(|t|^M)$ for $|t| \to \infty$ in the strip.

Proof. Note that

$$|L_1(s)| = |s(s-1)L(s)| = |s(s-1)G(s)^{-1}G(1-\bar{s})L(1-\bar{s})|$$

by the functional equation. By the asymptotic formula for gamma functions, we see that $L_1(s)$ is $O(e^{c|t|^2})$ for some constant c, and some $\alpha > 1$, inside our strip. On $\sigma = \sigma_1$, we know that L(s) is bounded by its expression as a product, and thus $L(1-\bar{s})$ is bounded on $\sigma = \sigma_0$. On the other hand for two complex numbers a, b we see from §1 that $|\Gamma(s+a)/\Gamma(b-\bar{s})|$ is $O(|t|^M)$ (for some M depending on a, b) inside our strip. (The point is that the terms $e^{-t\theta}$ cancel.) Hence $L_1(s)$ is $O(|t|^M)$ on the lines $\sigma = \sigma_0$ and $\sigma = \sigma_1$ for sufficiently large M. We now get our proposition from Lemma 2.1.

Applying Lemma 2.2 to a pair of circles centered at 1 + a + it with fixed a > 0 and constant radius, we get:

Proposition 2.4. The number of zeros of $\Lambda(s)$ (equal to the number of zeros of L(s) in a box $0 \leq \sigma \leq 1$ and $T \leq |t| \leq T + 1$ is $O(\log T)$.

Corollary 2.5. There is a number $\alpha > 0$, and for each integer m with $|m| \ge 2$ there is number T_m in the interval

$$m < T_m < m + 1$$

[XVII, §2]

such that $\Lambda(s)$ has no zero in the (horizontal) strips

$$|t \pm T_m| \leq \frac{\alpha}{\log |m|} \leq 1.$$

Proposition 2.6. The following estimates hold:

(a) In every strip $\sigma_0 \leq \sigma \leq \sigma_1$ we have

$$\Gamma'/\Gamma(s) = \log s + O(1/|s|^2)$$
 for $|s| \to \infty$ in the strip.

- (b) Let a be a number > 0. Then on the vertical line $\operatorname{Re}(s) = 1 + a$, L'/L(s) is bounded.
- (c) Again for $\operatorname{Re}(s) = 1 + a$, we have

$$\Lambda'/\Lambda(s)$$
 and $\xi'/\xi(s) = O(\log |s|)$ for $|s| \to \infty$.

Proof. The first assertion follows from Stirling's formula (differentiating under the integral sign giving the error term). The second follows from the product expansion of L. The third one is an immediate consequence of the first two and the product expression for $\Lambda(s)$ or $\xi(s)$, thus concluding the proof.

Returning to our Weierstrass product, we take its log derivative. For any s, s_0 , we have

$$\xi'/\xi(s)-\xi'/\xi(s_0)=\sum\limits_
ho igg(rac{1}{s-
ho}-rac{1}{s_0-
ho}igg).$$

Proposition 2.7. Let $0 < a \leq 1$, and m an integer with $|m| \geq 2$. Let $s = \sigma + iT_m$ with $-a \leq \sigma \leq 1 + a$ and T_m as in Corollary 2.5. Then

$$|\xi'/\xi(s)| \leq B(\log|m|)^2,$$

where B is a number depending on a but not on m and σ .

Proof. Let us take $s_0 = 1 + a + iT_m$ and write

$$\rho = \beta + i\gamma.$$

By Proposition 2.6 we know that

$$\xi'/\xi(s_0) = O(\log |m|).$$

We then consider the difference

$$|\xi'/\xi(s)-\xi'/\xi(s_0)| \leq \sum_{\rho} \left| \frac{s_0-s}{(s-\rho)(s_0-\rho)} \right|.$$

For the sum, we get the inequality

$$\sum_{\rho} \left| \frac{\mathbf{s}_0 - \mathbf{s}}{(\mathbf{s} - \rho)(\mathbf{s}_0 - \rho)} \right| \leq (a + 1 - \sigma) \sum_{\rho} \frac{1}{|(\mathbf{s} - \rho)(\mathbf{s}_0 - \rho)|}.$$

Under our hypotheses, we have

$$|s_0 - \rho|^2 = (1 + a - \beta)^2 + (T_m - \gamma)^2 \ge a^2 + (T_m - \gamma)^2,$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} |s-\rho|^2 &\ge (T_m-\gamma)^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}(T_m-\gamma)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\log|m|}\right)^2 \\ &\ge \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\log|m|}\right)^2 [a^2 + (T_m-\gamma)^2], \end{split}$$

since $0 < a \leq 1$. From this we get

$$ert \xi'/\zeta(s) - \zeta'/\zeta(s_0) ert \leq rac{2(a+1-\sigma)}{lpha/\log|m|} \sum_{\omega} rac{1}{a^2+(T_m-\gamma)^2} \cdot \ \ll (\log|m|) \sum_{\gamma} rac{1}{a^2+(T_m-\gamma)^2} \cdot$$

We also have

$$\sum_{\rho} \frac{1}{a^2 + (T_m - \gamma)^2} \leq \frac{(a+1)^2}{a^2} \sum_{\rho} \frac{1}{(a+1)^2 + (T_m - \gamma)^2}.$$

We shall compare this expression with $\operatorname{Re}(\xi'/\xi(s_0))$ which is itself $\leq |\xi'/\xi(s_0)|$.

We have

$$\xi'/\xi(s_0) = b_1 + \sum_{\rho} \left[\frac{1}{s_0 - \rho} + \frac{1}{\rho}\right].$$

The real part of the sum is

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{\rho} \left[\frac{1+a+\beta}{(1+a-\beta)^2+(T_m-\gamma)^2} + \frac{\beta}{\beta^2+\gamma^2} \right] \\ &\geq \sum_{\rho} \frac{a}{(1+a)^2+(T_m-\gamma)^2} \cdot \end{split}$$

Proposition 2.7 is now an immediate consequence of Proposition 2.6.

[XVII, §3]

§3. The Weil formula

We consider a function f on **R**. Its Mellin transform Mf is defined to be

$$(Mf)(s) = \int_0^\infty f(u)u^s \frac{du}{u}$$

under appropriate conditions of convergence for the integral. In our context, with symmetry about $\frac{1}{2}$, we make a translation and define

$$M_{1/2}f(s) = Mf(s - \frac{1}{2}).$$

We shall also need a change of variables, putting $u = e^{-x}$. We then define

 $F(x) = f(e^{-x})$ or equivalently $f(u) = F(-\log u)$

In terms of the new variable x and F we get

$$egin{aligned} M_{1/2}f(s) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(x)e^{(1/2-s)x} \ dx = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(x)e^{x/2}e^{-sx} \ dx. \ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(x)e^{(1/2-\sigma)x} \ e^{-itx} \ dx \quad ext{putting} \quad s = \sigma + it, \ M_{1/2}f(s) &= \sqrt{2\pi}G_{\sigma}(t) \quad ext{where} \quad G_{\sigma}(x) = F(x)e^{(1/2-\sigma)x}. \end{aligned}$$

We assume known basic facts about functions of bounded variation. Most basic texts on real analysis (including [La 93]) contain proofs of those facts. For a function F on \mathbf{R} the variation is defined to be

$$V_{\mathbf{R}}(F) = \sup_{[a, b]} V(f, [a, b]),$$

where the sup is taken over all finite intervals [a, b] with a < b.

A function $F: \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{C}$ will be said to satisfy the Barner conditions if:

(a) There exist a constant a' > 0 such that

$$V_{\mathbf{R}}(F(x)e^{(1/2+a')|x|}) < \infty.$$

(b) F is normalized, that is

$$F(x) = \frac{1}{2}(F(x+) + F(x-))$$
 for all $x \in \mathbf{R}$.

(c) There exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$\frac{1}{2}(F(x) + F(-x)) = F(0) + O(|x|^{c})$$
 for $x \to 0$.

Condition (a) implies in particular that F is bounded, and decreases exponentially at infinity. Assuming only condition (a), we note that the transform

$$M_{1/2}f(s) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} F(x)e^{(1/2-s)x} dx$$

is holomorphic in every strip $-a \leq \sigma \leq 1 + a$ for 0 < a < a'.

Now assume all three conditions (a), (b), (c). Observe that

$$M_{1/2}f(\frac{1}{2}+it) = \sqrt{2\pi}F^{\wedge}(t)$$

where F^{\wedge} is the Fourier transform. Note that

$$M_{1/2}f(0) + M_{1/2}f(1) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(x)(e^{x/2} + e^{-x/2}) dx.$$

With reference to the character χ , we define

$$F_{\chi,v}(x) = F(x)e^{-i\varphi_v(\chi)x}$$
 and $f_{\chi,v}(u) = f(u)u^{i\varphi_v(\chi)}.$

Then $F_{\chi,v}$ and F differ only by a factor of absolute value 1 and similarly for $f_{\chi,v}$ and f. Directly from the definitions, we find that

$$M_{1/2}f(\frac{1}{2} + it - \varphi_v(\chi)) = F_{\chi,v}^{\wedge}(t) \quad \text{and} \quad M_{1/2}f(\frac{1}{2} - it - \varphi_v(\chi)) = F_{\chi,v}^{\wedge}(-t).$$

Before stating the main theorem, we need one more definition, namely the Weil functional

$$W_{v,\chi}(F) = -\int_0^\infty \left[(F(x) + F(-x)) \frac{e^{(1-r_v)2x/N_v}}{1 - e^{-2x/N_v}} - N_v \frac{F(0)}{x} \right] e^{-2x/N_v} dx$$

where

$$r_v = r_v(\chi) = \frac{1}{2}|m_v(\chi)| + \frac{1}{4}N_v > 0.$$

The Weil functional can also be written in terms of the function f, in the form

$$W_{v,\chi}^{\#}(f) = -\int_{1}^{\infty} \left[(f(u) + f(u^{-1})) \frac{u^{(1-r_v)2/N_v}}{1 - u^{-2/N_v}} - N_v \frac{f(1)}{\log u} \right] u^{-2/N_v} \frac{du}{u}$$

Theorem 3.1. (Weil Explicit Formula). Let $F: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function satisfying the Barner conditions. Then the sum $\sum M_{1/2}f(\rho)$ taken over the zeros $\rho = \beta + i\gamma$ of $\xi(s, \chi)$ satisfying $0 \leq \beta \leq 1$ and $|\gamma| < T$ tends to a limit as T tends to infinity, and this limit satisfies the relation

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to \infty} & \sum_{|\gamma| < T} M_{1/2} f(\rho) - \delta_{\chi}(M_{1/2} f(\mathbf{0}) + M_{1/2} f(\mathbf{1})) \\ &= f(1) \log A \\ &+ \sum_{\mathfrak{p}, n} \frac{-\log \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n/2}} \left[\chi(\mathfrak{p})^n f(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^n) + \chi(\mathfrak{p})^{-n} f(\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{-n}) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{v \in S_{\chi}} W_{v,\chi}^{\#}(f_{\chi,v}) \end{split}$$

which may be rewritten in terms of the function F as

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to \infty} \sum_{|\gamma| < T} M_{1/2} f(\rho) &= \delta_{\chi}(M_{1/2} f(0) + M_{1/2} f(1)) \\ &= F(0) \log A - \sum_{\mathfrak{p}, n} \frac{\log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n/2}} \left[\chi(\mathfrak{p})^n F(-\log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^n) + \chi(\mathfrak{p})^{-n} F(\log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^n) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{v \in S_{\chi}} W_{v,\chi}(F_{\chi,v}). \end{split}$$

If one takes for F the function such that

$$F^{-}(x) = egin{cases} 0 & ext{if} \quad x < 0 \quad ext{or} \quad x > \log y, \ e^{x/2} & ext{if} \quad 0 < x < \log y, \end{cases}$$

for some fixed number y > 1, then one recovers a classical formula as in Ingham [In 32], Chapter IV. Observe that conditions (a), (b), (c) are obviously satisfied, and that in the sum taken over p, n only the terms with negative powers of p will appear. Note that we have followed here a normalization which makes the Mellin and Fourier transforms naturally fit each other. There results a minus sign when the explicit formula is written in terms of the function F.

Weil [We 52] pointed out that explicit formulas of classical number theory could be formulated and extended in terms of functionals involving on one side the sum over the zeros of zeta or *L*-functions, and on the other side the sum over the primes. Barner simplified and generalized the conditions under which the formula is true, and he also put the functional at infinity in a more tractable form than was given by Weil and than was reproduced in the first edition of this book. As a result, we follow Barner [Ba 81], [Ba 90] in the way we describe the functional at the places $v \in S_{\infty}$ and the conditions on the function F. Barner [Ba 90] also works out in systematic details how classical formulas for Dirichlet *L*-series follow from the general explicit formulas, by picking suitable functions f and F.

As an example of Weil's formula I reproduce an application by Barner [Ba 81], [Ba 90], Theorem 88. The case for real characters χ was known previously.

Theorem 3.2. Let χ be a Hecke character. Then for all $s \in C$ for which $\Lambda(s, \chi)$ does not vanish we have

$$\Lambda'/\Lambda(s) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \sum_{|\rho| < T} \frac{1}{s -
ho},$$

and consequently

$$b_1 = b_1(\chi) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \sum_{|\rho| < T} \frac{-1}{\rho}$$

Proof. For simplicity, we give the proof only in the case $\chi \neq \chi_0$. Let z be a complex number with Re(z) > 1. We use the function F defined by:

$$F(x) = egin{cases} e^{(z-1/2)x} & ext{if} \quad x < 0 \ 0 & ext{if} \quad x > 0 \end{cases}$$

and F has the midpoint value $\frac{1}{2}$ at x = 0. Then for $\operatorname{Re}(z) > \operatorname{Re}(s)$ we get

$$M_{1/2}f(s) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} e^{(z-s)x} dx = \frac{1}{z-s}.$$

We then get

$$\lim_{T\to\infty}\sum_{|\gamma|< T}\frac{1}{z-\rho}$$

on the left side of Weil's formula.

On the right side of Weil's formula, we first get

$$\frac{1}{2}\log A$$
.

The sum over the primes gives

$$-\sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} \frac{\log \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n/2}} \chi(\mathfrak{p}^n) e^{(1/2-z)n\log \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}$$
$$= -\sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p}^n)\log \mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathbf{N}\mathfrak{p}^{nz}}$$
$$= L'/L(z,\chi).$$

For each $v \in S_{\infty}$, the term corresponding to v on the right side is equal to (after substituting the given value of F):

$$W_{\chi,v}(F_{\chi,v}) = \int_0^\infty \left[rac{N_v}{2x} - rac{e^{(1-z_v/2)2x/N_v}}{1-e^{-2x/N_v}}
ight] e^{-2x/N_v} \, dx.$$

where $z_v = N_v(z + i\varphi_v) + |m_v|$. But Gauss' formula

$$-\Gamma'/\Gamma(z) = \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{e^{-zu}}{1-e^u} - \frac{e^{-u}}{u}\right) du$$

immediately shows that

$$W_{\chi,v}(F_{\chi,v}) = \frac{1}{2}N_v\Gamma'/\Gamma(z_v/2) = G'_v/G_v(z_v/2).$$

Taking the sum of the three terms we obtain precisely $\Lambda'/\Lambda(z)$, which proves the first statement of Theorem 3.2. As to the second concerning the constant, we look at the logarithmic derivative of the Weiserstrass product, which gives

$$\xi'/\xi(s, \chi) = b_1 + \sum \left(\frac{1}{s-\rho} + \frac{1}{\rho}\right)$$

for all s which are not zeros of ξ . Using what we have already proved, using values of s with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, gives the desired value for the constant b_1 , and concludes the proof.

As another application, I give Weil's equivalent formulation of the Riemann hypothesis in terms of the positivity of his functional. We let

$$W(\Phi) = \sum_{\rho} \Phi(\rho),$$

the sum being understood as in Theorem 3.2. However, we shall now deal with rapidly decreasing functions Φ , so that in fact that sum will converge absolutely and rapidly.

For each function F_0 of a real variable x, we define

$$F_0^*(x) = \overline{F_0(-x)}.$$

We say that a function F is of positive type if F is equal to the convolution

$$F = F_0 * F_0^*$$

for some F_0 .

We define the restricted Schartz space to be the space of all functions

$$F(x) = P(x)e^{-Kx^2}$$

with some real constant K > 0 and some polynomial P. We denote this space by $\operatorname{Sch}_0(\mathbf{R})$. Then $\operatorname{Sch}_0(\mathbf{R})$ is self dual, and functions in $\operatorname{Sch}_0(\mathbf{R})$ satisfy the three Barner conditions, as is easily verified. If F_0 is a restricted Schwartz function, so is the function F above, again by an immediate verification.

We recall that the Riemann hypothesis states that $\operatorname{Re}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2}$ for all zeros ρ of $\Lambda(s)$ in the strip.

We say that Φ corresponds to a function *F* if, putting $s = \sigma + it$, we have

$$\Phi(s) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(x) e^{(1/2-\sigma)x} e^{-itx} dx,$$

just as the function $M_{1/2}f$ was obtained from F.

Theorem 3.3. The Riemann hypothesis is equivalent to the property that

$$W(F_0 * F_0^*) \ge 0$$

for all F_0 in the restricted Schwartz space.

Proof. Suppose the Riemann hypothesis satisfied, and let F_0 satisfy only the three weaker conditions of Theorem 3.1. Then $F = F_0 * F_0^*$ also satisfies the three conditions (as is easily verified). Letting Φ_0 correspond to F_0 one verifies directly that the function Φ corresponding to F is

$$\Phi(s) = \Phi_0(s)\overline{\Phi_0(1-\bar{s})}.$$

In particular, if $\operatorname{Re}(s) = \frac{1}{2}$, then $\Phi(s) \ge 0$ and the Weil functional is ≥ 0 on Φ .

Conversely, assume the positivity condition for all functions in the restricted Schwartz space. The Fourier transform of such a function is again of the same form. Suppose that L(s) has one zero

$$\rho_0 = \beta_0 + i\gamma_0$$

such that $\beta_0 \neq \frac{1}{2}$. Change variables, and put

$$z = i(s - \frac{1}{2} - i\gamma_0),$$
 $\Phi_0(s) = \Psi_0(z),$ $\Phi(s) = \Psi(z),$

Then

$$\Psi(z)=\Psi_{0}(z)\overline{\Psi_{0}(ar{z})}$$
,

and the functions

$$x \mapsto F_0(x) e^{i_{\gamma_0} x}, \qquad x \mapsto F(x) e^{i_{\gamma_0} x}$$

[XVII, §3]

are the Fourier transforms (up to a positive factor of $\sqrt{2\pi})$ of the functions

$$t \mapsto \Psi_0(t)$$
 and $t \mapsto \Psi(t)$.

We consider functions $\Psi_0(z) = P(z)e^{-Kz^2}$ with K > 0. Then F_0 satisfies the three Barner conditions, and so does F. Furthermore,

$$\Phi(s) = O(e^{-Kt^2}) \quad \text{with} \quad 0 < K' < K \quad \text{for } |t| \to \infty,$$

uniformly in the strip $0 \leq \sigma \leq 1$. Therefore the sum $\sum \Phi(\rho)$ is absolutely convergent. To conclude the proof, it suffices to show that for suitable choice of P and large K, the value $W(\Phi)$ is negative.

Corresponding to the change of variables $s \mapsto z$ we let $\rho \mapsto \eta$ where

$$\eta = i(\rho - \frac{1}{2} - i\gamma_0) = -(\gamma - \gamma_0) + i(\beta - \frac{1}{2})$$
 so $\eta_0 = i(\beta_0 - \frac{1}{2}).$

If $\Psi_{\rm 0}(z)=P(z)e^{-Kz^2}$ and P has real coefficients, then a direct computation shows that

$$\Phi(\rho) = \Psi(\eta) = P(\eta)^2 e^{-2K\eta^2}.$$

We let

 $Q(z) = \prod (z - \eta)$ with the product taken over $|\operatorname{Re}(\eta)| \leq 2$.

The functional equation $\Lambda(1-\bar{s}) = \overline{\Lambda(s)}u$ with |u| = 1 shows that if η is not real, then its complex conjugate occurs in the product, so Q has real coefficients. Then we let

$$P(z) = zQ(z)Q(-z).$$

Therefore, if m is the order of $\Lambda(s)$ at ρ_0 , then we get:

$$\begin{split} W(\Phi) &= \sum \Phi(\rho) = -2m(\beta_0 - \frac{1}{2})^2 |Q(\eta_0)|^4 e^{2K(\beta_0 - 1/2)^2} \\ &+ \sum_{|\operatorname{Re}(\eta)| > 2} P(\eta)^2 e^{-2K\eta^2}. \end{split}$$

But $\eta^2 = (\gamma - \gamma_0)^2 - (\beta - \frac{1}{2})^2 + iy$ with y real. The condition $|\operatorname{Re}(\eta)| \ge 2$ is equivalent with the condition $|\gamma - \gamma_0| \ge 2$, and

$$|e^{-2K\eta^2}| \leq e^{2K((\beta-1/2)^2 - (\gamma-\gamma_0)^2)}.$$

From this it is immediate that for K large positive, the sum on the right can be made arbitrarily small, and therefore that the right side is negative, thus concluding the proof.

§4. The basic sum and the first part of its evaluation

We now start the proof of Theorem 3.1. We need an estimate for the Mellin-Fourier transform under condition (a), provided by the next lemma.

Lemma 4.1. Let 0 < a < a'. Assume that F satisfies condition (a), that is $V_{\mathbf{R}}(F(x)e^{(1/2+a')x}) < \infty$. Then uniformly for $-a \leq \sigma \leq 1 + a$ we have

 $M_{1/2}f(\sigma + it) = O(1/|t|)$ for $|t| \to \infty$.

Proof. We assume known the elementary fact of integration by parts for function of bounded variation against continuous functions, and we get for $t \neq 0$:

$$\begin{split} M_{1/2}f(\sigma + it) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(x)e^{(1/2 - \sigma)x}e^{-itx} dx \\ &= F(x)e^{(1/2 - \sigma)x} \frac{-1}{it} \bigg]_{-\infty}^{\infty} + \frac{1}{it} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-itx} d(F(x)e^{(1/2 - \sigma)x}). \end{split}$$

The first term on the right between $-\infty$ and ∞ is equal to 0 because $F(x)e^{(1/2-\sigma)x} \to 0$ as $x \to \pm \infty$ by condition (a). The integral on the right is uniformly bounded again by the bounded variation condition, so the desired estimate O(1/|t|) falls out, thereby proving the lemma.

Let T_m be as in Proposition 2.7. We consider the rectangle whose corners are

 $1+a-iT_m, \quad 1+a+iT_m, \quad -a+iT_m \quad \text{and} \quad -a-iT_m,$

as shown on Figure 1. We denote this rectangle by Rec.



 $[\mathrm{XVII}, \$4]$ the basic sum and the first part of its evaluation 345

We have

$$\xi'/\xi(s) = b_1 + \sum_{\rho} \left(\frac{1}{s-\rho} + \frac{1}{\rho}\right).$$

By Cauchy's residue formula,

$$\frac{1}{2\eta i}\int_{\operatorname{Rec}}M_{1/2}f(s)d\,\log\,\zeta(s)=\sum_{\rho\,\operatorname{in\,Rec}}\,M_{1/2}f(\rho).$$

By Proposition 2.7 and Lemma 4.1 the integral of $d \log \Lambda(s)$ over the horizontal line segments are

$$O\left(rac{\log^2 T_m}{T_m}
ight) \quad ext{ for } \quad T_m o \infty.$$

Therefore by Cauchy's residue formula, we get the following congruences mod $O((\log^2(T_m)/T_m))$:

$$-\delta_{\chi}[M_{1/2}f(0) + M_{1/2}f(1)] + \sum_{-T < \gamma < T} M_{1/2}f(\rho)$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\text{Rec}} M_{1/2} f(s) \, d \log \Lambda(s) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{1+a-iT_m}^{1+a+iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) \, d \log \Lambda(s) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-a-iT_m}^{-a+iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) \, d \log \Lambda(s) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{1+a-iT_m}^{1+a+iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) \, d \log \Lambda(s) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-a-iT_m}^{-a+iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) \, d \log \Lambda(1-s,\chi^{-1}) \end{split}$$

In order to evaluate these integrals, we shall use the product decomposition of Λ to get three types of integrals, involving the terms G_0 , G_v , and L.

To compute the integral of $d \log \Lambda$, we use the identity

$$d \log \Lambda = d \log G_0 + d \log L + \sum_{v \in S_{\varkappa}} d \log G_v$$

and compute our two integrals successively for the three cases.

Take first the case of G_0 . We have

$$\frac{d}{ds} \log \, G_0(s) = \frac{1}{2} \log \, A, \qquad \frac{d}{ds} \log \, G_0(1-s) = -\frac{1}{2} \log \, A.$$

In view of the fact that we integrate a holomorphic function, we can

shift both integrals to the line $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$, and combine them into the integral

$$\frac{\log A}{2\pi i} \int_{1/2-iT_m}^{1/2+iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) \ ds.$$

We make the substitution $s = \frac{1}{2} + it$, ds = idt, and take the limit for $T_m \to \infty$. We recall that

$$M_{1/2}f(\frac{1}{2}+it)=\sqrt{2\pi}F^{\Lambda}(t).$$

The Fourier inversion formula is applicable, and in particular,

$$F(0) = \lim_{T \to \infty} rac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-T_m}^{T_m} M_{1/2} f(rac{1}{2} + it) \ dt.$$

In this way we obtain the term $F(0) \log A$ in the formula of the theorem.

We take up next the case of the integrals over $d \log L$. We look first at the integral on the line 1 + a. We have

$$L'/L(s, \chi) = -\sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p}^n) \log N\mathfrak{p}}{N\mathfrak{p}^{ns}}.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{1+a-iT_m}^{1+a+iT_m}M_{1/2}f(s)d\,\log\,L(s)\\ &=\frac{-1}{2\pi}\int_{-T_m}^{T_m}dt\,\int_{-\infty}^{-\infty}F(x)e^{-(1/2+a+it)x}\sum_{\mathfrak{p},n}\frac{\chi(\mathfrak{p}^n)\log\mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n(1+a+it)}}\,dx. \end{split}$$

We interchange the inner integral with the sum over p, n. Then we make the change of variables

$$x = y - \log N \mathfrak{p}^n$$
, $dx = dy$

in the integral of each term with p, n. Then the whole expression becomes

$$= \frac{-1}{2\pi} \int_{-T_m}^{T_m} dt \sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(y - \log N\mathfrak{p}^n) \chi(\mathfrak{p}^n) \frac{\log N\mathfrak{p}}{N\mathfrak{p}^{n/2}} e^{-(1/2+a)y} e^{-ity} dy$$
$$= \frac{-1}{2\pi} \int_{-T_m}^{T_m} dt \sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_{\mathfrak{p},n}^{(1)}(y) e^{-ity} dy$$

where

$$H^{(1)}_{\mathfrak{p},n}(y) = rac{\log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n/2}} \ \chi(\mathfrak{p})^n F(y - \log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^n) e^{-(1/2+a)y}.$$

[XVII, §4] THE BASIC SUM AND THE FIRST PART OF ITS EVALUATION 347

If we now use the fact that there is a constant C such that

 $|F(x)| \leq Ce^{-(1/2+a')|x|},$

we get

$$|F(y - \log \operatorname{Np}^n)|e^{-(1/2+a)y} \leq \begin{cases} C\operatorname{Np}^{-n(1/2+a')}e^{-(a-a')y} & \text{if } y \leq \log \operatorname{Np}^n, \\ C\operatorname{Np}^{n(1/2+a')}e^{-(1+a+a')y} & \text{if } \log \operatorname{Np}^n \leq y, \end{cases}$$

$$|F(y + \log \operatorname{Np}^n)|e^{-(1/2+a)y} \leq \begin{cases} C\operatorname{Np}^{-n(1/2+a')}e^{-(a-a')y} & \text{if } y \geq -\log \operatorname{Np}^n, \\ C\operatorname{Np}^{n(1/2+a')}e^{-(1+a+a')y} & \text{if } y \leq -\log \operatorname{Np}^n. \end{cases}$$

From this it follows that

(1)
$$|H_{\mathfrak{p},n}^{(1)}(y)| \leq \frac{2C\log N\mathfrak{p}}{N\mathfrak{p}^{n(1+a)}}$$

and

(2)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H_{\mathfrak{p},n}^{(1)}(y)| \, dy \leq \frac{2C\log N\mathfrak{p}}{N\mathfrak{p}^{n(1+a)}} \left[\frac{1}{a'-a} + \frac{1}{1+a+a'}\right]$$

Estimate (1) shows that the series

$$H^{(1)}(y) = \sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} H^{(1)}_{\mathfrak{p},n}(y)$$

is absolutely uniformly convergent, and estimate (2) shows that this series defines a function $y \mapsto H^{(1)}(y)$ in $L^1(\mathbf{R})$.

A similar computation for the integral on the line $\operatorname{Re}(s) = -a$, and estimates for

$$H^{(2)}_{\mathfrak{p},n}(y) = rac{\log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n/2}} \, \chi(\mathfrak{p})^{-n} F(y + \log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^n) e^{(1/2+a)y}$$

yield a similar series and similar expression for the second integral.

We then put

$$H_{\mathfrak{p},n,\boldsymbol{\chi}}(y)=H^{(1)}_{\mathfrak{p},n}(y)+H^{(2)}_{\mathfrak{p},n}(y)\qquad\text{and}\qquad H(y)=\sum_{\mathfrak{p},n}H_{\mathfrak{p},n}(y).$$

We may interchange the series and the inner integral once more, and we find that the contribution of $d \log L$ over the two vertical lines (denoted VL's) is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{VL's} M_{1/2} f(s) d \log L(s) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-T}^{T} dt \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(y) e^{-ity} dy,$$
$$= -H_{\chi}^{\wedge \wedge}(0).$$

EXPLICIT FORMULAS

We have therefore found the desired expression for the integral of $d \log L$, provided that we know that the Fourier inversion holds at 0. For this it suffices to prove that H is of bounded variation and normalized. The uniform absolute convergence of the series defining $H^{(1)}(y)$ implies that this function is normalized, and similarly for $H^{(2)}$ and therefore H.

The total variation $V_{\mathbf{R}}$ satisfies the triangle inequality for an infinite sum, as one verifies directly from the Riemann-Stieltjes sums defining this variation. Similarly, $V_{\mathbf{R}}(gh) \leq ||g|| V_{\mathbf{R}}(h) + ||h|| V_{\mathbf{R}}(g)$. Hence

$$\begin{split} V_{\mathbf{R}}(H^{(1)}) &\leq \sum_{\mathfrak{p},n} \frac{\log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}}{\mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^{n(1+a)}} \left[V_{\mathbf{R}}(F(y - \log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^n)e^{-(1/2+a)(y - \log \mathrm{N}\mathfrak{p}^n)}) \right] \\ &\ll \zeta_{\mathbf{O}}'/\zeta_{\mathbf{O}}(1+a), \end{split}$$

and similarly for $V_{\mathbf{R}}(H^{(2)})$, which concludes the proof that H is of bounded variation, and also concludes the determination of the term involving the integral of $d \log L$.

§5. Evaluation of the sum: Second part

We now come to the last term.

We have to compute each integral over $d \log G_v$. We observe that G'_v/G_v has no pole in the half-plane $\sigma > 0$ and is $O(\log |t|)$ in any given strip, outside neighborhoods of its poles by Lemma 2.6(a). Consequently, by Lemma 4.1 the integral taken from $1 + a - iT_m$ to $1 + a + iT_m$ is congruent to the integral taken from $\frac{1}{2} - iT_m$ to $\frac{1}{2} + iT_m \mod O(\log (T_m)/T_m)$. By the same type of argument, flipping s into 1 - s, we can replace the integral on the line -a by a similar integral on the line $\frac{1}{2}$. Thus the sum of the two integrals over the vertical lines becomes mod $O(\log(T_m)/T_m)$:

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{1/2 - iT_m}^{1/2 + iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) [d \log G_v(s, \chi) - d \log G_v(1 - s, \chi^{-1})] \\ (1) \qquad &= \frac{N_v/2}{2\pi i} \int_{1/2 - iT_m}^{1/2 + iT_m} M_{1/2} f(s) \Big[\Gamma' / \Gamma \Big(\frac{N_v(s + i\varphi_v) + |m_v|}{2} \Big) \\ &+ \Gamma' / \Gamma \Big(\frac{N_v(1 - s - i\varphi_v) + |m_v|}{2} \Big) \Big] ds. \end{split}$$

After the change of variables $s = \frac{1}{2} + it - i\varphi_v$, and putting

$$z_v(t) = r_v + \frac{1}{2}N_v it, \qquad r_v = \frac{1}{4}N_v + \frac{1}{2}|m_v| > 0,$$

we find that (1) is equal to

(2)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi} N_{v2} \int_{-T_m - \varphi_v}^{T_m - \varphi_v} M_{1/2} f(\frac{1}{2} + it - i\varphi_v) [\Gamma' / \Gamma(z_v(t)) + \Gamma' / \Gamma(\bar{z}_v(t))] dt.$$

Using Lemma 4.1 we can integrate from $-T_m$ to T_m , leaving out the φ_v , introducing thereby an error $O(\log(T_m)/T_m)$. Thus (2) mod $O(\log(T_m)/T_m)$ is equal to

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2\pi} N_v \int_{-T_m}^{T_m} \left[M_{1/2} f(\frac{1}{2} + it - i\varphi_v) + M_{1/2} f(\frac{1}{2} - it - i\varphi_v) \right] \Gamma' / \Gamma(r_v + \frac{1}{2}N_v it) \right] dt \\ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} N_v \int_{-T_m}^{T_m} \frac{1}{2} (F_{\chi}^{\wedge}(t) + F_{\chi}^{\wedge}(-t)) \Gamma' / \Gamma(r_v + \frac{1}{2}N_v it) dt. \end{split}$$

We can now apply the following generalized form of Parseval's formula to conclude the proof.

Theorem 5.1. Let a, b be positive numbers. Let β be of bounded variation on **R**, in $L^1(\mathbf{R})$, and normalized. Also assume that there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$\beta(x) = \beta(0) + O(|x|^{\epsilon}) \quad for \quad x \to 0.$$

Then

(3)

$$\lim_{T\to\infty}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\int_{-T}^{T}\beta^{\wedge}(t)\Gamma'/\Gamma(a+it/b) dt$$
$$=\int_{0}^{\infty}\left[\frac{\beta(0)}{x}-\frac{be^{(1-a)b}}{1-e^{-bx}}\beta(-x)\right]e^{-bx} dx.$$

The formula of the theorem is Barner's reworking of the Weil functional, as in [Ba 81] and [Ba 90], Theorem 86. Observe that we did *not* assume that F is continuous at 0, but in the application to (3), the integrand is symmetric, $\beta = F_{\chi} + F_{\chi}^{-}$, which is even, and thus continuous at 0, satisfying the last important condition of Theorem 5.1.

Furthermore, Barner's expression is itself a special case of a Parseval formula concerning a wider class of functions, of which Γ'/Γ is only the most elementary. I reproduce here the statement of the result as in [JoL 93a].

Suppose we are given:

A Borel measure μ on \mathbf{R}^+ such that $d\mu(x) = \psi(x)dx$, where ψ is some bounded (Borel) measurable function.

A measurable function φ on \mathbf{R}^+ such that:

- (a) The function $\varphi(x) 1/x$ is bounded as x approaches 0, x > 0.
- (b) Both functions 1/x and $\varphi(x)$ are in $L^1(|\mu|)$ outside a neighborhood of 0.

We call (μ, ϕ) a special pair. Then we can define the regularized functional

$$W_{\mu,\varphi}(eta) = \int_0^\infty \left(arphi(x)eta(x) - rac{eta(\mathbf{0})}{x}
ight) d\mu(x).$$

and its Fourier transform, which is the function $W^{\wedge}_{\mu,\varphi}$ such that

$$egin{aligned} W_{\mu,\varphi}^{\wedge}(t) &= rac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(arphi(x) e^{-itx} - rac{1}{x}
ight) d\mu(x) \ &= rac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \ W_{\mu,\varphi}(ar{\chi}_t) \qquad ext{where} \quad \chi_t(x) = e^{itx}. \end{aligned}$$

This functional will be applied to functions β satisfying the Barner conditions, namely:

Condition 1. $\beta \in BV(\mathbf{R}) \cap L^1(\mathbf{R})$.

Condition 2. There exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that $\beta(x) = \beta(0) + O(|x|^{\epsilon})$ for $x \to 0$.

Condition 3. β is normalized.

Then the following general theorem is valid.

Theorem 5.2. Let β satisfy the three conditions, and let (μ, ϕ) be a special pair. Then

$$\begin{split} \lim_{A\to\infty}\int_{-A}^{A}&\beta^{\wedge}(t)W^{\wedge}_{\mu,\varphi}(t)\,dt=\int_{0}^{\infty}\left(\varphi(x)\beta(-x)-\frac{\beta(0)}{x}\right)d\mu(x).\\ &=W_{\mu,\varphi}(\beta^{-}). \end{split}$$

The reader will find a proof of this theorem in [JoL 93]. The proof amounts to relatively refined Fourier analysis. Furthermore, this reference also gives a proof of a generalization, whereby instead of the simple polar expression 1/x, the function φ admits a more general polar expression with higher terms, with possibly real exponents instead of integral exponents, and also with logarithmic factors.

For the application of this chapter, Theorem 5.2 suffices. Indeed, as an immediate consequence of the classical Gauss formula for the gamma function, one has

$$-\Gamma'/\Gamma(a+it) = \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{e^{(1-a)x}}{1-e^{-x}} e^{-itx} - \frac{1}{x}\right) e^{-x} dx.$$

[XVII, §5]

Thus we take

$$\varphi_a(x) = \frac{e^{(1-a)x}}{1-e^{-x}}$$
 and $d\mu(x) = e^{-x} dx$.

Then Theorem 5.1 is a special case of Theorem 5.2. after the change of variables $t \mapsto t/b$ and $x \mapsto bx$.

Bibliography

- [Ar 67] E. ARTIN, Algebraic numbers and algebraic functions, Lecture notes by I. Adamson, Gordon and Breach, New York, 1967.
- [Ar 56] E. ARTIN, *Theory of algebraic numbers*, Notes by G. Wurges, translated by G. Striker, Göttingen, 1956.
- [ArT 67] E. ARTIN and J. TATE, Class Field Theory, Benjamin, New York, 1967.
- [ArW 45] E. ARTIN and G. WHAPLES, Axiomatic characterization of fields by the product formula for valuations, *Bull. AMS* (1945) pp. 469–492.
- [Ba 81] K. BARNER, On A. Weil's explicit formula, J. Reine angew. Math. 323 (1981) pp. 139–152.
- [Ba 90] K. BARNER, Einführung in die Analytische Zahlentheorie, 1990, to appear as a book.
- [BoS 66] Z. BOREVICH and I. SHAFAREVICH, Number Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1966.
- [BoU 62] N. BOURBAKI, Commutative Algebra, Hermann, Paris, 1962.
- [Br 56] R. BRAUER, "On the zeta-functions of algebraic number fields II," Am. J. Math. 72 (1950), 739-746.
- [CaF 68] J. W. CASSELS and A. FROHLICH, Algebraic Number Theory, Proceedings of the Brighton Conference, Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- [Ha 26] H. HASSE, "Bericht uber Neuere Untersuchungen and Probleme aus der Theorie der algebraischen Zahlkorper," Jahresbericht D. Math. Ver., 1926, 1927, and 1930.
- [Ha 67] H. HASSE, Vorlesungen uber Klassenkörpertheorie, Marburg notes, reprinted by Physica Verlag, 1967.
- [Hi 97] D. HILBERT, "Die Theorie der algebraischen Zahkörper," Jahresbericht D. math. Ver. 4 (1897), 175–546.
- [In 32] A. E. INGHAM, The distribution of prime numbers, Cambridge Tract No. 39 (1932).
- [JoL 93] J. JORGENSON and S. LANG, A Parseval formula for functions with an asymptotic expansion at the origin, In Basic Analysis of Regularized Series and Products, Springer Lecture Notes 1564, 1993.
- [La 93] S. LANG, Real and Functional Analysis, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993, Ch. 10.

354	BIBLIOGRAPHY
[Ld 17]	E. LANDAU, Einfuhrung in die elementare und analytische Theorie der algebraischen Zahlen und der ideale, Teubner 1917; reprinted Chel- sea, New York, 1949.
[Se 63]	J. P. SERRE, Corps Locaux, Hermann, Paris, 1963.
[Sk 93]	NP. SKORUPPA, Quick lower bounds for regulators of number fields, L'Enseignement Mathématique, 39 (1993) pp. 137-141.
[Ta 50]	J. TATE, Fourier analysis in number fields and Hecke's zeta function, Thesis, Princeton, 1950, also appears in [CaF 68].
[We 52]	A. WEIL, Sur les "formules explicites" de la théorie des nombres premiers, Comm. Séminaire Math. Université de Lund (dédié a M. Riesz) (1952) pp. 252–265.

[We 68] A. WEIL, Basic Number Theory, Springer Verlag, New York, 1968.

R. ZIMMERT, Ideale kleiner Norm in Idealklassen und eine Regulator-[Zi 81] abschätzung, Invent. Math. 62 (1981) pp. 367-380.

Index

abscissa of convergence, 156 absolute value, 31 additive duality, 276, 289 adele, 138, 289 Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether, 195 albegraic integers, 7 archimedean absolute value, 35 Artin automorphism, 18 Artin kernel, 197 Artin lemma, 202 Artin *L*-series, 232 Artin map, 197 Artin symbol, 197 associated ideal, 111

Barner, 331 Barner conditions, 337 belong (class field), 208 Brauer-Siegel, 261, 321

canonical set of absolute values, 35 Chinese Remainder Theorem, 11 class field, 208, 212 class group, 208 class number, 100, 123 complementary set, 57 complete splitting, 217 completion, 32, 36 complex absolute value, 35 conductor, 199, 229, 279 consistency of Artin map, 198 convex, 116 convexity theorems, 263 cycle, 123 cyclotomic extension, 71 decomposition field, 13 decomposition group, 13, 153 Dedekind ring, 20 densities, 167, 169, 315 dependent, 32 different, 60 Dirichlet density, 167 Dirichlet series, 155 discrete valuation ring, 22 discriminant, 64 divisor, 101

equidistributed, 128, 316 equivalent norms, 33 existence theorem, 211, 215, 221 explicit formulas, 339 exponential function (p-adic), 185

Falting's theorem, 171 filtration of local units, 45 finite part, 124 formal ideal, 40 fractional ideal, 18 Frobenius automorphism, 17 functional equation, 254, 275, 295 fundamental domain, 112, 128 fundamental units, 108, 294

Galois operation on ideles, 152 Gauss sums, 77, 82 generalized ideal classes, 145 global duality, 289 growth exponent, 264

INDEX

Hasse's theorem, 195 Hecke character, 293 Hensel's Lemma, 43 Herbrand quotient, 46, 179 Hermite's Theorem, 122 Hilbert class field, 224

ideal class, 22, 123, 124 ideals in a class, 132, 271 idele, 138 idele class, 142 Ikehara theorem, 305 independent, 32 independent absolute values, 32 induced characters, 233, 236 inertia field, 16 inertia group, 16 integers, 5 integral, 5 integral equation, 4 integrally closed, 6

Krasner's lemma, 43 Kronecker's theorem, 210 Kummer extensions, 213

lattice points, 112, 128 lattice points in parallelotopes, 110 lattice of units, 104, 190 lie above. 8 linearly equivalent ideals, 22 Lipschitz parametrizable, 128 local class fields, 221 local class field theory, 213 local different, 62 local duality, 276 local field, 36 local functional equation, 280 local norm index, 188 local ring. 3 logarithm (p-adic), 185 L-series, 162, 229, 313

MacKenzie, 98 Minkowski constant, 120 M_K , 35 M_k -divisor, 101 multiplicative character, 82 multiplicative subset, 3 multiplicativity of different, 60

Nakayama's lemma, 8 Newton approximation, 42 non-vanishing of *L*-series, 313 norm, 33 norm index, 164, 187, 192 norm of ideals, 24 norm of ideles, 138 number field, 7

orbit of units, 130 order of element, 20 order of ideal, 20

p-adic integers, 37 p-adic number, 37 parallelotope, 112 Parseval formula, 362 p-component. 40 Phragmen-Lindelöf theorem, 262 Poisson summation, 249, 291 pole, 20 prime, 21 prime at infinity, 99 prime number theorem, 315 primitive character, 82 principal fractional ideal, 22 principal ideal, 142 product formula, 99 projective modules, 29

Q-machine, 181 quadratic reciprocity law, 77 quadratic symbol, 76, 81 quasi character, 278, 287

INDEX

ramification index, 24, 279 ray class field, 209 real absolute value, 35 reciprocity law map, 197 regulator, 109, 127 residue class degree, 24 restricted direct product, 138, 287 Riemann hypothesis, 345 Riemann-Roch theorems, 110, 292

Schwarz space, 245 self-dual Haar measure, 275 semilocal, 183 S-idele, 138 S-idele class, 142 size, 101 split completely, 16, 25, 39 Stickelberger's criterion, 67 Stickelberger relations, 98 strongly ramified, 52 S-unit, 104 symmetric, 116 tamely ramified, 52 Tauberian theorem, 305 Tchebotarev density, 169 theta formula, 252 totally ramified, 51

units, 21, 104, 190 universal norms, 212, 225 universal norm inequality, 164 unramified, 48, 147, 221, 278

valuation, 31 volumes of parallelotopes, 113

Weierstrass factorization, 331 Weil functional, 339

zero, 20 zeta function, 159